Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 2:47 PM
To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); King, Kara (OLP)
Subject: RE: Senate Questionnaire

(b) (5)

(b) (5)

From: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) [mailto:Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 1:43 PM

To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com=>; King, Kara (QLP) <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov>
Subject: RE: Senate Questionnaire

o
-

o you for authorization to file, but before doing so, (b) (5)

Of course. We'll circulatethe &l

From: Ho, James C. [mailto:JHo@gibsondunn.com]

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 1:57 PM

To: King, Kara (OLP) <kking@imd.usdoj.gov>; Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@imd.usdoj.gov>
Subject: RE: Senate Questionnaire

Kara,

(b) (5)
]

From: Ho, James C. [mailto:JHo@gibsondunn.com]
Sent: Tuesday, October 17, 2017 4:23 PM
To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@jmd.usdoj.gov>

Co: RS RFACIVSION S0 ENWANleI =R - King, Kara (OLP) <kking@imd.usdoj.gov=

Subject: RE: Finalizing Your Financial Disclosure Report
Duplicative Material
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Ho, James C.
== - - --—">-""">->->->->>-->->--->->->->->--»->----» .S ———————————+]

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 4:30 PM
To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: RE: SJQ Authorization

You have my authorization. Thanks so much!

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 3:22 PM

To: 'King, Kara (OLP)' <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov>

Cc: 'Kingo, Lola A. {OLP)' <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov>
Subject: RE: S1Q Authorization

(b) (3)
e

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 3:13 PM

To: 'King, Kara (OLP)' <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov>

Cc: 'Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)' <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov>
Subject: RE: 5JQ Authorization

(b) (5)

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 3:05 PM

To: 'King, Kara (OLP)"<Kara.King2@usdoj.gov>

Cc: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov>
Subject: RE: S1Q Authorization

Thanks much. Reviewing now.

FYl, (b) (6) .

From: King, Kara (OLP) [mailto:Kara.King2 @usdoj.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 2:58 PM

To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov>
Subject: SJQ Authorization

Hello Jim,

[ [ SN SRS [ DRSS U U < NN S ST [ SR N PSS SN < 1 S T R I N alr— T
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Attached please hind final versions of the public and confidential portions ot your Senate

Questionnaire. OLP has uploaded your final Attachment Package to the file-sharing site (JEFS/Box). Please
follow the instructions you received in a previous email to login and download and save your Attachment
Package to have a copy for your records.

Please review the documents (including the attachments) carefully and, if you have no further changes, let
us know by return email whether you authorize us to submit these documents to the Senate Judiciary
Committee on your behalf,

if you are able to give your authorization by 5pm, that would be very helpful. Please let us know if you have
any questions.

Thank you!

Kara

Kara King

Nominations Researcher
Office of Legal Policy (OLP)
U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Room 4234

Office:; (202} 514-1607

Cell:

This message may contain confidential and privileged information. If it has been sent to you in error,
please reply to advise the sender of the error and then immediately delete this message.
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Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 06, 2017 3:02 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: (b)(6) - Joe Kosanda Email Address

Subject: letter

Attachments: Ho 2016 Household payroll taxes letter & S5ch H.PDF
Lola,

Thanks so much for your call this morning. Letter attached here for your review and consideration. Please
let us know what else | can do to facilitate the process!

James C. Ho
GIBSON DUNN

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
2100 McKinney Avenue, Dallas, TX 75201-6912

Office 214.698.3264 - Mobile JIlIDIE)

JHo@gibsondunn.com - www.gibsondunn.com/lawyers/dHo

This message may contain confidential and privileged information. If it has been sent to you in error,
please reply to advise the sender of the error and then immediately delete this message.
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Kosanpa & Comprany, PLLC

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

12222 MERIT DRIVE
SUITE 1070
DALLAS, TEXAS 75251

TELEPHONE (2 14)442 0090
TELEFAX (2 14)442 0097
(b)(6) - Joe Kosanda Email Address|

November 6, 2017

Mr. Brett Talley

Office of Legal Policy

U. S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Re: James Ho
Payroll taxes for household employees

Dear Mr. Talley:

MEMBERS OF
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TEXAS SOCIETY OF CERTIFIED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

In response to your request (b) (5), (b) (6)

Please call if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Yoe Rocanda

Joe Kosanda, CPA
enclosures

-

(OIONOIO)
e
|
|
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SCHEDULE H Household Employment Taxes OMB No. 1545-1971
(Form 1040) {For Social Security, Medicare, Withheld Income, and Federal Unemployment (FUTA) Taxes) 20 1 6
Department of the Treasury P> Attach to Form 1040, 1040”3' 1040-SS, or 1041. Attachment

Internal Revenue Service (99) P Information about Schedule H and its separate instructions is at www.irs.gov/scheduleh. Sequence No. 44
Name of employer Social security number

Employer identification number

JAMES C. HO EOCE

Calendar year taxpayers having no household employees in 2016 don't have to complete this form for 2016.

A Did you pay any one household employee cash wages of $2,000 or more in 20167 (If any household employee was your spouse, your child
under age 21, your parent, or anyone under age 18, see the line A instructions before you answer this question.)

(b) (6)
es. Skip lines B and C and go to line 1.
o. GotolineB.

B Did you withhold federal income tax during 2016 for any household employee?

Yes. Skipline Cand gotoline?7.
No. GotolineC.

C Did you pay total cash wages of $1,000 or more in any calendar quarter of 2015 or 2016 to all household employees?
(Don’t count cash wages paid in 2015 or 2016 to your spouse, your child under age 21, or your parent.)

(b) (6) o. Stop. Don't file this schedule.
es. Skip lines 1-9 and go to line 10.

Social Security, Medicare, and Federal Income Taxes

1 Total cash wages subject to social security tax

2 Social security tax. Multiply line 1 by 12.4% (0.124)

3 Total cash wages subject to Medicare tax

4 Medicare tax. Multiply line 3 by 2.9% (0.029)

5 Total cash wages subject to Additional Medicare Tax withholding

6 Additional Medicare Tax withholding. Multiply line 5 by 0.9% (0.009)

7 Federal income tax withheld, if any

8 Total social security, Medicare, and federal income taxes. Add lines 2, 4, 6, a

9 Did you pay total cash wages of $1,000 or more in any calendar quarter of 2015 or 2016 to all household employees?
(Don’t count cash wages paid in 2015 or 2016 to your spouse, your child under age 21, or your parent.)

o. Stop. Include the amount from line 8 above on Form 1040, line 60a. If you're not required to file Form 1040, see the
line 9 instructions.

es. Gotoline10.

LHA  For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the instructions. Schedule H (Form 1040) 2016

610351 11-28-16


www.lrs.gov/schedu/eh

Schedule H (Form 1040} 2016 JAMES C- HO
| Partll | Federal Unemployment (FUTA) Tax

10 Did you pay unemployment contributions to only one state? If you paid contributions to a credit reduction state,

S68 INSHUCHONS ANd ChECK IO e
11 Did you pay all state unemployment contributions for 2016 by April 18, 20177 Fiscal year filers see instructions
12 Were all wages that are taxable for FUTA tax also taxable for your state's unemployment tax?

Next: If you checked the "Yes" box on all the lines above, complete Section A.
If you checked the "No" box on any of the lines above, skip Section A and complete Section B.

Section A
13 Name of the state where you paid unemployment contributions |

14 Contributions paid to your state unemployment fund
15 Total cash wages subject to FUTAaX | . ...
16 FUTA tax. Multiply line 15 by 0.6% (0.006). Enter the result here, ski

Section B
17 _Complete all columns below that apply (if you need more space, see instructions):
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) () (9) (h)
Mame Taxable wages (as State experience rate State Multiply col. (B) Multiply col. (b) Subtract col. {f) Contributions
of defined in state act) period experience by 0.054 by eol. (d) from col. (e). _paid to state
stata Erom Te rate if zero or less, unemployment

enter -0-. fund

A TRIMRIS o e A A S T S AT S

19 Add columns (g)and (h) ofline 18 . ...

20 Total cash wages subject to FUTA tax (see the line 15 instructions)

21 Multiply line 20 by 6.0% (0.060) ....

22 Muttiply line 20 by 5.4% (0.054) ...t e

23 Enterthe smaller of iNe 13 arling 22 ... ... .....ocoiiiiii i e gns s eises

(Employers in a credit reduction state must use the worksheet and check here)

24 FUTA tax. Subtract line 23 from line 21, Enter the result here and go to line 25 _

[Part lll| Total Household Employment Taxes

25 Enter the amount from line 8. If you checked the "Yes" box on line C of page 1, enter -0- |

26 Addline 18 (orline 24 and NS 25 ... .......cccoieinitisiiisinsisesessssses s iessnenan,

27 Are you required to file Form 10407
Yes. Stop. Include the amount from line 26 above on Form 1040, line 60a. Don’t complete Part [V below.
No. You may have to complete Part V. See instructions for details.

art IV | Address and Signature - Complete this part only if required. See the line 27 instructions.

Addrass (number and street) or P.O. box if mail isn't delivered to street address Apt., room, or suite no.

City, town or post offica, stata, and ZIP code

Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined this schedule, including accompanying statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, comrect, and complete. No part of any
payment made to a state unemployment fund claimed as a credit was, or is to be, deducted from the payments to employees. Declaration of preparer (other than taxpayer) is based on all information of
which preparer has any knowledge.

} Employer's signature ’ Date

. Print/Type preparer's name Preparer's signature Date Checkl i if | PTIN
Paid _ | self- employed
Preparer | s name b Firm's EIN p»

Use Only
Firm's address P Phone no.

610352 11-29-16 Schedule H (Form 1040) 2016

(F
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Ho, James C.

From: Ho, lames C,

Sent: Monday, November 6, 2017 5:47 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

ce:

Subject: RE: letter

Attachments: Ho 2016 Household payroll taxes letter & Sch H.PDF

Thank you so much. Does the attached work?

From: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) [mailto:Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov]
Sent: Monday, November 6, 2017 3:36 PM
To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>
(@4 (D)(6) - Joe Kosanda Email Address

Subject: RE: letter

Thank you (b) (3), (b) (6)

1
-
(o]
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me know.

From: Ho, James C. [mailtodHo@gibsondunn.com]
Sent: Monday, November 06, 2017 3:02 PM
To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@imd.usdoj.gov>

[@ad (D)(6) - Joe Kosanda Email Address

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

In response to your request (b) (6)

|
(b) (6)
|

(b) (6)
.

Attached is a copy of Schedule H which was included with his 2016 individual income tax

filing. (b) (6)
Please call if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Joe Rooanda

Joe Kosanda, CPA
enclosures

Ho 2 - 0009



Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 13, 2017 1:38 PM
To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: Nominations Hearing Schedule

Thank you so much! Here's our list:

Allyson Ho
(b) (6)

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 13, 2017, at 1:33 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Hello Jim,

I'm just following up to see if you have any guests that you would like reserved seating for during
Wednesday's hearing. If you do, please send me their names and your relationship to them by tomorrow at
Sam.

Thank you!
Kara

From: King, Kara (OLP)

Sent: Wednesday, November 8, 2017 6:21 PM

To: 'Ho, James C.' <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@|md.usdoj.gov>
Subject: Nominations Hearing Schedule

Dearlim,

The Senate Judiciary Committee has scheduled a hearing on judicial nominations for Wednesday, November
15, and you have been added as a witness. Congratulations!

Please make arrangements to meet the following schedule:

Monday, November 13, 2017, 10:00am — (b) (5) Please arrive at the Department of
Justice Visitor Center (on Constitution Avenue, between 5th and 10th Streets, NW}. Please give the desk

officer your name and you will either be given a badge or we will be called to escort you. There are
sometimes lines at the entrance, so please arrive ten to fifteen minutes early to allow time to pass through
security. Once inside, please proceed to Room 4525 on the fourth floor.

Ho 2-0010
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Tuesday, November 14, 2017, 10:00 a.m. — (b) (®) (Please follow the same

instructions as above)

Wednesday, November 15, 2017, 10:00 a.m. — Senate Hearing, to take place in Dirksen Senate Office
Building, Room 226. Please try and arrive at the Dirksen Senate Office Building approximately thirty minutes
before the start of the hearing to allow enough time to get through security and locate the hearing room.

Thursday, November 16, 2017, 9:00 a.m. —4:00 p.m. — Judicial Nominee Orientation Program, hosted by the
Administrative Office of U.S. Courts (AO). The Orientation Program will be held in the Thurgood Marshall
Federal Judiciary Building, located at One Columbus Circle, NE (next to Union Station). Please confirm with
Fawne Lindsey at 202-502-1800 as soon as possible whether you will be attending the Orientation Program.
Ms. Lindsey will need the date and time you are scheduled to depart Washington, DC, to prepare a travel
authorization letter that you will receive at the conclusion of the Orientation Program.

Travel

If you participate in the Orientation Program, the AO will pay for your transportation and reimburse you for
at least some of the costs of your lodging. It is advised that you book your travel through National Travel
Service (NTS) to ensure that you receive the maximum reimbursement allowed by the judiciary travel
regulations. NTS may be reached at 800-445-0668 and will assist you in making airline and hotel reservations
at government rates. When contacting NTS, identify yourself as a judicial nominee and reference the name
of your AO contact—Ms. Lindsey—so that some costs can be directly billed to the AQ. Please contact the AO
for assistance if you are unable to arrange transportation and lodging at the government rates. You may wish
to stay at a hotel on Capitol Hill because both your hearing and AO training will take place there,

Preparation
In preparation for your hearing,

Submit Guest List

Family members and guests are welcome to attend the hearing, and you will have an opportunity to
introduce your family. The Committee will reserve up to eight seats for your family and guests. Additional
guests will be seated in open seating, but will have to stand in the public line for entry. Please provide us
with your “reserved seating” list of up to eight names by e-mail no later than 9:00 a.m. EST on Tuesday,
November 14, 2017. Please also indicate your relationship to your guests (spouse, nephew, friend,
colleague, etc.).

If you have any questions, please contact Lola, Brett, or me. We look forward to seeing you next week!
Best,
Kara

Kara King

Nominations Researcher
Office of Legal Policy (OLP)
U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Room 4234

Office: (202} 514-1607

= ()6
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

Sent: Monday, November 13, 2017 1:40 PM
To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: Nominations Hearing Schedule

Thank you so much! Here's our list:

Allyson Ho (wife)
(b) ()
(b) (8)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 13, 2017, at 1:33 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2 @usdoj.gov> wrote:

Duplicative Material
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Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Thursday, November 23, 2017 12:15 PM
To: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

Attachments: Feinstein QFRs for Ho.docx

Thanks much, and will do.

Before sending all drafts to everyone on the email, | thought I'd send just this one to you, to give you a
flavor. (b) (5)

Thank you so much, and happy Thanksgiving!

From: Talley, Brett (OLP) [maiito:Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov]

Sent: Thursday, November 23, 2017 10:25 AM

To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov>; Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov>; Dickey,
Jennifer (OLP} <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re: QFRs

Send it along. Happy Thanksgiving.
Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 23, 2017, at 9:55 AM, Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com> wrote:

I have a working draft that | can send to you all anytime—just let me know, as | do not want to
interrupt unnecessarily with anyone’s family time.

If it would be appropriate to schedule a call to go through anything, | would welcome the
opportunity—if it would be possible to do it Friday morning rather than Friday afternoon, |
would be most grateful, but naturally | will make myself available to you all anytime that is
convenient for you!

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Wednesday, November 22, 2017 7:31 PM

To: King, Kara (OLP} <Kara.King2@usdo].gov>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.govs; Kingo, Lola A, (OLP)
<iola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov=; Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>
Subject: Re: QFRs

Thanks so much — will do! And have a great Thanksgiving!
Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 22, 2017, at 5:27 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Ho 2-0014
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Hello Jim,

Attached are your QFRs from Ranking Member Feinstein and Senators Durbin, Whitehouse,
Klobuchar, Coons, Hirono. Please provide your answers in the attached documents, retaining
the formatting, and return them to us for review by the close of business on Friday.

If you have any questions, please give us a call. Thank you.
Kara

Kara King

Nominations Researcher
Office of Legal Policy (OLP}
U.S. Department of Justice
3950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Room 4234

Office: (202) 514-1607

cell: (b) (6)

<Feinstein QFRs for Ho.docx>
<Durbin QFRs for Ho.docx>
<Whitehouse QFRs for Ho docx>
<Klobuchar QFRs for Ho docx>
<Coons QFRs for Ho docx>
<Hwrono QFRs for Ho docx>

This message mayv contain confidential and privileged information. If it has been sent to vou in
error, please reply to advise the sender of the error and then immediately delete this message.
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Ho, James C.
==

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Friday, November 24, 2017 12:53 AM

To: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Ce: King, Kara (OLP); Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

Attachments: Whitehouse QFRs for Ho (002).docx; Klobuchar QFRs for Ho.docx; Coons QFRs

for Ho (002).docx; Hirono QFRs for Ho.doey; Feinstein QFRs for Ho.docx; Durbin
QFRs for Ho.docx

First drafts attached here.

From: Talley, Brett (OLP) [mailto:Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov]

Sent: Thursday, November 23, 2017 10:25 AM

To: Ho, lames C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov>; Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov=; Dickey,
Jennifer (OLP} <Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re: QFRs

Send it along. Happy Thanksgiving.
Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 23, 2017, at 9:55 AM, Ho, James C. <lHo@gibsondunn.com=> wrote:

Duplicative Material



mailto:JHo@gibsondunn.com
mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov
mailto:Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov
mailto:Kara.King2@usdoj.gov
mailto:JHo@gibsondunn.com
mailto:Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov

Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Saturday, November 25, 2017 1:47 AM

To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

Attachments: Whitehouse QFRs for Ho (jbd).docx; Feinstein QFRs for Ho (jbd).docx; Durbin

QFRs for Ho (jbd).doex

(b) (5)
]

Thanks so much as always! | look forward to your thoughts.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Saturday, November 25, 2017 12:34 AM

To: 'Dickey, Jennifer {OLP)' <Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>
Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov>

Subject: RE: QFRs

Thanks so much.

I meant to ask during our call today: (b) (5)

From: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) [mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.zov]
Sent: Friday, November 24, 2017 1:28 PM

To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Breit.Talley@usdoj.gov>

Subject: QFRs

Jim,
Here's my first cut at your QFRs. Happy to look at another round once you've made your changes.

Jennifer B. Dickey

Office of Legal Policy

U.S. Department of Justice

850 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.,, Rm 4244
Washington, D.C. 20530

Direct: 202.514.2456

w3l (b) (6)

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

Sent: Sunday, November 26, 2017 10:00 AM
To: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Ce: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: Re: QFRs

(b) (5) P s ]
Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 25, 2017, at 10:03 AM, Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.cov> wrote:

b6 f

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 25, 2017, at 12:35 AM, Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com> wrote:

Duplicative Material
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Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 10:44 AM

To: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Ce: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

Attachments: (b) (5) (b) (5)
* (b) (5)

(b) (5)

From: Ho, James C.
Sent: Sunday, November 26, 2017 9:00 AM
To: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov>
Cc: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>
Subject: Re: QFRs
Duplicative Material




Ho, James C.
==

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 11:28 AM
To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

Thanks so much!

—

> From: Dickey, Jennifer {OLP) [mailto:lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov]
> Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 9:51 AM

>ToiHo, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

> Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov>

>Subject: Re: OFRs

=
> From our discussions with OLC, (b) (5)

=
> (b) (5)
>

»>0n Nov 27, 2017, at 10:47 AM, Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com?> wrote:
Duplicative Material
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Ho, James C.

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 11:31 AM
To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

Sounds good. (b) (5) :

g
G

From: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) [mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov]
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 10:27 AM

To: Ho, lames C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com:>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re: OFRs

(b) (5)

On Nov 27, 2017, at 11:13 AM, Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com® wrote:

From: Ho, James C.
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 10:00 AM
To: 'Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)' <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Breti.Talley@usdoj.gov>
Subject: RE: QFRs

Ok, got it. (b) (5)

-----0riginal Message-----

From: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) [mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov]
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 9:59 AM

To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re; QFRs

(b) (5) Ho 2 - 0110
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(b) (5)

>0n Nov 27, 2017, at 10:57 AM, Ho, James C. <]Ho{ angunn.c

> Ok, got it, thx so much for checking!

»>Sent: Monday, Ncrvpmber T 2Cll? 9:51 AM
>To: Ho, James C, <

>Cc: Talley, Brett (O

>Subject: Re: OFRs

Duplicative Material
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Ho, James C.
==

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 4:06 PM
To: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Ce: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: RE: QFRs

(b) (3)
|
-

I

(5)
(b) (5)
b) (3)

(b) (5)
|

0|

From: Ho, James C.

Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 1:48 PM

To: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>
Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Breti.Talley@usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re: QFRs

So sorry to miss your call — pls call me when you free up atj(XG)]

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 27, 2017, at 12:55 PM, Dickey, Jennifer {OLP) <Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov> wrote:

(b) ()

(b) (5)


mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov
mailto:Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov
mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov

(b) ()
| _

Let me know what you think.

From: Ho, James C. [mailio:JHo@gibsondunn.com]
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 12:18 PM

To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP) <jdickey@|md.usdoj.gov>
Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <btalley@|md.usdo].gov>
Subject: RE: QFRs

Can | give you a call?

From: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) [mailto:Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2017 10:33 AM

To: Ho, James C. <JHo@gibsondunn.com>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoi.gov>

Subject: Re: QFRs

s
(=
<

et

(b) ()

Ho 2-0113
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(b) (5)

Nov 27, 2017, at 11:30 AM, Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <j

On Nov 27, 2017, at 11:28 AM, Ho, James C

Duplicative Material
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, May 03, 2017 2:07 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP); Shannon, Gail

Subject: Re: Background Investigation

Attachments: Fillable Supplement to the SF-86 STUART K DUNCAN.pdf; Additional Instructions

SF-86 Duncan Signed.pdf; Credit Check Waiver STUART K DUNCAN. pdf; Tax
Check Waiver STUART K DUNCAN Signed.pdf; WH Waiver STUART K DUNCAN.pdf

Dear Lola,

| have completed the SF86 via e-QIP and released it back to OLP, along with the necessary certification
and releases. In addition, please find attached PDFs of the following documents (signed where

applicable):

Completed SF86 Supplement

Additional Instructions

White House Waiver

Credit Check Waiver

Tax Check Waiver (signed and dated by hand)

I R ol

Finally, | have an appointment for fingerprinting this afternoon and | will overnight the cards to you.
Please let me know if | have omitted anything or if you need anything further.

Regards,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAEER DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 200 Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) {mobile)
KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Duncan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On May 1, 2017, at 9:57 AM, Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Dear Mr. Duncan,

I work with Deputy Assistant Attorney General Brett Talley (copied) in the U.S. Justice
Department’s Office of Legal Policy, which vets candidates for federal judgeships. The White
House has asked us to work with you on a series of forms that will be used in connection with

wurinr EBI hackarninind inuactiaatinn Miuir maal ic +a initisate vrnir harkarninind invacticatinn rﬁn Iat
Ui
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than Friday, May 5th. Before we can initiate your background investigation, there are a number
of documents for you to review and complete, mainly the:

* SF86 (completed via e-QIP) — We have generated an SF86 for you to complete in e-QIP in
connection with the FBI's background investigation. You should receive an email inviting
you to get started on your SF86 from the Office of Personnel Management. To get started,
please follow the attached e-QIP applicant instructions. If you have any trouble accessing e-
QlP, please contact Gail Shannon (copied), who can be reached via email or during business
hours at (724) 794-5612 x7764 (office) and after business hours at (724) 612-8679 {mobile).

+ SF86 Supplement (attached Word DOC) — In addition to the 5F86 that you complete via e-
QIP, please complete the attached SF86 Supplement.

* Additional Instructions (attached Word DOC) — The attached instructions are especially
important because they contain instructions that supersede some of the instructions on the
forms themselves (for example, we ask you to list your Residence and Employment
Histories back to age 18, rather than just going back 7 years as the SF86 specifies). Please
remember to sign the Additional Instructions.

* White House Waiver (attached PDF), Credit Check Waiver (attached PDF), Tax Check Waiver
(attached PDF) — These are additional waivers needed for aspects of your background
investigation. Please do not date or sign the tax check waiver electronically as it will delay
processing, rather please handwrite the date and sign the hard copy.

+ Immigration Addendum (attached PDF) — Only complete the Immigration Addendum if
applicable to you.

+ Fingerprint Cards (sent via FedEx) —We have mailed you two sets of fingerprint cards, which
you should promptly take to your local police station, FBI office, or a private company, to
get your fingerprints taken.

Once you have completed the SF86 via e-QIP, please release it back to OLP for review. Also,
once you complete the SF86 Supplement, Additional Instructions, Waivers, and Immigration
Addendum (if applicable), please email them to me. Finally, once your fingerprints are taken,
please return the cards via overnight mail to the address in my signature block.

We look forward to working with you. If you have any questions about the forms, please let me
know. Ican be reached at 202-514-1818 (office) and (mobile). Thank you.

Lola A. Kingo

Senior Nominations Counsel

Office of Legal Policy (OLP)

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Room 4239

Washington, D.C. 20530

(202) 514-1818

Lola.A.Kingo@usdo].gov

<Fillable Supplement to the SF-86.docx><WH Waiver.pdf><Credit Check Waiver.pdf><Tax
Check Waiver.pdf><Immigration Addendum.pdf><Additional Instructions for Completing
SF86.doc><e-QIP Applicant Instructions.docx>
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Additional Instructions for Completing Standard Form 86
“Questionnaire for National Security Positlions”

YOU MUST READ AND FOLLOW CAREFULLY THE FOLOWING INSTRUCTIONS WHEN COMPLETING
THE STANDARD FORM 86 (SF-86). NOTE THAT IN A NUMBER COF IMPORTANT RESPECTS

THESE ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS VARY FROM THE INSTRUCTIONS PRINTED ON THE FORM
ITSELF.

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Although many of the guestions of the SF-86 ask you to provide
infermation for the last seven years, the FBI requires that you answer
the following questions with information since your 18 birthday: Q.11,
Q.13; Q.15(d): Q:19; Q. 20, 0.21, Q.22(a)and(b); Q.23{a); (e)and{d), Q.24,
Q.26, Q.27, and Q.28. Question 16 is the only exception to this
instruction. For Q.16 you only need to cover the last 7 years when
providing the names and contact information for people who know you well.

Although the instructions on the SF-86 indicate that you may legibly
print your answers, you must type this form and all attachments.

It is essential that all information be provided in as much detail as
requested. Ambiguous and incomplete information will impede the FBI’s
investigation and will cause valuable time to be lost. Be specific:
exact and complete names, dates, and addresses and explanations of
answers are necessary for an expeditious handling of the investigation.
Do not abbreviate the names of cities. The inclusion of zip codes is
particularly helpful.

INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING PARTICULAR QUESTIONS

Qog

i 1

g.12

Q.13

Citizenship: 1If you are a U.S. citizen other than by birth, you must
also execute the “Immigration Addendum to the SF-86."

Where You Have Lived: For apartment complexes, include the name of the
complex and the specific unit number. If you lived in a residence that
was leased or rented, include the name of the individual in whose name
the rental agreement or lease was established.

Where You Went to School: Please list all education received including
high school.

Employment Activities: Provide complete addresses
(street/city/state/zip code) for each employment listed. Be as
specific as possible (i.e., include divisions or departments, etc.)

Include all periods of unemployment, self-employment, volunteer
employment, or internships. Provide names, complete addresses and
telephone numbers of persons who can verify periocds of unemployment or
self-employment.

Duncan 35554 211



Q.13C Employment Record: If you have ever been denied employment while
undergoing or upon completion of a background investigation or
polygraph examination, please identify the prospective employer and the

date and reason for voluntary/involuntary withdrawal from
consideration.

Q.ld Your Selective Service Record: Inguiries regarding your own
registration can be directed to the Selective Service at 847-688-6888.

Q.15 Your Military History: If you are a member of a military reserve
component or National Guard unit, list the organization, its location,
the name of your immediate officer and telephone number, if known.

Q.18 Relatives: Although the SF-86 requests only the country of birth, also
provide the city and state or city and country of birth. If relatives
live overseas, please indicate whether or not they are serving in the
military. Provide their complete address, including city and country.
Do not list APO or FPO address.

If any relatives or cotenants were born outside the United States
and/or are a U.S. citizen other than by birth, complete the
“Immigration Addendum to the SF-86” with respect to those persons.

Q.22 Police Record: List all arrests, charges, and convictions since your
18" birthday (except traffic fines of less than $300.00) .

.23 Illegal Use of Drugs or Drug Activity/Use of Alcohol: If you have ever

Q.24 abused legal or prescription drugs to the point of dependency, also
list. 1In addition, list treatment for drug or alcohol dependency.
Please note that Question 23(a) refers to any drug use since your 18°%®
birthday.

Q.26 Financial Record: If a collection procedure has ever been instituted
against you by Federal, state, or local authorities, please give full
details. In addition, list any incidents of bankruptcy.

SF-86 Supplement Form

Q.15(d) Professional License/Memberships: Please include all professional
licenses, current and former, particularly all former bar admissions.

Certification

I have read and understand these supplemental instructions and have provided
my answers in accordance with such instructions.

&_%I\ ,QW N $. Kyle Duncan 5/3/2017

Signk a Printed/Typed Name Date

Revised 2/8/11
Duncan 1; 0004



(1/9/10)

THE WHITE HOUSE
WASHINGTON

PRIVACY ACT PROTECTED INFORMATION
(When Completed)

Disclosure and Authorization
Pertaining to Consumer Reports
Pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act

This is a release for the Federal Bureau of Investigation and/or the Office of Counsel to the
President, acting on the President's behalf, to obtain one or more consumer/credit reports about
you in connection with consideration of your appointment to a position within the Executive
Branch or the Federal Judiciary, or in the course of your employment with the Federal
Government. One or more reports about you may be obtained for employment purposes,
including evaluating your fitness for employment, promotion, reassignment, retention, or access

to classified information.

L, Stuart Kyle Duncan , hereby authorize the

Federal Bureau of Investigation and/or the Office of Counsel to the President, acting on the
President's behalf, to obtain such reports from any consumer/credit reporting agency for

employment purposes.

Signature

(b) (6)

Social Security Number

Duncan 1; 0005



SF-86 Supplement

Note: For all of the following questions, please provide as much detail as possible.

1. Have you or your spouse ever registered as an agent for, performed work for, received any
payments from and/or made any payments to, any foreign government, foreign business, or non-
profit organization with any foreign government ownership? If yes, please provide:

a. Name of foreign government/business/non-profit with which you dealt;
b. Address/telephone of the organization(s);
c. Date of payment;

d. Amount of payment;

e. Circumstances.

(b) (6)

2. Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you or your spouse by
federal, state, or local authorities? If yes, please provide:

a. Date of tax lien/collection procedure;
b. Recipient of action (you and/or your spouse);
c. Source of action (specific local/state/federal authority);

d. Circumstances;

(b) (6)

e. Resolution of the action.

3. Have any claims of sexual harassment, racial discrimination, or any other workplace
misconduct, ever been made against you or any employee directly supervised by you? If yes,
please provide:

a. Type of claim;
b. Organization/business/entity where it took place;

c. Date of claim;

1|Page
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d. Your involvement in the claim;

e. Nature of allegations/circumstances;

f. Resolution of the claim.

4. To your knowledge, have you or your spouse, or has either of your conduct been the subject of
any civil or criminal case, administrative proceeding, or government investigation, other than a
minor traffic infraction? If yes, please provide:

a. Type of proceeding (e.g., civil case);

b. Date(s) of proceeding;

c. Nature of your involvement, issue(s) and disposition;
d. Location of Records (e.g., court);

e. issues(s) and disposition;

f. Location of records (e.g. court).

g. Name/address/telephone of General counsel/other official

5. Have you ever paid late or had lapses in payment of child support and/or alimony owed by
you? If yes, please provide:

a. Date of late payment(s)/lapse(s);
b. State/local authority handling the matter;

c¢. Circumstances;

d. Resolution of the matter.

2|Page
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6. Do you have any current or former professional licenses/membership such as bar associations,
medical licenses, real estate licenses, etc.? Please see list below. If yes, please provide:

a. Type of license/membership;
b. Location;
c. License number;

d. Date issued/expiration;

* Louisiana Bar (Bar No. 25038; admitted Oct. 1, 1997)

* Texas Bar (Bar. No. 24010002; admitted May 3, 1999) (currently inactive)

* D.C. Bar (Bar No. 1010452; admitted Oct. 15, 2012)

* Louisiana Bar Association

» D.C. Bar Association

* Federalist Society

* ABA Committee on the Relationship of the Legislative, Executive, and Judicial Branches

* U.S. Supreme Court (admitted Oct. 6, 2010)

* U.S. Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals (admitted 1998 when clerking; readmitted Jan. 21,
2009)

* U.S. Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals (admitted July 21, 2016)

* U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals (admitted Feb. 12, 2016)

* U.S. Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (admitted Oct. 21, 2014)

* U.S. Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals (admitted Nov. 30, 2012)

* U.S. Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals (admitted July 11, 2014)

* U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit (admitted Aug. 31, 2012)

* Eastern District of Louisiana (admitted Jan. 14, 2009)

* Middle District of Louisiana (admitted Apr. 24, 2009)

* District of Columbia Federal District Court (admitted June 6, 2016)

e. Details of any complaints, citations, disciplinary actions, etc. against you.
(b) (6)

7. With as much detail as possible, please provide any other information, including information
about other members of your family, which could suggest a conflict of interest, be a possible
source of embarrassment, or be used to coerce or blackmail you.

3|Page
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U.S. Depazrtment of Justice Tax Check Waiver

I am signing this waiver to permit the Internal Revenue Service to release information
about me which would otherwise be confidential. This information will be used in
connection with my appointment or employment by the United States Government. This
waiver is made pursuant to 26 U.S.C., §6103(c).

I request that the Internal Revenue Service release the following information to
Lola Kingo (Senior Nominations Counsel), Bridget C. Coehins, or designee of U.S.
Department of Justice:

L. Have | failed to file any Federal income tax return for any of the last three years for which filing of
a return might have been required?  (If the filing date without regard to extensions and normal
processing period for most recent year's return has not yet elapsed on the date IRS receives this
waiver, and the IRS records do not indicate a return for the most recent year, the “last three years”
will mean the three years preceding the year for which returns are currently being filed and
processed.)

2, Were any of the returns in #1 filed more than 45 days after the due date for filing (determined with
regard to any extension(s) of time for filing)?

3. Have I failed to pay any tax, penalty or interest during the current or last three calendar years
within 45 days of the date on which the IRS gave notice of the amount due and requested payment?

4, Am I now or have | ever been under investigation by the IRS for possible criminal offenses?

5. Has any civil penalty for fraud been assessed against me during the current or last three calendar

years?

I authorize the IRS to release any additional relevant information necessary to respond to the questions
above.

To help the IRS find my tax records and the Department of Justice to evaluate my tax history, | am
voluntarily giving the following information:

MY NAME ©Weck Fyle Duncan MY SSN: _“_

(Please print or type)

(b) (6)
TELEPHONE NUMBERS: (HOME) (\mRKn
b) (6)

NAMES AND ADDRESSES SHOWN ON RETURNS (IF DIFFERED
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1. If a tax return for any of the last three years was not filed, please explaia why
in the space provided below.

2. 1If a tax return for any of the last three tax years was filed more than 45 days after
the due date for filing, please explain why in the space provided below.

3. If a tax payment for any of the last three tax years was made more than 45 days after
notice and demand, please explain why in the space provided below.

4. If there was insufficient income to meet filing requirements or filing requirements
were met by filing with a foreign tax agency (e.g., Puerto Rico or the Virgin Islands),
please describe the circumstances in the space provided below.

n/a

DATE: 5./3/'70/?

(Waivef Ifvalid Unless Received
By the IRS Within 60 Days of This Date)

s e Ay I
(Sighature of Taxpayer Authorizing the
Disclosure of Return Information)

DOJ-488A (Rev. 10/97)
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(DOJ-OLP-1/12/10)

THE WHITE HOUSE
WASHINGTON

Date:

To: Federal Bureau of Investigation
Attn:  SIGBIU (Room 10861)

From: The White House
White House Counsel’s Office

Subject's Full Name:  Stuart Kyle Duncan

Other names used (incl. birth, prior married, nickname) n/a

b) (6 __
SSN (b} (6) DOB m Place of Birth (b) (6)

Permanent Address

(also current residence, if different) n/a

Current employer(s) Schaerr Duncan LLP
SUBJECT’S CONSENT': 1 hereby authorize the FBI to provide the information specified below to

the White House. _

(Subject’s Signature) (Date)

Request of FBI (Use of this form to request information developed by the FBI or contained in FBI files
requires the subject's consent. Exceptions will only be permitted as authorized by the Attorney General /
Deputy Attormey General.)

X Full field investigation (" Level 1 (" Level 2 (" Level 3

The applicant is being considered for:

X Presidential Appointment X Position Requiring Senate Confirmation
Attachments: X SF-86 X SF-86 Supplement X SF-87 Fingerprint Card
Remarks /

special instructions:

(position of possible appointment)

I certify, subject to 18 U.S. C. § 1001, that the above is sought for official purposes only and I
understand that obtaining this information under false pretenses or any unauthorized disclosure may be a

violation of the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a.

Requested by:

(Signature)

This request has been reviewed and approved by the White House Counsel’s Office.

Approved by:

(Signature, White House Counsel’s Office)

Duncan 1; 0015



Kyle Duncan
e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Monday, May 8, 2017 5:07 PM
To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: Background Investigation
Lola,

My fingerprint cards are being overnighted to you and should arrive tomorrow (Tuesday).

Thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE.  DUNCANLLE
1717 K Street NW._ Suite 00 | Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) [E(s)X(C)IM (mobile)

E Duncan@ Schaerr-Duncan com | www_Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On May 3, 2017, at 2:14 PM, Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Terrific; thank you! OLP will review your paperwork and circle back with suggestions if needed.

From: Kyle Duncan [mailto:kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com]

Sent: Wednesday, May 03, 2017 2:07 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdo].gov>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <Brett.Talley@usdoi.gov>; Shannon, Gail <Gail.Shannon@nbib.gov>
Subject: Re: Background Investigation

Duplicative Material
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Kyle Duncan
[=ea e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Tuesday, July 25, 2017 4:18 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: (b)(6) - AOUSC Email Address

Subject: Re: Financials

Attachments: FDR Confidential Registration for Electronic Filing DUNCAN.pdf
Lola,

Attached is a signed PDF of my registration form. The original is being overnighted to you by FedEx.

Thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR |DUNCANLLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) [ EQICHR (mobile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com | wew. Schaerr-Duncan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Jul 24, 2017, at 12:05 PM, Kingo, Lola A. {OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov> wrote:

<FDR Confidential Registration for Electronic Filing.pdf>
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Attachment

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Confidential Registration for Electronic Filing

This form shall be used to register for an account with the Financial Disclosure Online
Reporting System. Registered filers and other participants will have privileges to submit
documents electronically and to receive electronic notice of documents filed in their personal
folders in the Financial Disclosure Online Reporting System.

NOTE: The Financial Disclosure Online Reporting System is a restricted Web site
for official use only. Unauthorized entry or use or any use that attempts to circumvent access
controls is prohibited and subject to prosecution under Title 18 of the U.S. Code. All activities
and access attempts are logged and any prohibited actions may result in immediate withdrawal
of access privileges and referral for prosecution.

The following information is required for registration:

First/Middle/Last Name: Stuart Kyle Duncan

Title: n/a

Circuit: U.S. Fifth Circuit

District: n/a

Court: Court of Appeals

Court or Office Address: 1717 K St NW, Suite 900

Court or Office City, State and Zip Code: Washington, DC

Court or Office Voice Phone Number: (202) 787-1060

Court or Office Fax Number: n/a

Official Court or Office E-Mail Address: kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com

(address ending in ".gov" or ".org")

(b) (6)
Secondary E-Mail Address:

(address ending in ".com," ".net," ".gov," or ".org")

Initial: _ skd

Page 1 of 2
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By submitting this registration form, the undersigned agrees as follows:

1. This system is designed for filing with and records management by the Committee on
Financial Disclosure. It may be used by individual filers only to file reports and other
required documents and to view specific documents and notices contained within the
filer's own financial disclosure records.

2. At this time, the requirements for filing, viewing, and retrieving case documents are:
a personal computer running a standard platform such as Windows or Macintosh, an
Internet provider using Point to Point Protocol (PPP), Internet Explorer 7 or higher or
Mozilla Firefox 3.5.x, the current version of the FDR report preparation software, and
software such as Adobe Acrobat Writer to convert supplemental documents from a word
processor format to a portable document format (PDF).

3. In accordance with the Ethics in Government Act of 1978 (5 U.S.C. app. §§ 101-111),
each financial disclosure document submitted shall be signed by the filer. The filer's
log-in and the password, combined with his or her "s/typed name," serves as and
constitutes the filer’s signature. It is the responsibility of each filer to protect and secure
the password issued by the Committee. If there is any reason to suspect that the
password has been compromised in any way, or upon the resignation or reassignment of
an individual with authority to use the password, it is the duty and responsibility of the
filer immediately to change the password and notify the Committee at 202-502-1850.

4. It is the responsibility of the filer to keep all contact information current. Upon
relocation and/or change of e-mail addresses, it is imperative that the filer update the
information in his or her account. Electronic delivery of documents will be attempted to
both e-mail addresses of record, but successful delivery need only be to one such address.

The undersigned agrees to abide by the Committee’s Policies and Procedures Guide for
Electronic Filing and all technical and procedural requirements set forth therein, and any updates
or amendments.

e 32k

A~ )
e & 4 (A2 g "

L

—

Signature

Please return to: Committee on Financial Disclosure
One Columbus Circle, N.E., Suite 2-301
Washington, DC 20544

Page 2 of 2
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Kyle Duncan
[=ea e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, July 27, 2017 11:28 AM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: (b)(6) - AOUSC Email Address

Subject: Re: Financials

Attachments: FDR_NOM_Duncan-S-K DRAFT 7-27-17.pdf; DUNCAN Net Worth Statement.doc

Dear Lola and Kristina,

Attached are drafts of my Financial Disclosure Report (in PDF) and my Net Worth Statement (in Word).
| look forward to your comments and corrections.

Regards,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAFRR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW, Syite 800 Washington, DU 20006
202-T87-1060 {office) AR (mobile)
KDuncan@Schaer- can com | www Schaemw-Thmcan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Jul 24, 2017, at 12:05 PM, Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Dear Kyle,

(b) (3) , | was hoping you could turn your attention to finalizing the financial

documents that must be completed should you be nominated.

First, please complete and sign the attached registration form, which will enable you to register
for electronic filing of the Financial Disclosure Report. This Report is filed with the
Administrative Office of the US Courts to ensure compliance with the Ethics in Government Act
of 1978 and is also attached to your Senate Questionnaire. For the “Title,” “Circuit,” “District,”
and/or “Court” lines, please reference the court for which you are a candidate (and feel free to
put “N/A” in those fields that are not applicable). For the remaining entries, please use your
current office address and contact information. Once you have completed the form, please
email me a PDF of the form and then send the original by overnight delivery (either FedEx or
UPS) to me at the address in my signature block.

Second, please complete a draft of the Financial Disclosure Report, which must be both filed
with the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts within five calendar days of your nomination
and attached to your Senate Judiciary Questionnaire. You can access the software needed to
s SR 2 & g 2 LA Tooamesmer AT Duncan 1; 0029
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generate the Financial Disclosure Report, as well as related documents, at hitps://fd-
docs.uscourts.gov, Please use the following credentials to log-in to the website, where you
may download the software, User ID: ; Password: m Please note that both
are case sensitive. | have attached Filing Instructions for completing the Financial Disclosure
Report. If you have any questions about completing the Financial Disclosure Report, please
contact Kristina Usry (copied) atshe knows everything there is to know about
the Financial Disclosure Report and can walk you through any questions you have.

Finally, please complete a Net Worth Statement. A blank Net Worth Statement as well as Net
Worth Statement Guidelines are attached. If you have any questions about the Net Worth
Statement, please do not hesitate to reach out to me.

If possible, please email me and Kristina your Registration Form, a draft of your Financial
Disclosure Report and Net Worth Statement by the close of business on Monday, July 31st. We
lock forward to working with you. Thank you!

Lola A. Kingo

Senior Nominations Counsel
Office of Legal Policy (OLP)
U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Room 4239

Washington, D.C. 20530

(202) 514-1818 (0)

(m)

Lola AKingo@usdoi gov

<filing-instructions.pdf><Net Worth Statement Guidelines and Sample.doc><Blank Net
Worth Statement.doc><FDR Confidential Registration for Electronic Filing.pdf>
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Kyle Duncan
[=ea e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, September 21, 2017 4:07 PM
To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: ABA Waivers and JEFS Registration
Attachments: Duncan ABA Waiver - SIGNED 9-21-17.pdf
Kara,

Attached is a PDF of my signed ABA waiver. I'm traveling at present, but I'll try to get you the signed
JEFS page by tomorrow or Friday.

Thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAFRR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) .
KDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan com | waw Schasnr-Thincan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Sep 21, 2017, at 2:28 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2 @usdoj.gov> wrote:

Hello Mr. Duncan,

Prior to your hearing before the Senate Judiciary Committee, the American Bar Association's
Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary will provide the Senate with an evaluation of your
professional qualifications. To begin its evaluation, the ABA's Standing Committee requires
the attached waiver. We ask that you please complete and sign the attached waiver, which we
will submit to the ABA's Standing Committee on your behalf, along with a draft of the public
portion of your Senate Questionnaire. Please email us back the signed copy of the waiver (we
do not need the original).

In the event you would like additional information about the ABA's evaluation process, please
visit the

following:http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/2011 build/federal judicia
ry/federal judiciary09.authcheckdam.pdf.

Additionally, under DOJ security policies, we need to register judicial nominees with the DOJ

online file-sharing system (“JEFS") in order to exchange files larger than 10 MB (inciuding our
sending you the final assembled version of the Attachments to your Senate Questionnaire). On

the attached form, please confirm your email address is listed correctly on the first page, and

T i " ity * g = i Y . i . ¥ i s DilﬂCﬂn1;0044
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then sign the final page of the User Agreement. Please physically sign in hard copy (do not e-
sign}. You should leave “Component and Sub-Component” blank. The User Agreement contains
the Rules of Behavior for handling/receiving files securely from DOJ.

One final note: if you already have a Box account associated with the email address listed for
you on page 1 of the attached, please let me know. We will need either to deactivate your
account and re-register you, or use an alternate email address when registering you through
Dol

Please email me back a scanned pdf of the last page of the JEFS containing your signature and
the signed ABA waiver by close of business on Monday, September 25th. If you are able to get
the paperwork to us earlier, that would be much appreciated.

Let me know if you have any questions!
Best,
Kara

Kara King

Nominations Researcher
Office of Legal Policy (OLP}
U.S. Department of Justice
3950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Room 4234

Office: (202) 514-1607

Cell:

<Duncan ABA Waiver.docx>=<Duncan JEFS Account Request.pdf>
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AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION
STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE FEDERAL JUDICIARY
WAIVER OF CONFIDENTIALITY

I hereby waive the privilege of confidentiality with respect to any information which
concerns me, including any complaints erased by law, and is known to, recorded with, on file
with or in the possession of any governmental, judicial, disciplinary, investigative or other
official agency, the Louisiana Bar’s Office of Disciplinary Counsel, the State Bar of Texas
Chief Disciplinary Counsel, the District of Columbia Office of Disciplinary Counsel or any
educational institution, or employer, and I hereby authorize a representative of the American Bar
Association Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary to request and to receive any such
information.

Stuart Kyle Duncan
Typed or Printed Name

-5 \. u| 1adele” .

Signature

Dated: September 21, 2017

DA 3016157 vl
Duncan 1; 0046



Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, September 22, 2017 12:41 AM
To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Oral arguments, etc.
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b) (9)

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE DUNCANLLE
1717 K Street WW, Suite 900 | Washington, DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office) M)XK (mobile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan com www. Schaerr-Duncan com

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
Sent: Friday, September 22, 2017 11:02 AM
To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: BEH (b) (5) |

(b) (5)
I —

Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)
(cell)

Kduncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com

On Sep 22, 2017, at 9:54 AM, Berry, Jonathan (OLP) <Jonathan.Berry@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Thanks, Kyle. (b) (5)
Sent from my iPhone

On Sep 22, 2017, at 9:08 AM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:

I'll think about it today but nothing immediately comes to mind. JEQJEl
-]
I

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLE
1717 K Street WW, Suite 900 | Washington, DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office (NI (mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaenr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and
confidential use of the recipient(s) named above. If you have received this communication
in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete the original message.

On Sep 22, 2017, at 8:04 AM, Berry, Jonathan (OLP)
<Jonathan.Berry@usdoj.gov> wrote;

Thanks, Kyle. (b) (5)

Sent fro iPhone
Sent from mv iPhon Duncan 1; 0048
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On Sep 22, 2017, at 12:20 AM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-
duncan.com> wrote:

Jonathan,

(b) (5

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR ' DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 200 | Washington, DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office} [NEXGIN (mobile)

EDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Dhuncan com

The informaticn contained in this e-mail message is intended
only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient(s)
named above. If you have received this communication in
error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete the
original message.
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Kyle Duncan
e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, September 22, 2017 4:28 PM

To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: ABA Waivers and JEFS Registration
Attachments: Duncan JEFS Signature Page SIGNED.pdf
Kara,

Attached is the signed signature page for my JEFS form. The e-mail on the first page is accurate.
Have a good weekend.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE | DUNCAN LLP
1717 K Street NW. Suite 200 Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office B ICE (mobils)

K Duncan@ Schaem-Duncan.com | www.Schaen-Dhmmcan.com

%

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Sep 21, 2017, at 3:28 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King? @usdo].gov> wrote:
Duplicative Material
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Department of Justice
Information Technology (IT) Security
Rules of Behavior (ROB) for General Users
Version 9
January 1, 2016

you meet required security controls.”
66. Disclose PII in accordance with appropriate legal authorities and the Privacy Act of 1974,

67. Dispose of and retain records in accordance with applicable record schedules, National Archives and
Records Administration guidelines and Department Policies.'”

68. Do not perform unauthorized querying, review, inspection, or disclosure of Federal Taxpayer
Information.!!

II.  Statement of Acknowledgement

I acknowledge receipt and understand my responsibilities as identified above. Additionally, this acknowledgment
accepts my responsibility to ensure the protection of PII that [ may handle. I will comply with the DOJ IT
Security ROB for General Users, Version 9, dated January 1, 2016.

3 ] ~
\9&}4‘)(‘ Vﬂ ‘ 5 ] ca — September 22, 2017
Signature v Date
Stuart Kyle Duncan
Printed Name Component and Sub-Component

Note: Statement of acknowledgement may be made by signature if the ROB for General Users is reviewed in hard
copy or by electronic acknowledgement if reviewed online. All users are required to review and provide their
signature or electronic verification acknowledging compliance with these rules. Users with privileged accesses
and permissions shall also agree to and sign the ROB for Privileged Users. If you have questions related to this
ROB, please contact your Help Desk, Security Manager, or Supervisor.

The Department has the right, reserved or otherwise, to update the ROB to ensure it remains compliant with all
applicable laws, regulations, and DOJ Standards. Updates to the ROB will be communicated through the
Department's ISES Team Lead and Component Training Coordinators.

Clear Form Print Form

JEFS is Strictly for DOJ Authorized Use Only.

% For additional guidance on PII, please refer to Information Technology Security, DOJ Order 2640.2F
(https://portal.doj.gov/sites/dm/dm/Directives/2640.2F . pdf). _
'"For disposal guidance, please refer to Records Management, DOJ Order 2710, 1] 9/ doinetdoj govidirectivescanceled- o dors/doi-2710-11.pdf).

" For additional information on disclosure of federal taxpayer information, please refer to Internal Revenue Code Sec. 7213 and 72134
(hlap:-".fwww.irs.govﬂm\-'pm] Virm_11-003-00 1 htmi#d0e 1 7o),

Duncan 1; 0051


https://11-00).C0
https://f-�p:l/www.1is.gov/uinlpart
https://portal.doj.gov/sites/dm/dm/Directives/2640.2F.pcif
https://lnfonnation.11
https://Policics.10

Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan
Sent: Tuesday, September 26, 2017 2:56 PM
To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Re: (b) (3)

(b) (5)

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW, Sy lashinzton DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) ‘mobile)

K Duncan@ Schaerr-Duncan com | waw Schaenr-Dhuncan com

The informaticn contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Sep 26, 2017, at 1:23 PM, Berry, Jonathan (OLP) <Jonathan.Berry@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Thanks, Kyle, (b) (5)

From: Kyle Duncan [mailto:kduncan®schaerr-duncan.com]

Sent: Tuesday, September 26, 2017 1:17 PM
To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP) <jberry@jmd.usdoj.gov>

subject: JIRIE)

Jonathan,
(b) (3), (b) (6)

Duncan 1; 0052
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Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR |IDUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 | Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) (mobile)

EDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan.com  www. Schaerr-Duncan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended onlv for the personal and confidential use
of the recipient(s) named above. If vou have received this communication in error, please notify us
immediately by e-mail, and delete the original message.
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Kyle Duncan
e =]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, September 27, 2017 3:01 PM
To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Fwd: Contact info

Attachments: Kyle Duncan.msg; ATT00001.htm

See below

Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)

(b) (6) (cell)

Kduncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com

Begin forwarded message:

Duncan 1; 0054


mailto:Kduncan@Schaerr-Ouncan.com

(b) (3), (b) (6) Duncan 1; 0055
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, September 27, 2017 7:45 PM
To: Hudson, Andrew (OLP)

Ce: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Re: Media

(b) (5)

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE | DUNCANTILE
1717 K Street N'W_ Suite 900 | Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office OIS (mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaen-Duncan com  waww Schaerr-Duncan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the ariginal message.

On Sep 27, 2017, at 7:44 PM, Hudson, Andrew (OLP) <Andrew.Hudson@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Great, thank you. (b) (5)
I
]

On Sep 27, 2017, at 7:28 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:

Will do in next 30 min
Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan
Schaerr | Duncan LLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)

(b) (6) (cell)
Kduncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com

On Sep 27, 2017, at 7:22 PM, Berry, Jonathan (OLP)
<Jonathan.Berry(@usdoj.gov> wrote;

(b) (5)
Il Pic:se also send to my colleague Drew (cc'ed)
too. Thanks.

Sent from my iPhone
Duncan 1; 0058
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, September 27, 2017 8:02 PM
To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Ce: Hudson, Andrew (OLP)

Subject: Re: Media

(b) (5)

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCANLIP
1717 K Street NW, Suite %00 | Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office) [(IXCG I (mobile)
KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www. Schaen-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient

{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Sep 27, 2017, at 8:00 PM, Berry, Jonathan (OLP) <Jonathan.Berry@usdoj.gov> wrote:

These are great, Kyle. Just to confirm, (b) (5)

Sent from my iPhone

On Sep 27, 2017, at 7:56 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:

(b) (5), (b) (6)
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I'll update you with further developments on contacts.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERE | DUNCAN1LE

1717 K Street NW._ Suite 00 | Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) [I(IXGC) N (mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaen-Duncan com www. Schaerr-Dhuncan com

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
<Jonathan.Berry@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Duplicative Material

Duncan 1; 0061
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2017 9:59 AM
To: Hudson, Andrew (OLP)

Ce: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Re: Media

Further update this moming.

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) IGXE I (mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan.com | www Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Sep 27, 2017, at 10:24 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:

Further update (b) (5)

Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) ?8? 1[}60 (office)

ECION ')

Kduncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com

On Sep 27, 2017, at 9:39 PM, Hudson, Andrew (OLP) <Andrew.Hudson@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Excellent, thanks! This should probably do perfectly for now. Thanks for
pulling this together so quickly--it was nice to meet you earlier!
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On Sep 27, 2017, at 9:07 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com>
wrote:

Couple of updates:

Kyle
from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)

IOTCON (c-!)

Kduncan@5Schaerr-Duncan.com

On Sep 27, 2017, at 7:56 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-
duncan.com> wrote:

Duplicative Material
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Kyle Duncan

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Kyle Duncan

Thursday, September 28, 2017 6:41 FM
BT ===t (IR H(D)(6) - Robert Luther Email Addressj(b)(6) - James Bumham Email Address

Fwd: Cazsidy Commends Trump ludicial Nominations

FY1, from Cassidy.

Kl Duncan
SCHAEFR I TUN

AN LID

177 hE-LﬁelN’t\.S OO W shinston, DC 20006
20-TE 1080 (office ) !,b} !,6} mobile)
KDuncznZ@Schesr-Duncn com | wiw Schasn-Duncan com

The information contzined in this e-mai message is intended on'y for the personal 2nd confidential use of the recipient{s} named above. | you ha ve received this
commenication inerror, piease notfy us immediate fy by emal|, 3nd deete the onging! me=aze.

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Quinn, James (Cassidy)

Subject: Re: Cassidy Commends Trump Judl N ominations

Date:

September2g 2017 at8:25:20 PM EDT

To: Kyie Duncan <kduncani@schaerr-duncan.com>

Sen. Cassidy will return the blue slip 2s scon as we receive it to procesed w your confirmation hearing.

Jlames Quinn

Chief of Staff

Sen. Bill Cassidy M.D., R-LA
202-224.5324

On Sep 28, 2017, at £:23 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaemr-duncan.com wrote:

Thanks so much, James. Reslly appreciate Senstor Cassidy's support.

Kxi= Doencan

SCHAERR DUNCANLLE
717K Stest NW, Suite 800 | W ashington, DC 20006
2007371080 foffice) ICOYNE R0
Eluncan@ichasn-DUncan oo il

Dheese &

The information contained in thise-mai message & intended only for the persona! and confidential use of the recipient|s) named above. I you

hawe recetved thiscommonication in error, please notify us immediately bye-mad, and de'ete the origina! memage,

On Sep 28,2017, 2t 6:21 PM, Quinn, James [Cassidy) (b) (6)
P, justwant b make sune you saw.

James Quinn

Chiefof Staf

Sen. Bill CassigyM.D:, R-LA
207-224-5574

Begin forwsrded message:

From: "Cass iy Press (Cassidy” < H
Subject: Cassidy Commends Trump Judicial Nominations

<Picture (Device Independent Bitmap) 1.jps>

For Immediate Announcsmsra Comtact: Iy Bofferdins
S epember 28, 2017 202-224-5824

Cassidy Commends Trump Judicial Nominations

Duncan 1; 0064
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TWASHINGT ON— Today, US Senaior Bill Cassady, MD (B-LA) mleazed a s bement Sollowins Presudent
Tromp’s nommation of Kurt Ensethardt and Fsde Duencan to the T8 3* Cirenit, and Barrv Ashe b the
Eastem Dhs tnct of L osiiana.

““The Prasyent madz 2 sound deckion i nomiretine Kvrt Ensathardt and Kwde Duncan o the 118, 5th
Circvit Court of Appeak and Bamy Ashe to the Eastem Lovisiane District Court. All three are mmmens by
gualfied and will serve our state and covntry weall in thes 2 new positions. said D Cassidy. *1 will work for
their zpeadwconfrmation in the £ emae

Eurt Ensethandt & 2 corent judse in the Eastern Distact of Lovtiana and sraduated fom Lovtsiane St
Unmersity's Paul H. Hebert Law Center. B afore his confimmation to the fedeml bench Eneelhanit became a
parmar with the Hailew, hMel anwra frm He recently was appointed to chair the Frth Cirevit’s Tudienl
Impainment Proocol Committzs and has served on sight diferent pansk of the United 5 tates Fifth Circvit
Court of Appeak

3 .K+ie Duncan & from Baton Rovee, Lovtiana and ecemved his LM fom Colimbia School of Law after
recerving his TD Fom ovtsiana § mte Tntversity. Prior to becomine 2 foundine partner and manasine partner
of Schaerr, Duncan [T P, Dencan served as Scolicitor General and Appellate Chief in the Lovisiana
Department of Justice. He has tapght at severnl mniversities and & 2atered m s publicabions.

Barry Ashe podvated rom Tulane Taw 8 chool and was 2 member of the Tolane Law Faview. Sinpe 1085,
Aszhe has been a partner at § tone Pigman Walther Wittmamn L1C i WNew Orleans, Lovkiam. Ashea
recipient of the JTohn B *Tack™ Martell Professionabem Award ofthe New Orleans Chapter ofthe Federal
Bar Association and selected by peers to The Best Lawyers in dmerica.
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, September 29, 2017 10:43 AM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) [(HICINCINEIGNSRETREIESS
Ce: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: FDR Form

Attachments: FDR_NOM_Duncan-5-K 9-29-2017.pdf

Dear Lola and Kristina,

You may have seen that yesterday the President was kind enough to nominate me to the Fifth Circuit. |
believe | have to get my FDR form file within five days.

Attached is an updated FDR that reflects changes suggested by Kristina back in July. Please let me
know if it looks complete and correct, and remind me what | need to do to file it.

Many thanks for your assistance.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE [ DUNCANLL?
1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) (NG (mobile)
KDunecan@ Schaenr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Duncan com

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

Sent: Friday, September 29, 2017 12:01 PM
To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: $JQ Affidavit Page

Attachments: Signed 5JQ Affidavit Page - DUNCAN.pdf

Jenn and Lola,

Attached is a scan of my signed and notarized SJQ affidavit page. The original is being sent to the
person and address indicated in my post-nomination instructions (Bridget Coehins).

I'll be traveling for the rest of the day, but available by cell (b) (6) and email in case you need
anything further. (b) (5)

Thanks for all your work on this.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 200 Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) {mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan.com  www.Schaerr-Dhincan com

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

Sent: Tuesday, October 03, 2017 5:02 PM
To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); King, Kara (OLP)
Ce: (b)(6) - AQUSC Email Address
Subject: Filed FDR

Attachments: FDR Duncan FILED 10-03-2017.pdf

Dear Lola and Kara,

With Kristina’s help, | just filed the attached FDR form. Please let me know if | need to do anything else
to meet the five-day deadline.

Thanks!
Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suy ashington DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaen-Duncan com www. Schaeny-Duncan com

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
Sent: Tuesday, October 3, 2017 5:17 PM
To: LEUETA: = (1R (D) (6) - Michael McGinley Email Address

(b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Address

Subject: Financial form

Just FYI, I filed my financial disclosure report this afternoon. I'm available to help finalize SIQ when it's
ready.

Kyle
Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)

(cell

Kduncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, October 04, 2017 2:34 PM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: Fwd: Senate Judiciary

FYI

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR |DUNCANLLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) QIO (mobile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaenr-Dhuncan.com

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

From: "Quinn, James (Cassicy) AN

Subject: Senate Judiciary
Date: October 4, 2017 at 2.32:11 PM EDT
To: "kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com” <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com=

Sen. Cassidy has returned your blue slip so Senate Judiciary can schedule your hearing.

James Quinn

Chief of Staff

Sen. Bill Cassidy M.D., R-LA
202-224-5824
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, October 05, 2017 7:19 PM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHOQO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP); Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: Fwd: ABA SCFJ - Nomination to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit

Attachments: 2017-10-5 Chair to Stuart Kyle Duncan regarding Nomination to the United States

Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.pdf

The ABA’s letter is attached below. The lawyer assigned to conduct my evaluation is Robert Rothman,
a commercial litigation attorney in Atlanta.

http://www.agg.com/Robert-Rothman/?

I'll let you know when he schedules an interview with me. (b) (5)
A

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 200 | Washington, DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office) EIKENN (mobile)
KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Duncan com

The informatian contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Shoemaker, Teresa J." <tjshoemaker@vorys.com>

Subject: ABA SCFJ - Nomination to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit

Date: October 5, 2017 at 6:43:31 PM EDT

To: "kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com” «<kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com>

Ce: "Robert L. Rothman" <robert.rothman@agg.com>, "Bresnahan, Pamela A."
<PABresnahan@vorys.com>

Please see the attached correspondence from Pamela A. Bresnahan, Chair of the American Bar
Association’s Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary, in connection with your nomination
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.

Bestregards,

Teresa ). Shoemaker
Duncan 1; 0092
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VORYS

Leggal Coursel

Teresa J. Shoemzker

Litization Practice Aszsistant

Vorys Sater, Ssymour and Paas= [ 1P

1505 K Streat. N.W. | Buite 900 | Washington, DC 20006-1152
Dirsct: 202,467 83850

Fax: 202.533.9064

Email: tjshosmaler@vorvs com

HHHL VOIS CoML

From the law offices of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP.

CCHNFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail messzage may contain confidential and/or
privileged material. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or
distribution is prohibited. If vou are not the intended recipient, please
contact the sender by reply e-mail and descroy all copies of the original
message., If you are the intended recipient but do not wish to receive
copmunications through this=s medium, please so0 advise the sender immediately.
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Defending Liberty
Pursuing Justice

CHAIR

Pamela A. Bresnahan

Sth Floor

1909 K Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20006-1115

FIRST CIRCUIT

Peter Bennett

Suite 300

121 Middle Street
Portland, ME 04101-7123

SECOND CIRCUIT

Joseph M. Drayton

1114 Avenue of the Americas
MNew York, NY 10036-7798

THIRD CIRCUIT
Adriane J. Dudley

Suite 3

5194 Dronningens Gade
St. Thomas, VI 00802-6921

FOURTH CIRCUIT
Timothy W. Bouch

P.O. Box 59

Charleston, SC 29402-0059

FIFTH CIRCUIT

J. Douglas Minor, Ir
Suite 400

188 E. Capitol Street
Jackson, MS 39201-2100

SIXTH CIRCUIT

John R. Tarpley

Suite 2500

424 Church Street
MNashville, TN 37219-8615

SEVENTH CIRCUIT
Tiffany M. Ferguson
Suite 879

1507 E. 53rd Street
Chicago, I 60615-4573

EIGHTH CIRCUIT
Cynthia E. Nance

1653 N. Applebury Drive
Fayetteville, AR 72701-2418

NINTH CIRCUIT

Marcia Davenport

Suite 200

900 North Last Chance Gulch
Helena, MT 59601

Laurence Pulgram

12th Floor

555 California Street

San Francisco, CA 94104-1503

TENTH CIRCUIT

Shannon L. Edwards

3400 South Air Depot Boulevard
Edmond, OK 73013-5029

ELEVENTH CIRCUIT
Robert L. Rothman
Suite 2100

171 17th Street, NW
Atlanta, GA 30363-1031

D.C. CIRCUIT

Robert P. Trout

Suite 300

1350 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20036-1728

FEDERAL CIRCUIT
Marylee Jenkins

1675 Broadway

New York, NY 10019-5820

STAFF COUNSEL

Denise A. Cardman

Suite 400

1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20036-5306

AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION Standing Committee on
the Federal Judiciary

Please respond to:

Pamela A. Bresnahan

Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP
1909 K Street, N.W.

9" Floor

Washington, D.C. 20006

E-mail: pabresnahan@vorys.com

October 5, 2017

VIA E-MAIL AND CONFIDENTIAL
ORIGINAL VIA FEDERAL EXPRESS

Stuart Kyle Duncan

Schaerr Duncan LLP

1717 K Street, N.W.

Suite 900

Washington, D.C. 20006

Re:  Nomination to the United States Court of Appeals for the

Fifth Circuit
Dear Mr. Duncan:

The ABA Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary has been informed that
you have been nominated to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.
Congratulations!

The Standing Committee conducts an evaluation of all nominees to the Federal
bench. We consider only a nominee’s integrity, professional competence and judicial
temperament. Robert L. Rothman is conducting your evaluation on behalf of the
Committee. His e-mail address is Robert.rothman@agg.com.

Bob will interview attorneys, members of the bench and others with personal
knowledge of your qualifications. He will also review some of your writings and may
request that you send him writing samples. Bob will contact you shortly to schedule a
mutually convenient time when he can interview you in person.

The Committee’s brochure, “Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary —
What It Is and How It Works,” is available at
http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/uncategorized/GAO/Backgrounder.pdf,
and should answer your questions with respect to the role of the ABA Standing
Committee on the Federal Judiciary’s rating process. Please also feel free to call Bob
at (404) 873-8668 or me at (202) 467-8861.



Defending Liberty
. Pursuing Justice

AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION Standing Committee on
the Federal Judiciary

Stuart Kyle Duncan
October 5, 2017
Page 2 of 2

Best regards.

Sincerely,

]
/

-
F

; s BTy
:-'i’t:il{‘.ffi:- ({', e NNl ——

Pamela A. Bresnahan

PAB/tjs

cc:  Robert L. Rothman (via e-mail only)
ABA Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary (via e-mail only)
Denise A. Cardman, ABA Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary,
Staff Counsel (via e-mail only)



Kyle Duncan
e =]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, October 06, 2017 11:44 AM

To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO

Ce: Luther, Robert EOP/WHO; Talley, Brett (OLP); Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)
Subject: Re: NY Times

Yes. Couple of other things:

(b) G)

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERE. DUNCANLLE

1717 K Street NW._ Suite 400 | Washington, DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) |N{YXGIEM (mobile)

EKDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan com www. Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Oct 6, 2017, at 10:54 AM, McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO

(X)) wrote:

Kyle,

We saw it this morning,

Duncan 1; 0096
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Mike

From: Kyle Duncan [mailto:kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com]
Sent: Friday, October 6, 2017 10:40 AM

To: McGinley, Mike H, EOP/WHO (b) (6) Luther, Robert
EOP/WHO (b) (6) Brett Talley <Brett.Talley@usdoj.gov>

Cc: Dickey, Jennifer {OLP) <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] NY Times

Here’s a NYT article about the death of John Thompson, who was the plaintiff in Connicic
v. Thompson. The article takes a swipe at me for arguing the case in Scotus [ RIS

(b) (5)

>hitps:wwsw nvtimes. com/2017/10/05/opinion/john-thompson-exonerated himl<

KD

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 Washington. DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) DY mobile)

KDuncan'@ Schaerr-Duncan.com | »www Schaerr-Duncan com<

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use
of the recipient(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error. please notify us
immediately bv e-mail, and delete the original message.
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, October 06, 2017 11:58 AM
To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Interview on Connick v. Thompson
Attachments: sblawyer_471.pdf
lenn,

(b) (5)
I .
I - sorTy to have overlooked that.

(b) (5)
I 1 let you
know,

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERE DUNCANLLD

1717 K Street NW_ Suite 800 | Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) [IE{)X(C) Bl (mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaen-Duncan com  waw Schaerr-Thuncan com

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
Sent: Friday, October 6, 2017 12:45 PM
To: (b)(6) - Michael McGinley Email Address{(b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Addres Talley, Brett

(OLP)
Subject: Kennedy

(b) (3)

(b) (

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

Sent: Tuesday, October 10, 2017 10:12 AM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHOQO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: ABA Contacts

Attachments: 2017-10-09 RRothman Ltr.doc; 2017-10-10 RRothman Ltr (2).doc

The chair of my ABA evaluation committee (Robert Rothman) touched base with me yesterday. We
scheduled a meeting in McLean for Oct 30. He asked me for attorneys, judges, etc. he could contact

for the evaluation; attached are the two lists I've already sent him. (b) (5)

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR I DUNCANLLD

1717 K Street NW, Suite 00 | Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) (mobilej

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
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TO: Robert L. Rothman
ARNALL GOLDEN GREGORY LLP
FROM: S. Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR DUNCAN LLP
BE: Attorneys / Judges for ABA Evaluation

DATE:October 9, 2017

Dear Bob,

| enjoyed talking with you earlier today. Below you will find a list of attorneys, judges, and
others who can attest to my qualifications, temperament, and impartiality with respect to
potential service as a circuit judge on the U.S. Fifth Circuit. | have included current contact

information if | have it.

I look forward to our meeting on Monday, October 30 in McLean.

Attorneys (Opposing Counsel)

Andrew Lee / Jones Walker LLP (New
Orleans, LA)

(504) 582-8664
alee@joneswalker.com

Gordon Cooney / Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP
(Philadelphia, PA)

(215) 963-4806
jgcooney@morganlewis.com

George Kendall / Squire Patton Boggs (New
York, NY)

(212) 872-9834
george.kendall@squirepb.com

Mark Plaisance (Thibodeaux, LA)

(985) 227-4588
Plais77@aol.com

Professor Paul Baier, Louisiana State
University Law Center (Baton Rouge, LA)

(225) 578-8326
Paul.Baier@law.Isu.edu

Attorneys (Co-Counsel / Former Colleagues / Clients)

KYLE DUNCAN

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com
080 (office)

SCHAERR | DUNCAN 1P
1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006

www.Schaerr—Dunc&n.co
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SCHAERR
DUNCAN

Elizabeth Murrill, Solicitor General, Louisiana
Attorney General's Office (Baton Rouge, LA)

(b) (6)

Murrill E@ag.louisiana.gov

Don McKinney, Adams & Reese (New
Orleans, LA)

(504) 585-0134
don.mckinney@arlaw.com

Thomas Enright, First Assistant State
Treasurer of Louisiana (Baton Rouge, LA)

Hillar Moore, East Baton Rouge Parish District
Attorney (Baton Rouge, LA)

(225) 389-3400
Hillar.Moore@ebrda.org

Jimmy Faircloth, Faircloth, Melton & Sobel LLC
(Alexandria, LA) (former Executive Counsel to
Louisiana Gov. Bobby Jindal)

j!ai rcl othgfairciothiaw.com

Leon Cannizzaro, Orleans Parish District
Attorney (New Orleans, LA)

(b) (6) (504) 822-2414

assistant)

Marlin Gusman, Orleans Parish Sheriff (New
Orleans, LA)

[contact info unavailable]

Kurt Wall, Livingston Parish District Attorney’s
Office (Livingston, LA)

I —

Devin George, State Registrar and Center
Director, Louisiana Department of Health (New
Orleans, LA)

(b) (6)

Paul Clement, Kirkland & Ellis (Washington,
DC)

(202) 879-5000
paul.clement@kirkland.com

Noel Francisco, Solicitor General of the United
States, Department of Justice (Washington,
DC)

Dori Bernstein, Director, Supreme Court
Institute, Georgetown Law School
(Washington, DC)

i202i 662-9630

dkb37@law.georgetown.edu

N
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LLP

Dan Schweitzer, Director and Chief Counsel,
National Association of Attorneys General
(NAAG) Center for Supreme Court Advocacy
(Washington, DC)

(202) 326-6010
dschweitzer@naag.org

Kannon Shanmugam, Williams & Connolly
(Washington, DC)

(202) 434-5050
kshanmugam@wc.com

Dean Thomas Galligan, Louisiana State
University Law Center (Baton Rouge, LA)

thomas.galligan@law.Isu.edu

Dean Emeritus Samuel Davis, University of
Mississippi School of Law (Oxford, MS)

smdavis@olemiss.edu

Professor Ronald Rychlak, University of
Mississippi School of Law (Oxford, MS)

(662) 915-6841
rrychlak@olemiss.edu

Associate Dean Deborah Bell, University of
Mississippi School of Law (Oxford, MS)

Julie Caruthers Parsley, Parsley, Coffin &
Renner (Austin, TX)

Jjulie.pa rsleygpcrilp.com -

(662) 915-6867
dbell@olemiss.edu

Professor Lisa Eskow, University of Texas Law
School (Austin, TX)

(512) 232-5741
leskow@law.utexas.edu

Melanie Plowman, Alexander, Dubose,
Jefferson, Townsend (Austin, TX)

(214) 369-2358
mplowman@adijtlaw.com

David Corrigan, Harman, Claitor, Corrigan &
Wellman (Richmond, VA)

(804) 543-7667
dcorrigan@hccw.com

Randall Nichols, Massey, Stotser & Nichols PC
(Birmingham, AL)

(205) 838-9002
rnichols@msnattorneys.com

Bill Stewart, Millberg, Gordon, Stewart PLLC
(Raleigh, NC)

(919) 836-0090
bstewart@mgsattorneys.com

Karl Bowers, Bowers Law Firm (Columbia, SC)

(803) 260-4124
Butch@ButchBowers.com
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Judges

Circuit Judge Leslie Southwick, U.S. Fifth | 601-608-4760
Circuit Court of Appeals Leslie Southwick@ca5.uscourts.gov

Circuit Judge Jennifer Elrod, U.S. Fifth Circuit | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
Court of Appeals (Houston, TX)

Circuit Judge Carolyn Dineen King, U.S. Fifth | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
Circuit Court of Appeals (Houston, TX)

Circuit Judge Edith Jones, U.S. Fifth Circuit | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
Court of Appeals (Houston, TX)

Circuit Judge Jerry Smith, U.S. Fifth Circuit | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
Court of Appeals (Houston, TX)

Senior Circuit Judge Eugene Davis, U.S. Fifth | (504) 310-8036
Circuit Court of Appeals (New Orleans, LA)

Senior Circuit Judge John Duhé, Jr., U.S. Fifth (b) (6)
Circuit Court of Appeals (Dallas, TX)

U.S. District Judge Martin Feldman, Eastern | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
District of Louisiana (New Orleans, LA)

U.S. District Judge Jay Zainey, Eastem District | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
of Louisiana (New Orleans, LA)

U.S. District Judge James Brady, Middle | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
District of Louisiana (Baton Rouge, LA)

U.S. District Judge John deGravelles, Middle | [contact info unavailable; contact chambers]
District of Louisiana (Baton Rouge, LA)

Others
Nina Totenberg, National Public Radio
(Washington, DC)
4
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Stephen Moret, President & CEO, Virginia

Economic Development Partnership
(Richmond, VA)
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TO: Robert L. Rothman
ARNALL GOLDEN GREGORY LLP
FROM: S. Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR DUNCAN LLP
RE: Additional Attorneys for ABA Evaluation

DATE:October 10, 2017

Dear Bob,

This morning | thought of some additional attorneys you should contact. Their relationship

to me is indicated below.

David Cassidy / Brezeale, Sachse & Wilson
(New Orleans, LA)

David chaired the judicial evaluation committee
for Louisiana's senior Senator, Bill Cassidy.

(504) 299-2100
David.Cassidy@bswllp.com

Cade Cole / Sigler & Raglin PLLC (Lake
Charles, LA)

Cade served on Senator Cassidy’s judicial
evaluation committee.

Alisa Klein / Civil Appeals, U.S. Department of
Justice (Washington, DC)

Alisa was opposing counsel to me in the en
banc Tenth Circuit in Hobby Lobby v. Sebelius

(337) 802-4539
crcole@siglerlaw.com

(b) (6)

Michael Dreeben / Deputy Solicitor General,
U.S. Department of Justice (Washington, DC)

Michael was one of the counsel opposing me
in the U.S. Supreme Court in Montgomery v.
Louisiana.

H!LC' !ael 1S curren!y on leave |r0m !”e !OllCl!Of

General's office to assist Special Counsel
Robert Mueller]

KYLE DUNCAN

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com

3 office)
mobile)

SCHAERR | DUNCAN 1P
1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006

www.Schaerr—DuncSn.con
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Etienne Balart / Jones Walker LLP (New F

Orleans, LA) ebalart@joneswalker.com

Etienne was a classmate in law school and we
clerked together on the Fifth Circuit.
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, October 11, 2017 9:45 PM
To: Riggs, Kate M. (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); King, Kara (OLP)
Subject: Re: Senate Questionnaire Authorization
Kate,

I've scrolled through all the attachments, and they look good. You have my authorization to file the SIQ.

Thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW. Suite 200 Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office) [ IQICI (movile)

KDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan com  www. Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient

(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Oct 11, 2017, at 4:37 PM, Riggs, Kate M. (OLP) <Kate.M.Riggs@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Thank you (b) (5)
—

There’s no rush, (b) ()

Best,

Kate

Kate M. Riggs

Senior Nominations Counsel
Office of Legal Policy

U.S. Department of Justice

550 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Room 4235

Washington, D.C. 20530
202-307-3024
kate.M.Riggs@usdoj.gov

From: Kyle Duncan [mailto:kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com]
Sent: Wednesday, October 11, 2017 2:48 PM

T e PV i BFndhe AW P il el e PV T e crm e e A
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10: Riggs, Kate M. (OLF) <kmrigesimd.usdo].govs
Cc: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@imd.usdoj.gov>; King, Kara (OLP) <kking@imd.usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re: Senate Questionnaire Authorization

Kate,

(b) (5

|

(b) (3)

(b) (5)

(b) ()

(b) ()

|
© |

Everything looks great!

Thanks.
Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR IDUNCANILLY
1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office (b) (6) [entyEnty

KDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan.com  www.Schaerr-Thincan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended onlv for the personal and confidential use
of the recipient(s) named above. If vou have received this communication in error, please notify us
immediately by e-mail, and delete the original message.

On Oct 11, 2017, at 1:21 PM, Riggs. Kate M. (OLP) <Kate M Riggs@usdoj gov>
wrote:

Kyle,

Attached please find final versions of the public and confidential portions of your
Senate Questionnaire. OLP has uploaded your final Attachment Package to the

file-sharing site (JEFS/Box). (b) (3)
|

Please let us know if you have any questions.
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Thank you,

Kate

Kate M. Riggs

Senior Mominations Counsel
Office of Legal Policy

L.5. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Room 4235

Washington, D.C. 20530
202-307-3024
Kate.M.Riggs@usdoj.gov

<Dhuncan Senate Questionnaire Confidential pdf--<Duncan Senate (Questionnaire
Public pdf>
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Saturday, October 14, 2017 2:49 PM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: Responses to Kennedy's stated concerns

(b) (5)

(b) (3)
I ot Vike wants to respond, and so | send him the bullet points

pasted below. (b) (3)

Kvle does not live in Louisiana: we want a judge from Louisiana

» Kyle was born and raised in Baton Rouge; he attended public schools in Baton Rouge (Buchanan
Elementary; McKinley Middle Magnet; McKinley Senior High); his entire extended family still
lives in Baton Rouge.

s Kyle graduated from LSU ("90) and the LSU Law Center ("37)

s Kyle clerked for a Louisiana-based US Fifth Circuit judge (John Duhe’, Ir.)

+ Kyle served as appellate chief of the Louisiana Department of Justice from 2008-12; he argued
numerous appeals on behalf of Louisiana in the Louisiana Supreme Court, the US Fifth Circuit,
and the US Supreme Court

» In private practice, Kyle regularly represents Louisiana, Louisiana officials, and Louisiana
agencies in trial and appellate matters in Louisiana courts.

» Kyle moved to DC simply because he was recruited by a nationally recognized non-profit to
manage its litigation; this was a good way to get introduced to the DC legal market; but Kyle has
always intended to return to his home state of Louisiana.

+ Kyle would like nothing better than to move his wife (who is also from Baton Rouge) and five
children (two of whom were born at Women’s Hospital in Baton Rouge) back to Baton Rouge to
spend the rest of his life there.

Kyle's career has focused too narrowly on religious liberty cases, which are only a tiny fraction of the
cases heard in the Fifth Circuit

+ Over Kyle’s twenty year legal career, he has personally handled a wide range of exactly the kinds
of matters that regularly come before the Fifth Circuit.

» While Louisiana appellate chief, he personally handled cases involving:

federal habeas corpus

section 1983 liability

municipal liability

qualified immunity

Eleventh Amendment immunity

mriemmar rirhie

Y O O O O O
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prisoner rgnes

Sixth Amendment right to counsel

free speech rights

Eighth Amendment / juvenile sentencing

double jeopardy

full faith and credit

Louisiana insurance law

Brady v. Maryland issues

prosecutorial immunity

federal evidentiary law
o Fourth Amendment law

» While in private practice, he personally handled cases involving:
o federal election law / Voting Rights Act

interstate compacts

immigration

Title IX

Title VII

Equal Protection claims

Substantive Due Process claims

abortion regulation

administrative law

privileges and immunities / dormant commerce clause
o Affordable Care Act insurance regulations

+ While a professor at University of Mississippi law school, he taught courses on:
o Uniform Commercial Code / Sales / Contracts
o Professional Responsibility and Ethics
o Admiraity

o Constitutional Structures f Federalism

0

o

[= HE = AN = -« B o KL SR = R = Ji = T =4

O 00 00 Q0 0 O 0

First Amendment (Speech and Religion Clauses)
Law and Economics
o European Union Law
s While working for the Texas Solicitor General's office, Kyle personally handled cases involving:
o State sovereign immunity / Eleventh Amendment immunity
o Americans with Disabilities Act
o Sixth Amendment right to counsel
o Criminal habeas / ineffective assistance of counsel claims
+ While at Vinson & Elkins, Kyle worked exclusively on appeals involving commercial litigation.
» While clerking on the US Fifth Circuit, Kyle personally worked on cases involving: criminal
habeas, federal evidence law, immigration law, First Amendment law, products liability, qualified
immunity.

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR IDUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office (mobile)
KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www. Schaerr-Duncan.com

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

Sent: Monday, October 16, 2017 11:03 AM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: Think Progress article

LG ]

"Kyle Duncan, who Trump nominated to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, is the
former general counsel to the Becket Fund for Religious Liberty — probably the most sophisticated
religious conservative litigation shop in the nation.

At the most superficial level, Becket claims to be neutral on marriage equality — “the Becket Fund
does not take a position on same-sex marriage as such,” it claims on its website. Yet it filed an amicus
brief in the Supreme Court claiming that extending equal marriage rights to same-sex couples would
threaten religious liberty. And it's filed multiple briefs on behalf of business owners claiming a right to
discriminate against same-sex couples,

Since leaving Becket in 2014, moreover, a major component of Duncan's private practice has been
briefs asking the Supreme Court to limit LGBTQ rights. He unsuccessfully defended an Alabama
Supreme Court decision stripping a lesbian woman of her parental rights. He represented a bloc of 15
states opposed to marriage equality. And he represented a school district that prohibited trans
students from using the bathroom that aligns with their gender identity."

https://thinkprogress.org/trump-is-filling-the-federal-bench-with-anti-lghtg-activists-a82882c336ea/

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington, DC 20006 202-787-1060 (office) |
KDuncan@5chaerr-Duncan.com | www.Schaerr-Duncan.com

(mobile)

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential
use of the recipient(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us
immediately by e-mail, and delete the original message.
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, October 19, 2017 1:58 PM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: More Thompson v. Connick

Here's another story on John Thompson that mentions my nomination.

hittps://www.huffinetonpost.com/entry/the-legacy-of-john-collin-thompson-proves-the-flaws-in-our-
court-system us 59e4d914ed4b0a52acalf9adl6

| have talked with the author a few times {Emily Maw), (b) (5)

"Some of us who have had the monumental privilege of knowing John take a perverse satisfaction in
seeing last week that the man who argued to reverse his jury verdict in the Supreme Court was
nominated to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. Because if John's legacy speeds all of America’s
realization that its society — as reflected in its courts — does not value black lives as it does white
lives, he will continue to rest in the incredible power he had in life. John died early of a heart attack
that was undoubtedly caused by the stress of what he had endured at the hands of the State of
Louisiana. Days before, Kyle Duncan, the man who had argued that the prosecutors need not be liable
for the terrible damage they caused him and his community, was elevated to one of the highest
positions in the law. There again is the power of John Thompson’s story, showing us who we really

"

are.

KD

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR DUNCANILLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington, DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) (mokbile)

KDuncan@@ Schaerr-Duncan com  wwaw Schasrr-Thincan com

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

Sent: Monday, October 30, 2017 12:33 PM

To: Mike H. EOP/WHO McGinley; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: ABA interview

Attachments: Gloucester Cty Cert Pet FINAL.pdf

| just had a 4-hour interview with the chair of my ABA committee, Bob Rothman, who is a lawyer from

an Atlanta firm. (b) (®)

(b)

(b) (5)

(b) (3) Bob's internal deadline to finish the report is

Friday, and | thought he said to expect the letter next week, but I'm not sure exactly when,

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE.  DUNCANLLE
1717 K Street NW._ Suite 00 | Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) (I GCIIM (mobile)

KDuncan@ Schaenr-Dhuncan com  www. Schaerr-Duncan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.
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No.

In the Supreme Court of the United States

GLOUCESTER COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD, PETITIONER
.

G.G., BY HIS NEXT FRIEND AND MOTHER,
DEIRDRE GRIMM

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JONATHAN F. MITCHELL S. KYLE DUNCAN

D. JOHN SAUER Counsel of Record

JAMES OTIS LAW GROUP, LLC GENE C. SCHAERR

12977 North Forty Drive SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

Suite 214 1717 K Street NW, Suite 900

St. Louis, MO 63141 Washington, DC 20006

(314) 682-6067 (202) 714-9492
KDuncan@Schaerr-

DAVID P. CORRIGAN Duncan.com

JEREMY D. CAPPS

M. SCOTT FISHER JR.

HARMAN, CLAYTOR,

CORRIGAN & WELLMAN

Post Office Box 70280

Richmond, VA 23255

(804) 747-5200 Counsel for Petitioner

Duncan 1; 0116



QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Title IX prohibits discrimination “on the basis of
sex,” 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a), while its implementing regula-
tion permits “separate toilet, locker rooms, and shower
facilities on the basis of sex,” if the facilities are “compa-
rable” for students of both sexes, 34 C.F.R. § 106.33. In
this case, a Department of Education official opined in an
unpublished letter that Title IX’s prohibition of “sex”
discrimination “include[s] gender identity,” and that a
funding recipient providing sex-separated facilities un-
der the regulation “must generally treat transgender
students consistent with their gender identity.” App.
128a, 100a. The Fourth Circuit afforded this letter “con-
trolling” deference under the doctrine of Auer v. Rob
bins, 519 U.S. 452 (1997). On remand the district court
entered a preliminary injunction requiring the petitioner
school board to allow respondent—who was born a girl
but identifies as a boy—to use the boys’ restrooms at
school.

The questions presented are:

1. Should this Court retain the Auer doctrine de-
spite the objections of multiple Justices who have recent-
ly urged that it be reconsidered and overruled?

2. If Auer is retained, should deference extend to an
unpublished agency letter that, among other things, does
not carry the force of law and was adopted in the context
of the very dispute in which deference is sought?

3. With or without deference to the agency, should
the Department’s specific interpretation of Title IX and
34 C.F.R. § 106.33 be given effect?
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i
PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING

Petitioner Gloucester County School Board was De-
fendant-Appellee in the court of appeals in No. 15-2056,
and Defendant-Appellant in the court of appeals in No.
16-1733.

Respondent G.G., by his next friend and mother,
Deirdre Grimm, was Plaintiff-Appellant in the court of
appeals in No. 15-2056 and Plaintiff-Appellee in the court
of appeals in No. 16-1733.
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INTRODUCTION

As petitioner Gloucester County School Board (the
Board) pointed out in the stay application that the Court
granted on August 3, 2016, this case presents an extreme
example of judicial deference to an administrative agen-
cy’s purported interpretation of its own regulation. For
that and several other reasons, this case provides the
perfect vehicle for revisiting the deference doctrine ar-
ticulated in Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452 (1997), and
subsequently criticized by several Justices of this Court.

The statute at the heart of the administrative inter-
pretation here is Title IX of the Education Amendments
of 1972. Enacted over forty years ago, Title IX and its
implementing regulation have always allowed schools to
provide “separate toilet, locker rooms, and shower facili-
ties on the basis of sex.” 34 C.F.R. § 106.33. No one ever
thought this was discriminatory or illegal. And for dec-
ades our Nation’s schools have structured their facilities
and programs around the idea that in certain intimate
settings men and women may be separated “to afford
members of each sex privacy from the other sex.” United
States v. Virginia, 518 U.S. 515, 550 n.19 (1996).

The Fourth Circuit’s decision turns that longstanding
expectation upside down. Deferring to the views of a rel-
atively low-level official in the Department of Education
(Department), the court reasoned that for purposes of
Title IX the term “sex” does not simply mean physiologi-
cal males and females, which is what Congress and the
Department (and everyone else) thought the term meant
when the regulation was promulgated. Instead, the De-
partment and the Fourth Circuit now tell us that “sex” is
ambiguous as applied to persons whose subjective gen-
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der identity diverges from their physiological sex. App.
17a-20a. According to the Fourth Circuit, this means a
physiologically female student who self-identifies as a
male—as does the plaintiff here—must be allowed un-
der Title IX to use the boys’ restroom.

The Fourth Circuit reached this conclusion, not by in-
terpreting the text of Title IX or its implementing regu-
lation (neither of which refers to gender identity), but by
deferring to an agency opinion letter written just last
year by James Ferg-Cadima, the Acting Deputy Assis-
tant Secretary for Policy for the Department of Educa-
tion’s Office of Civil Rights. App. 121a. The letter is un-
published; its advice has never been subject to notice and
comment; and it was generated in direct response to an
inquiry about the Board’s restroom policy in this very
case. Nonetheless, the Fourth Circuit concluded —over
Judge Niemeyer’s dissent—that the letter was due
“controlling” deference under Auer. App. 25a. On that
basis, the district court immediately entered a prelimi-
nary injunction allowing the plaintiff to use the boys’
restroom.

Shortly after the Fourth Circuit’s decision, the De-
partment (along with the Department of Justice) issued
a “Dear Colleague” letter seeking to impose that same
requirement on every Title IX-covered educational insti-
tution in the Nation. But just last week, the Depart-
ments’ effort was halted by a nationwide injunction is-
sued by a federal district judge in Texas.

These recent developments highlight the urgent need
for this Court to grant this petition and resolve the is-
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sues presented by the Fourth Circuit’s decision. As ex-
plained in more detail below, the Court should grant the
petition for three reasons. First, this case provides an
excellent vehicle for reconsidering—and abolishing or
refining—the Awuer doctrine. Second, if the Court de-
cides to retain Auer in some form, this case provides an
excellent vehicle for resolving important disagreements
among the lower courts about Auer’s proper application.
Third, this case provides an excellent vehicle for deter-
mining whether the Department’s understanding of Title
IX reflected in the Ferg-Cadima and “Dear Colleague”
letters must be given effect—thereby resolving once
and for all the current nationwide controversy generated
by these directives.

OPINIONS BELOW

This petition seeks review of two related cases in the
court of appeals, Nos. 15-2056 and 16-1733. No. 15-2056
is G.G’s appeal of the district court’s order denying his
request for a preliminary injunction. The opinion of the
court of appeals in that case is available at 822 F.3d 709
(4th Cir. 2016). App. 1a—60a. The district court’s opinion
in that case is available at 132 F.Supp.3d 736 (E.D. Va.
2015). App. 84a-117a.

No. 16-1733 is the Board’s appeal of the district
court’s order granting a preliminary injunction after the
remand in No. 15-2056. The district court’s opinion in
that case is available at 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93164.
App. 71a-72a.
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JURISDICTION

In No. 15-2056, the court of appeals entered its
judgment on April 19, 2016. App. 3a. It denied the
Board’s petition for rehearing en banc on May 31, 2016.
App. 61a. No. 16-1733 remains pending in the court of
appeals. The Board timely filed this petition for a writ of
certiorari on August 29, 2016. See 28 U.S.C. § 2101(c).
This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 pro-
vides, in relevant part:

No person in the United States shall, on the
basis of sex, be excluded from participation in,
be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to
discrimination under any education program or
activity receiving Federal financial assistance

20 U.S.C. § 1681(a).
34 C.F.R. § 106.33 provides:

A recipient may provide separate toilet, locker
room, and shower facilities on the basis of sex,
but such facilities provided for students of one
sex shall be comparable to such facilities pro-
vided for students of the other sex.
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STATEMENT
A. Facts

G.G. is a 17-year-old student at Gloucester High
School. G.G. is biologically female, meaning that G.G.
was born a girl and recorded as a girl on the birth certifi-
cate. “However, at a very young age, G.G. did not feel
like a girl,” and around age twelve began identifying as a
boy. App. 85a. In July 2014, between G.G.’s freshman and
sophomore years, G.G. changed his first name to a boy’s
name and began referring to himself with male pro-
nouns.' He has also started hormone therapy, but has not
had a sex-change operation.

In August 2014, before the start of G.G.’s sophomore
year, G.G. and his mother met with the principal and
guidance counselor to discuss G.G.’s situation. The school
officials were supportive of G.G. and promised a welcom-
ing environment. School records were changed to reflect
G.G.’s new name, and the guidance counselor helped G.G.
e-mail his teachers asking them to address G.G. using his
male name and male pronouns. App. 87a-88a. As G.G.
admits, teachers and staff have honored these requests.
Id. at 148a.

Neither G.G. nor school officials, however, thought
that G.G. should start using the boys’ restrooms, locker

! This petition uses “he,” “him,” and “his” to respect G.G.’s de-

sire to be referred to with male pronouns. That choice does not con-

cede anything on the legal question of what G.G.’s “sex” is for pur-
poses of Title IX and its implementing regulation.
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rooms, or shower facilities. Instead, G.G. and his mother
suggested G.G. use a separate restroom in the nurse’s
office rather than the boys’ room, and the school agreed.
App. 149a. G.G. claims he accepted this arrangement be-
cause he was “unsure how other students would react to
[his] transition.” Id. But four weeks into the school year
G.G. changed his mind and sought permission to use the
boys’ restroom. The principal granted G.G.’s request on
October 20, 2014. G.G. says he asked for access to the
boys’ restroom because he found it “stigmatizing” to use
the restroom in the nurse’s office. /d.

Immediately after G.G. started using the boys’ rest-
rooms, the Board began receiving complaints from par-
ents and students who regarded G.G.’s presence in the
boys’ room as an invasion of student privacy. App. 144a.
Parents also expressed general concerns that allowing
students into restrooms and locker rooms of the opposite
biological sex could enable voyeurism or sexual assault.
The Board held public meetings on November 11 and
December 9, 2014, to consider the issue, and citizens on
both sides expressed their views in thoughtful and re-
spectful terms.” At the December 9 meeting, the Board

z The Fourth Circuit’s opinion tries to depict the citizens who

opposed G.G’s presence in the boys’ room as largely “hostil[e]” to
G.G., selectively quoting the few intemperate statements and subtly
implying they represented the whole. App. 10a. The video of the
meetings, however, shows that the overwhelming majority of those
expressing concern did so with courtesy and decency, not “hostility.”
See http://bit.ly/2bsVO6h (Dec. 9, 2014 meeting);
http://www.gloucesterva.info/channels47and48 (containing link to
Nov. 11, 2014 meeting video).
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adopted a resolution recognizing “that some students
question their gender identities,” and encouraging “such
students to seek support, advice, and guidance from par-
ents, professionals and other trusted adults.” The resolu-
tion then concluded:

Whereas the [Board] seeks to provide a safe
learning environment for all students and to
protect the privacy of all students, therefore

It shall be the practice of the [Board] to pro-
vide male and female restroom and locker
room facilities in its schools, and the use of said
facilities shall be limited to the corresponding
biological genders, and students with gender
identity issues shall be provided an alternative
appropriate private facility.

Id. at 144a.

Before the Board adopted this resolution, the high
school announced it would install three single-stall uni-
sex bathrooms throughout the building—regardless of
whether the Board approved the December 9 resolution.
These unisex restrooms would be open to all students
who, for whatever reason, desire greater privacy. They
opened for use shortly after the Board adopted the reso-
lution. G.G., however, refuses to use these unisex bath-
rooms because, he says, they “make me feel even more
stigmatized and isolated than when I use the restroom in
the nurse’s office.” App. 151a.
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A few days after the Board’s decision, a lawyer
named Emily T. Prince® sent an e-mail about the Board’s
resolution to the Department, asking whether it had any
“guidance or rules” relevant to the Board’s decision.
App. 118a-120a. In response, on January 7, 2015, James
A. Ferg-Cadima, an Acting Deputy Assistant Secretary
for Policy in the Department’s Office of Civil Rights sent
a letter stating that “Title IX ... prohibits recipients of
Federal financial assistance from discriminating on the
basis of sex, wncluding gender identity,” and further
opining that:

The Department’s Title IX regulations permit
schools to provide sex-segregated restrooms
locker rooms, shower facilities, housing, athlet-
ic teams, and single-sex classes under certain
circumstances. When a school elects to sepa-
rate or treat students differently on the basis
of sex in those situations, a school generally
must treat transgender students consistent
with their gender identity.

App. 121a, 123a (emphasis added).

The Ferg-Cadima letter cites no document requiring
schools to treat transgender students “consistent with
their gender identity” regarding restroom, locker room,
or shower access. It instead cites a Q&A sheet on the

3 Ms. Prince describes herself as the “Sworn Knight of the

Transsexual Empire.” See https://twitter.com/emily esque?lang
en. Her name appears in the signature of the e-mail that DOJ filed
in the district court, when the file is opened in Preview for Mac.
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Department website, which says only that schools must
treat transgender students consistent with their gender
identity when holding single sex classes. See United
States Department of Education, Questions and An
swers on Title IX and Single Sex Elementary and Sec
ondary Classes and Extracurricular Activities (Dec. 1,
2014), http:/bit.ly/1HRS6yI (emphasis added) (last vis-
ited Aug. 29, 2016) (Q&A #31) (opining “[hJow ... the
Title IX requirements on single sex classes apply to
transgender students) (emphasis added).

B. District Court Proceedings

G.G. filed suit against the Board on June 11, 2015—
two days after the end of the 2014-15 school year. His
complaint alleged that the Board’s resolution violated
Title IX and the Equal Protection Clause, and sought
declaratory and injunctive relief, damages, and attorneys
fees.

On June 29, 2015, the Department of Justice (“DOJ”)
filed a “statement of interest” accusing the Board of vio-
lating Title IX. See App. 160a-183a. The statement did
not even cite 34 C.F.R. § 106.33, let alone explain how the
Board’s policy could be unlawful under the regulation’s
text. Instead, DOJ trumpeted the Ferg-Cadima letter as
the “controlling” interpretation of Title IX and the regu-
lation, even though DOJ acknowledged that the letter
had never been “publicly issued.” See id. at 171.* DOJ

4

DOJ cited two other documents issued by the Department of
Education, but neither addresses whether schools must allow
transgender students into restrooms or locker rooms that corre-
(continued...)
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also asserted that “an individual’s gender identity is one
aspect of an individual’s sex,” id. at 169a, but failed to
cite any statute or regulation adopting or supporting
that view.

Without ruling on G.G.’s equal-protection claim, the
district court dismissed G.G.’s Title IX claim and denied
a preliminary injunction. See App. 82a-83a (order); 84a—
117a (opinion). It held that G.G.’s Title IX claim was
foreclosed by 34 C.FR. § 106.33, the regulation allowing
comparable separate restrooms and other facilities “on
the basis of sex.” App. 97a-98a.

The district court assumed, for the sake of argument,
that the phrase “on the basis of sex” includes distinctions
based on both gender identity as well as biological sex.
App. 99a, 102a. Yet even under this broad reading of
“sex,” it would remain permissible under section 106.33
to separate restrooms by biological sex or gender identi-
ty. Consequently, as the district court pointed out, section
106.33 would forbid the Board’s policy only if “sex” re-
fers solely to distinctions based on gender identity, and
excludes those based on biological sex. Id. at 99a. The
district court held that this would be an absurd construc-
tion, however. Indeed, if applied to the Title IX statute, it
would permit discrimination against men or women, so
long as the recipient discriminates on account of gender
identity rather than biological sex. Id. at 102a.

spond with their gender identity. See ECF No. 28 at 9; see also, su-
pra, at 7-8.
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Consequently, the district court refused to give con-
trolling weight to the interpretation of Title IX and 34
C.FR. §106.33 in the Ferg-Cadima letter. First, the dis-
trict court observed that letters of this sort lack the force
of law under Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576,
587 (2000), and cannot receive Chevron deference when
interpreting Title IX. App. 101a. The Court also held
that the letter should not receive deference under Auer
v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452 (1997), because it contradicts the
unambiguous language of 34 C.F.R. § 106.33, which al-
lows schools to establish separate restrooms “on the ba-
sis of sex”—even if one assumes that “on the basis of
sex” refers to both gender identity and biological sex.
Thus, the district court regarded the Ferg-Cadima letter
as an attempted amendment to, rather than an interpre-
tation of, 34 C.F.R. § 106.33, and held that to be binding
any such amendment must go through notice-and-
comment rulemaking. App. 102a-103a.

C. Appeal to the Fourth Circuit in No. 15-
2056

Over Judge Niemeyer’s dissent, the Fourth Circuit
reversed the district court’s dismissal of G.G.’s Title IX
claim, and held that the district court should have en-
forced the Ferg-Cadima letter as the authoritative con-
struction of Title IX and 34 C.F.R. § 106.33 under Auer.
App. 13a-25a.

First, the panel held that section 106.33 was “ambig-
uous” as applied to “whether a transgender individual is
a male or a female for the purpose of access to sex-
segregated restrooms,” and that the Ferg-Cadima letter
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“resolve[d]” this ambiguity by determining sex solely by
reference to “gender identity.” Id. at 19a, 18a.

Second, the panel held that the letter’s interpreta-
tion— “although perhaps not the intuitive one,” ud. at
23a—was not, in the words of Auer, “plainly erroneous
or inconsistent with the regulation or the statute.” Id. at
20a. In the panel’s view, the term “sex” does not neces-
sarily suggest “a hard-and-fast binary division [of males
and females] on the basis of reproductive organs.” Id. at
22a.

Third, the panel found that the letter’s interpretation
was a result of the agency’s “fair and considered judg-
ment,” because the agency had consistently enforced this
position “since 2014” —that is, for the previous several
months—and it was “in line with” other federal agency
guidance. Id. at 24a. While conceding that the Ferg-
Cadima interpretation was “novel,” given that “there
was no interpretation of how section 106.33 applied to
transgender individuals before January 2015,” the panel
nonetheless thought this novelty was no reason to deny
Auer deference. Id. at 23a.

The panel, however, did not address the district
court’s reason for rejecting the agency interpretation —
namely, that it would make the phrase “on the basis of
sex” exclude biological sex and refer only to gender
identity, a construction that would absurdly mean that
Title IX no longer protects men or women from discrim-
ination on the basis of biological sex. App. 99a, 102a. Nor
did the panel acknowledge that the agency was expressly
interpreting the Title IX statute, not merely the regula-
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tion. See App. 121a (stating that “Title IX ... prohibits
[funding] recipients ... from discriminating on the basis
of sex, including gender identity ....”) (emphases add-
ed). The panel thus did not address the district court’s
conclusion that giving the letter controlling deference
would permit agencies to “avoid the process of formal
rulemaking by announcing regulations through simple
question and answer publications.” App. 103a

Judge Niemeyer dissented from the panel’s decision
to give controlling effect to the Ferg-Cadima letter, for
many of the reasons given by the district court. App.
40a~60a. Judge Niemeyer explained that the premise for
applying Auer was absent, because “Title IX and its im-
plementing regulations are not ambiguous” in allowing
separate restrooms and other facilities on the basis of
“sex.” Id. at 43a. To the contrary, those provisions “em-
ploy[ ] the term ‘sex’ as was generally understood at the
time of enactment,” as referring to “the physiological
distinctions between males and females, particularly
with respect to their reproductive functions.” Id. at 53a—
55a. He also explained that the DOJ’s conflation of “sex”
in Title IX with “gender identity” would produce “un-
workable and illogical result[s],” undermining the priva-
cy and safety concerns that motivated the allowance of
sex-separated facilities in the first place. Id. at 42a-43a.

Judge Niemeyer also noted that the Fourth Circuit’s
endorsement of the Ferg-Cadima letter will require
schools to allow students with gender-identity issues not
only into the restrooms but also into the locker rooms
and showers reserved for the opposite biological sex. In
Judge Niemeyer’s view, this would violate other stu-
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dents’ “legitimate and important interest in bodily priva-
cy such that his or her nude or partially nude body, geni-
talia, and other private parts are not exposed to persons
of the opposite biological sex.” Id. at 50a.

The Board moved for rehearing en banc, which the
panel denied on May 31, 2016. Id. at 6la—66a. Judge
Niemeyer dissented but declined to call for an en banc
poll, stating that “the momentous nature of the issue de-
serves an open road to the Supreme Court.” Id. at 65a.
The Board then asked for a stay of the Fourth Circuit’s
mandate pending the filing of a certiorari petition. This,
too, was denied, again over Judge Niemeyer’s dissent.
Id. at 67a-70a. The mandate in No. 15-2056 issued on
June 17, 2016.

D. The “Dear Colleague” Letter Of May 13,
2016

After the Fourth Circuit’s ruling, two federal officials,
the Department’s Catherine E. Lhamon and DOJ’s Van-
ita Gupta, quickly issued a “Dear Colleague” letter to
every Title IX recipient in the country. Id. at 126a-142a.
This document expands on the Ferg-Cadima letter by
imposing detailed requirements on how schools must ac-
commodate students with gender-identity issues, includ-
ing the following edicts:

e Every student claiming to be transgender
must be allowed to access restrooms, locker
rooms, shower facilities, and athletic teams
consistent with his or her gender identity. The
Ferg-Cadima letter had hedged this require-
ment by including the word “generally.” App.
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123a. The “Dear Colleague” letter removes
the hedge and allows for no exceptions. Id. at
134a.

e A school must allow a student access to the
restrooms, locker rooms, and showers of the
opposite biological sex after the “student or
the student’s parent or guardian, as appropri-
ate” merely notifies the school that the stu-
dent will assert a gender identity different
from his or her biological sex. App. 130a (em-
phasis added). No medical or psychological di-
agnosis or evidence of professional treatment
need be provided. Id.

e Non-transgender students who are unwilling
to use restrooms, locker rooms, or showers at
the same time as a classmate of the opposite
biological sex may be relegated to a separate,
individual-user facility. App. 134a. But a school
cannot require the transgender student to use
that separate, individual-user facility, no mat-
ter how many non-transgender students ob-
ject to the presence of a student of the oppo-
site biological sex in restrooms, locker rooms,
or showers. Id.

The letter went out on May 13, 2016, only 24 days af-
ter the Fourth Circuit’s decision. Needless to say, it did
not go through notice-and-comment rulemaking.

The Dear Colleague letter has been challenged by
over twenty States in two federal lawsuits. See Texas v.
United States of America, No. 7:16-cv-00054 (N.D. Tex.
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May 25, 2016); Nebraska v. United States of America,
No. 4:16-cv-03117 (D. Neb. July 8, 2016). On August 21,
2016, a federal district court in Texas issued a nationwide
preliminary injunction against enforcement of the regu-
latory interpretation contained in the Dear Colleague
letter and in similar guidance documents. See Texas, su
pra, ECF No. 58; Pet. App. 183a-229a.

E. The Proceedings After Remand,
Including No. 16-1733

Meanwhile, on remand from the Fourth Circuit, the
district court promptly entered a preliminary injunction
without giving the Board any notice or opportunity to
submit additional briefing or evidence. App. 71-72a. The
injunction orders the Board to permit G.G. to use the
boys’ restroom at Gloucester High School “until further
order of this Court.” Id. at 72a. It does not enjoin the
Board from enforcing its policy with respect to locker
rooms and showers—even though the Ferg-Cadima let-
ter, which the Fourth Circuit endorsed as “controlling”
authority, generally requires schools to allow
transgender students to access locker rooms, shower fa-
cilities, housing, and athletic teams that accord with their
gender identity. App. 123a.

The Board appealed this preliminary-injunction or-
der, which created a second case in the Fourth Circuit,
No. 16-1733. The district court denied the Board’s re-
quest to stay its injunction pending appeal. App. 73a—
75a. The Board’s request that the Fourth Circuit stay the
injunction pending appeal was also denied, again over
Judge Niemeyer’s dissent. App. 76a-81a.
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Finally, the Board asked this Court to recall and stay
the Fourth Circuit’s mandate in No. 15-2056, and to stay
the district court’s preliminary injunction, pending this
certiorari petition. This Court granted the Board’s re-
quest on August 3, 2016. Gloucester Cnty. Sch. Bd. v.
G.G., 136 S. Ct. 2442 (2016) (per curiam). In this com-
bined petition, the Board seeks a writ of certiorari as to
No. 15-2056, and a writ of certiorari before judgment at
to No. 16-1733. See S. Ct. R. 124.
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

The Court should grant the petition for three rea-
sons. First, this case provides an excellent vehicle for re-
considering—and abolishing or refining—the doctrine
of Auer deference that has recently been questioned by
several Justices. Second, if the Court decides to retain
Auer, this case provides an excellent vehicle for resolv-
ing important disagreements among the lower courts
about Auer’s proper application. Third, this case pro-
vides an excellent vehicle for determining whether the
Department’s understanding of Title IX and section
106.33—an understanding it has recently sought to im-
pose upon educational institutions throughout the Na-
tion—is controlling.

I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT
CERTIORARI TO RECONSIDER THE
DOCTRINE OF AUER DEFERENCE.

As to the first reason: The Fourth Circuit did not
even attempt to show that the Ferg-Cadima letter re-
flects the most plausible construction of 34 C.F.R.
§ 106.33. Instead, its ruling hinged entirely on Auer def-
erence—a doctrine that requires courts to enforce an
agency’s interpretation of its own regulations unless that
interpretation is “plainly erroneous or inconsistent with
the regulation.” Auer, 519 U.S. at 461 (citation omitted);
see also Bowles v. Seminole Rock & Sand Co., 325 U.S.
410, 414 (1945). Several members of this Court have ex-
pressed interest in revisiting the doctrine of Auer defer-
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ence, which gives agencies enormous power over policy
issues of interest across the political spectrum.” This
case presents an ideal vehicle for doing so, because the
issue is fully preserved and because the Fourth Circuit
discussed the Auer framework extensively and regarded
it as outcome-determinative. App. 15a-24a.°

The problems with Auer deference have been well
rehearsed. See, e.g., Decker, 133 S. Ct. at 1339-42 (Scalia,
J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); Perez, 135
S. Ct. at 1213-25 (Thomas, J., concurring in the judg-
ment); John F. Manning, Constitutional Structure and
Judicial Deference to Agency Interpretations of Agency
Rules, 96 Colum. L. Rev. 612 (1996); Robert A. Anthony;,
The Supreme Court and the APA: Sometimes They Just
Don’t Get It, 10 Admin. L.J. Am. U. 1, 4-12 (1996). Four
of the most important reasons for this Court to abandon
or limit the scope of the Auer-deference regime are as
follows:

b See, e.g., Decker v. Nw. Envtl. Def. Ctr., 133 S. Ct. 1326, 1338
39 (2013) (Roberts, C.J., concurring); id. at 1339—42 (Scalia, J., con-
curring in part and dissenting in part); Perez v. Mortg. Bankers
Ass’n, 135 S. Ct. 1199, 1210-11 (2015) (Alito, J., concurring in part
and concurring in the judgment); id. at 1211-13 (Secalia, J., concur-
ring in the judgment); id. at 1213-25 (Thomas, J., concurring in the
judgment).

6 By contrast, in Foster v. Vilsack, 820 F.3d 330 (8th Cir. 2016)
(petition for certiorari pending), the Eighth Circuit’s opinion does
not cite or discuss Auer or any Auer-related rulings from this Court.
It simply declares, without analysis, that the agency’s “reasonable
interpretation” is “owe[d] deference.” Id. at 335.
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First, as this case illustrates, Auer deference effec-
tively gives an agency the power to invade the province
of both Congress and the courts in determining federal
law on all kinds of issues of interest to all kinds of con-
stituencies. See, e.g., Decker, 133 S. Ct. at 1342 (Scalia,
J., dissenting) (Auer “contravenes one of the great rules
of separation of powers [that he] who writes a law must
not adjudge its violation.”); Perez, 135 S. Ct. at 1217
(Thomas, J., concurring in the judgment) (Auer is an un-
constitutional “transfer of judicial power to the Execu-
tive branch,” and “an erosion of the judicial obligation to
serve as a ‘check’ on the political branches.”); id. at
1210-11 (Alito, J., concurring in part and concurring in
the judgment) (noting that “the opinions of Justice Scalia
and Justice Thomas offer substantial reasons why the
Seminole Rock doctrine may be incorrect”).

Here, in purporting to interpret section 106.33, the
Department effectively changed the meaning of the stat
utory term “sex” in Title IX. To be sure, it did so in a
manner that furthered the views of the present Admin-
istration. But that same strategy could easily be adopted
by a future administration with radically different views.
Indeed, it could be deployed to effectively amend in a dif-
ferent direction, and without any meaningful judicial re-
view, not only Title IX, but also other federal statutes
dealing with matters such as health care, the environ-
ment, labor relations, and financial-services regulation.
For those reasons, the type of Auer deference applied by
the Fourth Circuit here raises serious separation-of-
powers problems. See, e.g., Manning, supra, at 631-54.
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Second, the Auer doctrine is poorly formulated. It in-
structs courts to enforce an agency’s interpretation of its
own regulations unless that interpretation is “plainly er-
roneous or inconsistent with the regulation.” Auer, 519
U.S. at 461 (emphasis added). But that disjunctive for-
mulation leaves substantial ambiguity: The phrase “in-
consistent with the regulation” implies de novo rather
than deferential review. And it is not apparent how the
“plainly erroneous” prong of the Auer deference test will
ever do any work: Every “plainly erroneous” interpreta-
tion of a regulation will also be “inconsistent with the
regulation,” and the disjunctive “or” means that a liti-
gant challenging the interpretation need only show that
the agency’s interpretation fails under the less deferen-
tial half of this test. This petition presents a prime op-
portunity for the Court to resolve this ambiguity —even
if a majority of the Court wishes to retain some form of
Auwuer deference.

The third problem for the Auer doctrine is the text of
the Administrative Procedure Act, which plainly states
that:

[T]he reviewing court shall decide all relevant
questions of law, interpret constitutional and
statutory provisions, and determine the mean
wmg or applicability of the terms of an agency
action.

5 U.S.C. § 706 (emphases added). How can this statutory
command be reconciled with a regime that requires the
judiciary to defer to an agency’s interpretation of its
regulations, rather than “determine the meaning” of
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those agency rules for itself? No one thinks the APA’s
command to “interpret constitutional . .. provisions” re-
quires courts to defer to an agency’s beliefs on what the
Constitution means. So why do matters suddenly become
different when an agency purports to “determine the
meaning” of one of its rules?

To be sure, some APA provisions require courts to
defer to some forms of agency decisionmaking, but those
provisions do so in unmistakable language. See, e.g., 5
U.S.C. § 706(2)(E) (authorizing courts to set aside agen-
cy factfinding only when “unsupported by substantial
evidence”); Uniwersal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S.
474 (1951) (holding that section 706(2)(E) requires defer-
ential judicial review of agency factfinding). In contrast
to those provisions, the APA’s straightforward instruc-
tion that courts “decide all relevant questions of law” and
“determine the meaning ... of an agency action” leaves
the Auer doctrine in a precarious position. The APA tells
the courts to “determine the meaning” of an agency’s
rules, but Auer tells the agency to “determine the mean-
ing” of its rules so long as it stays within the boundaries
of reasonableness.

The opinion in Seminole Rock said nothing about how
its ostensible deference regime might be reconciled with
the text of the APA, see 325 U.S. 410, but it had good
reason for that omission: the APA had not been enacted
yet. So the Seminole Rock Court can be forgiven for fail-
ing to explain how its deference concept can co-exist with
section 706 of the APA. It is harder to justify the post-
Seminole Rock decisions that reflexively followed this
pre-APA decision without acknowledging the intervening
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statute or attempting to explain how Seminole Rock
could survive the APA."

Nor can Auer be defended on the ground that Chev
ron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council,
Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984), likewise ignored section 706 of
the APA. This Court eventually supplied a rationale for
Chevron that comports with the APA: Influenced heavily
by Justice Breyer’s scholarship,’ the Court held in Unit
ed States v. Mead Corp. that Chevron can apply only
when Congress affirmatively intends to delegate inter-
pretive or gap-filling authority to an agency. See 533 U.S.
218, 229-34 (2001). After Mead, a court that applies
Chevron is not “deferring” to an agency’s interpretation
of a statute. Rather, it is interpreting the statute de novo,
and asking whether Congress intended to authorize the
agency to act within certain statutory boundaries. If the
answer is “yes,” the statute means that the agency gets
to decide and that reviewing courts must respect the
agency’s decision. Mead enables Chevron to co-exist with

7 See, e.g., Udall v. Tallman, 380 U.S. 1, 16-17 (1965); Thorpe v.
Hous. Auth. of City of Durham, 393 U.S. 268, 276 (1969).

8 See Stephen Breyer, Judicial Review of Questions of Law and

Policy, 38 Admin. L. Rev. 363 (1986); id. at 373 (criticizing notion
that Chevron should apply to all agency interpretations of law as
“seriously overbroad, counterproductive and sometimes sense-
less.”); Cass R. Sunstein, Chevron Step Zero, 92 Va. L. Rev. 187
(2006) (explaining how Justice Breyer’s views influenced this Court’s
rulings in Christensen, Mead and Barnhart v. Walton, 535 U.S. 212
(2002)).
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section 706 of the APA. No such rationale has ever been
provided for Auer.

This leads to the fourth problem with Auer defer-
ence: It cannot be sustained in its current form after this
Court’s decisions in Christensen, Mead, and Barnhart v.
Walton, 535 U.S. 212 (2002). In pre-Mead days, when the
Chevron framework established a blanket presumption
that agencies rather than courts would fill gaps and re-
solve ambiguities in statutory language, Auer deference
could be defended as Chevron’s logical corollary. If an
agency’s interpretive rules or informal correspondence
would receive Chevron deference when courts interpret
federal statutes, it was reasonable to accord those docu-
ments equal weight when interpreting agency regula-
tions —which, after all, have the same force and effect as
a federal statute.

Auer became much harder to defend after Mead,
which withholds Chevron deference from interpretive
rules and other agency correspondence that never went
through notice-and-comment rulemaking. For example,
how can a document like the Ferg-Cadima letter receive
nothing more than Skidmore deference when interpret-
ing a statute,” but trigger much higher deference as soon
as it purports to interpret an agency regulation? And if
the Ferg-Cadima letter is entitled to Chevron-like defer-
ence when it purports to interpret 34 C.FR. § 106.33,
why doesn’t that make it into a substantive rule that car-

o See Mead, 533 U.S. at 229-34; Christensen, 529 U.S. at 587.
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ries the force of law and therefore must go through no-
tice and comment? See 5 U.S.C. § 553.

In short, Mead established symmetry between the
Chevron—-Skidmore divide and the distinction between
substantive and interpretive rules. “Interpretive rules”
need not go through notice and comment because they
lack the force of law, but for this reason cannot receive
Chevron deference. To confer Chevron deference upon
such interpretive rules would give them the force of law,
thereby triggering section 553’s notice-and-comment re-
quirements. But Auer deference throws a wrench into
this perfectly crafted arrangement, by allowing such
things as the Ferg-Cadima letter to receive the force of
law even though they never went through notice and
comment. If nothing else, the Court should grant certio-
rari to align the Auer-deference regime with the post-
Mead Chevron regime. That alone would require revers-
ing the Fourth Circuit’s decision.

II. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT CERTIORARI
TO RESOLVE DISAGREEMENTS AMONG
THE LOWER COURTS OVER WHEN THE
AUER-DEFERENCE FRAMEWORK, IF IT
SURVIVES, SHOULD BE APPLIED.

Assuming Auer survives, this case also presents an
opportunity for the Court to resolve serious disagree-
ments among the lower courts on the proper application
of Auer deference. As explained below, there currently
exists a serious circuit conflict on the question whether
Auer deference can apply at all to informal agency pro-
nouncements. There is also deep disagreement among
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the circuits about whether Auer deference can apply to
agency positions that—like the Ferg-Cadima letter —
are developed in the context of the very dispute in which
deference is sought. And the Texas district court’s recent
decision to enjoin the Department’s efforts to impose its
interpretation on schools throughout the Nation both ex-
acerbates the conflict and illustrates the urgent need for
this Court to resolve the questions presented here.

A. The Fourth Circuit’s Decision To Extend
Auer Deference To The Ferg-Cadima
Letter Conflicts With Rulings From The
First, Seventh, And Eleventh Circuits.

As noted, the Ferg-Cadima letter did not go through
notice and comment, and it is about as informal an agen-
cy document as one can imagine. The letter was not pub-
licized; there is no evidence it was approved by the head
of an agency; and it was signed only by a relatively low-
level federal functionary, an Acting Deputy Assistant
Secretary for Policy. The Fourth Circuit did not think
any of this mattered; it was enough that the Department
was willing to stand by the letter in the federal amicus
brief. App. 16a-17a. But a letter such as this would not
have received Auer deference in the First, Seventh or
Eleventh Circuits.

For example, the First Circuit’s ruling in United
States v. Lachman, 387 F.3d 42, 54 (1st Cir. 2004), re-
fused to extend Auer deference to non-public or informal
agency interpretations —and it linked Auer deference to
the same formality requirements that trigger Chevron
deference under Mead:
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[Algency interpretations are only relevant if
they are reflected in public documents....
[Ulnder Chevron, the Supreme Court has
made clear that informal agency interpreta-
tions of statutes, even if public, are not entitled
to deference. See generally United States wv.
Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218 (2001). While this is
not a situation involving the interpretation of a
statute, the same requirements of public acces
sibility and formality are applicable in the
context of agency interpretations of regula
tions. ... The non-public or informal under-
standings of agency officials concerning the
meaning of a regulation are thus not relevant.

387 F.3d at 54 (emphasis added).

The Seventh Circuit has likewise held that it will not
extend Auer deference to informal agency pronounce-
ments such as the Ferg-Cadima letter. In Keys v. Barn
hart, 347 F3d 990 (7th Cir. 2003), that court explained
that Christensen and Mead have curtailed the scope of
Auer deference, limiting it to agency pronouncements
that carry the “force of law” and that would qualify for
deference under Chevron if they were purporting to in-
terpret statutes:

Auer ... gave full Chevron deference to an
agency’s amicus curiae brief; yet in the Chris
tensen case the Supreme Court stated flatly
that “interpretations such as those in opinion
letters—Ilike interpretations contained in poli-
cy statements, agency manuals, and enforce-
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ment guidelines, all of which lack the force of
law—do not warrant Chevron-style defer-
ence.” . .. Briefs certainly don’t have “the force
of law.” . ..

Probably there is little left of Auer. The theory
of Chevron is that Congress delegates to agen-
cies the power to make law to fill gaps in stat-
utes. See, e.g., United States v. Mead Corp.,
supra, 533 U.S. at 226-27. . .. It is odd to think
of agencies as making law by means of state-
ments made in briefs, since agency briefs, at
least below the Supreme Court level, normally
are not reviewed by the members of the agency
itself; and it is odd to think of Congress dele-
gating lawmaking power to unreviewed staff
decisions.

347 F.3d at 993-94 (Posner, J.). And in U.S. Freightways
Corp. v. Commissioner, 270 F.3d 1137 (7th Cir. 2001), the
Seventh Circuit applied Skidmore rather than Auer to
the IRS Commissioner’s interpretation of his regula-
tions, because “the interpretive methodologies he has
used have been informal.” Id. at 1141-42.

Likewise, the Eleventh Circuit’s decision in Arriaga
v. Florida Pacific Farms, L.L.C., 305 F.3d 1228, 1238
(11th Cir. 2002), applied Skidmore rather than Auer to
agency opinion letters that purport to interpret the
agency’s regulations.

Against the First, Seventh, and Eleventh Circuits
stand the Fourth Circuit as well as other courts of ap-
peals that have found the lack of procedural formality
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irrelevant to whether the Auer-deference framework
should apply —even after this Court’s decisions in Chris
tensen and Mead. See, e.g., Cordiano v. Metacon Gun
Club, Inc., 575 F.3d 199, 207-08 (2nd Cir. 2009) (holding
that “agency interpretations that lack the force of law,”
while not warranting deference when interpreting am-
biguous statutes, “do normally warrant deference when
they interpret ambiguous regulations”); Encarnacion
ex. rel George v. Astrue, 568 F.3d 72, 78 (2nd Cir. 2009)
(holding agency’s interpretation is entitled to Auer def-
erence “regardless of the formality of the procedures
used to formulate it”) (quotation omitted); Bassiri v.
Xerox Corp., 463 F.3d 927, 930 (9th Cir. 2006) (granting
Auer deference to agency interpretation “even if [adopt-
ed] through an informal process” that “is not reached
through the normal notice-and-comment procedure” and
that “does not have the force of law”); Smith v. Nichol
son, 451 F.3d 1344 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (affording Seminole
Rock deference “even when [the agency’s interpretation]
is offered in informal rulings such as in a litigating doc-
ument”).

It appears the circuits are currently divided 4-3 on
whether an agency’s regulatory interpretation produced
through informal processes can qualify for Auer defer-
ence after Christensen and Mead. The Fourth Circuit’s
decision here directly implicates this circuit split, and it
is ripe for this Court’s review.
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B. The Fourth Circuit’s Decision To Extend
Auer Deference To The Ferg-Cadima Letter
Is In Substantial Tension With Decisions In
The Ninth And Federal Circuits.

Another relevant feature of the Ferg-Cadima letter is
that it was issued solely in response to G.G.s dispute
with the Board. Days after the Board passed its resolu-
tion of December 9, 2014, a transgender activist e-mailed
the Department and solicited the letter, specifically with
respect to the Board’s policy. App. 118a-120a. But this
fact was of no moment to the Fourth Circuit, which held
that Auer deference should apply even if the agency had
never before expressed these views apart from G.G.’s
dispute with Board. App. 17a. The Fourth Circuit had
company in reaching this conclusion: At least four other
courts of appeals agree that Auer deference should apply
even when the agency adopts its interpretation solely in
the context of the dispute before the court.'

0 Imtracomm, Inc. v. Bajaj, 492 F.3d 285, 293 & n.6 (4th Cir. 2007)
(deferring to Secretary’s interpretation advanced in case under re-
view); Woudenberg v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 794 F.3d 595, 599, 601
(6th Cir. 2015) (deferring to agency ruling in the case under review);
Bible ex rel. Proposed Class v. United Student Aid Funds, Inc., 799
F.3d 633, 639, 651 (7th Cir. 2015) (deferring to agency’s interpreta-
tion advanced in amicus briefs), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1607 (2016);
Biodiversity Conservation All. v. Jiron, 762 F.3d 1036, 1062-68
(10th Cir. 2014) (deferring to agency interpretation advanced during
administrative appeal); Polycarpe v. E&S Landscaping Serv. Inc.,
616 F.3d 1217, 1225 (11th Cir. 2010) (deferring to agency interpreta-
tion advanced in amicus brief).
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But opinions from the Ninth Circuit and the Federal
Circuit have refused to extend Auer deference in similar
situations. In Vietnam Veterans of America v. CIA, 811
F3d 1068 (9th Cir. 2015), the Ninth Circuit refused to
apply Auer deference to an interpretation of agency
rules that was “‘developed . .. only in the context of this
litigation.”” Id. at 1078. And in Massachusetts Mutual
Life Insurance Co. v. United States, 782 F.3d 1354 (Fed.
Cir. 2015), the Federal Circuit refused to apply the Auer
framework to an IRS interpretation that was “advanced
for the first time in litigation.” Id. at 1369-70. So the
Fourth Circuit’s ruling implicates yet another division
among the courts of appeals, and the Court should grant
certiorari to resolve it."

C. The Nationwide Federal Injunction Decision
From Texas Also Conflicts With The Fourth
Circuit’s Approach.

The lower courts are also divided over whether Auer
deference should extend to the specific agency interpre-
tations at issue in this case. Eight days ago, on August
21, 2016, a federal district court in Texas refused to ex-

1" To be sure, the Fourth Circuit’s decision to invoke Auer defer-

ence in the circumstances presented here was also wrong for a host
of other reasons, see Application for Stay, No. 16A52, at 18-29, in-
cluding this Court’s reminder in Gonzales v. Oregon, 546 U.S. 243
(2006), that Auer deference is inappropriate where that pronounce-
ment “cannot be considered an interpretation of the regulation” as
opposed to the underlying statute. Id. at 247. As discussed, the
Ferg-Cadima letter offered an interpretation of Title IX itself, and
not merely the regulation. See supra at 11.
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tend Auer deference to the Department’s bathroom,
locker room and shower edicts, finding that 34 C.F.R.
§ 106.33 unambiguously allows Title IX recipients to es-
tablish separate facilities on the basis of biological sex.
See Texas v. United States of America, Case No. 7:16-cv-
00054, ECF No. 58; Pet. App. 183a—229a. That decision is
significant here for two distinet reasons.

First, as a practical matter, it exacerbates the exist-
ing conflicts and disagreements over the proper applica-
tion of Auer deference and Title IX to transgender indi-
viduals. Indeed, given that decision, and based on com-
peting views of Auer, schools in one section of the Na-
tion—states within the Fourth Circuit—are now bound
by the Department’s view of Title IX, while at the same
time the Department is currently prohibited from even
attempting to impose that same view on schools in the
rest of the Nation.

Second, the Texas decision highlights the urgent, na-
tionwide importance of the issues presented in this peti-
tion. Every recipient of Title IX funds throughout the
Nation—ranging from universities to elementary
schools—is now being substantially affected by the dis-
agreement among the lower courts about the proper ap-
plication of Auer deference. That is an additional reason
for this court’s review, especially given the deep disa-
greements that already exist over whether Auer defer-
ence should extend to agency documents such as the
Ferg-Cadima letter.
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III. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT
CERTIORARI TO CONSIDER WHETHER
THE DEPARTMENT’S INTERPRETATION
OF TITLE IX AND 34 C.F.R. §106.33 IS
BINDING.

Finally, granting this petition will give the Court an
excellent opportunity to determine whether the Depart-
ment’s specific interpretation of Title IX is binding. In
fact, that interpretation is flatly wrong and therefore,
under any reasonable view of Auer, is not legally binding
on anyone.

1. Nothing in Title IX’s text or structure supports
the foundational premise of the Ferg-Cadima letter—
namely, that the proscription of discrimination “on the
basis of sex ... includ[es] gender identity.” App. 121a.
The term “gender identity” is nowhere in Title IX. Con-
gress knows how to legislate protection against gender
identity discrimination: it has done so elsewhere, but not
in Title IX."” Conversely, numerous bills have attempted
to introduce the concept of gender identity into federal
laws, but failed.”” The interpretive alchemy of deeming

2 See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 13925(b)(13)(A) (prohibiting discrimination
based on “sex, gender identity ..., sexual orientation, or disability”);
42 U.S.C. § 3796gg (assisting victims “whose ability to access tradi-
tional services and responses is affected by their ... gender identi-
ty”).

B See, e.g., H.R. 2015 (110th Cong. 2007); H.R. 3017 (111th Cong.
2009); S. 1584 (111th Cong. 2009); H.R. 1397 (112th Cong. 2011); S.
811 (112th Cong. 2011); H.R. 1755 (113th Cong. 2013); S. 815 (113th
Cong. 2013) (unenacted versions of Employment Non-
(continued...)
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“sex” to include “gender identity” would revise those leg-
islative defeats into victories. That is not how statutory
interpretation works. See, e.g., Hively v. Ivy Tech Cmty.
Coll,  F3d _, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 13746, at *7 &
n.2 (7th Cir. July 28, 2016) (noting, “despite multiple ef-
forts, Congress has repeatedly rejected legislation that
would have extended Title VII to cover sexual orienta-
tion”).

To the contrary, when federal law deploys the term
“sex” in anti-diserimination statutes, it prohibits discrim-
ination based on “nothing more than male and female,
under the traditional binary conception of sex consistent
with one’s birth or biological sex.” Johnston v. Univ. of
Pittsburgh, 97 F.Supp.3d 657, 676 (W.D. Pa. 2015) (citing
Etsitty v. Utah Transit Auth., 502 F.3d 1215, 1222 (10th
Cir. 2007). As Judge Niemeyer’s dissent explained, dur-
ing the period when Title IX was enacted and its regula-
tions promulgated, “virtually every dictionary definition
of ‘sex’ referred to the physiological distinctions between
males and females, particularly with respect to their re-
productive functions.” App. 54a (collecting definitions).
In other words, the prohibition on “sex” discrimination in
laws like Title IX and Title VII “do[es] not outlaw dis-
crimination against ... a person born with a male body
who believes himself to be a female, or a person born
with a female body who believes herself to be a male.”

Discrimination Act, which would have prohibited gender identity
discrimination).
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Ulane v. E. Airlines, Inc., 742 F.2d 1081, 1085 (7th Cir.
1984).

2. Moreover, reading “sex” to include “gender iden-
tity” would make a hash of Title IX’s scheme allowing
facilities and programs to be separated by “sex.™ If
“sex” signifies, not biology, but rather one’s “internal”
sense of maleness or femaleness, the whole concept of
permissible sex-separation collapses. What sense could
there be in allowing “separate living facilities for the dif-
ferent sexes,” 20 U.S.C. § 1686, if a biological male could
legally qualify as a woman based merely on his subjec
tive perception of being one? The answer is none. Cf
United States v. Virginia, 518 U.S. 515, 550 n. 19 (1996)
(admitting women to VMI “would undoubtedly require
alterations necessary to afford members of each sex pri-
vacy from the other sex in living arrangements”).

3. Nor is the Ferg-Cadima interpretation supported
by the theory of sex-stereotyping discrimination in Price
Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989). Cf App.
122a n.2 (relying on Price Waterhouse). A Price Water
house claim is “based on behaviors, mannerisms, and ap-
pearances,” such as when a male employee is fired be-
cause he “wear[s] jewelry ... considered too effeminate,

14

See, e.g., 20 U.S.C. § 1686 (allowing “separate living facilities for
the different sexes”); 34 C.F.R. § 106.32 (allowing “separate housing
on the basis of sex,” provided facilities are “[p]roportionate in quan-
tity” and “comparable in quality and cost”); 34 C.F.R. § 106.34 (al-
lowing “separation of students by sex” within physical education
classes and certain sports “the purpose or major activity of which
involves bodily contact”).
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carrlies] a serving tray too gracefully, or tak[es] too ac-
tive a role in child rearing.” Johnston, 97 F.Supp.3d at
680 (internal quotations and citation omitted). But Price
Waterhouse does not require “employers to allow biolog-
ical males to use women’s restrooms,” because “[ulse of a
restroom designated for the opposite sex does not consti-
tute a mere failure to conform to sex stereotypes.” Etsit
ty, 502 F.3d at 1224. If anything, the Board’s policy is the
opposite of sex stereotyping: it designates male and fe-
male restrooms based solely on biology, regardless of
whether a man or a woman satisfies some stereotypical
notion of masculinity or femininity. See, e.g., Johnston,
97 F.Supp.3d at 680-81 (rejecting sex stereotyping claim
on this basis).

4. Furthermore, an interpretation of Title IX ac-
cording to the Ferg-Cadima view would render the stat-
ute unconstitutional, and must be avoided for that reason
alone. See, e.g., Rust v. Sullivan, 500 U.S. 173, 190 (1991)
(describing constitutional avoidance canon). For instance,
it would cause Title IX to violate the Spending Clause by
failing to give “clear notice” of conditions attached to
federal funding.” No funding recipient could have had
“clear notice” of the novel interpretation of Title IX in

5 Avlington Cent. Sch. Bd. of Educ. v. Murphy, 548 U.S. 291, 297
(2006) (clear notice absent where text “does not even hint” fees due
to prevailing party); NFIB v. Sebelius, 132 S. Ct. 2566, 2606 (2012)
(Congress’s spending clause power “does not include surprising par-
ticipating States with post-acceptance or retroactive conditions”
(quoting Pennhurst State Sch. & Hosp. v. Halderman, 451 U.S. 1, 25
(1981)).
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this case. Indeed, the G.G. majority confirmed as much
by finding the Title IX regulation was ambiguous as ap-
plied to transgender individuals. App. 18a. Cf Bennett v.
Ky. Dep'’t of Educ., 470 U.S. 656, 666 (1985) (no “clear
notice” violation where there was “no ambiguity with re-
spect to” funding condition).

5. Finally, taking the Ferg-Cadima letter’s construc-
tion of “sex” seriously would turn Title IX against itself.
As the district court pointed out, the relevant regulation
would bar the Board’s policy only if “sex” means solely
“gender identity” and excludes any notion of “biological
sex.” App. 99a-102a. As applied to Title IX, that prepos-
terous construction would legalize just the kind of biolog-
ically based discrimination against men and women that
Title IX was enacted to prevent. For instance, schools
could exclude biological women from taking science clas-
ses or joining the chess team, so long as they allowed
biological men who identify as females to do so. Only
transgendered people would be protected under this Ti-
tle IX regime; men and women who identify with their
biological sex would receive no protection at all.

Indeed, if “sex” means only “gender identity,” the
Board’s policy would not implicate Title IX at all because
it addresses only “biological sex” and excludes consider-
ation of gender identity. But that is absurd: everyone
agrees that the Title IX regulation squarely address-
es—and expressly allows—sex-separated restrooms,
exactly like the ones provided by the Board’s policy.
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CONCLUSION

Some regard transgender restroom access as one of
the great civil-rights issues of our time. But that makes
it all the more important to insist that federal officials
follow the procedures for lawmaking prescribed in the
Constitution and the Administrative Procedure Act. To
condone the agency behavior displayed in this case is to
condone future use of these maneuvers by other agency
officials, and in support of other causes—without any
way of ensuring that the Executive Branch will always
be controlled by people who share one’s most deeply held
beliefs.

At bottom, then, this case is not really about whether
G.G. should be allowed to access the boys’ restrooms, nor
even primarily about whether Title IX can be interpret-
ed to require recipients to allow transgender students
into the restrooms and locker rooms that accord with
their gender identity. Fundamentally, this case is about
whether an agency employee can impose that policy in a
piece of private correspondence. If the Court looks the
other way, then the agency officials in this case—and in
a host of others to come—will have become a law unto
themselves.

Duncan 1; 0164



39

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be grant-

ed.
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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

In Alice Corp. Pty. Ltd. v. CLS Bank Int’l, 134 S. Ct.
2347 (2014), this Court sought to clarify the proper
approach to issues of “abstractness” under Section
101 of the Patent Act, while emphasizing the need to
“tread carefully in construing this exclusionary prin-
ciple lest it swallow all of patent law.” Id. at 2354.
Unfortunately, many district courts including in
this case have interpreted Alice as authorizing in-
validation of issued patents on abstractness grounds
based solely on the pleadings, even where the invali-
dation rests on resolution of a disputed issue of fact
or of claim construction or scope. Although this over-
reading of Alice has been widely criticized by patent
commentators, it has often been abetted, as here, by
the Federal Circuit.

The questions presented are:

1. Whether Alice authorizes a district court to in-
validate a patent solely on the pleadings based on an
abstractness argument that depends upon one view
of a disputed question of fact notwithstanding the
presumption of patent validity in Section 282 of the
Act and settled procedural and Seventh Amendment
safeguards that ordinarily prevent the resolution of
such questions on the pleadings.

2. Whether Alice and its predecessors authorize a
court to invalidate a patent on the pleadings based on
one view of a disputed question of claim construction
or scope 1including (in Alice’s words) what the claims
“are directed to” notwithstanding the presumption
of patent validity and the general principle that, on a
motion to dismiss, any legal instrument must be con-
strued in the light most favorable to the non-moving
party.
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING AND
CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Petitioner Evolutionary Intelligence LLC was the
plaintiff-appellant in the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Federal Circuit, in In Nos. 2016-1188,
-1190, -1191, -1192, -1194, -1195, -1197, -1198, and
-1199.

Respondents Sprint Nextel Corporation, Sprint
Communications Company, L.P., Sprint Spectrum
L.P., Sprint Solutions, Inc., Apple Inc., Facebook Inc.,
Foursquare Labs, Inc., Groupon, Inc., LivingSocial,
Inc., Millennial Media, Inc., Twitter, Inc., and Yelp,
Inc. were the defendants-appellees in that court.

Evolutionary Intelligence LL.C’s parent company
1s Incandescent, Inc. No publicly held company owns
10% or more of Evolutionary Intelligence LLC’s stock.
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INTRODUCTION

As this Court explained in Alice Corp. Pty. Ltd. v.
CLS Bank Int’l, 134 S. Ct. 2347 (2014), Section 101 of
the Patent Act makes eligible for patenting those in-
ventions that are “new and useful,” but not those that
merely seek a monopoly on, for example, an “abstract
idea.” Id. at 2354. In so holding, however, the Court
emphasized the need to “tread carefully in construing
this exclusionary principle” the abstractness exclu-
sion “lest it swallow all of patent law.” Id. Quoting its
prior decision in Mayo Collaborative Servs. v. Prome-
theus Labs., Inc., 566 U.S. 66 (2012), the Court ob-
served that, “[a]t some level, ‘all inventions ... embody,
use, reflect, rest upon, or apply laws of nature, natural
phenomena, or abstract ideas.” Id. (quoting Mayo, 566
U.S. at 71) (emphasis added). Hence even if an inven-
tion is built on an abstract idea, “application[s] of
such concepts ‘to a new and useful end’ ... remain eli-
gible for patent protection.” Id. (emphasis added)
(quoting Gottschalk v. Benson, 409 U.S. 63, 67 (1972)).

In keeping with this caution, and with the pre-
sumption of patent validity embodied in 35 U.S.C. 282,
this Court has never sanctioned the resolution of a dis-
puted “abstractness” challenge based solely on the
pleadings. Nevertheless, Alice and Mayo have led in-
advertently to an ongoing avalanche of district court
decisions that do just that decisions that have been
affirmed in scores of Federal Circuit cases.

These “pleading invalidations” have resulted in
the cancellation of hundreds of valuable patents each
one a vested private property right with no oppor-
tunity for fact-finding, claim-construction briefing, or
any of the other protections usually afforded in litiga-
tion on issued patents. As former Chief Judge Michel
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has recently pointed out in congressional testimony,
this misunderstanding of Mayo and Alice has placed
virtually every inventor and patent holder at risk,
while dramatically reducing the incentives and capital
for innovation. And the Federal Circuit has done noth-
ing to clear up the district courts’ confusion, but in-
stead has affirmed pleading invalidations more than
90 percent of the time since Alice.

This case gives the Court a much-needed oppor-
tunity to bring clarity to this important area of the
law an area that, as Judge Michel has emphasized,
remains central to the Nation’s economic growth and
international competitiveness. Specifically, if the
Court doesn’t fully resolve the Seventh Amendment is-
sue presented in the pending Oil States case (No. 16-
712), this case gives the Court an opportunity to estab-
lish that ordinary legal principles governing fact-find-
ing adjudications including the Seventh
Amendment also govern “abstractness” determina-
tions in patent litigation. This case also gives the
Court an opportunity to clarify the type of analysis of
patent claims that should be undertaken to determine
what those claims, in Alice’s formulation, are “directed
to.” The Court’s resolution of both issues will also bring
needed clarity to the proper interplay between Section
101’s eligibility requirements and Section 282’s pre-
sumption of validity.

OPINIONS BELOW

The order denying rehearing and rehearing en
banc, App.6a-7a, is unreported. The opinion affirming
the judgment of the U.S. District Court for the North-
ern District of California is reported at 677 Fed. Appx.
679 (Fed. Cir. Feb. 17, 2017). App. 1a-5a. The district
court’s opinion and order dismissing the petitioner’s
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complaint on the pleadings is reported at 137 F. Supp.
3d 1157 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 6, 2015). App. 10a-42a

JURISDICTION

The court of appeals entered its order denying re-
hearing on May 24, 2017. An application to extend the
time to file a petition for a writ of certiorari was
granted on August 16, 2017. An application for a fur-
ther extension of time was granted on September 15,
2017, making the petition due on or before Saturday,
October 21, 2017, and extended to Monday, October 23
under the weekend rule. S. Ct. R. 30.1. The jurisdiction
of this Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. 1254(1).

STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL
PROVISIONS

Section 101 of the Patent Act, 35 U.S.C. 101, provides
that:

“Whoever invents or discovers any new and
useful process, machine, manufacture, or com-
position of matter, or any new and useful im-
provement thereof, may obtain a patent
therefor, subject to the conditions and require-
ments of this title.”

Section 282(a) of the Act, 35 U.S.C. 282(a), further pro-
vides:

“A patent shall be presumed valid. Each claim
of a patent (whether in independent, dependent,
or multiple dependent form) shall be presumed
valid independently of the validity of other
claims; dependent or multiple dependent claims
shall be presumed valid even though dependent
upon an invalid claim. The burden of establish-
ing invalidity of a patent or any claim thereof
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shall rest on the party asserting such invalid-
ity.”

The Seventh Amendment provides that:

“In Suits at common law, where the value in
controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the
right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no
fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise re-exam-
ined in any Court of the United States, than ac-
cording to the rules of the common law.”

STATEMENT

This 1s one of many recent cases in which district
courts with the Federal Circuit’s blessing have in-
validated patents on abstractness grounds on the
pleadings. They have done this without the usual
hearings to determine the scope or meaning of the
challenged patent claims, and without fact-finding or
other rigorous analysis to determine whether the in-
vention claims an abstract idea, or if so, as Alice put it,
properly “appl[ies]” such an idea “to a new and useful
end.” Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2354 (citation omitted).

1. Petitioner Evolutionary Intelligence LL.C (“Evo-
lutionary”) applied for patents for its location and
search technologies at issue here in 1998, with patents
issued in 2006 and 2010.1 App. 19a. On their face and

1 The patents in dispute are U.S. Patent Nos. 7,010,536 (“the 536
patent”) and 7,702,682 (“the ’682 patent”). Both patents are enti-
tled “System and Method for Creating and Manipulating Infor-
mation Containers with Dynamic Registers.” The '682 patent,
which 1ssued on April 20, 2010, is a continuation of the 536 pa-
tent, which issued on March 7, 2006. Both patented technologies
were invented by Michael De Angelo, are owned by Evolutionary,
which he effectively manages, and are the subject of continued
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especially when read in light of the statutory presump-
tion of validity the innovation described in Evolu-
tionary’s patents is not an “abstract idea.” And even if
it were, those patents go well beyond that by explain-
ing how to implement a new invention crucial to to-
day’s smartphones.

Evolutionary’s patents claim a groundbreaking
technology that today benefits billions of users a spe-
cific method for using information about a user’s pre-
cise location and other rapidly-changing information
in the outside world to improve search results. App.
30a. The invention is an advanced method of storing
the results of past internet searches in a digital loca-
tion called a “container.” App. 46a. Those containers
then consult with each other to optimize search results
and to deliver pertinent notifications. App. 45a 60a.

For example, Evolutionary’s invention makes it
possible for someone stepping off an airplane in an un-
familiar city to learn about restaurant dinner offers
announced only minutes ago within a one-mile radius.
These offers may have been encoded into the uniquely
identified electronic “container” of a restaurant, zip
code, or neighborhood. One container might contain,
for example, a list of all businesses within a one-mile
radius. A second container might contain a list of all
restaurants in the county, and a third container might
include a list of all restaurants with dinner offers in a
particular time period for that evening.

efforts at commercialization. The patents claim priority to a pro-
visional application dating to January 30, 1998 (No. 60/073,209).
The ’536 patent is available at http:/bit.ly/Evol536Patent, and
the 682 Patent is available at http://bit.ly/Evol682Patent.
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Unlike prior art, the patent’s innovations permit
the three containers to consult with each other elec-
tronically so as to govern search results or notifica-
tions to meet all three of the search criteria that is,
“within one mile,” “restaurants,” and “dinner offers,”
according to present times and locations of users.

Also unlike prior art, the technology then priori-
tizes the search results based on an indicator of rele-
vance, such as proximity or consumer ratings. For
example, to prioritize results by consumer rating (i.e.
place the highest rated restaurants at the top of the
search results), there might be another container in-
cluding a list of the highest rated restaurants in the
area. Thus, the first three containers would interact
with each other to narrow the search results, then in-
teract with additional containers to prioritize the re-
sults by their relevance.

This process allows search engines through dy-
namic updating to make more meaningful use of in-
formation external to the computer performing the
search. Indeed, absent the invention the user could
only search one list at a time for example, the list of
highest rated restaurants in the city, or a list of res-
taurants that have had dinner offers previously. With-
out additional searches, the user could not easily get
the additional list showing which nearby restaurants
had discounts on that particular night.

Every day, billions of search results are now dis-
tributed in precisely this way. While commonplace
now, the invention was far from simple: Evolutionary's
two patents comprise in their common specification 45
pages of technical description, 31 flowcharts and dia-
grams, and detailed processes comprising over 700 ci-
tations to computer processes, hardware components,
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and software elements. Given the importance and
complexity of this patent, it is not surprising that it
has been cited at the Patent and Trademark office
when evaluating later patents assigned to respondent
Apple,?2 Microsoft,> Hewlett-Packard,* IBM,5 and oth-

ers.

2. The present dispute arose when Evolutionary
brought infringement suits against the respondents.
Eventually the nine cases were consolidated, but not
before respondents Apple, Facebook, Twitter, and Yelp
had brought nine separate petitions for inter partes re-
view against Evolutionary’s patents before the Patent
Trial and Appeal Board (PTAB). The PTAB outright
rejected eight of the petitions, thereby upholding the
patents’ validity.® And in the only petition the PTAB
elected to hear on the merits, the agency also upheld
the patents’ validity as against an “anticipation” chal-
lenge based on prior art. App. 44a 45a.

In so holding, the PTAB concluded that, contrary
to respondents’ assertions, the claimed “containers”
were not generic. Instead, unique specifications about
each container and the way it interacted with other
containers and electronic “registers” were crucial to
making the invention function. App. 45a 57a.

2 U.S. Patent No. 8,667,023, at [56] (filed Aug. 20, 2012).
3 U.S. Patent No. 7,516,455, at [56] (filed Sep. 5, 2003).
4U.S. Patent No. 8,266,272 at [56] (filed Nov. 7, 2005).
5U.S. Patent No. 7,383,347 at [56] (filed Jul. 18, 2001).

6 See, e.g., Apple v. Evolutionary Intelligence, No. 2014-00080 at
2 (PTAB April 25, 2014) (“[W]e conclude that Petitioner has not
established a reasonable likelihood that it would prevail with re-
spect to claims 1-23 of the 682 patent.”).
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In sustaining the patents’ validity, the PTAB also
expressed its view of what the invention is “directed
to” anissue known as “step one” of the framework es-
tablished in Alice. The PTAB found that the patent’s
claims are “directed to developing intelligence in a
computer or digital network by creating and manipu-
lating information containers with dynamic interac-
tive registers in a computer network.” App. 4ba
(emphasis added).

3. Shortly after the patents survived these nine at-
tacks in the PTAB, the district court nevertheless in-
validated Evolutionary’s patents under Section 101
and did so on the pleadings. In so doing, the court
simply accepted respondents’ characterization of the
patents including what the invention is “directed
to” rather than addressing disputed issues of fact
and of claim construction or scope in the light most fa-
vorable to the non-moving party, i.e., Evolutionary.

Purporting to apply “Alice step one,” the district
court implicitly rejected the PTAB’s characterization
of the invention. Instead it adopted a broad view of
what Evolutionary’s claims are “directed to” that is,
merely “searching and processing containerized data.”
App. 30a. Then, apparently applying “Alice step two,”
the district court held, necessarily as a factual matter,
that the invention merely computerizes “age-old forms
of information processing,” such as those used in “li-
braries, businesses, and other human enterprises with
folders, books, time-cards, ledgers, and so on.” App.
30a. The district court similarly found, also as a fac-
tual matter, that the claimed invention is no more in-
ventive than the practice of a “local barista or
bartender who remembers a particular customer’s fa-
vorite drink.” App. 35a. And once again, the district
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court failed to give Evolutionary the benefit of the
doubt on any of these matters.

4. The Federal Circuit affirmed. As to Alice step
one, the Federal Circuit (in a short “non-precedential”
opinion) adopted a third and even broader view of what
the patent’s claims are “directed to” specifically, the
general activity of “selecting and sorting information
by user interest or subject matter.” Not surprisingly,
the court then held that this too was nothing more
than an abstract idea. App. 4a. But in so holding, the
court ignored the more specific aspects of the patent
claims recognized by the PTAB in its narrower articu-
lation of what the claims are “directed to” that is, the
purpose of “developing intelligence in a computer or
digital network,” and achieving that purpose by “creat-
ing and manipulating information containers with dy-

namic interactive registers.” App. 45a (emphasis
added).

As to Alice step two, the Federal Circuit held that
the claims “lack an inventive concept to transform the
abstract idea” as broadened by the court “into a pa-
tent-eligible invention.” App. 5a. With no analysis of
the claims, the specification, or even the prior art, the
court based that holding on its own conclusory factual
determination that, “[w]hether analyzed individually
or as an ordered combination, the claims recite ... con-
ventional elements at too high a level of generality to
constitute an inventive concept.” App. da.

Neither of the Federal Circuit’s holdings acknowl-
edged, much less analyzed the impact of, Section 282’s
presumption of patent validity, even though that point
was repeatedly pressed below.

The court of appeals then denied panel rehearing
and rehearing en banc. App. 6a 7a.
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10
REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

In the aftermath of Alice, district courts with the
Federal Circuit’s approval are routinely committing
two basic errors in using “pleading invalidations” to
extinguish patent owners’ property rights on abstract-
ness grounds. First, as this case illustrates, courts are
relying on their own views of disputed factual issues,
in violation of the ordinary rules governing fact-find-
ing. Second, as this case also illustrates, courts are us-
ing arbitrary and overly broad characterizations of
what the claims are “directed to,” so as to make them
seem abstract. These “pleading invalidations” have re-
sulted in the wrongful extinguishing of hundreds of val-
uable patents along with their associated property
rights. And, as Judge Michel has recently noted, this has
substantially reduced the incentives and capital for in-
novation throughout the Nation.

I. Ifit does not resolve the issue in Oil States,
the Court should grant review to decide
whether any tribunal may invalidate a pa-
tent based on an argument that depends on
one view of a disputed question of fact.

Despite being decided on motions for summary
judgment, Alice and Mayo have been misinterpreted to
allow determinations of disputed facts by judges based
on the pleadings. As a result, judges now routinely re-
solve disputed factual issues bearing on patent valid-
ity by “looking beyond the allegations in the
complaint” and making “historical observations about
alleged longstanding commercial practices and decid-
ing whether the claimed invention is analogous to such
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practices.”” As with Congress’s decision to lodge fact-
finding authority in the PTAB (an issue before this
Court in Oil States), this shift away from traditional
fact-finding processes deprives patentees of their
rights under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (and
the Seventh Amendment) to have factual disputes set-
tled by a jury, and of the statutory presumption of va-
lidity. That widespread misinterpretation of this
Court’s decisions warrants the Court’s immediate re-
View.

A. In the wake of Alice, many district
judges with the Federal Circuit’s bless-
ing improperly invalidate patents on eli-
gibility grounds based on their own views
of disputed factual issues.

As noted, Alice mandates a two-step analysis for
distinguishing “useful” inventions from abstract ideas.
Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2356 2357. Step one asks whether
the invention contains (or is based upon) an abstract
1idea. Id. at 2355. If it does, step two determines
whether the patent claims contain an “inventive con-
cept’ sufficient to ‘transform’ the claimed abstract idea
into a patent-eligible application” that is, something
that is “useful” within the meaning of Section 101. Id.
at 2357 (quoting Mayo, 566 U.S. at 78). Unfortunately,
many district judges with the blessing of the Federal
Circuit are resolving disputed questions of fact bear-
ing on both steps of the Alice inquiry, and are doing so
at the pleading stage.

7David Boher, In a Rush to Invalidate Patents at Pleadings Stage,
Are Courts Coloring Outside the Lines?, Patentlyo (July 1, 2015),
https://patentlyo.com/patent/2015/07/invalidatepleadings-color-
ing.html.
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1. Both steps of the Alice analysis frequently in-
volve disputed factual issues. Indeed, the ultimate
question of “usefulness” the underlying issue in all
abstractness disputes 1is a quintessential issue of
fact. See Ultramercial, Inc. v. Hulu, LLC, 722 F.3d
1335, 1339 (Fed. Cir. 2013) (“[T]he analysis under 101,
while ultimately a legal determination, is rife with un-
derlying factual issues”), vacated for consideration in
light of Alice sub nom. Wildtangent, Inc. v. Ultramer-
cial, LLC, 134 S. Ct. 2870 (2014). This is true whether
the overarching issue turns on Alice step one
whether a claimed invention is based on an abstract
idea orsteptwo whether the claimed invention pro-
vides a new and useful application of that idea.

Unfortunately, many district judges with the
Federal Circuit’s active acquiescence routinely re-
solve these factual issues based on the pleadings
alone thereby stripping disputed factual issues from
juries and from the usual fact-finding processes speci-
fied in the Federal Rules.8 Moreover, those decisions
go far beyond the judicial role contemplated by Alice
and Mayo, where the lower court decisions were
reached on summary judgment. Alice, 134 S. Ct. at
2253; Mayo, 566 U.S. at 76. Yet, since Alice, more than
half of all motions for dismissal on the pleadings under

8 See, e.g., Appistry, Inc. v. Amazon.com, Inc., No. C15-311, 2015
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90004, at *7 (W.D. Wash. July 9, 2015) (grant-
ing judgment on the pleadings based on analogy at pleadings
stage between computer farming and military processes); TDE
Petroleum Data Solutions, Inc. v. AKM Enterprise, Inc., No. H-15-
1821, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 121123, at *21 (S.D. Tex. Sep. 11,
2015) (granting motion to dismiss based on factual determination
of insufficient connection to a computer), affd, 657 F. App’x 991
(Fed. Cir. 2016).
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Section 101 have succeeded. See Summary of Post-Al-
ice Decisions by the Federal Circuit (“Summary”), App.
77a 90a.% This is a new phenomenon: Petitioner has
been unable to find any district court decision in the
two years prior to Mayo that granted such relief at the
pleading stage.

3. Since Alice, moreover, the Federal Circuit has
decided ninety-five Section 101 patent cases. See App.
95a (Summary). Eighty-eight of those (92.6 percent)
held the patent not eligible. Ibid.10 In fifty-five of those
cases (64.0 percent), the district court had invalidated
the patents on the pleadings alone. Ibid. And in fifty-
one of those same cases, the Federal Circuit affirmed
without an opinion. Ibid. Only seven decisions re-
versed district court opinions holding the underlying
patents ineligible for patenting. Ibid.

As these statistics illustrate, since Alice the Fed-
eral Circuit has routinely affirmed often without
opinion district court decisions that invalidate pa-
tents under Section 101 often on the pleadings alone.
This disturbing shift towards a presumption of patent
invalidity not only flouts Congress’s decision to impose

9 See Robert R. Sachs, Alice Brings A Mix of Gifts for the Holidays,
Bilski Blog (Dec. 23, 2016), http://www.bilskib-
log.com/blog/2016/12/alice-brings-a-mix-of-gifts-for-2016-holi-
days.html; Edward Tulin and Leslie Demers, A Look At Post-Alice
Rule 12 Motions Over The Last 2 Years, Law360 (Jan. 27, 2017),
https://www.law360.com/articles/882111/a-look-atpost-alice-rule-
12-motions-over-the-last-2-years.

10 One decision even reversed a district court finding of patent
eligibility, Smartflash v. Apple, 621 Fed. Appx. 995 (Fed. Cir.
2015). In Smartflash, after a jury verdict that the patent was
valid and infringed, the Federal Circuit reversed the district
court’s prior denial of judgment as a matter of law, and held the
patent not eligible.
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a presumption of validity, but it also threatens the
American economy by reducing rewards for innova-
tion. See infra Section III.

B. Where material facts are disputed, such
“pleading invalidations” violate not only
the Seventh Amendment, for reasons ex-
plained in Oil States, but also the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure and the pre-
sumption of validity.

Such “pleading invalidations” are improper when-
ever they require the resolution even implicit of
disputed issues of fact. As explained at length in the
briefing in Oil States, the Seventh Amendment pre-
serves the right to trial by jury on factual questions of
the sort that would have been tried to a jury before and
during the founding era. And questions of “useful-
ness” the core of the whole abstractness inquiry!?
are among the factual questions that were resolved by
juries in the founding era. Thus, contrary to the courts
below, the issue of abstractness is properly a jury ques-
tion. In any event, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
and the presumption of patent validity compel the
same result.

1. This Court has emphasized that the original
“thrust of the [Seventh] Amendment was to preserve

11 Although the Court has sometimes said that abstractness is an
“exception” to the general rule in Section 101 that “useful” inven-
tions are patentable, e.g., Mayo, 566 U.S. at 84-87; Alice, 134 S.
Ct. at 2354, historically “abstractness” was simply one way that
a purported invention could flunk the “usefulness” requirement.
See, e.g., Bilski v. Kappos, 561 U.S. 593, 602 (2010); Le Roy v.
Tatham, 55 U.S. (14 How.) 156, 185 (1853). So the inquiry into
abstractness is, at bottom, a necessary part of the inquiry into
“usefulness.”
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the right to jury trial as it existed in 1791[.]” Curtis v.
Loether, 415 U.S. 189, 193 (1974). And factual issues
related to patent validity have been tried to juries un-
der the common law since early in the 17th Century,
including in cases involving patents’ usefulness.!2 Sev-
eral cases following the Seventh Amendment’s ratifi-
cation reaffirm that juries were routinely instructed on
usefulness, and therefore that usefulness (and all sub-
sidiary factual questions) was considered a jury is-
sue.13

Because patent validity questions were tried to ju-
ries in 1791 as part of infringement cases, and the Sev-
enth Amendment protects the right to a jury trial as it
existed in 1791, it violates the Seventh Amendment to
subject patentees to summary invalidation of their pa-
tents in the face of unresolved factual disputes.

12 Tn the 1785 case Rex v. Arkwright, the prosecution claimed that
the invention was of no use. I Decisions on the Law of Patents for
Inventions 29, 39 (K.B. 1785) (Buller, J.) (charging jury). The
King’s Bench instructed the jury that one of the questions to be
addressed was whether the invention was in fact useful. Id.
(Buller, J.); see also Hill v. Thompson, I Decisions on the Law of
Patents for Inventions 299, 301 (Ct. Chancery 1817) (charging
jury).

13Tn 1817, Justice Story instructed a patent jury that the plaintiff
must show that his invention is “a useful invention.” Lowell v.
Lewis, 15 F. Cas. 1018 (C.C. Mass. 1817) (Story, J., Circuit Jus-
tice) (charging jury); see also Earle v. Sawyer, 8 F. Cas. 254, 256
(C.C.D. Mass. 1825) (Story, J., Circuit Justice) (charging jury that
an invention “must also be useful, that is, it must not be noxious
or mischievous, but capable of being applied to good purposes”).
Three years later, Justice Washington gave similar jury instruc-
tions on usefulness. Kneass v. Schuylkill Bank, 14 F. Cas. 746,
748 (C.C.D. Pa. 1820). (Washington, J., Circuit Justice) (charging

jury).
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Yet, as explained above, both the Federal Circuit
and district courts regularly under-enforce patentees’
rights to jury trials by making factual findings rele-
vant to “abstractness” without juries. In patent cases,
lower courts thus seem to have forgotten that the Sev-
enth Amendment prohibits them from resolving dis-
puted factual issues in those cases just as in any other
circumstance. The technical complexity of patent cases
is no excuse for resolving them in a way that violates
the Constitution.

This issue whether disputed factual issues rele-
vant to patent validity may be adjudicated without a
jury 1is squarely presented in the pending Oil States
case, and may well be resolved there. See, e.g., Brief of
Petitioner in No. 16-712, at 50 58; Brief of Amicus Cu-
riae Evolutionary Intelligence at 14 17. If the Court
holds in Oil States that the resolution of factual issues
bearing on validity violates the Seventh Amendment,
that ruling may effectively resolve the first question
presented in this petition.

2. In any event, judicial resolution of such disputed
factual questions also violates the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. On Rule 56 summary judgment mo-
tions or even on Rule 12(c) motions to dismiss, all evi-
dence or even allegations on a factual question must
be viewed in the “light most favorable” to the nonmov-
ing party. United States v. Diebold, Inc., 369 U.S. 654,
655 (1962); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).
Equally important, any material factual dispute must
be resolved by a jury, not a judge whether or not the
presence of a factual dispute i1s deemed to convert a
motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judg-
ment. E.g., Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans & Tr.
Funds, 568 U.S. 455, 480 (2013); Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 247 48 (1986).
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Here, the district court improperly resolved factual
disputes against Evolutionary by comparing the
claimed invention to “age-old forms of information pro-
cessing.” Pet. App. 3a. And the district court granted
the motion to dismiss by determining necessarily as
a factual matter that the patent’s methodology was
similar to other previous methods and thus not “use-
ful” under the Alice framework. Pet. App. 30a, 33a
35a. The court thus relied on factual conclusions that
resolved disputed issues that should have been re-
solved by a jury or, at a minimum, by summary judg-
ment after discovery. The Federal Circuit then
accepted the district court’s factual assertions and
based its affirmance on them. App. 3a.

3. Finally, resolving material factual disputes at
the pleading stage also violates the presumption of va-
lidity. The Patent Act clearly states that “[a] patent
shall be presumed valid.” 35 U.S.C. 282(a). It also ex-
plains that, for a patent to be held invalid, “[t]he bur-
den of establishing invalidity of a patent or any claim
thereof shall rest on the party asserting such invalid-
ity.” Ibid.

The implications for claims of abstractness like the
one in this case are clear. Here the defendants had the
burden of demonstrating invalidity. At the motion to
dismiss stage, then, they had the burden of demon-
strating that the patent was invalid even when resolv-
ing all disputed factual issues in favor of Evolutionary.
But they did not make such a demonstration. As the
plain text of the district court opinion shows, the court
violated this presumption by resolving factual dis-
putes in favor of respondents, rather than waiting for
respondents to carry their burden. See supra 8 9.
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The Federal Circuit appears to be split on whether
to apply the presumption of validity to issues of ab-
stractness. Some panels appear to have applied the
presumption in abstractness cases at least before Al-
ice. See, e.g., MySpace v. Graphon Corp., 672 F.3d
1250, 1258 1259 (Fed. Cir. 2012); Research Corp.
Techs. v. Microsoft Corp., 627 F.3d 859, 870 (Fed. Cir.
2010). But in 2014 after Alice a concurrence by for-
mer Chief Judge Mayer opined that there is no pre-
sumption of validity in this context. Ultramercial, Inc.
v. Hulu, LLC, 772 F.3d 709, 720 721 (Fed. Cir. 2014)
(Mayer, J., concurring).

Judge Mayer reached that conclusion based, not on
an analysis of the text of the Patent Act, but on his own
policy views. He opined that, because the Patent Office
applies an “insufficiently rigorous subject matter eligi-
bility standard, no presumption of eligibility should at-
tach when assessing whether claims meet the
demands of section 101.” Id. at 720 721 (emphasis
added). And perhaps for that reason, many decisions
under Section 101 including the one below appear
to simply ignore the presumption of validity. This split
among Federal Circuit judges is another reason to
grant review.

For at least two reasons, moreover, the position ar-
ticulated by Judge Mayer and apparently followed
here is wrong and must be corrected. First, as Justice
Kagan recently explained for the Court, “Congress gets
to make policy, not the courts.” Omnicare, Inc. v. La-
borers Dist. Council Constr. Indus. Pension Fund, 135
S. Ct. 1318, 1331 (2015). The Federal Circuit’s routine
disregard of the statute’s text in favor of an unsup-
ported stereotype about the Patent Office is therefore
plainly incorrect.
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Second, in any event, this Court has already held
that the same policy considerations compel adherence
to the presumption of validity. In Microsoft Corp. v. i4i
Ltd. P'ship, this Court held that the presumption of
validity must be respected despite any failings of the
PTO. 564 U.S. 91,109 110 (2011). Thus, Judge Mayer
in Ultramercial and apparently many other judges
and panels of the Federal Circuit have been ignoring
this Court’s reasoning when they assume that the or-
dinary presumption of validity does not apply to Sec-
tion 101 “abstractness” determinations.

In summary on this point: in invalidating the pa-
tent on the pleadings based on their own views of the
pertinent facts, the courts below failed to properly ap-
ply the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the stat-
utory presumption of validity, and in so doing violated
the Seventh Amendment. All three violations are pre-
sent both here and in many other cases, making the
need for review both substantial and urgent.
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II. The Court should also grant review to de-
cide whether a district court may invalidate
a patent on the pleadings based on one view
of a disputed question of claim construction
or scope including what the claims are “di-
rected to.”

Just as they have done as to factual issues, many
district courts including the one here have declared
patents invalid at the pleading stage through ill-con-
sidered, one-sided rulings about the proper scope of the
patent’s claims. This practice violates recent decisions
of this Court. It also violates not only the presumption
of validity, but also the otherwise-standard rule that,
at the pleading stage, disputes about the meaning of a
legal document must be construed in the light most fa-
vorable to the non-moving party.

A. In the wake of Alice, many district
courts with the Federal Circuit’s bless-
ing invalidate patents on the pleadings
based on their own view of disputed is-
sues of claim construction and/or scope.

As mentioned above, both Alice and Mayo were de-
cided on summary judgment motions, and thus do not
suggest that disputes regarding a claim’s scope or con-
struction should be resolved at the pleading stage. But
this is precisely what lower courts are now doing. And
the Federal Circuit has “repeatedly affirmed § 101 re-
jections at the motion to dismiss stage, before claim
construction or significant discovery has commenced.”
Cleveland Clinic Found. v. True Health Diagnostics
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LLC, 859 F.3d 1352, 1360 (Fed. Cir. 2017); OIP Tech-
nologies, Inc. v. Amazon.com, Inc., 788 F.3d 1359, 1362
(Fed. Cir. 2015) (similar). 4

In this case, for example, the district court rejected
at the pleading stage petitioner’s (and the PTAB’s)
narrow framing of what the patent claims are “di-
rected to” for purposes of Alice’s step one. As noted,
the PTAB correctly characterized those claims as “di-
rected to developing intelligence in a computer or dig-
ital network by creating and manipulating
information containers with dynamic interactive reg-
isters in a computer network.” App. 46a. In contrast,
without even acknowledging the PTAB’s narrower
framing and rejecting expert testimony on the
point the district court simply asserted that the
claims were “directed to” something broader, that is,
“searching and processing containerized data.” App.
39a, 26a 27a n.5. But this verbal gymnastic simply
made the claimed invention seem abstract ensuring
that it would fail Alice step one automatically.

Not content with the district court’s arbitrary con-
struction of the claims’ scope, the Federal Circuit
adopted an even broader view of what the patent’s

14 Having the luck to be before the Federal Circuit more than once
on the same issue, the Ultramercial “pleadings dismissal” was de-
cided by the Federal Circuit both before and after Alice. Ultra-
mercial, 722 F.3d at 1339. Prior to Alice, the Federal Circuit
reversed the district court’s “pleading dismissal,” but after a GVR
in view of Alice, the Federal Circuit affirmed that same dismissal.
Ultramercial, 772 F.3d at 709 (Fed. Cir. 2014). Although not jus-
tified by Alice, Ultramercial appears to have signaled to the dis-
trict courts that pleading dismissals are now the preferred way to
handle abstractness issues. And the Federal Circuit has done
nothing since Ultramercial to allay that impression.
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claims are “directed to” specifically, “selecting and
sorting information by user interest or subject matter.”
App. 4a (emphasis added). This ipse dixit broadened
the scope of the claims even beyond the computer con-
text, to include the manipulation of “information” in
any form. Not surprisingly, the result of this second
verbal gymnastic was, once again, to make the claims
seem hopelessly abstract and, hence, to be found ab-
stract under Alice step one. App. 4a b5a.l®

Petitioner’s experience having its claims con-
strued to be overly broad and then invalidated as ab-
stract on the pleadings 1is far from unique. Rather, in
the wake of Alice, the majority of district courts appear
willing to decide claim such issues on the pleadings
even when the parties dispute the characterization of
the claims in a way that is pivotal to whether the
claimed invention is found abstract.16

For its part, the Federal Circuit has routinely af-
firmed invalidations under Section 101 based solely on
the pleadings, thereby conveying the clear impression

15 The lower courts’ progressively broadening view of what the
claims here are “directed to” is also obviously contrary to the
PTAB’s view of what constituted the broadest reasonable con-
struction of the pertinent claims. As this Court has noted, “[c]on-
struing a patent claim [in the PTO] according to its broadest
reasonable construction helps to protect the public.” Cuozzo
Speed Techs., LLC v. Lee, 136 S. Ct. 2131, 2144 (2016). However,
the decision below has now effectively held that for purposes of
the Alice inquiry a district court may determine that the claims
are “directed to” something even broader than the PTAB’s broad-
est reasonable construction.

16 Kevin J. McNamee, A View from the Trenches: Section 101 Pa-
tent Eligibility Challenges in the Post-Bilski Trial Courts,
NYIPLA Bull.,, Dec. 2013/Jan. 2014, at 13-14,
http://perma.cc/FARX-U4HQ.
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that no more formal claim construction or analysis is
necessary in this context. And when as here that
court has provided its own analysis of the issues, it has
routinely found invalidity on the pleadings based on
broad, unsupported characterizations of claim scope,
which in turn form the basis for the desired findings of
abstractness. See App. 77a 90a (Summary).

Surely this Court’s choice of the phrase “what the
claims are directed to” in Alice wasn’t intended to give
the lower courts an all-purpose weapon for simply in-
validating any patent they choose. Yet in the Federal
Circuit’s hands, that is what that phrase has become.

B. Such actions improperly short-circuit the
deliberative claim-construction process
established in Markman and violate both
the “light most favorable” dismissal
standard and the presumption of validity.

At least three lines of authority demonstrate that
the district court and the Federal Circuit were wrong
to decide disputed issues of claim scope in a way that
invalidated petitioner’s patents as well as the host of
other patents that have been or are now being invali-
dated on similar reasoning. First, two recent decisions
by this Court 7Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. v.
Sandoz, Inc. 135 S. Ct. 831 (2015), and Markman v.
Westview Instruments, Inc. 517 U.S. 370 (1996) sug-
gest that the wording and context of a patent’s claims
must be taken seriously. Second, like other legal docu-
ments, at the dismissal stage patents must be read in
the light most favorable to the non-moving party.
Third, the statutory presumption of validity requires
the same approach.

1. Teva and Markman both treated the construc-
tion of patent claims as a highly deliberative process.
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Indeed, Teva corrected a Federal Circuit decision that
disregarded a district court’s efforts at sound delibera-
tion. The district court there had taken expert testi-
mony and made a specific determination concerning
the breadth of a claim term, holding it was sufficiently
narrow for the overall patent to be valid. Teva, 135 S.
Ct. at 836. On appeal, the Federal Circuit disregarded
that testimony, suggesting instead that the term was
broader and that the patent was therefore invalid. Id.
This Court reversed, explaining that the conclusions
drawn by the district court based upon its greater fa-
miliarity with the facts and access to extrinsic evi-
dence must be given deference.

Markman likewise illustrates the importance of
careful deliberation in determining the meaning of pa-
tent claims. While concluding that judges must decide
1issues of claim construction, 517 U.S. at 390 391,
Markman also anticipated that the construction pro-
cess would be complicated, with the necessity of weigh-
ing dueling expert testimony and carefully construing
complex terms. Id. at 389 390. Indeed, the term
“Markman hearing” has come to mean a hearing that
is sometimes as long as a jury trial, in which the court
hears conflicting expert testimony over a host of differ-
ent topics. See Phillips v. AWH Corp., 415 F.3d 1303,
1332 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (en banc) (Mayer, J., dissenting).

Unlike in Teva and Markman, in conducting the
analysis of claim scope required by Alice, district
courts are now doing exactly what was condemned in
those cases: ignoring deliberative processes such as ex-
pert testimony and careful, fair analysis of exactly
what the claims are “directed to.” Instead, district
courts are now deciding that question based solely on
the pleadings, without any opportunity for meaningful
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analysis, including the presentation of expert testi-
mony or other detailed analysis of claim terms.!7

2. Pleading invalidations based on disputed issues
of claim scope also violate the settled rule that, on a
motion to dismiss, legal documents of all kinds must
be construed in the light most favorable to the party
opposing dismissal. Indeed, the circuit courts that
have addressed this issue the First, Second, Fourth
and Seventh Circuits unanimously hold that ambi-
guities in a written document must be construed in the
light most favorable to the plaintiff at the motion to
dismiss stage.!® And state courts of last resort in-
cluding the business-heavy Delaware Supreme
Court apply the same standard under state law.19

Ironically, the Federal Circuit also applies that rule
in patent cases, but only when construing affidavits

17 Indeed, the PTAB decision below exemplifies the value in such
a deliberative process. That decision examined carefully how var-
ious key parts of the patent operated, Pet. App. 46a—51a, re-
viewed expert declarations, Pet. App. 56a, and construed the
claims, Pet. App. 56a—60a.

18 See, e.g., Young v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 717 F.3d 224, 235-
36 (1st Cir. 2013); Luitpold Pharm., Inc. v. Ed. Geistlich Séhne
A.G. Fiir Chemische Industrie, 784 F.3d 78, 86 (2d Cir. 2015);
Martin Marietta Corp. v. Int'l Telecomms. Satelite Org., 991 F.2d
94, 97 (4th Cir. 1992); 188 LLC v. Trinity Indus., 300 F.3d 730,
737 (7th Cir. 2002).

19 See, e.g., VLIW Tech., L.L.C. v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 840 A.2d
606, 615 (Del. 2003) (“In deciding a motion to dismiss, the trial
court cannot choose between two differing reasonable interpreta-
tions of ambiguous provisions.”); Dorman v. Petrol Aspen, Inc.,
914 P.2d 909, 912 (Colo. 1996); but see Datel Holdings Ltd. v. Mi-
crosoft Corp., 712 F. Supp. 2d 974, 990 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (relying
on state law to read contract in light most favorable to the
drafter).
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and materials other than patents. E.g., Avocent Hunts-
ville Corp. v. Aten Int'l Co., 552 F.3d 1324, 1329 (Fed.
Cir. 2008). But, as this case and many others illus-
trate, district courts and the Federal Circuit fre-
quently defy that rule when construing patent claims,
construing them against the patentee in Section 101
cases.?0 Given that the patent is usually the most im-
portant legal document in a patent case, this disparity
makes no sense.

In this case, in addressing Alice step one, the dis-
trict court and Federal Circuit both went out of their
way to construe the patent claims, not in the light most
favorable to validity, but in the light most unfavorable
to validity. See Pet. App. 30a (district court); 4a (Fed-
eral Circuit). Indeed, the district court and the Federal
Circuit opinions do not even mention whether they
evaluated the claims in the light most favorable to va-
lidity. See generally Pet. App. 10a 42a (district court);
la 5a (Federal Circuit). But they obviously had avail-
able a construction of claim scope more favorable to the
patentee the one adopted by the PTAB.

The Federal Circuit’s refusal to follow the “light
most favorable” rule in this important context further
illustrates the urgent need for this Court’s review.

3. If this were not enough, in addressing what pa-
tent claims are “directed to” for purposes of Alice, dis-
trict courts and the Federal Circuit also routinely defy
the statutory presumption of validity.

20 As one example, the district court refused to consider the dec-
laration of Evolutionary’s expert on what the claims “are directed
to,” holding instead that: “such a declaration is not appropriate
for the court to consider on a motion to dismiss or motion for judg-
ment on the pleadings.” Pet. App. 26a—27a n.5.
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As noted above, Section 282(a) requires courts to
presume a patent valid. Logically and as a matter of
common sense, this statutory requirement must apply
to issues of claim interpretation as much as other va-
lidity-related issues: If there are two plausible ways to
interpret a claim, or a set of claims, the burden rests
on the party challenging the patent. See id.

Once again, however, in addressing Alice step one,
the district court and Federal Circuit in this case con-
travened the presumption of validity. If they had been
complying with that presumption, they would have
adopted the PTAB’s view of what the claims as a whole
are “directed to.” But instead, both courts addressed
that question in a way that seemed to presume inva-
lidity by adopting a broad and inherently abstract
characterization of the claims’ purpose and operation.
See Pet. App. 39a (district court); 4a 5a. (Federal Cir-
cuit). And neither court even acknowledged the pre-
sumption of validity thus appearing to agree with
Judge Mayer and, apparently, many of his colleagues
that the presumption does not apply to Section 101 el-
igibility. See supra Section 1.B.

Because so many judges and panels of the Federal
Circuit appear to be flouting the presumption of valid-
ity in addressing eligibility under Alice, this Court
should grant review and hold that the presumption
does apply in this context, just as it applies to other
validity-related inquiries.
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II1. Resolution of these issues is urgently
needed to rescue the American economy
from the current patent-eligibility “chaos,”
and the resulting reduction in returns to in-
novation, that have resulted from misunder-
standings of Alice.

The questions presented in this case are crucial not
only to Evolutionary, but to all patent holders and the
economy at large. Indeed, the Federal Circuit’s former
chief judge, Paul R. Michel, recently highlighted how
these erroneous applications of Section 101 harm the
economy. Paul R. Michel, The Impact of Bad Patents
on American Businesses, Supplemental Testimony,
House Judiciary Committee, Subcommittee on Courts,
Intellectual Property and the Internet at 18 (Sep. 12,
2017) (“Michel Supplemental Testimony”),
http://bit.ly/PMichelTest. Judge Michel explained that
courts have yet to precisely define what is an “abstract
idea,” which leads, of course, to inconsistency. Id.2!
And the Federal Circuit has recently issued several de-
cisions on the abstractness question including the
decision in this case that Judge Michel has called
“difficult, if not impossible” to reconcile. Id.

This uncertainty harms our economy. When it is
the luck of the draw whether a patent is upheld at the
Federal Circuit, that uncertainty stifles innovation. As
Judge Michel put it, “the law has created unacceptable
chaos for inventors, innovators, business, and inves-
tors. Legal chaos is the exact opposite of what the U.S.

21 See also Paul R. Michel, The Impact of Bad Patents on Ameri-
can Businesses, Statement, House Judiciary Committee, Subcom-
mittee on Courts, Intellectual Property and the Internet at 5 (Jul.
13, 2017) (expressing skepticism that the term “abstract idea” has
a clear meaning), http://bit.ly/MichelStatement.
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economy needs.” Id. at 18. Such uncertainty means
that attorneys can no longer predict whether an inven-
tor’s patent will be held valid, thereby severely curtail-
ing the incentives to innovate and to invest in new
companies and technologies.

As explained above, the source of this confusion is
a misreading of Alice and Mayo. True, nowhere do
those decisions authorize courts to dismiss complaints
on the pleadings based on factual determinations re-
lated to abstractness, or on one-sided determinations
about claim scope or what the claims are “directed to.”
As shown above, however, Alice and Mayo have pro-
vided the excuse for disregarding these basic rules of
fair process. And this Court is in a far better position
than Congress to resolve what Judge Michel has aptly
called the “chaos” caused by these misinterpretations
of the Court’s precedents.
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IV. This case is an excellent vehicle for resolv-
ing the questions presented.

This case is also an excellent vehicle for resolving
the questions presented, especially given (a) the
straightforward and obviously “useful” nature of the
invention at issue, (b) the presence of a thorough
PTAB decision explaining the invention and properly
1dentifying what it is “directed to,” and (c) the presence
of a Federal Circuit opinion that clearly commits the
errors highlighted in this petition despite that
court’s manifest reluctance to squarely address or re-
solve the questions presented.

A. This case presents the questions cleanly,
in the context of a straightforward but
highly “useful” innovation.

Evolutionary’s patent and its importance are easy
to comprehend: The patent describes a process for us-
ing computerized modules containers, registers,
etc. to get useful, timely, and location-based search
and notification results based on information retrieved
from the user as well as external, dynamic data
sources. As explained above (at 5 6), this allows the
end user to request or obtain more current useful in-
formation pertinent to the user's present activity and
objectives than was before possible.

The use of the patented technology by respondents
Apple and Facebook also illustrates its utility both to
the end user and the respondents. For example, a vis-
itor to Facebook’s website, scrolling through the user’s
news feed on the user’s iPhone, may see an ad that is
targeted based on the user’s location. Indeed, Face-
book’s default setting when it sells advertisements is
to have location-based advertisements target “anyone
determined to be in that location based on device and
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connection information.”22 But this is exactly what pe-
titioner’s patent explains how to do, using digital con-
tainers and registers: combining already-existing
larger lists of advertisements with real-time location
data from the user to create a list (that is, “search re-
sults”) of advertisements most tailored to the user.

To be sure, the district court (at App. 35a) com-
pared the claimed invention to a barista memorizing
favorite drinks. But that is neither accurate nor fair.
Nothing in the pleadings discusses how a barista’s ac-
tivity might related to the patented computer technol-
ogy. And no barista could have a working knowledge
of all the restaurants in the state, all businesses near
a user, or much less, which ones were offering specials
at particular times. No barista could subsequently
cross-check these lists to create a new list of restau-
rants close to a user’s immediate location. Yet this is
what petitioner’s invention allows users to do in frac-
tions of a second. At a minimum, this is an issue of fact
subject to the usual constraints on judicial fact-find-
ing.

In short, the obvious utility and comprehensibility
of Evolutionary’s invention make this an excellent ve-
hicle for resolving both questions presented.

B. The PTAB’s analyses of the same patents
will facilitate this Court’s analysis.

The PTAB’s prior analysis of the patents also
makes this case an ideal vehicle for resolving those
questions. First, the PTAB’s lucid analysis will assist
the Court in understanding both the relevant field of

22 Facebook Business, About Location Targeting, https://www.fa-
cebook.com/business/help/202297959811696..
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invention and the specific invention claimed in the pa-
tents.

Second, the PTAB’s careful fact-finding with re-
spect to the (different) validity issues presented there
contrasts markedly with the lower courts’ armchair
approach. See, e.g., App. 45a 60a. The PTAB’s careful
fact-finding also contrasts markedly with the casual
approach employed by district courts and affirmed by
the Federal Circuit in many other decisions invalidat-
ing other patents on the pleadings. See App. 77a 90a.

Third, the PTAB’s careful analysis of the patent
claims here also contrasts with and highlights the
absurdity of the lower courts’ refusal to engage in
such an analysis, especially in their varying conclu-
sions about what the claims are “directed to” for pur-
poses of Alice step one. As noted earlier, after careful
analysis, the PTAB concluded that the claims are “di-
rected to” something concrete and specific that 1is,
“developing intelligence in a computer or digital net-
work by creating and manipulating information con-
tainers with dynamic interactive registers in a
computer network.” App. 46a (emphasis added). That
is a fair and precise summary of the invention’s pur-
pose and how it achieves its purpose. By contrast, both
of the (differing) statements of what the claims are “di-
rected to” by the district court and the Federal Circuit
appear to have been concocted to make the claims’ pur-
poses and operation appear as broad as possible and,
hence, subject to characterization as “abstract.”

The contrast between these approaches illustrates
the need for this Court to clarify exactly how lower
courts are supposed to determine what a patent’s
claims are “directed to” for purposes of Alice’s critical
first step. And the presence of the PTAB’s careful
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analysis of that very issue will assist the Court in re-
solving that fundamental question.

C. Petitioner raised the issues presented
with the Federal Circuit which, although
unwilling to address them head-on, at
least issued a written opinion making its
errors clear.

Despite the importance of the legal issues pre-
sented here, the Federal Circuit has declined to ad-
dress them in any meaningful way, and despite many
opportunities to do so. See App. 77a 90a (Summary).

To the contrary, some judges on that court appear
to be signaling to district judges that they should con-
tinue on their current pleading-invalidation path. For
example, another former chief judge, Judge Mayer,
has acknowledged even trumpeted that disputed
issues of fact are being resolved at the pleadings stage
in cases alleging unpatentability under Section 101.
See, e.g., OIP Technologies v. Amazon.com, Inc., 788
F.3d 1359, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2015) (Mayer, dJ., concur-
ring). And Judge Mayer has sought to justify that
trend by claiming that the practice of dismissal on the
pleadings is compelled by this Court’s statement that
“[t]he § 101 patent-eligibility inquiry is ... a threshold
test.” Id. (quoting Bilski v. Kappos, 561 U.S. 593
(2010)) (emphasis added). Consistent with that view,
as noted earlier, Judge Mayer has likewise claimed
that Section 282’s presumption of validity doesn’t even
apply to determinations of patent eligibility under Sec-
tion 101 because, in his view, the PTO isn’t rejecting
enough patents on that ground. See supra 18 19.

No panel of the Federal Circuit has squarely disa-
greed with Judge Mayer on either of these points. The
closest is a panel opinion that merely “questioned”
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whether Judge Mayer was correct about the Section
282 presumption. See Tranxition, Inc. v. Lenovo
(United States) Inc., 664 Fed. Appx. 968, 972 n.1 (Fed.
Cir. 2016).

Moreover, as noted, since 2014 the Federal Circuit
has affirmed pleading dismissals in over ninety per-
cent of the cases in which such dismissals have been
challenged. See App. 77a 90a. Indeed, unlike this case
(which at least generated an opinion), over half of such
affirmances have been without any opinion at all. See
App. 90a. This practice means that district courts are
receiving little guidance on how to apply this Court’s
decisions in Alice and Mayo a void only this Court
can now fill.

As Judge Michel recently noted, moreover, this
very case exemplifies the problems inherent in decid-
ing abstractness issues on the pleadings. In citing the
decision below, Judge Michel even noted that the Fed-
eral Circuit’s holding here is “difficult, if not impossi-
ble” to reconcile with other Federal Circuit decisions
by other panels that have upheld similar patents.
Supplemental Testimony, supra page 28 at 18.

Evolutionary also raised both of the specific issues
presented here as well as the need to follow Section
282’s presumption of validity in addressing Section
101 eligibility with the Federal Circuit.2? However,
the Federal Circuit including the en banc court was
simply unwilling to address those issues head-on, as it

> See, e.g., Brief of Evolutionary Intelligence in Support of Re-
hearing en banc, dkt no. 164, at 8-14, No. 16-1188 (Fed. Cir. Apr.
19, 2017); Corrected Opening Brief of Evolutionary Intelligence,
dkt no. 94, at 22-31, No. 16-1188 (Fed. Cir. Apr. 19, 2017).
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has been unwilling to do in many other cases. See App.
77a 90a.

Still, unlike many cases in which the Federal Cir-
cuit has summarily affirmed pleading invalidations
under Section 101, the Federal Circuit in this case at
least provided an opinion that, as explained above (at
10-23), clearly committed both of the widespread er-
rors described in this petition. That opinion, combined
with Evolutionary’s diligent efforts to preserve the is-
sues presented here, likewise makes this case a good
vehicle for this Court to use in resolving those critical
issues.

CONCLUSION

The Court should hold this petition pending its de-
cision in Oil States and then, depending on how the
issues presented there are resolved, grant a writ of cer-
tiorari on Question 2 and, if Question 1 is not effec-
tively resolved in Oil States, on that question as well.
Such review is essential to ensure that this Court’s ab-
stractness analysis in Mayo and Alice does not, as the
Court feared, “swallow all of patent law.”

Respectfully Submitted,

MEREDITH M. ADDY GENE C. SCHAERR

TABET DIVITO & Counsel of Record
ROTHSTEIN LL.C S. KYLE DUNCAN

209 S. LASALLE STREET MICHAEL T. WORLEY

SUITE 700 SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

CHICAGO, IL 60604 1717 K Street NW, Suite 900

Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060
gschaerr@schaerr-duncan.com

October 23, 2017
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Note: This disposition is nonprecedential.
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Before LOURIE, MOORE, and TARANTO, Circuit
Judges.

LOURIE, Circuit Judge.

Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC (“EI”) appeals
from the decision of the United States District Court
for the Northern District of California, concluding
that all claims of U.S. Patents 7,010,536 (“the 536
patent”) and 7,702,682 (“the 682 patent”) (collec-
tively, “the asserted patents”) are invalid under 35
U.S.C. § 101. See Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC v.
Sprint Nextel Corp., 137 F. Supp. 3d 1157 (N.D. Cal.
2015) (“Decision”).

EI owns the asserted patents, which have the
same written description and are directed to systems
and methods for allowing computers to process data
that are dynamically modified based upon external-
to-the-device information, such as location and time.
See, e.g., ’536 patent Abstract.

EI sued Sprint Nextel Corporation and the other
Appellees (collectively, “Sprint”) for infringement of
the asserted patents. The district court granted
Sprint’s motion to dismiss EI's complaint and for
judgment on the pleadings, concluding that all claims
of the asserted patents are invalid under § 101 as be-
ing directed to the abstract idea of “searching and
processing containerized data.” The court held that
the invention merely computerizes “age-old forms of
information processing,” such as those used in “li-
braries, businesses, and other human enterprises
with folders, books, time-cards, ledgers, and so on.”
Decision, 137 F. Supp. 3d at 1165.
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EI timely appealed to this court. We have juris-
diction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1295(a)(1). On ap-
peal, EI argues that the claims are patent eligible be-
cause: (1) they are not directed to an abstract idea,
but rather to an improvement in the functioning of
the computer itself; and (2) even if they were directed
to an abstract 1idea, they are patent eligible as con-
taining an inventive concept because they recite a
specific arrangement of particular structures, operat-
ing in a specific way.

We disagree on both accounts. First, the claims at
issue here are directed to an abstract idea. We have
held that “tailoring of content based on information
about the user such as where the user lives or what
time of day the user views the content is an abstract
idea.” Affinity Labs of Texas, LLC v. Amazon.com
Inc., 838 F.3d 1266, 1271 (Fed. Cir. 2016) (describing
Intellectual Ventures I LLC v. Capital One Bank
(USA), 792 F.3d 1363, 1369 (Fed. Cir. 2015)); see Elec.
Power Group, LLC v. Alstom S.A., 830 F.3d 1350,
1353 (Fed. Cir. 2016) (“collecting information, includ-
ing when limited to particular content,” is “within the
realm of abstract ideas”). The claims are unlike those
in Enfish, LLC v. Microsoft Corp., where “the plain
focus of the claims” was on “an improvement to the
computer functionality itself,” 822 F.3d 1327, 1336
(Fed. Cir. 2016), i.e., “a specific improvement a par-
ticular database technique 1in how computers could
carry out one of their basic functions of storage and
retrieval of data,” regardless of subject matter or the
use to which that functionality might be put, Elec.
Power, 830 F.3d at 1354 (describing Enfish). Here,
the claims are directed to selecting and sorting infor-
mation by user interest or subject matter, a
longstanding activity of libraries and other human
enterprises.
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Second, the claims lack an inventive concept to
transform the abstract idea into a patent-eligible in-
vention. EI does not dispute that merely using a com-
puter is not enough. Moreover, EI conceded that
“containers,” “registers,” and “gateways” are “conven-
tional and routine” structures. See Decision, 137 F.
Supp. 3d at 1167. Whether analyzed individually or
as an ordered combination, the claims recite those
conventional elements at too high a level of generality
to constitute an inventive concept. See, e.g.,
BASCOM Glob. Internet Servs., Inc. v. AT&T Mobil-
ity LLC, 827 F.3d 1341, 1350, 1352 (Fed. Cir. 2016)
(finding claims patent eligible where they “recite a
specific, discrete implementation of the abstract
idea,” in contrast to implementing the abstract idea
“on generic computer components, without providing
a specific technical solution beyond simply using ge-
neric computer concepts in a conventional way”).

We have considered EI's remaining arguments,
but find them to be unpersuasive. For the foregoing
reasons, we affirm the judgment of the district court.

AFFIRMED

Note: This order is nonprecedential.
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United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE LLC,
Plaintiff-Appellant

V.

SPRINT NEXTEL CORPORATION, SPRINT
COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY, L.P., SPRINT
SPECTRUM L.P., SPRINT SOLUTIONS, INC.,
APPLE INC., FACEBOOK INC., FOURSQUARE
LABS, INC., GROUPON, INC., LIVINGSOCIAL,
INC., MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC., TWITTER,
INC., YELP, INC.,
Defendants-Appellees

2016-1188, -1190, -1191, -1192, -1194, -1195, -1197, -
1198, -1199

Appeals from the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California in Nos. 5:13-cv-
03587-RMW, 5:13-cv-04201-RMW, 5:13-cv-04202-
RMW, 5:13-cv-04203-RMW, 5:13-cv-04204-RMW,
5:13-cv-04205-RMW, 5:13-cv-04206-RMW, 5:13-cv-
04207-RMW, 5:13-cv-04513-RMW, Senior dJudge
Ronald M. Whyte.

ON PETITION FOR PANEL REHEARING AND
REHEARING EN BANC
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Before PROST, Chief Judge, NEWMAN, LOURIE, DYK,
MOORE, O'MALLEY, REYNA, WALLACH, TARANTO,
CHEN, HUGHES, AND STOLL, Circuit Judges.

PER CURIAM.

ORDER

Appellant Evolutionary Intelligence LLC filed a
combined petition for panel rehearing and rehearing
en banc. The petition was referred to the panel that
heard the appeal, and thereafter the petition for re-
hearing en banc was referred to the circuit judges
who are in regular active service.

Upon consideration thereof,

IT IS ORDERED THAT:

The petition for panel rehearing is denied.
The petition for rehearing en banc is denied.

The mandate of the court will issue on May 31,

2017.
FOR THE COURT
May 24, 2017 /s/ Peter R. Marksteiner
Date Peter R. Marksteiner

Clerk of Court
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

2016-1188, 2016-1190, 2016-1191, 2016-1192, 2016-
1194, 2016-1195, 2016-1197, 2016-1198, 2016-1199

Appeals from the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California in Nos. 5:13-cv-
03587RMW, 5:13-cv-04201-RMW, 5:13-cv-04202-
RMW, 5:13-cv04203-RMW,  5:13-cv-04204-RMW,
5:13-cv-04205-RMW, 5:13-cv-04206-RMW, 5:13-cv-
04207-RMW, 5:13-¢cv-04513-RMW, Senior dJudge
Ronald M. Whyte.

MANDATE

In accordance with the judgment of this Court, en-
tered February 17, 2017, and pursuant to Rule 41(a)
of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, the for-
mal mandate i1s hereby i1ssued.
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FOR THE COURT

/s/ Peter R. Marksteiner
Peter R. Marksteiner
Clerk of Court

/s/ Peter R. Marksteiner
Peter R. Marksteiner
Clerk of Court
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United States District Court for the North-
ern District of California, San Jose Division

Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC v. Sprint
Nextel Corp. et al.

October 6, 2015, Filed

Case No. 13-04513; Case No. 13-04201; Case No.
13-04202; Case No. 13-04203; Case No. 13-04204;
Case No. 13-04205; Case No. 13-04206; Case No. 13-
04207; Case No. 13-03587

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. SPRINT NEXTEL CORPORATION, SPRINT
COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY L.P., SPRINT
SPECTRUM L.P., SPRINT SOLUTIONS INC., De-
fendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. APPLE, INC., Defendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. FACEBOOK, INC., Defendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. FOURSQUARE LABS, INC., Defendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. GROUPON, INC., Defendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. LIVINGSOCIAL, INC., Defendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. TWITTER, INC., Defendants.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-

tiff, v. YELP, INC., Defendants.
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EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC, Plain-
tiff, v. MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC., Defendants.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-03587): Charles Ainsworth, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Parker Bunt & Ainsworth, Tyler, TX;
Seth A. Safier, Todd Michael Kennedy, LEAD
ATTORNEYS, Todd M Kennedy, Marie Ann
McCrary, Seth Adam Safier, Gutride Safier LLP, San
Francisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, Attorney at Law,
San Francisco, CA; Robert Christopher Bunt, Parker,
Bunt & Ainsworth, P.C., Tyler, TX.

For Yelp Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-03587): Robert
John Artuz, LEAD ATTORNEY, Matthew Joseph
Meyer, Kilpatrick Townsend & Stockton LLP, Menlo
Park, CA; Jeffrey Matthew Connor, Kilpatrick Town-
send & Stockton LLP, Denver, CO.

For Apple Inc., 3rd party defendant (5:13-cv-
03587): Patrick E. King, LEAD ATTORNEY, Simp-
son Thacher & Barlett LLP, Palo Alto, CA.

For Facebook Inc., 3rd party defendant (5:13-cv-
03587): Reuben Ho-Yen Chen, Cooley LLP, Palo Alto,
CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04513): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Michael
Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Anthony J Patek,
Marie Ann McCrary, Seth A. Safier, Seth Adam
Safier, Gutride Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA.

For Sprint Nextel Corporation, Sprint Communi-
cations Company L.P., Sprint Spectrum L.P., Sprint
Solutions Inc., Defendants (5:13-cv-04513): Bart
Starr, PRO HAC VICE, Polsinelli PC, Denver, CO;
Jay Edward Heidrick, PRO HAC VICE, Polsinelli PC,
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Kansas City, MO; Karen Zelle Morris, Polsinelli PC,
St. Louis, MO; Walter Thomas Henson, Ramey &
Flock, Tyler, TX; Zuzana S. Ikels, Polsinelli PC, San
Francisco, CA.

For Foursquare Labs, Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-
04513): Craig R. Smith, LEAD ATTORNEY, Lando &
Anastasi LLP, Cambridge, MA; Beth Ann Larigan,
Shook, Hardy and Bacon, Kansas City, MO; Eric Car-
nevale, Lando and Anastasi, Cambridge, MA.

For Apple Inc., Miscellaneous (5:13-cv-04513):
Patrick E. King, LEAD ATTORNEY, Simpson
Thacher & Barlett LLP, Palo Alto, CA; Beth Ann
Larigan, Shook, Hardy and Bacon, Kansas City, MO.

For LivingSocial, Inc., Miscellaneous (5:13-cv-
04513): Jordan Adam Sigale, LEAD ATTORNEY,
Dunlap Codding PC, Chicago, IL; Beth Ann Larigan,
Shook, Hardy and Bacon, Kansas City, MO; Laura
Ann Wytsma, Loeb & Loeb LLP, Los Angeles, CA.

For Yelp Inc., Twitter, Inc., Miscellaneous (5:13-
cv-04513): Robert John Artuz, LEAD ATTORNEY,
Kilpatrick Townsend & Stockton LLP, Menlo Park,
CA; Beth Ann Larigan, Shook, Hardy and Bacon,
Kansas City, MO.

For Groupon, Incorporated, Miscellaneous (5:13-
cv-04513): Thomas L. Duston, LEAD ATTORNEY,
Marshall, Gerstein & Borun, Chicago, IL; Beth Ann
Larigan, Shook, Hardy and Bacon, Kansas City, MO;
Tron Yue Fu, Marshall Gerstein and Borun LLP, Chi-
cago, IL.

For Millennial Media, Inc., Miscellaneous (5:13-
cv-04513): Christopher Charles Campbell, LEAD
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ATTORNEY, Nathan Kay Cummings, Cooley LLP,
Restone, VA.

For Facebook Inc., Miscellaneous (5:13-cv-04513):
Christopher Edward Stretch, LEAD ATTORNEY,
Lori L. Holland, Keller Sloan Roman & Holland LLP,
San Francisco, CA; Jennifer Robin McGlone, Krieg,
Keller, Sloan, Reilley & Roman LLP, San Francisco,
CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04201): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Michael
Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Marie Ann McCrary,
Seth A. Safier, Seth Adam Safier, Gutride Safier
LLP, San Francisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, Attorney
at Law, San Francisco, CA; Robert Christopher Bunt,
Parker, Bunt & Ainsworth, P.C., Tyler, TX; Charles
Ainsworth, Parker Bunt & Ainsworth, Tyler, TX.

For Apple Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-04201): Pat-
rick E. King, LEAD ATTORNEY, Brandon Cody Mar-
tin, Jeffrey E Danley, Simpson Thacher & Barlett
LLP, Palo Alto, CA.

For Apple Inc., Counter-claimant (5:13-cv-04201):
Patrick E. King, LEAD ATTORNEY, Jeffrey E Dan-
ley, Simpson Thacher & Barlett LLP, Palo Alto, CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Counter-de-
fendant (5:13-cv-04201): Seth A. Safier, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Gutride Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA;
Anthony J Patek, Attorney at Law, San Francisco,
CA; Robert Christopher Bunt, Parker, Bunt & Ains-
worth, P.C., Tyler, TX; Charles Ainsworth, Parker
Bunt & Ainsworth, Tyler, TX.

For Apple Inc., Counter-claimant (5:13-cv-04201):
Patrick E. King, LEAD ATTORNEY, Brandon Cody
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Martin, Jeffrey E Danley, Simpson Thacher & Bar-
lett LLP, Palo Alto, CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LL.C, Counter-de-
fendant (5:13-cv-04201): Todd M Kennedy, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Seth A. Safier, Gutride Safier LLP, San
Francisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, Attorney at Law,
San Francisco, CA; Robert Christopher Bunt, Parker,
Bunt & Ainsworth, P.C., Tyler, TX; Charles Ains-
worth, Parker Bunt & Ainsworth, Tyler, TX.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04202-RMW): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Mi-
chael Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Marie Ann
McCrary, Seth A. Safier, Seth Adam Safier, Gutride
Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA; Robert Christopher
Bunt, Parker, Bunt & Ainsworth, P.C., Tyler, TX; An-
thony J Patek, Attorney at Law, San Francisco, CA;
Charles Ainsworth, Parker Bunt & Ainsworth, Tyler,
TX.

For Facebook Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-04202-
RMW): Heidi Lyn Keefe, LEAD ATTORNEY, Andrew
Carter Mace, Mark R. Weinstein, Reuben H. Chen,
Reuben Ho-Yen Chen, Cooley LLP, Palo Alto, CA; Mi-
chael Graham Rhodes, LEAD ATTORNEY, Cooley
LLP, San Francisco, CA; Christopher Edward
Stretch, Keller Sloan Roman & Holland LLP, San
Francisco, CA; Deron R Dacus, Shannon Marie
Dacus, Ramey & Flock, Tyler, TX; Jennifer Robin
McGlone, Krieg, Keller, Sloan, Reilley & Roman LLP,
San Francisco, CA; Lori L. Holland, Keller, Sloan, Ro-
man & Holland LLP, San Francisco, CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04203-RMW): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Mi-
chael Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Marie Ann
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McCrary, Seth A. Safier, Seth Adam Safier, Gutride
Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, At-
torney at Law, San Francisco, CA.

For Foursquare Labs, Inc., Defendant, Counter-
claimant (5:13-cv-04203-RMW): Alan D. Albright,
LEAD ATTORNEY, Bracewell & Giuliani, Austin,
TX; Craig R. Smith, William Joseph Seymour, PRO
HAC VICE, Lando & Anastasi LLP, Cambridge, MA;
Eric Carnevale, PRO HAC VICE, Lando and Ana-
stasi, Cambridge, MA; Karen I. Boyd, Turner Boyd
LLP, Redwood City, CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Counter-de-
fendant (5:13-cv-04203-RMW): Seth A. Safier, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Gutride Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA;
Anthony J Patek, Attorney at Law, San Francisco,
CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff,
Counter-defendant (5:13-cv-04204-RMW): Todd M
Kennedy, Todd Michael Kennedy, LEAD
ATTORNEYS, Marie Ann McCrary, Seth A. Safier,
Seth Adam Safier, Gutride Safier LLP, San Fran-
cisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, Attorney at Law, San
Francisco, CA; Robert Christopher Bunt, Parker,
Bunt & Ainsworth, P.C., Tyler, TX; Charles Ains-
worth, Parker Bunt & Ainsworth, Tyler, TX.

For Groupon Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-04204-
RMW): Jeffrey G. Knowles, LEAD ATTORNEY, Julia
D. Greer, Coblentz, Patch, Duffy & Bass, San Fran-
cisco, CA; Thomas L. Duston, LEAD ATTORNEY,
PRO HAC VICE, Marshall, Gerstein & Borun, Chi-
cago, IL; Tron Yue Fu, PRO HAC VICE, Marshall
Gerstein and Borun LLP, Chicago, IL.
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For Groupon Inc., Counter-claimant (5:13-cv-
04204-RMW):  Jeffrey G. Knowles, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Julia D. Greer, Coblentz, Patch, Duffy
& Bass, San Francisco, CA; Thomas L. Duston, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Marshall, Gerstein & Borun, Chicago,
IL; Tron Yue Fu, Marshall Gerstein and Borun LLP,
Chicago, IL.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04205-RMW): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Mi-
chael Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Adam Gutride,
Marie Ann McCrary, Seth A. Safier, Seth Adam
Safier, Gutride Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA;

For LivingSocial, Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-04205-
RMW): Jordan A Sigale, LEAD ATTORNEY, PRO
HAC VICE, Loeb & Loeb, LLP - Chicago, Chicago, IL;
Jordan Adam Sigale, Dunlap Codding PC, Chicago,
IL; Allen Franklin Gardner, Potter Minton PC, Tyler,
TX; Christopher M Swickhamer, PRO HAC VICE,
Loeb and Loeb, LLP - Chicago, Chicago, IL; John An-
thony Cotiguala, Loeb and Loeb LLP, Chicago, IL;
Laura Ann Wytsma, Loeb & Loeb LLP, Los Angeles,
CA; Michael Edwin Jones, Potter Minton PC, Tyler,
TX.

For LivingSocial, Inc., Counter-claimant (5:13-cv-
04205-RMW): Jordan A Sigale, LEAD ATTORNEY,
Loeb & Loeb, LLP - Chicago, Chicago, IL; Jordan
Adam Sigale, Dunlap Codding PC, Chicago, IL; Allen
Franklin Gardner, Potter Minton PC, Tyler, TX;
Christopher M Swickhamer, PRO HAC VICE, Loeb
and Loeb, LLLP - Chicago, Chicago, IL; John Anthony
Cotiguala, Loeb and Loeb LLP, Chicago, IL; Laura
Ann Wytsma, Loeb & Loeb LLP, Los Angeles, CA; Mi-
chael Edwin Jones, Potter Minton PC, Tyler, TX.
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For Evolutionary Intelligence, LL.C, Counter-de-
fendant (5:13-cv-04205-RMW): Seth A. Safier, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Todd M Kennedy, Seth Adam Safier,
Gutride Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA; Anthony J
Patek, Attorney at Law, San Francisco, CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04206-RMW): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Mi-
chael Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Marie Ann
McCrary, Seth A. Safier, Gutride Safier LLP, San
Francisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, Attorney at Law,
San Francisco, CA.

For Millennial Media Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-
04206-RMW): Christopher Charles Campbell, LEAD
ATTORNEY, Christopher Campbell, Nathan Kay
Cummings, Cooley LLP, Reston, VA; Matthew J.
Brigham, Cooley Godward Kronish LLP, Palo Alto,
CA; Nathan K Cummings, Cooley LLP- Reston Va,
Reston, Va.

For Millennial Media Inc., Counter-claimant
(5:13-¢v-04206-RMW): Nathan K Cummings, Cooley
LLP- Reston Va, Reston, Va.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LL.C, Counter-de-
fendant (5:13-cv-04206-RMW): Seth A. Safier,
Gutride Safier LLP, San Francisco, CA.

For Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC, Plaintiff
(5:13-cv-04207-RMW): Todd M Kennedy, Todd Mi-
chael Kennedy, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Marie Ann
McCrary, Seth A. Safier, Gutride Safier LLP,
San Francisco, CA; Anthony J Patek, Attorney at
Law, San Francisco, CA.
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For Twitter Inc., Defendant (5:13-cv-04207-
RMW): Robert John Artuz, LEAD ATTORNEY, Kil-
patrick Townsend & Stockton LLP, Menlo Park, CA;
Jeffrey Matthew Connor, Kilpatrick Townsend &
Stockton LLP, Denver, CO; Matthew Joseph Meyer,
Kilpatrick Townsend Stockton LLP, Menlo Park, CA.

ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISMISS
AND MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE
PLEADINGS

Defendants Sprint Nextel Corporation, Sprint
Communications Company L.P., Sprint Spectrum
L.P., Sprint Solutions Inc., Apple, Inc., Facebook,
Inc., Foursquare Labs, Inc., Groupon, Inc., Living-
Social, Inc., Twitter, Inc., Yelp, Inc., and Millennial
Media, Inc. (collectively, “defendants”) move to dis-
miss plaintiff Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC’s (“EI”)
complaint, and for judgment on the pleadings. Dkt.
No. 188.1 Defendants argue that all claims of the as-
serted patents, U.S. Patent Nos. 7,010,536 (“the 536
patent”) and 7,702,682 (“the 682 patent”), are invalid
for failure to claim patent-eligible subject matter. For
the reasons explained below, the court GRANTS the
motion.

I. BACKGROUND

EI asserts that defendants each infringe the 536
and ’682 patents, both of which are entitled “System

1 ECF citations are to the docket in Evolutionary Intelligence,
LLC v. Sprint Nextel Corporation et al., Case No. 13-4213, un-
less otherwise noted.
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and Method for Creating and Manipulating Infor-
mation Containers with Dynamic Registers.” The
‘682 patent issued on April 20, 2010, and is a contin-
uation of the 536 patent, which issued on March 7,
2006. 682 patent at 1; ’536 patent at 1. The two pa-
tents share the same specification, claim priority to
the same provisional application (No. 60/073,209,
filed January 30, 1998), identify the same sole inven-
tor (Michael De Angelo), and are both now owned by
EI ’682 patent at 1; ’536 patent at 1; Dkt. No. 1 9
12, 17.

The common specification describes the patents as
directed to a “means to create and manipulate infor-
mation containers.” ’682 patent, col.1 11.28.2 EI previ-
ously characterized the patents as containing three
broad categories of independent claims: (1) methods
of tracking searches; (2) time-based information con-
tainers; and (3) location-based information contain-
ers. See FKvolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Sprint
Nextel Corp., Case No. 12-0791, Dkt. No. 167, at 2
(E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012). The specification explains
that such containers store information on various
types of computer and digital networks, as well as on
physical, published, and “other” media. 682 patent,
col.3 11.13-15. The containers include various types of
“registers” which perform functions such as identify-
ing the container or contents, providing rules of inter-
action between containers, and recording the history
of the container. Id. col.13 11.4-10. The containers also

2Because the two asserted patents share the same specification,
the court adopts defendants’ convention of citing the column and
line numbers in the ’682 patent when referencing the specifica-
tion. Claim references are of course patent-specific.
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have “gateways” to “control[] the interaction of the
container with other containers, systems or pro-
cesses.” ’536 patent, claims 1, 2, 15, and 16. The pa-
tents also state that the patented invention “includes
a search interface or browser” which allows a “user to
submit, record and access search streams or phrases
generated historically by himself, other users, or the
system.” ’682 patent, col.6 11.10-14.

The specification summarizes the invention in
very broad terms as:

[A] system and methods for manufacturing infor-
mation on, upgrading the utility of, and developing
intelligence in, a computer or digital network, local,
wide area, public, corporate, or digital-based, sup-
ported, or enhanced physical media form or public or
published media, or other by offering the means to
create and manipulate information containers with
dynamic registers.

Id. col.311.10-16.

The specification describes a preferred embodi-
ment configured with “an input device 24, an output
device 16, a processor 18, a memory unit 22, a data
storage device 20, and a communication device 26 op-
erating on a network 201.” Id. col.7 11.35-38, Fig. 1;
see also id. col.7 1.38 col.8 1.44 (describing compo-
nents).

A. The '’682 Patent

The 682 patent contains seven independent
claims (claims 1 and 18-23), and sixteen dependent
claims. Independent claim 1 is representative:
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1. A computer-implemented method compris-
ing:

receiving a search query;

searching, using the computer, first con-
tainer registers encapsulated and logically de-
fined in a plurality of containers to identify
1dentified containers responsive to the search
query, the container registers having defined
therein data comprising historical data associ-
ated with interactions of the identified con-
tainers with other containers from the plural-
ity of containers, wherein searching the first
container registers comprises searching the
historical data; encapsulating the identified
containers in a new container; updating second
container registers of the identified containers
with data associated with interactions of the
1dentified containers with the new container;

and providing a list characterizing the
identified containers.

‘682 patent, col. 29 11.52-67. Independent claim 19
1s identical to claim 1 except that the preamble states
“[a] computer program product, tangibly embodied on
computer-readable media, comprising instructions
operable to cause data processing apparatus to” per-
form the steps of the method in claim 1. Id. col.31
11.28-30. Likewise, independent claim 21 is identical
to claim 1 except that it is an apparatus claim in
means-plus-function form. Id. col. 32 11.5-22. Inde-
pendent claim 23 is identical to claim 1 except for the
fact that it claims “search query templates” in the
place of “containers” in claim 1. Id. col. 32 11.44-61.
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Independent claims 18, 20, and 22 are identical to
independent claims 1, 19, and 21 respectively, except
they claim “polling” gateways rather than “search-
ing” containers. See id. col.31 11.7-27; col.31 1.47
col.32 1.4; col. 32 11.23-43. However, the claims make
clear that “polling the plurality of gateways com-
prises searching the historical data,” and therefore
claims 18, 20, and 22 rise or fall with the other inde-
pendent claims. See, e.g., id. col.31 11.18-20.

Dependent claims 2-17 depend from claim 1, and
add various component and process limitations such
as a “data tree having at least one parent-child rela-
tionship” (claim 2), id. col.30 11.1-3, and specifying
that the “list characterizing the identified containers”
“provides a title of each identified container and a
short description of its contents” (claim 7), id. col.30
11.25-27.

B. The ’536 Patent

The ’536 patent contains four independent claims
(claims 1, 2, 15, and 16) and twelve dependent claims.
Each i1s an apparatus claim. Independent claim 1 is
representative:

1. An apparatus for transmitting, receiving
and manipulating information on a computer
system, the apparatus including a plurality of
containers, each container being a logically
defined data enclosure and comprising:

an information element having information;

a plurality of registers, the plurality of regis-
ters forming part of the container and includ-
ing
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a first register for storing a unique con-
tainer identification value,

a second register having a representa-
tion designating time and governing in-
teractions of the container with other
containers, systems or processes accord-
ing to utility of information in the infor-
mation element relative to an external-
to-the-apparatus event time,

an active time register for identifying
times at which the container will act
upon other containers, processes, sys-
tems or gateways,

a passive time register for identifying
times at which the container can be
acted upon by other containers, pro-
cesses, systems or gateways, and

a neutral time register for identifying
times at which the container may [inter-
act] with other containers, processes,
systems or gateways; and

a gateway attached to and forming part
of the container, the gateway controlling
the interaction of the container with
other containers, systems or processes.

’536 patent, col.30 11.6-30. Independent claim 2 is
1dentical to claim 1 except that whereas claim 1 is di-
rected to the use of “time” as a means of governing
Interaction between containers, claim 2 is directed to
the use of “space.” Compare id. col.30 11.15-27 and
11.40-54. Independent claims 15 and 16 are identical
to claims 1 and 2, respectively, except claims 15 and
16 contain an “at least one acquire register” limita-
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tion in lieu of the three “active,” “passive,” and “neu-
tral” “space” or “time” registers in claims 1 and 2. Id.
col.32, 11.15-18, 39-42.

bR N3

Dependent claims 3-14 all depend from claims 1
or 2. Dependent claims 3-8 add various additional
registers to the “plurality of registers” claimed in
claims 1 and 2. See, e.g., id. c0l.30 11.58-62 (“The ap-
paratus of claim 1 or 2, wherein the plurality of reg-
isters includes at least one container history register
for storing information regarding past interaction of
the container with other containers, systems or pro-
cesses, the container history register being modifia-
ble.”). Dependent claims 9-12 add various additional
means-plus-function limitations to the “gateway”
claimed in claims 1 and 2. See, e.g., id. col.31 11.18-22
(“The apparatus of claim 1 or 2, wherein the gateway
includes means for acting upon another container,
the means for acting upon another container using
the plurality of registers to determine whether and
how the container acts upon other containers.”). De-
pendent claim 13 adds an “an expert system” limita-
tion to the “gateway” claimed in claims 1 and 2. Id.
col.31 11.38-41. Finally, dependent claim 14 limits the
“Information element” in claims 1 and 2 to “one from
the group of text, graphic images, video, audio, a dig-
ital pattern, a process, a nested container, bit, natu-
ral number and a system.”). Id. col.31 11.42-45.

In October 2012, Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC
(“Evolutionary Intelligence”) filed complaints alleg-
ing infringement of the ’536 and '682 patents in the
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Eastern District of Texas against nine groups of de-
fendants.? From July to September 2013, the nine
actions were transferred to this district.

The parties subsequently sought inter partes re-
view (“IPR”) of the asserted patents at the U.S. Pa-
tent and Trademark Office (“PTO”). On April 25,
2014, the Patent Trial and Appeal Board (“PTAB”)
granted one IPR petition as to claims 2-12, 14, and 16
of the ’536 patent, but denied defendants’ IPR peti-
tions as to the other claims of the ’536 patent and all
claims of the 682 patent. See ’536 patent, IPR2014-
00086, Institution of Inter Partes Review (P.T.A.B.
April 25, 2014) (granting Apple’s IPR petition as to
claims 2-12, 14, and 16 of the ’536 patent). Before the
cases were related, all nine defendants brought mo-
tions to stay pending IPR in their separate actions,
and each motion to stay was granted.

On June 23, 2014, the undersigned ordered that
the parties in all cases show cause why the Evolution-
ary Intelligence cases should not be consolidated for
all pretrial proceedings through claim construction.

3The nine cases are Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Apple, Inc.,
12-0783 (E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012); Evolutionary Intelligence LLC
v. Facebook, Inc., 12-0784 (E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012); Evolution-
ary Intelligence LLC v. Foursquare Labs, Inc., 12-0785 (E.D.
Tex. Oct. 17, 2012); Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Groupon,
Inc., 12-0787 (E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012); Evolutionary Intelligence
LLC v. LivingSocial, Inc., 12-0789 (E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012);
Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Millenial Media, Inc., 12-0790
(E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012); Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v.
Sprint Nextel Corp., 12-0791 (E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012); Evolu-
tionary Intelligence LLC v. Twitter, Inc., 12-0792 (E.D. Tex. Oct.
17, 2012); Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Yelp, Inc., 12-0794
(E.D. Tex. Oct. 17, 2012).
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See, e.g., Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Sprint
Nextel Corp., et al., Case No. 13-04513 (N.D. Cal.
June 23, 2014), Dkt. No. 143. Following a hearing and
an order assigning the issue of consolidation and re-
lation to the undersigned, see Fvolutionary Intelli-
gence LLC v. Sprint Nextel Corp., et al., Case No. 13-
04513 (N.D. Cal. July 28, 2014), Dkt. No. 158, the
court ordered that the Evolutionary Intelligence cases
be related, see Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v.
Sprint Nextel Corp., et al., Case No. 13-04513 (N.D.
Cal. July 28, 2014), Dkt. No. 159. Following consoli-
dation, on October 17, 2014 the court granted a mo-
tion to maintain the stay in each case. Dkt. No. 184.

On April 16, 2015 the PTAB issued its final writ-
ten decision in the IPR proceedings, holding the 536
patent to be valid over the cited prior art. Dkt. No.
185, at 1. Upon the PTAB’s issuance of its final writ-
ten decision, the stay in these cases automatically ex-
pired. See Dkt. No. 184, at 14.

Defendants filed the instant motion to dismiss
and for judgment on the pleadings on June 1, 2015.4
Dkt. No. 188. EI filed an opposition on June 26, 2015,
Dkt. No. 193,5 and defendants replied on July 14,

4 Because they have yet to file an answer, defendants Groupon
and Twitter move under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)
for an order to dismiss for failure to state a claim, while the re-
maining defendants move under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(c) for an order granting judgment on the pleadings. Dkt. No.
188, at 1. Because, as discussed below, the standard for decision
both motions is the same, the court does not distinguish between
the two in this order.

5 EI filed with its opposition an expert declaration from Scott
Taylor. Dkt. No. 193-1. In it, Taylor opines on various aspects of
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2015, Dkt. No. 200. The court held a hearing on the
motion on July 28, 2015.

II. Analysis

A. Legal Standard

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim un-
der Rule 12(b)(6) tests the legal sufficiency of a com-
plaint. Navarro v. Block, 250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir.
2001). In considering whether the complaint is suffi-
cient to state a claim, the Court must accept as true
all of the factual allegations contained in the com-
plaint. Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct.
1937, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009). However, the Court
need not accept as true “allegations that contradict
matters properly subject to judicial notice or by ex-
hibit” or “allegations that are merely conclusory, un-
warranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable infer-
ences.” In re Gilead Scis. Sec. Litig., 536 F.3d 1049,
1055 (9th Cir. 2008). While a complaint need not al-
lege detailed factual allegations, it “must contain suf-
ficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a
claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Iqbal, 556

the prior art, and states his opinions regarding the ways in
which the asserted patents claim patent-eligible subject matter.
See id. However, such a declaration is not appropriate for the
court to consider on a motion to dismiss or motion for judgment
on the pleadings. See Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner
& Co., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 1989). On such mo-
tions, the court may only consider the complaint, documents in-
corporated by reference in the complaint, and judicially noticed
facts. See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S.
308, 322, 127 S. Ct. 2499, 168 L. Ed. 2d 179 (2007). Accordingly,
because the Taylor declaration meets none of these criteria, the
court does not consider it.
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U.S. at 678 (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550
U.S. 544, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929
(2007)). A claim is facially plausible when it “allows
the court to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id. at
678. “Determining whether a complaint states a plau-
sible claim for relief . . . [is] a context-specific task
that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judi-
cial experience and common sense.” Id. at 679.

B. Motion to Dismiss and for Judgment
on the Pleadings

Defendants contend that the ’536 and ’682 patents
are invalid for failure to claim patent-eligible subject
matter. For the reasons set forth below, the court
finds that both patents fail to claim patent-eligible
subject matter, and GRANTS defendants’ motion to
dismiss and for judgment on the pleadings.

Section 101 of the Patent Act describes the types
of inventions that are eligible for patent protection:
“[w]hoever invents or discovers any new and useful
process, machine, manufacture, or composition of
matter, or any new and useful improvement thereof,
may obtain a patent therefor, subject to the condi-
tions and requirements of this title.” 35 U.S.C. § 101.
Section 101 has long contained “an important implicit
exception: Laws of nature, natural phenomena, and
abstract ideas are not patentable.” Ass’n for Molecu-
lar Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, Inc., 133 S. Ct.
2107, 2116, 186 L. Ed. 2d 124 (2013) (quoting Mayo
Collaborative Servs. v. Prometheus Labs., Inc., 132 S.
Ct. 1289, 1293, 182 L. Ed. 2d 321 (2012)). In Alice
Corp. Pty. Ltd. v. CLS Bank Int’l, the Supreme Court
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explained that “the concern that drives this exclu-
sionary principle [is] one of pre-emption.” 134 S. Ct.
2347, 2354, 189 L. Ed. 2d 296 (2014). “Monopolization
of [laws of nature, natural phenomena, and abstract
ideas] through the grant of a patent might tend to im-
pede innovation more than it would tend to promote
it, thereby thwarting the primary object of the patent
laws.” Id. (quoting Mayo, 132 S. Ct. at 1293). How-
ever, the Supreme Court has also recognized the need
to “tread carefully in construing this exclusionary
principle lest it swallow all of patent law.” Id. Accord-
ingly, “[a]pplications of [abstract] concepts to a new
and useful end . . . remain eligible for patent protec-
tion.” Id. (internal quotations omitted).

The Supreme Court in Mayo “set forth a frame-
work for distinguishing patents that claim laws of na-
ture, natural phenomena, and abstract ideas from
those that claim patent-eligible applications of those
concepts.” Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2355. First, a court
must “determine whether the claims at issue are di-
rected to one of those patent-ineligible concepts.” Id.
If the court finds that the patent claim recites a pa-
tent-ineligible abstract idea, the court then must
“consider the elements of each claim both individu-
ally and as an ordered combination to determine
whether the [elements in addition to the abstract
1dea] transform the nature of the claim into a patent-
eligible application.” Id. In this step, the court “must
examine the elements of the claim to determine
whether it contains an inventive concept sufficient to
transform the claimed abstract idea into a patent-el-
igible application.” Id. at 2357.
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1.’682 Patent

The court first looks to whether the 682 patent
recites an abstract idea. Defendants argue that the
’682 patent claims the abstract idea of “searching his-
torical data.” Dkt. No. 188, at 12. EI argues with re-
gard to both the 682 and ’536 patents that “the pur-
pose of the claims is to enable computers to process
containerized data in a way that results in dynamic
modifications in order to improve future processing
efforts by computers.” Dkt. No. 193, at 15. EI states
that the 682 patent “focus[es] on making dynamic
modifications when processing computer search que-
ries” in order to make future searches more efficient.
Id. The court finds that the 682 patent recites the ab-
stract idea of searching and processing containerized
data. Updating searchable containers of information
based on past search results or based on external
time or location resembles age-old forms of infor-
mation processing such as have previously been em-
ployed in libraries, businesses, and other human en-
terprises with folders, books, time-cards, ledgers, and
so on. The 682 patent merely computerizes this ab-
stract idea, taking advantage of the conventional ad-
vantages of computers in terms of efficiency and
speed.

Because the court finds that the ’682 patent
claims the abstract idea of searching and processing
containerized data, the court proceeds to the second
step in the Mayo framework. At this step, the court
must determine whether the limitations in the 682
patent represent a patent-eligible application of the
abstract idea of searching and processing container-
ized data. Alice, 134 S.Ct. at 2357. According to the
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Supreme Court, “the mere recitation of a generic com-
puter cannot transform a patent-ineligible abstract
idea into a patent-eligible invention.” Id. at 2358. Ra-
ther, to satisfy this requirement, a computer-imple-
mented invention must involve more than perfor-
mance of “well-understood, routine [and] conven-
tional activities previously known to the industry.”
Id. at 2359 (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted). The patent must contain an inventive con-
cept which “transform[s] the nature of the claim|s]
into a patent-eligible application.” Id. at 2355. Ulti-
mately, the patented invention must amount to “sig-
nificantly more” than a patent on the ineligible ab-
stract idea itself. Mayo, 132 S. Ct. at 1294.

The method claimed in the ’682 patent comprises
the following steps: (1) receiving a search query; (2)
searching; (3) encapsulating responsive containers in
a new container; (4) updating registers; (5) generat-
ing a list. See ’682 patent, claim 1.6 The language of
the claims describes the use of containers, registers
and gateways to perform these steps on a computer.
EI concedes that the structures recited in the claims
are conventional and routine. See Dkt. No. 193, at 17
(Arguing “[a]lthough the fundamental structures are
containers, registers, and gateways,” the claims are

6 Because EI identifies provides no analysis of how either pa-
tent’s dependent claims differ from the independent claims (and
in particular claim 1), and the court does not credit their conclu-
sory assertion in the opposition that the dependent claims recite
“significant limitations,” the court finds that the dependent
claims for each patent rise and fall with the independent claims.
As discussed herein, the court finds that the independent claims
fail to claim patent-eligible subject matter, and therefore finds
that the dependent claims fail for the same reason.
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patent-eligible because they implement the inventive
concepts with “specific arrangements” of structures)
(emphasis added). Each step individually is also con-
ventional and routine, and EI does not argue other-
wise. Instead, EI argues that the claims, viewed in
combination, contain an inventive concept sufficient
to transform the claimed abstract idea into a patent-
eligible application. Specifically, EI emphasizes that
the patent was designed to overcome limitations as-
sociated with the static information model of comput-
erized data processing, and that the claims are drawn
to patent-eligible subject matter because they im-
prove the functioning of computers. Dkt. No. 193, at
14-17. EI relies primarily on DDR Holdings, LLC v.
Hotels.com, L.P., 773 F.3d 1245 (Fed. Cir. 2014), in
which the Federal Circuit upheld a patent on the ba-
sis that it claimed a particular unconventional solu-
tion to an internet-specific problem by overriding the
conventional behavior of website hyperlinks. How-
ever, far from supporting EI’s position, the Federal
Circuit’s decision in DDR Holdings demonstrates
how the asserted claims here are not patent-eligible.

The patents at issue in DDR Holdings disclosed a
system to create composite websites for electronic
shopping in an effort to address the problem of web-
sites losing visitor traffic when visitors clicked on ad-
vertisements. Id. at 1248-49. Under the prevailing
mode of operation, host websites would direct visitors
to external advertiser websites when visitors clicked
on advertisements. Id. By contrast, the patents at is-
sue in DDR Holdings described a system that would
generate a composite web page displaying the adver-
tiser’s product or other content while retaining the
“look and feel” of the host website. Id. “Thus, the host
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website can display a third-party merchant’s prod-
ucts, but retain its visitor traffic by displaying this
product information from within a generated web
page that gives the viewer of the page the impression
that she is viewing pages served by the host’s web-
site.” Id. at 1249 (internal quotation marks omitted).
The Federal Circuit observed that “the precise nature
of the abstract idea [implemented in the asserted
claims was] not as straightforward as in Alice or some
of our recent cases.” Id. at 1257. Rather, the claims
“address[ed] a business challenge (retaining website
visitors), [which was] a challenge particular to the in-
ternet.” Id. The Federal Circuit distinguished cases
invalidating patents that “merely recite the perfor-
mance of some business practice known from the pre-
internet world along with the requirement to perform
1t on the internet” on the basis that the patent in DDR
Holdings was “necessarily rooted in computer tech-
nology in order to overcome a problem specifically
arising in the realm of computer networks.” Id. The
court emphasized that the creation of a composite
web page, as opposed to re-direction, “overrides the
routine and conventional sequence of events ordinar-
ily triggered by the click of a hyperlink,” and con-
cluded that the claims survived Alice because they
“recite an invention that is not merely the routine or
conventional use of the internet.” Id. at 1258-59.

Here, EI argues that the asserted patents “were
designed overcome the significant limitations associ-
ated with the static information model of computer-
ized data processing,” by “enabl[ing] computers to
process containerized data in a way that results in
dynamic modifications in order to improve future pro-
cessing efforts by computers.” Dkt. No. 193, at 15.
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The court in DDR Holdings held that asserted claims
in that case were patent-eligible because they “speci-
fied how . . . to yield a desired result” by “overriding
the routine and conventional” operation of the
claimed technology. DDR Holdings, 773 F.3d at 1258-
59. However, unlike in DDR Holdings, the problem
1dentified by EI failure to dynamically update data
structures over time and by location, or based on
search history 1is not unique to computing. Indeed,
it is not even a computing problem, but an infor-
mation organization problem. EI’s attempt to provide
a concrete example of the patented idea reveals the
deficiency of the claims: according to EI, the claimed
invention “could enable a computer to provide a user
a dynamically changing list of restaurants that de-
pends on the user’s location, the time of day, ratings
provided by other users, and the user’s browsing his-
tory,” as well as “store historical information to en-
sure that future processing for that user and other
users is handled even more efficiently.” Dkt. No. 193,
at 4. Implementations of these ideas have long ex-
isted outside the realm of computing. As defendants’
note, “searching for a nearby place to eat, or for a list
of restaurants open at a particular hour, or for those
most frequented by others, does not solve a problem
unique to any field of computing.” Dkt. No. 200, at 4.
Restaurant guides have long provided lists of restau-
rants organized by cuisine, city, neighborhood, and
rating. Libraries have long organized their holdings
by subject matter and author name, and have em-
ployed “dynamic” containers in the form of rotating
selections based on staff review, recent release, or
other criteria, located in a specific section of the li-
brary. Nor is the sort of curation envisaged by EI a
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new phenomenon: galleries stage curated exhibitions,
video rental stores (when there were video rental
stores) had shelves of “customer favorites,” and mer-
chants of every kind have long kept track of what is
popular, what is new, and presented selections for
purchase on these bases. Finally, the idea of “storing
historical information to ensure that future pro-
cessing for that user and other users is handled more
efficiently” is practiced by every local barista or bar-
tender who remembers a particular customer’s favor-
ite drink. The claims here merely take these age-old
ideas and add a computer, which is insufficient to
confer patent eligibility. See Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2358;
see also Bascom Research, LLC v. LinkedIn, Inc., 77
F. Supp. 3d 940, 2015 WL 149480, at *9-10 (N.D. Cal.
2015) (finding patent-ineligible “claims [that]
amountf[ed] to instructions to apply an abstract
idea 1.e., the concept of establishing relationships
between documents and making those relationships
accessible to other users.”).

EI's insistence that the asserted claims are pa-
tent-eligible because they address specific problems
in the prior art related to the “static information
model” used in computing also confuses the “in-
ventive feature” analysis under Section 101 with the
1deas of novelty and nonobviousness under Sections
102 and 103. Dkt. No. 193, at 2-4. To be novel, a pa-
tent claim must include an element not present in the
prior art. See 35 U.S.C. § 102. The “inventive feature”
language in Section 101 analysis is similar to lan-
guage used in discussing anticipation and obvious-
ness under 35 U.S.C. §§ 102 or 103. However, in the
context of Section 101, “Inventive feature” is better
understood as referring to the abstract idea doctrine’s
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prohibition on patenting fundamental truths,
whether or not the fundamental truth was recently
discovered. Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2357 (“Because the al-
gorithm was an abstract idea, the claim had to supply
a ‘new and useful’ application of the idea in order to
be patent-eligible. But the computer implementation
did not supply the necessary inventive concept; the
process could be ‘carried out in existing computers
long in use.”) (quoting Gottschalk v. Benson, 409 U.S.
63, 67, 93 S. Ct. 253, 34 L. Ed. 2d 273 (1972)). The
inventive feature question under Section 101 con-
cerns whether the patent adds something to the ab-
stract idea that is “integral to the claimed invention .
. . .7 Bancorp Servs., LLC v. Sun Life Assur. Co. of
Canada (U.S.), 687 F.3d 1266, 1278 (Fed. Cir. 2012).
It is therefore important to distinguish between claim
elements that are integral to the claimed invention
from those that are merely integral to the abstract
1dea embodied in the invention. As discussed above,
the application of the idea of searching and pro-
cessing containerized data in the ’682 patent
amounts to the use of common, conventional compu-
ting components in a way that could be carried out in
existing computers long in use. Regardless of whether
the concept of “dynamically” updating information
containers and registers may have been novel and
nonobvious at the time this patent was filed, the
claims do nothing to ground this abstract idea in a
specific way, other than to implement the idea on a
computer.

EI also contends that the asserted claims require
“specific arrangements” of “computer-specific” struc-
tures, “operating in a specific way.” Dkt. No. 193, at
17. EI further argues that the claims are inventive

Duncan 1; 0250



37a

because they include significant structural limita-
tions such as the specific types of registers that con-
tainers must have: “active time registers,” “passive
time registers,” “acquire registers,” “identified search
query templates,” and so forth. Id. However, the lim-
itations EI identifies are simply functional descrip-
tions of conventional concepts of data processing,
such as using data registers, or labels, to govern the
interaction of various data. EI fails to explain how
these claimed fundamental elements, either individ-
ually or collectively, perform anything other than
their normal and expected functions. See Content Ex-
traction & Transmission LLC v. Wells Fargo Bank,
Nat’l Assoc., 776 F.3d 1343, 1349 (Fed. Cir. 2014) (re-
jecting argument that inventive concept could be
found because additional claim limitations were
“well-known, routine, and conventional functions of
scanners and computers”); see also Internet Patents
Corp. v. Active Network, Inc., 790 F.3d 1343, 2015 WL
3852975, at *5 (Fed. Cir. 2015). The elements of the
‘682 patent’s claims are directed to employing time,
location, and history information in connection with
data processing, and encompass nothing more than
the conventional and routine activities of searching,
updating, and modifying data on a “computer net-
work operating in its normal, expected manner” us-
ing conventional computers and computer compo-
nents. DDR Holdings, 773 F.3d at 1258.

Furthermore, the above analysis makes clear that
’682 patent claims no more than a computer automa-
tion of what “can be performed in the human mind,
or by a human using a pen and paper.” CyberSource
Corp. v. Retail Decisions, Inc., 654 F.3d 1366, 1372
(Fed. Cir. 2011). These methods, “which are the
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equivalent of human mental work, are unpatentable
abstract ideas.” Id. at 1371; see also Bancorp, 687
F.3d at 1278-79. (“To salvage an otherwise patent-in-
eligible process, a computer must be integral to the
claimed invention, facilitating the process in a way
that a person making calculations or computations
could not. [Merely] [u]sing a computer to accelerate
an ineligible mental process does not make that pro-
cess patent-eligible.”); Cogent Med., Inc. v. Elsevier
Inc., 70 F. Supp. 3d 1058, 1060 (N.D. Cal. 2014)
(Finding patent-ineligible claims that amounted to no
more than a computer automation of what can be per-
formed in the human mind, or by a human using a
pen and paper) (internal quotation marks and cita-
tion omitted).”

Finally, the patent’s ineligibility is confirmed by
the machine-or-transformation test.® Here, the trans-
formation prong is inapplicable and the claimed
methods are not tied to any particular machine. The
claims require nothing more than a general purpose
computer, “the mere recitation of [which] cannot
transform a patent-ineligible abstract idea into a pa-
tent-eligible invention.” Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2358. In-

7The court is also mindful that a patent on the abstract idea of
searching and processing containerized data which lacks a spe-
cific inventive concept to limit its scope poses a real threat of
preemption, and might well “tend to impede innovation more
than it would tend to promote it, thereby thwarting the primary
object of the patent laws.” Alice, 134 S. Ct. at 2354.

8 While “[t]he machine-or-transformation test is not the sole test
for deciding whether an invention 1s a patent-eligible ‘process,”
it is still “a useful and important clue.” Bilski v. Kappos, 561
U.S. 593, 604, 130 S. Ct. 3218, 177 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2010).
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stead, to confer patent eligibility on a claim, the com-
puter “must play a significant part in permitting the
claimed method to be performed, rather than func-
tion solely as an obvious mechanism for permitting a
solution to be achieved more quickly . ...” SiRF Tech.,
Inc. v. Int’l Trade Comm’'n, 601 F.3d 1319, 1333 (Fed.
Cir. 2010). As was discussed above, the generic com-
puter required by the claims does no more than auto-
mate what “can be done mentally.” Benson, 409 U.S.
at 67.

In sum, the 682 patent is directed to the abstract
1dea of searching and processing containerized data
and does not contain an inventive concept sufficient
to transform the claimed subject matter into a pa-
tent-eligible application. Like the computer elements
in Alice, the steps of the 682 patent, considered indi-
vidually or as an ordered combination, add nothing
transformative to the patent. Rather, the claims of
the 682 patent merely recite routine and conven-
tional computer operations and structures as a
means of implementing the abstract idea of searching
and processing containerized data.® Accordingly, be-
cause the ’682 patent fails to claim patent-eligible

9 Alice makes clear that the '682 patent’s apparatus and com-
puter product claims rise and fall with the method claims.
“[N]one of the hardware recited by the [apparatus or computer
component] claims offers a meaningful limitation beyond gener-
ally linking the use of the [method] to a particular technological
environment, that is, implementation via computers.” Alice, 134
S. Ct. at 2360 (internal quotations omitted, [method] alteration
in original). “Put another way, the [apparatus and computer
component] claims are no different from the method claims in
substance. The method claims recite the abstract idea imple-
mented on a generic computer; the [apparatus and computer
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subject matter, the court GRANTS defendants’ mo-
tion to dismiss as to the ‘682 patent.

2.’536 Patent

Defendants contend that the 536 patent claims
the abstract idea of “storing information in labeled
containers with rules and instructions on how the
container or contents may be used.” Dkt. No. 188, at
16. EI’s position is that the ’682 patent “focus[es] on
processing constantly changing information corre-
sponding to time and location to make future pro-
cessing of time and location information by comput-
ers more efficient.” Dkt. No. 193, at 15. The independ-
ent claims of the ’536 patent are directed to “contain-
ers” comprising: (1) “an information element having
information,” (2) various “registers,” and (3) a “gate-
way” for controlling interaction of the container with
other containers, systems, or processes. The court
finds that the ’536 patent is also directed to an ab-
stract idea: containerized data storage utilizing rules
and instructions. Also like the 682 patent, the 536
patent merely computerizes the underlying abstract
1idea, taking advantage of the conventional ad-
vantages of computers in terms of efficiency and
speed.

EI advances no separate arguments regarding
the patent eligibility of the ’536 patent under the se-
cond step of the Mayo analysis, and so the court finds

component claims] claims recite a handful of generic computer
components configured to implement the same idea.” Id. Be-
cause the apparatus and computer product claims “add nothing
of substance to the underlying abstract idea,” they also fail to
claim patent-eligible subject matter required by Section 101. Id.
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that this patent also fails to claim patent-eligible sub-
ject matter, for the reasons set forth above. Accord-
ingly, the court GRANTS defendants’ motion to dis-
miss as to the ’536 patent.

IT1. Order

For the foregoing reasons, defendants’ motion to
dismiss and for judgment on the pleadings 1is
GRANTED.

Dated: October 6, 2015
/s/ Ronald M. Whyte

RONALD M. WHYTE

United States District Judge

Judgment

On October 6, 2015 the court issued an order
granting the motion to dismiss and motion for judg-
ment on the pleadings filed by defendants Sprint
Nextel Corporation, Sprint Communications Com-
pany L.P., Sprint Spectrum L.P., Sprint Solutions
Inc., Apple, Inc., Facebook, Inc., Foursquare Labs,
Inc., Groupon, Inc., LivingSocial, Inc., Twitter, Inc.,
Yelp, Inc., and Millennial Media, Inc. (collectively,
“defendants”). Case No. 13-4513, Dkt. No. 225. Pur-
suant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, the court
hereby ENTERS judgment in favor of defendants and
against plaintiff. The Clerk of Court shall close the
file in this matter.

Dated: October 6, 2015
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/s/ Ronald M. Whyte

RONALD M. WHYTE

United States District Judge
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UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK
OFFICE

BEFORE THE PATENT TRIAL AND APPEAL
BOARD

APPLE INC., TWITTER, INC., AND YELP INC.,
Petitioner,

V.

EVOLUTIONARY INTELLIGENCE, LLC,
Patent Owner.

Case IPR2014-00086
Case TPR2014-00812
Patent 7,010,536 B1

Before KALYAN K. DESHPANDE, BRIAN J.
McNAMARA, and GREGG 1. ANDERSON,
Administrative Patent Judges.

ANDERSON, Administrative Patent Judge.

FINAL WRITTEN DECISION
35 U.S.C. § 318(a) and 37 C.F.R. § 42.73
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INTRODUCTION

On October 22, 2013, Apple, Inc. (“Petitioner”)?
filed a Petition requesting inter partes review of
claims 2 14 and 16 of U.S. Patent No. 7,010,536 (Ex.
1001, “the 536 patent”). Paper 1 (“Pet.”). On April
25, 2014, we granted the Petition and instituted trial
for claims 2 12, 14, and 16 of the ’536 patent on all of
the grounds of unpatentability alleged in the Peti-
tion. Paper 8 (“Decision on Institution” or “Dec.
Inst.”).

After institution of inter partes review, Twitter,
Inc. (“Twitter”) and Yelp Inc. (“Yelp”) filed a corrected
Petition and Motion to Join the inter partes review.
IPR2014-00812, Papers 4, 8. We granted the motion
and joined Apple, Twitter, and Yelp (collectively, “Pe-
titioner”) in the inter partes review. Paper 16. Evolu-
tionary Intelligence, LLC (“Patent Owner”) filed a Pa-
tent Owner Response. Paper 20 (“PO Resp.”). Peti-
tioner filed a Reply. Paper 28 (“Pet. Reply”). Patent
Owner filed a Motion to Exclude. Paper 34 (“PO Mot.
Exclude”)

An oral hearing was held on January 6, 2015. The
transcript of the consolidated hearing has been en-
tered into the record. Paper 41 (“Tr.”).

We have jurisdiction under 35 U.S.C. § 6(c). This
Final Written Decision i1s issued pursuant to 35
U.S.C. § 318(a). For the reasons discussed below, we
determine that Petitioner has not shown by a prepon-
derance of the evidence that claims 2 12, 14, and 16

1 Twitter, Inc. and Yelp Inc. filed a Petition in case TPR2014-
00812 against the same patent, which case was joined with this
case. Decision Granting Motion for Joinder (Paper 16). Twitter,
Inc. and Yelp Inc. are also collectively referred to as “Petitioner”
in this case.
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of the '536 patent are unpatentable. Patent Owner’s
Motion to Exclude is denied.

A. Related Proceedings

Petitioner states that on October 23, 2012 it was
served with a complaint alleging infringement of the
’536 patent in Civil Action No. 6:12- ¢v-00783-LED in
the District of Eastern District of Texas (Ex. 1007),
which was transferred to the Northern District of
California as Civil Action No. 3:13-cv-4201-WHA.
The ’536 patent is also the subject of several other
lawsuits against third parties. Pet. 2.2

B. The’536 Patent

The ’536 patent is directed to developing intelli-
gence in a computer or digital network by creating
and manipulating information containers with dy-
namic interactive registers in a computer network.
Ex. 1001, 1:11 20; 3:1 5. The system includes an in-
put device, an output device, a processor, a memory
unit, a data storage device, and a means of communi-
cating with other computers. Id. at 3:6 11. The
memory unit includes an information container made
Interactive with, among other elements, dynamic reg-
isters, a search engine, gateways, a data collection

2 The Petition does not include page numbers. We have assigned
page numbers beginning with page 1 at heading I.A. and con-
cluding with page 31 at heading V. This convention corresponds
to the assigned page numbers in the Table of Contents. As Pa-
tent Owner did in Patent Owner’s Response (PO Resp. 1), all
citations to the “Petition” are to the Petition filed by Apple in
TPR 2014-00086. The Petition filed by Twitter and Yelp is a vir-
tual copy but the page numbers differ and we will not add those
additional citations.
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and reporting means, an analysis engine, and an ex-
ecuting engine. Id. at 3:15 23.

The ’536 patent describes a container as an inter-
active nestable logical domain, including dynamic in-
teractive evolving registers, which maintain a unique
network-wide lifelong identity. Id. at 3:29 35. A con-
tainer, at minimum, includes a logically encapsulated
portion of cyberspace, a register, and a gateway. Id.
at 9:2 4. Registers determine the interaction of that
container with other containers, system components,
system gateways, events, and processes on the com-
puter network. Id. at 3:43 46. Container registers
may be values alone or contain code to establish cer-
tain parameters in interaction with other containers
or gateways. Id. at 9:19 22. Gateways are integrated
structurally into each container or strategically
placed at container transit points. Id. at 4:54 57.
Gateways govern the interaction of containers encap-
sulated within their domain by reading and storing
register information of containers entering and exit-
ing that container. Id. at 4:58 66; 15:46 49.

The system for creating and manipulating infor-
mation containers is set forth in Figure 2B as follows:
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Figure 2B illustrates a computer network showing
nested containers, computer servers, and gateways at
Site 1 through Site 7. Id. at 10:59 62.

Any of Sites 1 through 7 may interact dynamically
within the system; for example, Site 1 shows a single
workstation with a container and gateway connected
to an Intranet. Id. at 10:64 67. Site 2 shows a server
with a gateway in relationship to various containers.
Id. at 11:2 3. Site 3 shows an Internet web page with
a container residing on it. Id. at 11:3 4. Site 4 shows
a personal computer with containers and a gateway
connected to the Internet. Id. at 11:4 6. Site 5 shows
a configuration of multiple servers and containers on
a Wide Area Network. Id. at 11:6 7. Site 6 shows a
work station with a gateway and containers within a
container connected to a Wide Area Network. Id. at
11:7 9. Site 7 shows an independent gateway, capa-
ble of acting as a data collection and data reporting
site as it gathers data from the registers of transiting
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containers and as an agent of the execution engine as
it alters the registers of transient containers. Id. at
11:8 13.

An example of the configuration the containers
may have is provided in Figure 4 as follows:
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Figure 4 shows an example of container 100 that in-
cludes containerized elements 01, registers 120, and
gateway 200. Id. at 12:65 67. Registers 120 included
in container 100 include, inter alia, active time regis-
ter 102000, passive time register 103000, neutral
time register 104000, active space register 111000,
passive space register 112000, neutral space register
113000, and acquire register 123000. Id. at 14:31
39.

C. Illustrative Claim

Claims 2 and 16 are the two independent claims
challenged. Claim 2 is reproduced below:

2. An apparatus for transmitting, receiving and
manipulating information on a computer system, the
apparatus including a plurality of containers, each
container being a logically defined data enclosure and
comprising:

an information element having information;

a plurality of registers, the plurality of registers
forming part of the container and including

a first register for storing a unique container iden-
tification value,

a second register having a representation desig-
nating space and governing interactions of the con-
tainer with other containers, systems or processes ac-
cording to utility of information in the information el-
ement relative to an external-to-the-apparatus three-
dimensional space,
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an active space register for identifying space in
which the container will act upon other containers,
processes, systems or gateways,

a passive resister for identifying space in which
the container can be acted upon by other containers,
processes, systems or gateways,

a neutral space register for identifying space in
which the container may interact with other contain-
ers, processes, systems, or gateways; and

a gateway attached to and forming part of the con-
tainer, the gateway controlling the interaction of the
container with other containers, systems or pro-
cesses.

D. Ground Upon Which Trial Was Instituted

Trial was instituted on the ground that claims 2
12, 14, and 16 of the 536 patent were anticipated un-
der 35 U.S.C. § 102(e)3 by Gibbs.4 Dec. Inst. 27. Pa-
tent Owner does not contend that Gibbs is not prior
art.

® The ’536 patent was filed prior to the effective date of § 102, as
amended by the America Invents Act (“AIA”)—March 16,
2013— and is governed by the pre-AIA version of § 102(e). See
ATA § 3(n)(1).

44 U.S. Patent No. 5,836,529, filed Oct. 31, 1995 (“Gibbs,” Ex.
1006
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ANALYSIS

A. Claim Construction

In an inter partes review, claim terms in an unex-
pired patent are interpreted according to their broad-
est reasonable construction in light of the specifica-
tion of the patent in which they appear. 37 C.F.R. §
42.100(b); In re Cuozzo Speed Techs., LLC, 778 F.3d
1271, 1279 83 (Fed. Cir. 2015). If an inventor acts as
his or her own lexicographer, the definition must be
set forth in the specification with reasonable clarity,
deliberateness, and precision. Renishaw PLC v. Mar-
poss Societa’ per Azioni, 158 F.3d 1243, 1249 (Fed.
Cir. 1998). The terms also are given their ordinary
and customary meaning as would be understood by
one of ordinary skill in the art in the context of the
disclosure. In re Translogic Tech., Inc., 504 F.3d
1249, 1257 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

Neither Petitioner nor Patent Owner disputes our
constructions in the Decision on Institution. PO
Resp. 15, n. 3. Our prior constructions, including the
rationale for them, are repeated below.

1. “container”

Independent claims 2 and 16 recite the term “con-
tainer,” as do several of the dependent claims, e.g.,
claims 5 and 7. The Specification describes a “con-
tainer” as “a logically defined data enclosure which
encapsulates any element or digital segment (text,
graphic, photograph, audio, video, or other), or set of
digital segments, or referring now to FIG. 3C, any
system component or process, or other containers or
sets of containers.” Ex. 1001, 8:64 9:2.
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Thus, we construe “container” to mean “a logically
defined data enclosure which encapsulates any ele-
ment or digital segment (text, graphic, photograph,
audio, video, or other), or set of digital elements.”

2. “register”

Independent claims 2 and 16 recite “a plurality of
registers, the plurality of registers forming part of the
container.” The Specification of the 536 patent
broadly describes “container registers” as follows:

Container registers 120 are interactive dy-
namic values appended to the logical enclosure
of an information container 100, and serve to
govern the interaction of that container 100
with other containers 100, container gateways
200 and the system 10, and to record the histor-
ical interaction of that container 100 on the sys-
tem 10. Container registers 120 may be values
alone or contain code to establish certain pa-
rameters in interaction with other containers
100 or gateways 200.

Ex. 1001, 9:14 23.

Thus, we determine “register” means a “value or
code associated with a container.”

3. “active space register”/ passive space
register”/ ’neutral space register”

The terms “active space register,” “passive space
register,” and “neutral space register” appear in inde-
pendent claim 2.
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The Specification of the ’536 patent states, at sev-
eral locations, that registers are “dynamic” and “in-
teractive.” See Ex. 1001, 7:25 30. As discussed
above, registers are user-created and attach to a
unique container. Id. at 14:23 26. Registers may be
of different types, including pre-defined registers. Id.
at 14:1 3. Pre-defined registers are available imme-
diately for selection by the user, within a given con-
tainer. Id. at 14:3 6. Pre-defined registers may be
active, passive, or interactive and may evolve with
system use. Id. at 14:29 30. In the context of prede-
fined registers, “active space,” “passive space,” and
“neutral space” are part of the system history. Id. at
14:30 42, Fig. 4. The Specification does not describe
further any of the terms.

The claim 2 elements, “active space register,”
“passive space register,” and “neutral space register”
each expressly defines the function of the element in
claim 2.

The “active space register” is:

“for identifying space in which the container
will act upon other containers, processes, sys-
tems or gateways . ..” (emphasis added).

The “passive space register” is:

“for identifying space in which the container
can be acted upon by other containers, pro-

cesses, systems or gateways . ..” (emphasis
added).

The “neutral space register” is:
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“for identifying space in which the container
may interact with other containers, processes,
systems, or gateways . ..” (emphasis added).

Patent Owner lists “neutral space register” as a
term for further construction. PO Resp. 19 22. Pa-
tent Owner’s argument is directed toward whether
“neutral space register” is a limitation shown in
Gibbs and will be addressed in our anticipation anal-
ysis section below.

As discussed above, we have construed the term
“register” to mean “value or code associated with a
container.” The modifiers “active,” “passive,” and
“neutral” serve to distinguish the claimed registers
that are defined functionally in claim 2. No further
construction is required.

4. “acquire register”

The term “acquire register” appears in claims 8,
which depends from claim 2, and independent claim
16. The Specification describes the acquire register
as “enabling the user to search and utilize other reg-
isters residing on the network.” Ex. 1001, 15:27 29.
This is consistent with the claim language itself. Dec.
Inst. 13. No further construction is required.

5. “gateway”

Independent claims 2 and 16 recite “a gateway at-
tached to and forming part of the container, the gate-
way controlling the interaction of the container with
other containers, systems or processes.”

The ’536 patent describes that:
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[g]lateways gather and store container register
information according to system-defined, sys-
tem-generated, or user determined rules as con-
tainers exit and enter one another, governing
how containers, system processes or system
components interact within the domain of that
container, or after exiting and entering that
container, and governing how containers, sys-
tem components and system processes interact
with that unique gateway, including how data
collection and reporting is managed at that
gateway.

Ex. 1001, 4:58 66.

Neither party raises any issue with our prelimi-
nary construction (Dec. Inst. 13 14) and thus, based
on the Specification, our final construction of “gate-
way”’ is “hardware or software that facilitates the
transfer of information between containers, systems,
and/or processes.”

6. means elements

Claims 9 12 each contain means plus function el-
ements. Petitioner contends that there is a lack of
structure for certain means plus function elements.
We do not reach this issue because, for reasons dis-
cussed below, Petitioner has not put forth a sufficient
case of unpatentability as to the independent claim
from which claims 9 12 depend.

7. “first register having a unique container
identification value”

Unlike all the previous terms, “first register hav-
ing a unique container identification value” was not
construed in the Decision on Institution. Patent
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Owner contends the term requires construction in
light of contentions made by Petitioner’s expert, Dr.
Henry Houh, in his deposition testimony. PO Resp.
16 19 (citing “Houh Deposition,” Ex. 1008). The term
appears in claims 2 and 16. Specifically, Patent
Owner contends the Houh Deposition asserts that the
term “unique container identification value” is for
“any container.” PO Resp. 16 (citing Ex. 1008,
106:21 109:8) (emphasis omitted). Patent Owner
contends this testimony is contrary to the Declara-
tion of Dr. Houh (“Houh Declaration,” Ex. 1003, 99
110 111). Id.

Patent Owner cites the language of the claim itself
to assert “first register having a unique container
1dentification value” is directed to the container of
which the term is an element and not “any” con-
tainer.” PO Resp. 16. Patent Owner argues use of
the article “a” is dictated because it is the first refer-
ence to the term, which has no antecedent basis. Id.

Patent Owner cites to the Specification as describ-
ing “a register with a ‘unique network-wide lifelong
identity’ for the given container.” PO Resp. 16 17
(citing Ex. 1001 at 3:29 39) (emphasis omitted). Pa-
tent Owner argues the system-defined registers may
include “an identity register maintaining a unique
network wide identification and access location for a
given container.” Id. at 17 (citing Ex. 1001, 3:57 64)
(emphasis omitted).

Patent Owner also references the prosecution of
the ’536 patent, in which claim 29 recites interacting
between first and second information containers, and
claim 30, which depends from claim 29, recites
“wherein the steps of determining identification in-
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formation are performed by reading respective iden-
tification registers of the first and second containers.”
See id. at 17 (citing Ex. 1002, 50 51). Patent Owner
argues this claim language “make no sense if the
‘unique identification value’ is construed as identify-
ing containers other than those interacting, because
the entire point of the exchange was to compare
unique identifiers to see if interaction between the
two containers would be allowed.” Id. Patent Owner
thus proposes the term “first register having a unique
container identification value” means “a first register
having a value that uniquely identifies the given con-
tainer.” Id. at 19.

Petitioner argues that absent “reference to any
particular container” the term applies to “any” con-
tainer. Pet. Reply 9. In further support of its posi-
tion, Petitioner argues the use of the article “a,” as
opposed to “the,” precludes the claim language from
being limited to the “the container that includes the
register.” Id. Petitioner notes all the other registers
recited reference “the” container, so “a” must mean
any. Id. Petitioner contends the “identity register”
disclosure is not dispositive and is just “one example”
of the first register. Id. 9 10 (citing Deposition of
Mathew Daniel Green, Ph.D. (“Green Deposition,”
Ex. 2009, 113:1 22, 107:2 110:22; see id. at 66:11
22). The Petitioner alleges the original claims from
the prosecution are irrelevant. Id. at 10.

In construing claims we consider the broadest rea-
sonable interpretation consistent with the Specifica-
tion. In re Cuozzo, 778 F.3d at 1278 1282. We start
with the claim language. Claim 2 recites “[a]n appa-
ratus ... including a plurality of containers, each con-
tainer being a logically defined data enclosure and
comprising.” Ex. 1001, 30, 31 34 (emphasis added).
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The claim proceeds to recite “a first register for stor-
ing a unique container identification value.” From
this language, we conclude that the “first register” is
a part of “each container.” The “first register” claim
limitation further includes “a unique container iden-
tification value.” In the context of this claim, we are
not persuaded by Petitioner’s argument that the use
of “a” before the disputed term broadens the disputed
term to “any” container. Pet. Reply 9.

The Specification describes a “container” in some
detail, a description which we noted above in constru-
ing “container.” See Ex. 1001, 3:29 35. The Specifi-
cation describes “container” as follows:

A container is an interactive nestable logical
domain configurable as both subset and su-
perset, including a minimum set of attributes
coded into dynamic interactive evolving regis-
ters, containing any information component,
digital code, file, search string, set, database,
network, event or process, and maintaining a
unique network-wide lifelong identity.

Id. (emphasis added). Among other things, the con-
tainer “maintain(s] a unique network-wide lifelong
identity.” Id. at 3:34 35. While “first register” ap-
pears only in the Abstract and the claims, registers
are described and include “an identity register main-
taining a unique network wide identification and ac-
cess location for a given container.” PO Resp. 17 (cit-
ing Ex. 1001, 3:57 64) (emphasis omitted). The
claims do not include an “identity register,” but do in-
clude the “first register,” and the term under consid-
eration, “a unique container identification value.”
While Petitioner correctly notes that the Green Dep-
osition states the “identity register” is an “example,”
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Dr. Green goes on to testify “[h]Jowever, I think that
from the context of the specification, my interpreta-
tion is that those descriptions refer to the first regis-
ter for storing a unique container identification
value.” Ex. 2009, 113:11 15. Based on the Specifica-
tion, we conclude the description of “identity register”
in the Specification describes the “unique container
1dentification value” of the “first register.” There is
no other reasonable explanation associating the func-
tionality of the “identity register” with the claimed
invention. Petitioner’s argument that the “identity
register” is an “example” does not persuade us other-
wise. Pet. Reply 9. An “example” does not preclude
the “first register” claimed from being described as
the “identity register,” particularly given that “first
register” is not otherwise described in the Specifica-
tion and “identity register” is not part of any claim.

We disagree with Petitioner’s argument that
claims asserted in the prosecution history are irrele-
vant to claim construction. Pet. Reply 10. We note
that originally filed claim 30 recites, in pertinent
part: “steps of determining identification information
are performed by reading respective identification
registers of the first and second containers.” We read
this language to support Patent Owner’s contention
that each container has an “identification register” to
determine whether interaction between containers is
allowed. Originally filed claim 30 recites in part
“reading respective identification registers.” Claim
30’s language corresponds to the Specification’s de-
scription of the “identity register” and the claimed
“first register for storing a unique container identifi-
cation value.”

Neither party has specifically relied on any extrin-
sic evidence and our construction is based primarily
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on intrinsic evidence. To the extent the Houh and
Green Depositions may be considered extrinsic evi-
dence; we have considered the party’s citations to
them, noting them above.

Thus, we adopt Patent Owner’s proposed con-
struction and construe “first register having a unique
container identification value” to mean “a first regis-
ter having a value that uniquely identifies the given
container.”

B. Anticipation of Claims 2 12, 14 and 16 by Gibbs

Petitioner contends that claims 2 14 and 16 of the
’536 patent are anticipated under 35 U.S.C. § 102(e)
by Gibbs. Pet. 12 31. To support this position, Peti-
tioner cites the testimony of Henry Houh. The only
ground of unpatentability presented is anticipation.?

“[U]nless a reference discloses within the four cor-
ners of the document not only all of the limitations
claimed but also all of the limitations arranged or
combined in the same way as recited in the claim, it
cannot be said to prove prior invention of the thing
claimed and, thus, cannot anticipate under 35 U.S.C.
§ 102.” Net Moneyln, Inc. v. VeriSign, Inc., 545 F.3d
1359, 1371 (Fed. Cir. 2008). Notwithstanding the pre-
ceding, we must analyze prior art references as a
skilled artisan would, but this is “not, however, a sub-
stitute for determination of patentability in terms of
§ 103.” Cont’l Can Co. USA v. Monsanto Co., 948 F.2d
1264, 1268 69 (Fed. Cir. 1991).

5 Patent Owner “reasserts” its objection to the Petition as im-
properly incorporating by reference the Houh Declaration. PO
Resp. 22, n.5 (citing 37 C.F.R. § 42.6 (a)(3)).
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For reasons discussed below, Petitioner has not
established by a preponderance of the evidence that
claims 2 12, 14, and 16 are unpatentable as antici-
pated by Gibbs.

1. Gibbs Overview

Gibbs describes a system and process for monitor-
ing and managing the operation of a railroad system.
Ex. 1006, 3:65 4:10. The railroad management sys-
tem operates on a computer system and its compo-
nents are connected via a network. Id. at 5:12 14.
Figure 1 is reproduced below.
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Figure 1 is an object based railroad transportation
network management system. As shown in Figure 1,
central computer 26 organizes and stores this rail-
road system information so that it can later retrans-
mit the information in response to a request from any
node 24, 28, 29, 30, 32, or 34. Ex. 1001, 5:28 31.

The system is object oriented and uses objects to
represent important aspects of the railroad system
such as train object 72, locomotive object 74, crew ob-
ject 78, car object 80, end-of-train object 82, and com-
puterized train control object 89. Id. at 7:5 8. A map
object library contains map objects to generate a
transportation network map object and to display
and transmit information in response to a user re-
quest. Id. at 8:53 63. A control management object
allows the user to activate any object within the map
object library. Id. at 8:20 31.

Duncan 1; 0276



63a

Each object in the railroad management system
has at least four distinct types of data: locational at-
tributes, labeling attributes, consist attributes, and
timing attributes. Id. at 9:28 10:4, Fig. 7. These at-
tributes can include information such as a unique ID,
the physical location of the object, and object specific
data. Id. at 10:46 51. Each object contains references
to its associated data structure, i.e., the four data
types described above, and program instructions. Id.
at 7:21 27.

2. Whether Gibbs discloses the claimed “container’™

In the Petition, Petitioner argued the objects used
by Gibbs’s railroad management system are exam-
ples of logically defined data enclosures. Pet. 13.

The objects are, therefore, the “containers” speci-
fied in the preamble of claim 27 of the ’536 patent. Id.
(citing Ex. 1003 49 107 111). In its Reply, Petitioner
contends Gibbs “shows the claimed ‘container’ via its
description of a collection of transport, map, and re-
port objects that are instantiated and used to display
maps and reports to users.” Pet. Reply 1, 3 (citing Pet.
at 15,18 19, 23; Ex. 1003 99 89 90, 94, 96 97; “Houh
Supplemental Declaration,” Ex. 1009 49 5 16). Dr.
Houh wuses the term “TMR subsystem,” 1i.e.,
“transport object/map object/report object,” as “short-
hand for the architecture and objects” described in

6 Both independent claims 2 and 16 include the limitation in
question.

7 The preamble forms an antecedent basis for “containers” as
used in the claims and will be given weight. See, Eaton Corp. v.
Rockwell Int’l Corp., 323 F.3d 1332, 1339 (Fed. Cir. 2003).

Duncan 1; 0277



64a

Gibbs’s collection of objects. Pet. Reply 2. “TMR sub-
system” is not a term used in Gibbs.

a. Denial of Petition based on change of theory

Patent Owner argues that Petitioner changed its
position from citing Gibbs’s objects as meeting the
container limitation to now contending the TMR sub-
system is the “container.” PO Resp. 24 (citing Ex.
1008, 102:19 104:13). Patent Owner characterizes
the change as a switch from express anticipation to
an inherency argument. Id. at 37. Patent Owner con-
tends we should deny the Petitioner because of the
change of position. Id. at 38.

The Petition asserted that the objects of Gibbs
meet the container limitation. Pet. 13 (citing Ex. 1003
99 107 111). In particular, on behalf of Petitioner,
Dr. Houh asserted that “[T]he objects used by the
Gibbs railroad management system are examples of
logically defined data enclosures, and exemplify the
‘containers’ claimed in claim 2 of the ’536 patent.” Ex.
1003 § 110. Patent Owner notes that Dr. Houh sub-
sequently stated in his deposition that the TMR sub-
system “must be” present in Gibbs. PO Resp. 3. Pa-
tent Owner argues that this testimony represents an
impermissible change in Petitioner’s position from
express anticipation to inherent anticipation. PO
Resp. 3, 24, 37 38. Petitioner denies it 1s now pro-
ceeding on an inherency theory, arguing that Dr.
Houh’s use of the label “TMR subsystem” during his
deposition is a shorthand for the architecture and ob-
jects in Gibbs that anticipate the claims, rather than
new evidence. Pet. Reply 3. Dr. Houh contends that
his position is not new. Ex. 1009 438. Nevertheless,
Petitioner argues that anticipation exists when a
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claimed limitation is implicit in the relevant refer-
ence. Id. at 5.

Anticipation by Gibbs remains the sole challenge
asserted by Petitioner. Even if Petitioner has altered
some of its positions concerning its challenge, in this
case we do not find cause to dismiss the Petition on
that basis. In view of Petitioner’s argument that it
has not changed its position, we proceed on the basis
that Dr. Houh stands by his testimony that “[T]he ob-
jects used by the Gibbs railroad management system
are examples of logically defined data enclosures, and
exemplify the ‘containers’ claimed in claim 2 of the
’536 patent.” Ex. 1003 9 110.

b. Whether the “collection of transport, map and
report objects” of Gibbs discloses “a plurality of
containers” comprising all the registers of the
claims

The objects of Gibbs fall within our construction of
“container” as meaning “a logically defined data en-
closure which encapsulates any element or digital
segment (text, graphic, photograph, audio, video, or
other), or set of digital elements.” We, however, de-
termine that Gibbs does not disclose a “container” as
claimed. Claims 2 and 16 recite “each container being
a logically defined data enclosure and comprising,”
among other things, the specified registers. As dis-
cussed above, each of the active, passive, and neutral
registers of claim 2 “identif[y] space” in which the
claimed container “will act,” “can be acted upon,” and
“may interact with other containers, processes, sys-
tems, or gateways.” Claim 16 recites a second register
that “govern[s] interactions of the container with
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other containers, systems or processes.”® Claim 16
also recites an “acquire register” that controls
“whether the container adds a register from other
containers or adds a container from other containers
when interacting with them.”

In order to show that the various objects of Gibbs
are the necessary registers of the claimed “container,”
Petitioner argues that the “discrete” entities of Gibbs
are within an “object-oriented programming struc-
ture” as is conventionally known. Pet. Reply 4 (citing
Ex. 1003 99 78, 89; Ex. 1006, 7:24 27) (emphasis
omitted). Thus, according to Petitioner, Gibbs’s sys-
tem combines the transport, map, and report objects
so a user can access data about the train system. Id.
at 4 5. Petitioner contends this “[cJompound ‘object’
created by combining the transport, map, and report
objects in varying manners to give users access to
real-time data about the train system is plainly a
‘container.” Id. (citing Ex. 1009 9 33 37, 42 48; see
Ex. 1001, 3:28 34). Thus, Petitioner contends the
“discrete” objects of Gibbs may be combined to dis-
close the registers of the claimed “container.” See Pet.
13 18.

Patent Owner disputes Petitioner’s contention
that Gibbs shows a collection of objects that disclose
the claimed “container.” PO Resp. 25. Patent Owner
argues Gibbs discloses “22 distinct objects” which are
“treated by the processing unit 48 as discrete enti-
ties.” Id. (citing Ex. 1006, 7:24 27; 8:20 23; 8:48 52;
9:27 31). In addition, Patent Owner argues that

8 Furthermore, each claimed container of claims 2 and 16 has a
gateway attached to it. (Ex. 1001, 30:55-57; 32:43—45). Similar
to the registers, the gateway “control[s] the interaction of the
container with other containers, systems or processes.”
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Gibbs differentiates between two “genuses of objects,”
1.e., transport objects and service objects, which do
not overlap. Id. More specifically, the transport ob-
jects are detailed in a transport object library as
shown in Figure 5 of Gibbs. Id. Details of service
objects are shown in Figures 6a, 6b, and 6¢. Id. at 26.

Because the objects are discrete, Patent Owner ar-
gues Gibbs’s attributes and other data items belong
with a specific object and not every object. PO Resp.
26. In support of its argument, Patent Owner points
to the attributes of the transport object data struc-
ture, e.g., locational attributes, labelling attributes,
consist attributes, and timing attributes, are re-
trieved to effect maps in the map object library. Id.
(citing Ex. 1006, Fig. 7, 9:58 67). The attributes de-
scribed in Gibbs’s transport object are not, according
to Patent Owner, attributes of any other object. Id.

Petitioner further argues what an anticipatory
reference teaches must be viewed from the perspec-
tive of the person of ordinary skill and what is im-
plicit in the reference. Pet. Reply 5. Thus, Petitioner
relies on various disclosures from Gibbs to support its
contention that the collection of objects having differ-
ent functions and attributes, e.g., transport, map,
and report objects, would be considered a container to
a person of ordinary skill. Id. at 5 6.

As discussed above, the Houh Declaration submit-
ted with the Petition contends that the objects of
Gibbs “exemplify the ‘containers’ claimed in claim 2
of the 536 patent.” Ex. 1003 9 110. However, the
Houh Deposition states that the container is “the
thing that comprises the transport object library ob-
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jects, the map object library objects, report object li-
brary objects that are instantiated and running in the
system.” Ex. 1008, 73:17 24. The Houh Supple-
mental Declaration alleges the deposition testimony
1s consistent with the Houh Declaration. Ex. 1009
38. We have reviewed the paragraphs of the Houh
Declaration submitted with the Petition (Ex. 1003 9
90, 92, 94, 96 97, 104) cited in the Houh Supple-
mental Declaration at paragraph 38. Other than
110 of the Houh Declaration, the Houh Supplemental
Declaration does not identify any specific object or
collection of objects as constituting the “container.”

Petitioner also argues that its position in the Pe-
titioner Reply on what constitutes a “container” is
supported by the original Houh Declaration. Pet. Re-
ply 3 (citing Ex. 1003 99 89 90, 94, 96 97). As dis-
cussed above, however, the original Houh Declara-
tion described the various objects of Gibbs in some de-
tail but, other than paragraph 110, did not specify
what particular object or group of objects constitutes
a “container.”

Petitioner argues that what an anticipatory refer-
ence teaches must be analyzed from the perspective
of one of ordinary skill and that is it proper to take
into account not only specific teachings of the refer-
ences, but also what inferences one of ordinary skill
in the art reasonably would be expected to draw. Pet.
Reply. 5 (citations omitted). In view of the apparently
inconsistent testimony of Dr. Houh, we are not per-
suaded that the inferences a person of ordinary skill
reasonably would be expected to draw from Gibbs
would anticipate the claimed “container.” The Houh
Declaration is not consistent in identifying where the
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“container” element is found in Gibbs. The Houh Dec-
laration differs from the Houh Deposition and Houh
Supplemental Declaration. We relied on the Houh
Declaration in instituting inter partes review. Dec.
Inst. 17 18. Petitioner now relies on the Houh Depo-
sition testimony and Houh Supplemental Declara-
tion. See, e.g., Pet. Reply 3 (heading A.), 4. As such,
Petitioner’s evidence is inconsistent and does not
specify where the container element i1s found in

Gibbs.

Instead, we credit the testimony of Patent
Owner’s expert, Dr. Green, who testifies that the
transport object library of Gibbs is distinct from the
service object library. Ex. 2006 Y9 86 94; see Ex.
1006, Fig. 4. Dr. Green concludes:

Gibbs thus discloses the objects in Figure 4 as
falling into two genuses: transport objects and
service objects. Gibbs discloses each of these ge-
nuses as a library (i.e., “transport object library
64” and service object library 66”) that consists
of specific types of objects.

Ex. 2006 9 88. This testimony distinguishes the
claimed container from the two separate collections
of objects, transport and service, in Gibbs. Neither
are we persuaded by the extensive description in the
Houh Declaration of the various objects of Gibbs. Pet.
Reply 3 (citing Ex. 1003 99 89 100, 108 109). We
agree with Patent Owner that “Gibbs does not dis-
close any single,” logically defined container that
“comprises the instantiation of the transport, map,
and object libraries.” PO Resp. 39.
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Thus, while Gibbs may disclose some objects that
function like the claimed registers, Gibbs does not
disclose the claimed container. Rather, the “attrib-
utes or data items disclosed by Gibbs are each de-
scribed as belonging to particular objects, not as ge-
nerically belonging to every object in Gibbs’[s] sys-
tem.” PO Resp. 26.

c. Nesting of containers-inherency

Petitioner states it is not proceeding on principles
of inherency, arguing the disclosure is explicit. Pet.
Reply 3. Patent Owner noted that, while it is “un-
clear,” Dr. Houh apparently argued the disclosure of
Gibbs inherently disclosed the claimed container. PO
Resp. 38 40 (citing Ex. 1008, 76:23 78:10, 75:16
76:16).

The argument Patent Owner understood as one of
inherency was based on the TMR subsystem “nest-
ing,” which also is described in the ’536 patent. Id. at
39. Patent Owner contends nesting is present only
when a container includes “the logical description of
another container.” Id. (citing Ex. 1001 at 9:4 9;
4:46 53). Patent Owner argues Gibbs does not dis-
close any nestable containers each including the log-
ical description of another container. Id. Petitioner
responds that nothing in the claim language limits
encapsulation of other containers to those including
a logical description of another container. Pet. Reply
6 7.

Patent Owner raises nesting only in the context of
a perceived inherency argument by Petitioner. PO
Resp. 39. Petitioner is not alleging inherency. Pet.
Reply 3. Thus, inherency is not before us.
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To the extent Petitioner perceives nesting as sup-
porting its argument that Gibbs discloses the claimed
container, it is not persuasive. Petitioner argues that
Gibbs discloses a unique ID for the transport object
within the boundaries of the map. Id. at 7. That one
object of Gibbs has a unique ID allowing it to interact
with another object is insufficient. The ’536 discloses
that every container includes a logical description of
“all containers defined and to be defined in cyber-
space.” Ex. 1001, 9:8 9. As discussed above, this fea-
ture 1s claimed, for example,? in the neutral register
of claim 2 which recites that “each container” of the
apparatus claimed has a neutral register that “may
Iinteract” with other containers. That one transport
object of Gibbs has an ID that allows it to be available
to one other object does not disclose what is claimed.
See PO Resp. 28 (arguing transport objects have
unique IDs but service objects do not).

d. Conclusion

For the reasons discussed above, we determine
Petitioner has not shown by a preponderance of the
evidence that Gibbs discloses the claimed container.

3. Whether Gibbs Discloses “first register having a
unique container identification value”

Petitioner also contends the railroad management
system of Gibbs also discloses the claimed “plurality
of registers” because it includes a number of libraries.
Pet. 18 (citing Ex. 1003 99 77, 82 85, 87, 115 117).
Petitioner argues the “first register” of claim 1 is dis-

9 Claim 2 includes four other registers.
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closed in Gibbs because objects in the train manage-
ment system of Gibbs have unique IDs which corre-
spond to the object. Id. (citing Ex. 1003, 9 82, 118-
119).

Specifically, Petitioner relies on the transport ob-
ject, which is uniquely identified. Pet. Reply 10. Peti-
tioner’s position is based on its proposed construction
of “a unique container identification value,” that
“any” one object or container with a unique ID meets
the limitation. We construed the term above and
found that the term relates to a value that “uniquely
identifies the given container.” Thus, each container
claimed must include the first register having a
unique identifier. Gibbs is presented by Petitioner as
showing only the transport object, i.e., container,
with a unique identifier.

For the reasons discussed above, we determine
Petitioner has not shown by a preponderance of the
evidence that Gibbs discloses “a first register having
a unique container identification value.”

4. Whether Gibbs Discloses “a neutral space register”

Claim 2 recites a “neutral space register for iden-
tifying space in which the container may interact with
other containers, processes, systems, or gateways.”
(Emphasis added). Gibbs discloses a train consist re-
port. Ex. 1006, 16:53 17:4. To generate a train con-
sist report a particular train is selected. Id. A train
report object retrieves data from the train object and
car object of the selected train. Id. The train report
object allows the user to see graphically the position-
ing of the cars in the selected train. Id. Petitioner al-
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leges the train object and car object therefore inter-
sect, 1.e., interact, in the report object to meet the neu-
tral register limitation. Pet. 18 (citing Ex. 1003 9
98).10

Patent Owner argues the fact that the train con-
sist report lists the train object and associated car ob-
jects does not show the required interaction with
other objects, i.e., containers. PO Resp. 50 51. Pa-
tent Owner contends the mere retrieval of data and
reporting the data graphically is not the required in-
teraction because each of the train and car objects
separately returns the data. Id. at 51.

Patent Owner further argues Gibbs does not
“identify space” where interaction may occur. PO
Resp. 52. Instead, a user of the train management
system of Gibbs selects a train. Id. Only after the
train is selected is locational information in the form
of latitude and longitude generated for the selected
train. Id. Patent Owner contends that the train con-
sist report described in Gibbs is based on train selec-
tion, “not the locations of the train and cars.” Id. (cit-
ing Ex. 1006, 16:53 54 (“To generate a train consist
report, the train report object 414 prompts the user
to select a particular train.”)). To the extent train lo-
cation is identified by latitude and longitude, Patent

10 Tn its Response at page 20, Patent Owner objects to the Deci-
sion on Institution stating: “In addition, Petitioner cites the dis-
closures related to the active and passive space registers, as
meeting the neutral space register limitation.” Dec. Inst. 20 (cit-
ing Pet. 18 (citing Ex. 1003 9 138-140)). The Decision on Insti-
tution found support for a “neutral space register” based on the
map report object generated from the train and car objects. Id.
The quote above was a restatement of Petitioner’s argument,
prefaced by “[i]n addition.”
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Owner argues they are “mere data; they do not iden-
tify the space in which the ‘interaction’ may occur.”
Id. We find both of Patent Owner’s substantive argu-
ments relating to Gibbs’s train report persuasive.

First, the claim limitation requires “interaction”
and the mere collection of separate data does not dis-
close any interaction. Second, merely because spatial
information is generated after another event, i.e., se-
lection of a train object is not “identifying space,” it
is, at best, identifying space based on another action.
The claim language supports both of our conclusions.

Petitioner’s Reply fails to address the arguments
made by Patent Owner, restating what is shown in
Gibbs, and concluding the train reports shows inter-
action. Pet. Reply 14 15. Similarly, Petitioner conclu-
sorily argues “the location of the transport object”
meets the “identifying space” limitation. Id. at 15.
These arguments are not persuasive because they fail
to set forth a factual basis and persuasive rationale
for reaching the conclusion.

Thus, we determine Petitioner has not shown by a
preponderance of the evidence that Gibbs discloses
“neutral space register” as claimed.

5. Whether Gibbs discloses an “active space
. 2 ¢ . . ) « .
register,” “passive space register,” and “acquire
register”

Claim 16 is not unpatentable as anticipated by
Gibbs because Gibbs does not disclose either the
claimed container or the first register. Claim 2 is not
anticipated for the additional reason that the neutral
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register is not disclosed by Gibbs. Given our conclu-
sions above, we need not address Patent Owner’s ad-
ditional arguments regarding the other claimed reg-
isters of claims 2 and 16.

6. Conclusion

Petitioner has not shown by a preponderance of
the evidence that independent claims 2 and 16 are
anticipated under § 102(e) by Gibbs.

Claims 3 12, and 14 are multiply dependent on
claims 1 or 2. By reason of their dependency on claim
2, Petitioner has not shown by a preponderance of the
evidence that claims 3 12, and 14 are anticipated un-
der § 102(e) by Gibbs.

B. Patent Owner’s Motion to Exclude

Patent Owner filed a Motion to Exclude (“Mot. Ex-
clude,” Paper 34) the Houh Supplemental Declara-
tion. The Houh Supplemental Declaration was filed
with Petitioner’s Reply Brief. Mot. Exclude 2. Peti-
tioner filed an Opposition to Patent Owner’s Motion
to Exclude. (“Opp. Mot. Exclude,” Paper 36). Peti-
tioner alleges principally that the Houh Supple-
mental Declaration was not objected to prior to filing
the Motion to Exclude. Opp. Mot. Exclude 1. Patent
Owner did not file a Reply.

Patent Owner must object to the evidence it seeks
to exclude. 37 C.F.R. § 42.64(a). Once an objection is
filed, a motion to exclude “must be filed to preserve
any objection.” 37 C.F.R. § 42.64(c). The motion to ex-
clude must identify the objection. Id.
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There is no record that Patent Owner objected.
The Motion to Exclude does not identify any objec-
tion, as is required. Accordingly, the Motion to Ex-
clude is denied.

ORDER
ORDERED,
For the reasons given, it is

ORDERED that claims 2 12, 14, and 16 of U.S.
Patent No. 7,010,536 have not been shown by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence to be unpatentable;

FURTHER ORDERED that Patent Owner’s Mo-
tion to Exclude is denied; and

FURTHER ORDERED that, because this is a Fi-
nal Written Decision, parties to the proceeding seek-
ing judicial review of the decision must comply with

the notice and service requirements of 37 C.F.R. §
90.2.
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Summary of Post-Alice Decisions by the Federal
Circuit

The following chart summarizes the Section 101
patent-eligibility decisions from the Federal Circuit
since 2014. Decisions in which patents were held inel-
igible are listed first. Within that category, decisions
in which the Federal Circuit did not provide an opinion
are listed first
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In summary:

Of 94 Section 101 appeals of lower court patent
ineligibility rulings, the Federal Circuit upheld
patent ineligibility in 87 cases.

In one additional case, the Federal Circuit re-
versed a district court decision that the patent
was eligible, making 88 total Federal Circuit de-
cisions holding patents ineligible.

Of these 88 Federal Circuit decisions holding
patents ineligible, 51 were affirmances without
opinion.

Of the 87 Federal Circuit affirmances of ineligi-
bility, in 55 the district court invalidated the pa-
tents on the pleadings alone.

Of the 55 Federal Circuit affirmances of ineligi-
bility, 35 decisions affirmed without an opinion
the district court’s pleadings invalidation.

Only seven decisions out of 94 total appeals of
patent 1ineligibility reversed district court

opinions holding the underlying patents ineligi-
ble.

Two cases were appeals of a district court deci-
sion denying a JMOL of patent invalidity, which
the Federal Circuit affirmed, upholding eligibil-
ity.

One district court ruling of patent ineligibility
was reversed on claim construction, therefore
not reaching the ineligibility holding.
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, November 09, 2017 10:34 AM

To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Ce: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Fwd: request for interview/comment from The Nation

All:

| received the email below from the Nation, and as I've been instructed | referred her to DOJ's press
office.

_
(b) (5)

Thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street NW. Suite 900 Washington, DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) QTG (movile)

KDuncan@ Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s} named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

Begin forwarded message:

From: Sarah Posner (b) (6) >

Subject: request for interview/comment from The Nation
Date: November 9, 2017 at 10:22:.07 AM EST

To: kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com

Hi Kyle,

For a story I'm writing for The Nation (deadline Monday, Nov. 13) about Alliance Defending
Freedom and the Masterpiece Cakeshop case, | wanted to talk with you about the grants
to your law firm from ADF for The Marriage Project, as well as your role as an allied
attorney with ADF. Would you have a few moments to chat on the phone between now and
and end of day Monday? Many thanks.

De-s
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pest,
Sarah

Sarah Posner
202.813.0084
s (b) (6)

www.sarah posner.com
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www.sarahposner.com

Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, November 09, 2017 4:17 PM

To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO; Robert EOP/WHO Luther; Talley, Brett (OLP)
Ce: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Hayride

http://thehayride.com/2017/11/push-get-conservative-superstar-kyle-duncan-appointed-5th-circuit/

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCANLLP
1717 K Street NW_ Suite 900 | Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) m (mobile)

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

Sent: Monday, November 20, 2017 1:23 PM

To: (b)() - Michael McGinley Email Address|(b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Address s gV| ISV 1ot
(OLP); Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Subject: Hayride

Look at this:

http://thehayride.com/2017/11/kennedys-treatment-kyle-duncans-5th-circuit-nomination-concerning/

Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 800
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)

(cell)

Kduncan@®5Schaerr-Duncan.com
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Monday, November 20, 2017 6:31 PM

To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Dickey, Jennifer (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: Good news

Attachments: 2017-11-20 Chair to Stuart Kyle Duncan regarding Nomination to the United

States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.pdf

D)) —

Kyle Duncan
SCHAFRRE | DUNCAN LLE
1717 K Street NW, Suite 800 Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) NN (mobile)
KDuncan@ Schaenr-Duncan com  www.Schaen-Duncan com

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

. .2 AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION Standing Committee on
" 9th Floor the Federal Judiciary

1909 K Street, NW Please respond to:
Washington, D.C. 20006-1115 Pamela A. Bresnahan
FIRST CIRCUIT Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP
Peter Bennett 1909 K Sll’ﬁﬁl, N.W.
Suite 300 9" Floor
121 Middle Street  Waghington, D.C. 20006
Portiand, MEO4101-7123 B mail: pabresnahan@vorys.com

SECOND CIRCUIT

Joseph M. Drayton

1114 Avenue of the Americas -
New York, NY 10036-7798 November 20’ 2017

THIRD CIRCUIT

ndrianeJ.0udey  VTA E-MAIL AND U.S. MAIL

Suite 3

s19a oronningensGade  Stuart Kyle Duncan, Esquire

St. Th ., VI 00B02-6921
omes Schaerr Duncan LLP
FOURTH CIRCUIT

Timothy W. Bouch 1717 K Strcet, N.W.
Charleston, SC 22?02—?02: Suite 900

FIFTH CIRCUIT Washington, D.C. 20006

J. Douglas Minor, Jr
Suite 400

138 B ol Woper Re:  Nomination to the United States Court of Appeals
lackson, MS 39201-2100 f h F'f h C' 2
SIXTH CIRCUIT or t eI t lrcult
John R. Tarpley
Suite 2500
machuchseer  1De€@r Mr. Duncan:
Nashville, TN 37219-8615

SEVENTH CIRCUIT T . T . . P
Tiffany M. Ferguson I'he American Bar Association Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary

Suite 879 L ) 4 i z 4 . : *
Bl has completed its evaluation of your qualifications with regard to your nomination to

Chicago, IL 60615-4573 the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. As you know, the Standing

E"éﬂ:ai'“”':a‘:g Committee confines its evaluation to the qualities of integrity, professional
1653 N. Applebury Drive competence, and judicial temperament. A Substantial Majority of the Standing

Fayetteville, AR 72701-2418 " . “ . i ¥ .
e ev':lmmcmw” Committee is of the opinion that you are “Well-Qualified,” and a Minority

Marcia Davenport determined that you are Qualified to serve on the United States Court of Appeals for
ey the Fifth Circuit. The Majority Rating represents the Committee’s official rating.

900 Morth Last Chance Gulch
Helena, MT 59601

e g I have enclosed copies of my letters to Chairman Grassley and Ranking

o scalfomiastreet Member Feinstein of the Senate Judiciary Committee, and to White House Counsel,
rentnarcurr M1, Donald F. McGahn, II, advising them of the Standing Committee's determination.
Shannon L. Edwards

3400 South Air Depot Boulevard 4 " % i i
Edmond, OK 73013-9029 Congratulations and best wishes with the upcoming hearing.

ELEVENTH CIRCUIT
Robert L. Rothman

Suite 2100 Sincerely,
171 17th Street, NW 1
Atlanta, GA 30363-1031 J . ;
D.C. CIRCUIT > B, S //',4 LI Mz =
Robert P, Trout )({ i ¥ 'L{',_.C'J,{ (,( y 1\) el AL —
Suite 200 s '
1350 Connecticut Avenue, NW PamCIa A . Bl‘&snahan

Washington, D.C. 20036-1728

FEDERAL CIRCUIT PAB/tjs

Marylee Jenkins Enc]osures
1675 Broadway

New York, NY 100195820 CC Robert L. Rothman (via e-mail only)
STAFF COUNSEL ABA Standing Committee on the Federal Judiciary (via e-mail only)
Denise A. Cardman
Suite 400

1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20036-5306
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Tuesday, November 21, 2017 8:32 AM

To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO; Luther, Robert EOP/WHO; Talley, Brett (OLP);
Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Subject: Hayride update

http://thehayride.com/2017/11/kennedys-treatment-kyle-duncans-5th-circuit-nomination-concerning/

Thanks again for the great prep yesterday. (b) ()

KD

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR DUNCAN LLP

1717 K Street WW, Suite 'ashington: DC 20006
202-787-1060 {office) _ ) (mobile)
KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com waw Schaen-Duncan com

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

Sent: Tuesday, November 21, 2017 4:13 PM

To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WH O; Luther, Robert EOP/WHO; Talley, Brett (OLP); Dickey,
Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: Fwd: [PRESS RELEASE: Louisiana Business and Free-Market Leaders Support Nominations

of Kyle S. Duncan and Judge Kurt D, Engelhardt

FYl

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCANLLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office) E! ﬂm {mobils)
KEDuncan @8chasrr-Duncancom www.Schaerr-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intende d only for the personal and confidential use of the recipientis) named
above. If you have rece ived ths communication in error, plea= notfy usimmediate by by e-mail, and de ete the original mess=ge.

Begin forwarded message:

From: Stephen Waguespack <stephenw@labi org>

Subject: Fwd: 7PRESS RELEASE: Louisiana Business and Free-Market Leaders
Support Nominations of Kyle S. Duncan and Judge Kurt D. Engelhardt

Date: November 21,2017 at4:11:29 PM EST

To: "kduncan@schaemr-duncan com"” <kduncan@schaerr-duncan cony

FYl
Sent from my iPhone
Begin forwarded message:

From: LABI Communications <camillei@|abi.org>

Date: November 21, 2017 at 2:04:57 PM CST

To: <stephenw@labi.org>

Subject: ?PRESS RELEASE: Louisiana Business and Free-Market Leaders Support
Nominations of Kyle S. Duncan and Judge Kurt D. Engelhardt

Reply-To: LABI Communications <camillei@labi.org>

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
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Contact: Camille vy-O’'Donnell
Communications Manager

Louisiana Association of Business and Industry
(817) 944-5091

camillei@labi.org

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE:

Louisiana Business and Free-Mariet Leaders Support Nominations of
Kyle S. Duncan and Judge Kurt D. Engelhardt

Baton Rouge, LA. ([November 21, 2017) - Friday, Novenber 17th, the
Louisiana Association of Business and Industry (LAEBI), in conjunctio n with the
Louisiana Cil and Gas Association (LOGA) and the Pelican Institute for Public
Paolicy, voiced their support for the nominations of Kyle S. Duncan and Judge Kurt
D. Engelhardt to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals.

‘Louisiana native Kyle S. Duncan and Judge Kurt Engelhandt are excellent
choices for the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. We represent businesses and free-
market policy leaders in Louisiana witha broad range of political views and a
shared commitment to a thriving Louisiana economy. Having well-qualified judges
and a fair and impartial judiciary serves the interest of all businesses by creating a
level playing field wath a robust commitment to the rule of law.”

“Our state is in dire need of strong leadership, and our court systemis no
exception,” Stephen Waguespack LABI's president and CEQ, said. “Mr. Duncan
and Judge Engelhardt have proven time and time again their steadfast
commitment to a fair and imparial judiciary system. |, along with my colleges, urge
the swift confirmation of these strong candidates to the Fifth Circuit”

“The leadership, experience, and knowledge that Mr. Duncan and Judge
Engelhardt possess cannot be overstated,” said Don Briggs, president of
LOGA_ “As the business and industry community looks to clean up the legal
environment in order to attract more jobs and investment in Louisiana, itis
imperative that we confirm fair and impartial judges that realize the value that
businesses bring to our great state. | urge the swift confirmation of both Mr.
Duncan and Judge Engelhardt to the Fifth District Court of Appeals.”
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‘Liberty, equality, and the rule of law are fundamental to a free society and an
America where everyone can flourish and pursue opportunity. That's why it s so
important to have good judges at all levels of our judicial system who are
committed to upholding these principles and defending the Constitution of the
United States. Kye Duncan and Judge Kurt Engelhardt are two such men, and |
look forward to their swift confirmation to the Fifth Circult,” said Daniel Erspamer,
CEO of the Pelican Institute for Public Policy.

Read LABI LOGA and the Pelican Institute for Public Policy's joint letter HERE.
For Press Inquiries Contact
Camille - Donnell

(817)-944-5091
camillei@labi.om

About the Louisiana Association of Business and Industry

The Louisiana Association of Business and Industry was organized in 1975 to
represent Louisiana businesses. LABI is proud to be Lousiana's official state
chapter of the U 5. Chamber of Commerce and the National Association of
Manufacturers. LABI's pnmary goal is to foster a climate for economic growth by
championing the pnnciples of the free enterprise systemand representing the
general intere st of the business community through active involvement in political,
legislative, judicial and regulatory processes. Find out more information at

htip v labl org.

About the Louisiana Oil & Gas Association

The Louisiana Cil & Gas Association was organized in 1992 to represent the
Independent and senice sectors of the oil and gas industry in Louisiana; this
representation includes exploration, production and oilfield services LOGA's
primary goal is to provide our industry with a working eraronment that will
enhance the industry. LOGA services its membership by creating incentives for
Louisiana's oil & gas industry, warding off tax increase s, changing existing
burdensome regulations, and educating the public and government of the
importance of the oil and gas industry in the state of Louisiana. Find out more
information at: biip fwww lnga la

About the Pelican Institute for Public Policy
The Pelican Institute for Public Policy i1s a leading voice for free markets, individual
liberty, and economic opportunity in Louisiana. Founded in 2008, the Pelican

Institute 1s committed to conducting research and working to advance policies that
Duncan 1; 0315
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will create jobs and unleash op portunity for all Louisianans. To learn more, visit
www pelicaninstifuie ong.

s

Copyright © 2017 LAB!, Al ights resened.
You are receiving this imporant message because you are a walued member.

Qur mailing address is:
431 Flonada 5t, 11th Floor, Baton Rouge, LA 70801

Wantto change howyou receiwe these emails?
“ou can update your preferences or unsubscrbe fom this list
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan
Sent: Wednesday, November 22, 2017 5:57 PM
To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO; Talley, Brett (OLP); Luther, Robert EOF/WHO;
Dickey, lennifer (OLP)
Ce: Berry, Jonathan (OLP)
Subject: AFJ Report
Attachments: AFJ-Duncan-Report.pdf
Here's my AFJ report. (b) (5)
(b) (3)

I kind like the picture on the front, however. | wonder if they'd give me a copy...
Happy Thanksgiving!

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR ( DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW._ Suite 00 | Washington DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) (mobile)

KDunecan@ Schaen-Duncan.com  www.Schaerr-Dhuncan com

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

On October 2, 2017, President Trump nominated
Stuart Kyle Duncan for a seat vacated by W.
Eugene Davis on the United States Court of
Appeals for the Fifth Circuit! Alliance for Justice
strongly opposes his confirmation.

In opposing Executive nominations in the
past, Senate Republicans have claimed

that nominees whose records are defined

by political ideologies are disqualified. For
example, Senator Chuck Grassley claimed,
“[tIhe President’s nominee can't be so
committed to political causes, and so devoted
to political ideology, that it clouds his or her
judgment.”? Similarly, Senate Majority Leader
Mitch McConnell disqualified a nomine whose
litigation record was, in McConnell's words,
“marked by ideologically driven positions[.]™

Kyle Duncan is a nominee whose record is
unquestionably “marked by ideologically driven
positions.” In fact, Duncan has spent his career
fighting reproductive rights for women and

civil rights for LGBTQ Americans, defending
discriminatory voting laws, and dismantling
protections for immigrants:

» Duncan has fought contraception
coverage for women. He served as lead
counsel in Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores,

Inc. 134 S. Ct. 2751 (2014); he opposed
the Affordable Care Act’s contraception
mandate in an amicus brief in Zubic v

1 Press Release, Eight Nominations Sent to the Senate Today, The White House (June 7, 2017),

hitpsdwwwwhitehouse govihe-press-office/201710/023/eight-nominations-sent-senatetoday

2 Press Release, Senator Chuck Grassley, Grassley statement on the Nomination of Debo

Adegbile to be Assistant US Attorney (Mar 5, 2014), hitps.'wwwgrassleysenate gow/news/

newsTeleases/grassley-stetement-nomination-debo-adeqgbile-be-assistant-us-attorney

3 Press Release, Senator Mitch McConnell, McConnell to Oppose Justice Nomineg Over

Adwocacy on Behalf of Philadelphia Cop-Killer Mar 5, 2014}, hittps /Awww moconnell senate gow/
ublic/index cfm/pressreleases?ID=AFDCCD4C-73BG-ADEC-ASN-243AF 4 OCEOR
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Burwell, 136 5. Ct. 1557 (2016); and
he authored a brief in Stormans Inc.
v. Weisman, 794 F.3d 1064 (2015)
opposing a Washington law that
required pharmacies to stock some
forms of birth control.

» Duncan has fought against a
woman’s right to choose to have
an abortion. Duncan co authored
an amicus brief in Whole Woman’s
Health v Hellerstedt, 136 S. Ct. 2292
(2016) supporting Texas's restrictions
on abortion, restrictions that the
Supreme Court found were an undue
burden on the rights of women.*

» Duncan has actively fought LGBTQ
equality. Duncan authored briefs
opposing marriage equality in
Obergefell v Hodges, 576 U.S.
(2015) and supporting Louisiana’s and
Virginia’s discriminatory “Defense
of Marriage” laws in Robicheaux
v. George, 135 S.Ct. 995 (2015)
and Schaefer v. Bostic, 135 S.Ct.

308 (2014).5 Indeed, Duncan
guestioned the legitimacy of the
Supreme Court itself following the
Obergefell decision, saying “[the
same sex marriage case] raises a
question about the legitimacy of the
Court.”® Moreover, he has repeatedly
attacked the rights of same sex
couples attempting to adopt children.
See Adar v Smith, 597 F.3d 697 (5th
Cir. 2010); VL v E.L.,136 S. Ct. 1017

4 See Brief of Amicus Curiae Assoc of Am Physicians and Surgeons, Inc in Support
of Respondents, Whole Woman's Hegith v Hellerstedt, No 15-274 [Feb 3, 201G)

5 See Brief of Louisiana, et al, as Amici Curiae Supporting Respondents in Obemge-
fell v Hodges, Nos 14-556,14-562, 14571, 14-574 {Apr 2, 2015}); Respondents’ Brief in
Support of Petition for Writ of Certiorari Before Judgment in Robicheaux v Geonge, No
14-596 (Dec 2, 2014); Petition for a Writ of Certiorari in Schaeferv Bostic, No 14225
(Aug 22, 2015)

6 Intenview with Raymond Arroyo, World Over, EWTN Global Catholic Network {July
2,25}
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(2016). This year, he represented the
Gloucester County School Board in
Gloucester County Sch. Bd. v. G.G., No.
16 273 (Mar. 6, 2016). the well publicized
Gavin Grimm case, in which Duncan
fought to keep transgender students
from using the bathroom that conforms
to their gender identity by advancing
arguments that construe transgender
Americans as mentally ill. Disturbingly,
Duncan has spoken multiple times
before the Alliance Defending Freedom.”
The Southern Poverty Law Center has
classified the Alliance Defending Freedom
as a “Hate Group” that “has supported
the recriminalization of homosexuality in
the US. and criminalization abroad; has
defended state sanctioned sterilization
of trans people abroad; has linked
homosexuality to pedophilia and claims
that a ‘homosexual agenda’ will destroy
Christianity and society.”

» Duncan has fought to make it more
difficult for people of color to vote.
In North Carolina v. N.C. State Conf. of
NAACP, 137 S. Ct. 1399 (2017), he (along
with fellow Trump judicial nominee
Thomas Farr®) unsuccessfully petitioned
the Supreme Court to uphold a law that
attacked the voting rights of communities
of color, and that the Fourth Circuit said
had been enacted with discriminatory
intent, “target[ing] African Americans with
almost surgical precision[.]” North Carolina

State Conf of NAACP v. McCrory, 831
F.3d 204, 214 (2016). Similarly, Duncan

7 Sen Comm on the Judiciary, 115th Cong , Stuart Kyle Duncan: Questionnaire for Judicial
Nominees, 1

8 See Southern Poverty Lew Center, Extremist Files: Alliance Defending Freedom, available
at hitpsyfwww splcenter orgifighting-hate/extremistfiles/group/alliance-defending-freedom; see

also Alex Amend, Anti-L GET Hate Group Alflance Defending Freedom Defended State-En-
forced Sterilization for Tmnsgpndg’fumpeans SPLC HATEWATCH {Juh,r 2? 20‘1?’} hittps A

ed-state -:'nforced sterilization
9 SeeAlliance for Justice Report Thomas Farr, available at https:/www af] org/our-work/nomi
nees/thomas-alvin-farr
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defended a controversial voter photo
ID law in an amicus brief supporting
the state of Texas in Abbott v Veasey

137 S. Ct. 612 (2017).°

» Duncan has taken a hardline
stance against immigrants.
Duncan filed an amicus brief against
President Obama's Executive Order
that established the Deferred
Action for Parents of Americans
and Lawful Permanent Residents
(DAPA) program In his brief, Duncan
challenged the naturalization of
undocumented immigrants on the
basis that it threatens public safety
by arguing that “[m]any violent
criminals would likely be eligible to
receive deferred action under DAPA's
inadequate standards.”? This line
of reasoning reinforces troubling
stereotypes and misconceptions
about immigrants.

» Duncan has opposed criminal
Justice reform. For example, Duncan
challenged the retroactive application
of the Supreme Court’s decision in
Miller v. Alabama, 132 S. Ct. 2455
(2012), which held that mandatory
life sentences without the possibility
of parole were unconstitutional for
juveniles

» Duncan has made it clear he
will not respect legal precedent.
Federal judicial nominees often
stand before the Senate Judiciary

10 Brief of Amici Curiae Members of Congress Representing States in the Fifth Circuit
Supporting Petitioners in Abbott v Veasey, Mo 16-393 (Oct 27 2016)

11 Brief of Amici Curize National Shemiffs’ Assoc, the Rememberance Project, and
American Unity Legal Defense Fund Supporting Respondents in United States v Texas,
No 15-674 (Apr 4, 2016)

12 Id at™5

13 See Brief of Respondent State of Louisiana, Montgomery v Louisiana, No 14-2 80
(Aug 24, 2015}
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Committee and pledge that they will
follow judicial precedent. Duncan, by his
own admissions, has indicated he will not
respect precedent when he disagrees
with the outcome of a case. After the
Obergefell decision upheld the right to
same sex marriage, Duncan questioned
the legitimacy of the Supreme Court,
saying “[the same sex marriage case]
raises a question about the legitimacy

of the Court™ He similarly disparaged
the legitimacy of the Ninth Circuit before
the court heard a case that required
pharmacies to provide contraceptive
drugs.® And when asked at a Federalist
Society event about the Affordable Care
Act’s contraceptive mandate, Duncan
commented that he was “very friendly
philosophically to making arguments” not
to follow precedent®

BIOGRAPHY

Kyle Duncan was born in Baton Rouge,
Louisiana in 19727 He attended Louisiana State
University for both his undergraduate work and
law school, obtaining his degrees in 1994 and
1997, respectively. He later obtained his L.L.M.
from Columbia University Law School in 2004.

After graduating law school, Duncan clerked
for Hon. John M. Duhé, Jr. on the Fifth Circuit
Court of Appeals'® He then joined Vinson

& Elkins LLP for a year, before becoming

an Assistant Solicitor General in the Texas

14 Interview with Reymond Amroyo, World Ower, EWTN Global Catholic Network (July 2, 2015}
15 See Presenter, "Legal Issues in a Culture of Life Practice,” Annual Meeting of American
Academy of Fertility Care Professionals (Aug 10, 2013)

16 Duncan, Presenter at HH5 Contraceptive Mandate Litigation Update, Federalist Society
Religious Liberty Practice Group Podcast{Oct 25, 2012)

17 Sen Comm Onthe Jud ,115th Cong, Stuart Kyle Duncan: Guestionnaire for Judicial Nomi-
nees,1

18 Id at3
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Attorney General’s Office. In 2001, Duncan
joined the firm Weil, Gotshal & Manges
LLP for a year before stints teaching at
Columbia Law School and The University
of Mississippi School of Law. In 2008,

he became the appellate chief of the
Louisiana Attorney General’s Office.

He left the public sector in 2012 to join
the Becket Fund for Religious Liberty!® He
then left that position in 2016 to co found
his own firm, Schaerr Duncan LLP. Duncan
is currently one of three attorneys at the
firm, one of whom is fellow Trump judicial
nominee Stephen Schwartz.?°

LEGAL AND
OTHER

VIEWS

REPRODUCTIVE RIGHTS

Duncan has vigorously fought the
contraceptive mandate in the Affordable
Care Act. In fact, Duncan has dismissed
the importance of access to contraception.
For example, he has accused the
government of treating “contraceptives as
‘the sacrament of our modern life,” and
has criticized what he considers the idea
that contraceptives are “necessary for ‘the
good life, health and economic success of
society, particularly women."?

19 id at2

20 Alliance for Justice Report Stephen Schwartz, available at hitps:/fwwwaf] org/our
work/nominees/stephen-schwartz

21 Adelaide Darling, Experts warn of roubiing mindset behind conscience threats,
ETWN NEWS {Mar 5, 2013}, http://wwwewtnnews com/catholic-news/US php?id=7163
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Duncan has even questioned Supreme Court least.”
precedent in this area. When asked at a
Federalist Society event about the Affordable Duncan also co authored an amicus brief in
Care Act’s requirement to cover contraceptives, Zubik v. Burwell, another case challenging
Duncan was dismissive. A participant asked: the Affordable Care Act’s contraceptive
“ICJan’t we just once in a while make the mandate.?*
argument that shows that we do not accept
those precedents?” Duncan responded, “[W]ell, Duncan, like another Trump nominee,
you know | have to say | may be very friendly Matthew Kacsmaryk,?® unsuccessfully
philosophically to making arguments like opposed women’s reproductive rights
that..."?? in Stormans Inc. v. Weisman.?® Duncan
co wrote an amicus brief petitioning the
Most notably, Duncan served as lead counsel Supreme Court to overturn a Washington
in Hobby Lobby v. Burwell, where the Supreme state law that required pharmacists to stock
Court found in a 5 4 decision that closely a “representative assortment of drugs...in
held for profit corporations can have religious order to meet the pharmaceutical needs of
beliefs, and can deny contraceptive coverage its patients,” including birth control.?’
as part of their employer sponsored health
insurance plans when contraception conflicts In the Stormans case, the Ninth Circuit
with those beliefs. decided that the pharmacists were
required to follow the law, finding that
In his brief, Duncan minimized the burden when pharmacies deterred women from
placed on women by businesses that fail accessing birth control they burdened
to provide health insurance contraceptive “ensuring timely and safe delivery” of
coverage. In fact, he held that the impact on medical services. See Stormans, Inc., 794
women was irrelevant: F.3d at 1078. The Court elaborated on the
importance of women having access to
In a situation like this, where the birth control at a local pharmacy:
government program forces one party
to provide a benefit to another, the loss The immediate delivery of a drug is
of that benefit is not the kind of impact always a faster method of delivery
on third parties that should matter. than requiring a customer to travel
From the perspective of the [Religious elsewhere. Speed is particularly
Freedom Restoration Act], a hypothetical important considering the time
government mandate that a person mow sensitive nature of emergency
his lawn on Sundays should be analyzed contraception and of many other
no differently from a mandate that the medications. The time taken to travel
same person mow his neighbor’s lawn on to anther pharmacy, especially in rural
Sundays. The fact that the neighbor loses e e R S i
free yard work in one scenario does not 2 see el s cues Benanere eusen e St of e
alter the substantial burden analysis in the 5 ASorcn i iten Foned MR Keeni 2hiohe st lelioglons
26 See Brief of Amid Curige United States Conference of Catholic Bishops and Wash-
22 Duncan, Presenter at HHS Contraceptive Mandate Ltigation Update, Federalist Society ington State Catholic Conference Supporting Petitioners, No 15-862 (Feb 5, 2076)
Religious Libery Practice Group Podcast (Ot 25, 2012) 27 id
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areas where pharmacies are sparse, may
reduce the efficacy of those drugs.

Id. In addition, the Court focused on how
deferring pregnant customers “could lead

to feelings of shame in the patient[]” Id. The
Supreme Court denied the cert petition, leaving
the Ninth Circuit decision in place. Stormans
Inc. v. Weisman, 136 S. Ct. 2433 (2016).

When discussing Stormans before it arrived
in the Ninth Circuit, Duncan disparaged the
legitimacy of the court:

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals,

often, well let’s just say, goes off on its
own. One of the leading jurists on the
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, who will
remain nameless, because I'm sure this
talk is being recorded, said at one point
‘well sure | get some things wrong, but
the Supreme Court can't catch them all!
Right? This is the view of many on the
Ninth Circuit, although | am sure there are
some solid judges on the Ninth Circuit as
well 28

Beyond contraceptive access, Duncan

has consistently fought against women’s
reproductive rights in the form of the right to
choose to have an abortion. He co authored

an amicus brief in Whole Woman's Health v.
Hellerstedt, 136 S. Ct. 2292 (2016).2° The Whole
Woman'’s Heaith case involved a Texas law that
required abortion providers to have admitting
privileges within 30 miles of the clinic, which

led to a mass closing of facilities that offered
abortion procedures. Duncan’s brief argued that
the regulation “enhancefed] patient safety for an

28 See Presenter, "Legal Issues in a Culture of Life Practice,” Annual Meating of American
Academy of Fertility Care Professionals (Aug 10, 2013)

29 See Brief of Amicus Curige Assoc of Am Physicians and Surgeons, Inc in Support of
Respondents, Whole Woman's Health v Hellerstedt, No 15-274 (Feb 3, 2016)
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array of outpatient procedures.”* However,
the Supreme Court found that the admitting
privileges requirement was unconstitutional
as “there was no significant health

related problem that the new law helped

to cure” and it placed an undue burden

on women'’s right to an abortion. Whole
Woman's Health, 136 S. Ct. at 2311.

Il.  LGBTQ DISCRIMINATION

In an interview, Duncan decried the
dangers of society accepting LGBTQ
citizens:

We are seeing, as you all are, a rapid
movement towards sort of general
cultural acceptance of homosexuality
and homosexual practices and also at
the same time you're seeing a rapid
move towards marginalizing people
who adhere to a traditional view of
human sexuality and marriage.®

Duncan has vigorously fought equality for
LGBTQ persons, raising serious concerns
about whether he will be an unbiased jurist
who will give proper effect to some of our
nation’s most important Supreme Court
precedents and equal justice to LGBTQ
Americans.

a. Marriage Equality

Duncan has long opposed same sex
marriage, and has been an outspoken
critic of the Supreme Court’s decisions in
Obergefell v. Hodges and United States
v. Windsor. Tellingly, Duncan co authored
an amicus brief representing Louisiana’s

30 id at*6
31 Panelist, “Religious Liberties Roundtable,” EWTN Global Catholic Metwork, Aug
17-18, 2013
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opposition to same sex marriage. The brief
argued that:

States may rationally structure marriage
around the biological reality that the
sexual union of a man and a woman
unique among all human relationships
produces children..man woman marriage
furthers society’s “need to regulate

male female relationships and the unique
procreative possibilities of them[.]"*?

Duncan wrote elsewhere that if the Court
recognized that same sex marriage was

a fundamental right, the “harms” to our
democracy “would be severe, unavoidable,
and irreversible.”** In one interview, Duncan
stoked fears about what a constitutional right to
marriage would mean, speculating:

» The Court has not recognized a
constitutional right to same sex marriage.
If it does so, is it printing a license to
persecute churches?

» Every one of those [religious] groups
should be afraid that the government will
now view them as, open season on them
because of their now unconstitutional
view on marriage.

»  Why not let the people work this out
instead of recognizing a constitutional
right and printing a license to
persecute..®

Before Obergefell, when a court upheld
Louisiana’s same sex marriage ban, only one
of two decisions in the country at that time to
uphold such bans, Duncan said

32 Brief of Louisiang, et al as Amici Curise Supporting Respondents, at *11 {guoting DeBoer v
Snyder, 772 F 3d 388, 404—05 (6th Cir 20M){intemal citation omitted)

33 Duncan, Mamiage, Self-Government, and Civility, PUBLIC DISCOURSE (Apr 23, 2015)

34 DucanIntensdiew with Raymond Armoyo, World Over, EWTN Global Catholic Metwork (Apr 30,
2M5)
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“ltlhe Louisiana decision provides a crucial
counterpoint to the many erroneous
decisions usurping state authority to
define marriage[.]"*®* Duncan also co

wrote a petition for writ of certiorari in the
Robicheaux v. George case, requesting
that the high court uphold the district court
decision that allowed Louisiana to refuse
to recognize same sex marriage in other
states.®

Similarly, Duncan defended Virginia's
“Defense of Marriage” law in Schaefer

v. Bostic. In Schaefer, the Fourth Circuit
upheld a district court ruling striking down
Virginia's same sex marriage ban. Duncan
authored a petition for writ of certiorari on
behalf of the state officials refusing to issue
or recognize marriage licenses for same
sex couples.* The Supreme Court denied
the writ. Schaefer, 135 S. Ct. at 308.

After the Obergefell decision upheld

the right to same sex marriage, Duncan
questioned the legitimacy of the Supreme
Court, saying “[the same sex marriage
case] raises a question about the
legitimacy of the Court”*® He expanded
on his rejection of Obergefell, claiming,
“[alssessed from [the legal process] point
of view, | find Obergefell to be an abject
failure[,]” and “the decision imperils civic
peace.®

b. LGBTQ Adoption

As counsel in Adar v. Smith, 597 F.3d
697 (5th Cir. 2010) and VL v EL., 136

35 Janet McConnaughey, La asks US Supreme Cowt to hear gay marniage cose,
ASS0OC PRESS (Dec 4, 2014)

36 Respondents’ Brief in Support of Petition for Writ of Certiorari Before Judgment in
Robicheaux v George, No 14-596 (Dec 2, 2014}

37 Petition for & Writ of Certiorari in Schoefer v Bostic, No 14-225 {Aug 22, 2015)
38 Interview with Reymond Aroyo, World Ower, EWTN Global Catholic Network, July
2,2015

39 Kyle Duncan, Obergefel Fallout, CONTEMPORARY WORLD ISSUES: SAME-SEX MaR-
RIAGE, 132 (ABC-CLIC 2016) {David Newton, Ed )
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S. Ct. 1017 (2016), Duncan sought to deny

same sex couples adoption rights. In Adar,
Duncan represented the Louisiana Department
of Justice in opposing a same sex couple

who adopted a Louisiana born child from
being named the child’s fathers on the birth
certificate.** Duncan argued that under
Louisiana law, adoptive parents can only be
named on a birth certificate if they were eligible
to adopt in Louisiana. At the time, same sex
marriage was still banned in Louisiana. In 2010,
a three judge panel of the Fifth Circuit affirmed
a district court judgment ordering the Louisiana
government to issue a new birth certificate
listing the adoptive parents. See Adar v. Smith,
597 F.3d at 701. However, in 2011, a divided en
banc panel of the Fifth Circuit reversed. See
Adar v. Smith, 639 F.3d 146, 162 (5th Cir. 2011)
(en banc). Of course, since the Supreme Court’s
decision in Obergefell v. Hodges, Louisiana’s
ban on same sex marriage has been nullified.
See Robicheaux v. Caldwell, 791 F.3d 616,

618 19 (5th Cir. 2015).

In VL. v E.L., Duncan represented the birth
mother of three children whom she and her
same sex partner had raised for eight years.
In 2007, the non birth parent was granted
adoption rights. After the birth mother moved
back to Alabama, the couple split up. The

birth mother then attempted to block the other
parent from fulfilling any of her parental rights,
including visitation. The Alabama Supreme
Court ruled that it would not recognize the
adoption judgment of a same sex couple. See
VL. v EL., 136 S. Ct. at 1019. When Duncan was
asked whether visits by the adoptive mother,
who had raised the children for eight years,
would be in the best interest of the children,
Duncan said, according to a Wall Street Journal
article, he believed “itis unclear, at least

40 See Brief in Opposition in Adar v Smith, No 1146 (Sept 9, 2017
41 See Respondent EL's Brief in Opposition, No 15-648 (Dec 21, 2015}
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until an Alabama court holds a hearing

to examine whether such visits would

be in the children’s best interest.”* The
Supreme Court reversed the decision of
the Alabama Supreme Court in 2016. /d. at
1022.

C. Transgender Rights

At a speech before the Heritage
Foundation in 2016, Duncan criticized
federal protections against discrimination
based on gender identity, claiming “[tlhe
whole concept of sex has been turned on
its head”** Duncan remarked:

[N]ote that DOJ'’s position on these
matters is not merely about the
positive law. Listen again to what
they say in their brief: “For purposes
of determining whether a person is
a man or a woman, gender identity
is the critical factor....” [] Let that sink
in. Our federal government is telling
us not merely what it thinks the law
is but what “is @ man” and what

“is a woman.” Something has gone
wrong.#

Duncan represented Virginia's Gloucester
County School Board and argued that
Gavin Grimm, a transgender high school
boy, should not be allowed to use the
men’s restroom. See Gloucester County
School Board v. G.G., 137 S. Ct. 1239 (2017).
The Gloucester school board attempted to
isolate the transgender student, enforcing
use of a separate, private facility. After the
42 Jess Bravin, Supreme Court Allows Leshion Adoptive Mother to See Children
in Aiobama Case, THE WALL STREET JOURNAL {Dec 14, 2015}, htps:fwwwws| com/
articles/suprame-court-allows-lesbian-adoptive-motherto-see-children-in-alabama
case-14501237132

43 Morgh Balingit, Texas A G attacdks transgender ruling, WasH POST (July 8, 2016}
44 Duncan, Remarks Notes on *Obama's Edict on School Showers, Lockers and

Bathrooms: Challenges and Legal Responses,” Heritage Foundation, Washington, D C
(July 7, 2016}
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Fourth Circuit struck down the school board’s
policy, Duncan filed a brief appealing the
decision to the Supreme Court, claiming that
Title IX does not protect transgender students.*®
In reviewing Duncan’s brief, Lambda Legal
noted:

In particular, Mr. Duncan’s brief deployed
offensive and baseless “gender fraud”
arguments, suggesting that schools were
entitled to refuse to respect a student’s
gender identity in order to “prevent] ]
athletes who were born male from opting
onto female teams, obtaining competitive
advantages and displacing girls and
women” a myth that has not materialized
across hundreds of school districts with
nondiscriminatory policies over many
years.®

Duncan also served as lead trial and appellate
counsel for the North Carolina General
Assembly in Carcafio v. McCrory, 315 F.R.D.

176 (M.D.N.C. 2016) and United States v.

North Carolina, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 174103
(M.D.N.C. Dec. 16, 2016), defending North
Carolina’s discriminatory “bathroom bill.” The
bill in question stated that “multiple occupancy
bathrooms and changing facilities, including
those managed by local boards of education,
must be ‘designated for and only used by
persons based on their biological sex.” See
United States v. North Carolina, 2016 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 174103 at *5 (citing North Carolina's Public
Facilities Privacy & Security Act, 2016 N.C. Sess.
Laws 3).

In Carcafio, Duncan introduced expert
declarations that characterized transgender

45 Brief of Petitioner, Gloucester County Sch Bd v GG, 2007 U5 5 Ct Briefs LEXIS 25 (Jan 3,

207

46 Seelamda Legal Letter to Chairman Grassley and Ranking Member Feinstein, Re: 35
Groups Oppose Confirmation of Don Willett, Stuart Kyle Duncan and Matthew Kacsmaryk [Mow
1, 2017) (quoting Brief of Petitioner at 47), available at https./'www lambdaleqgsl orglsites/default/

fles/legal-docs/downloadsfinal Igbt letter opposing willett duncan and kacsmaryk 002
pdf
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Americans as being mentally ill:

With regard to public restrooms and
other intimate facilities, there is no
evidence to support social measures
that promote or encourage gender
transition as medically necessary

or effective treatment for gender
dysphoria.

What is missing is sound science
to show that gender identity
discordance is not a delusional state.

In psychiatry, a delusion is defined
as a fixed, false belief which is

held despite clear evidence to the
contrary. In psychiatric practice,
patients with the common diagnosis
of anorexia nervosa have the false
belief that they are overweight (“fat”)
in spite of overwhelming evidence of
their cachexia. Similarly, those who
are gender incongruent believe they
are of the opposite sex despite clear
and overwhelming evidence to the
contrary.¥’

d. Alliance Defending Freedom

Duncan has spoken several times before
the Alliance Defending Freedom (ADF).4®
The Alliance Defending Freedom, an
organization that has defended the state
enforced sterilization of transgender
people overseas, is classified as a hate
group by the Southern Poverty Law
Center®

47 Supplemental Brief of State Defendants and Intervenor-Defendants in Opposition

to Plaintiff's Due Process Claim, Carcafio v McCrory, No 1.16-cv-00236-TDS-JEP (M D

NC Oct 28, 2016), Ded of Paul W Huz, MD 1 38 (p 137), Guentin L Van Meter MD

11 50{p 170), Decl Alan M Josephson, MD 1 42 {p 189), available at hitps:/idocs

qouqle comivies vemqr\.rlewel'r‘.JrI http/Ailes eqcforcywp content/u ploads/2016/MA73
-l P Cla

s 4 5D 5
48 Sen Comm on the Judiciary, 15th Cong , Stuart K\.de Duncan: Questionnaire for
Judicial Nominees, ¥=15
48 See Alex Amend, Anti-LGBT Hate Group Alfionce Defending Freedom Defended
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lIl.  VOTING RIGHTS

In 2016, Duncan, along with fellow Trump
judicial nominees Thomas Farr and Stephen
Schwartz, unsuccessfully represented North
Carolina in an attempt to obtain a Supreme
Court reversal of the Fourth Circuit's ruling in
North Carolina v. N.C. St. Conf. of the NAACP.
The Fourth Circuit had struck down a restrictive
voting law that required voters to have photo
identification, reduced the days of early voting,
and eliminated same day registration, out

of precinct voting, and preregistration. In its
ruling, the Fourth Circuit observed that the law
“target{s] African Americans with almost surgical
precision.” N.C. State Conf of NAACP, 831 F.3d
at 214.

In his petition for writ of certiorari, Duncan’s
brief argued that there is no evidence that the
law was passed with discriminatory intent or
had a discriminatory impact.>® Taking umbrage
with the Fourth Circuit’s findings, the brief
stated, “the decision insults the people of North
Carolina and their elected representatives by
convicting them of abject racism. That charge
is incredible on its face given the pains the
legislature took to ensure that no one’s right
to vote would be abridged[.]"' Of course,

the Supreme Court denied cert, letting stand
the decision that the law had clear racially
discriminatory intent and therefore violated the
Equal Protection Clause of the United States
Constitution. See North Carolina. v. N.C. St.
Conf of the NAACP, 581US. ____ (2017).

Duncan’s record of defending discriminatory
voting laws is not limited to North Carolina. In
2016, Duncan co authored a brief on behalf of
State-Enforced Sterilization for Transgender Eurapeans, SPLC HATEWATCH {July 27, 2017}
50 Petition for a Writ of Certiorari and Volume 1 of the Appendix in State of North Caroling v

NC State Conf of the NAACP, No 16-833 [Dec 27, 2016)
51 Id at*2
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for Supreme Court review of a Fifth Circuit
decision.®? In his brief, Duncan defended
Texas' strict voter identification law. See
Abbott v. Veasey, 137 S. Ct. 612 (2017).

The District Court had found that the law
“creates an unconstitutional burden on
the right to vote, has an impermissible
discriminatory effect on Hispanics and
African Americans, and was imposed

with an unconstitutional discriminatory
purpose.” Veasey v. Perry, 71 F.Supp 627,
633 (S.D. Tex. 2014). The Fifth Circuit, sitting
en banc, remanded the case, but did not
overturn the conclusion that the law was
unconstitutional in its discriminatory effects
and violated Section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act, which bans any “voting qualification or
prerequisite to voting or standard, practice,
or procedure . .. which results in a denial
or abridgment of the right of any

citizen .. . " See Veasey v. Abbott, 830
F.3d 216, 243 (5th Cir. 2016) (en banc)
(quoting 52 U.S.C. §10301(a)). The Supreme
Court denied Duncan’s petition for cert.
Veasey, 137 S.Ct. at 613. But following
Texas' passage of a new voter ID law in
June 2017, the Fifth Circuit has temporarily
stayed enforcement of the district court’s
injunction from enforcing the voter ID laws
until after the recent election cycle. See
Veasey v. Abbott, 870 F.3d 387,391 92
(5th Cir. 2017). Oral arguments have been
scheduled for December.53

IV. IMMIGRATION

Duncan was involved in the litigation
involving President Obama'’s Executive
Order that established the Deferred

52 Bref of Amici Curize Members of Congress Reprasenting States in the Fifth Circuit
Supporting Petitioners in Abbott v Veasey, No 16-393 (Oct 27 2016)

53 Texas NAACP v Steen (consolidated with Veasey v Abboti), Brennan Center for
Justice (Nov 20, 2017}, https/Awww brennancenter org/legal-work/naacp-v-steen
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Action for Parents of Americans and Lawful inevitable,” and noted that

Permanent Residents (DAPA) program. Duncan “[w]e too have previously recognized that
filed an amicus brief on behalf of National ‘preserving the client’s right to remain in
Sheriffs’ Association, the Remembrance Project, the United States may be more important
and Americans Unity Legal Defense Fund, to the client than any potential jail

in support of Texas in United States v. Texas, sentence.” Id. at 1480, 1483 (quoting INS v.
579US. (2016).** In the brief, Duncan St Cyr, 533 U.S. 289, 322 (2001)).

challenged DAPA on the basis that it threatened

public safety. In particular, Duncan argued

that “[mJany violent criminals would likely be v [:RIMINAL JUST":E
eligible to receive deferred action under DAPA's

inadequate standards.”s While a private attorney, Duncan

represented the State of Louisiana at

Duncan also fought President Obama's the:lLS. Supreme Courtintighting the
Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA). retroactivity of the Miller v. Alabama

In an amicus brief supporting a petition for cert rule forbn}dt»:lbmg lfe sentencgs wzthout
on behalf of Governor Jeb Bush and the State the: possibility of parole forjuveniles In
of Florida, in the case Brewer v. Arizona Dream Montgomery v Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718
Act Codlition, Duncan argued that DACA was (2016).>* The Court, in a 6 3 decision,
not properly enacted by Congress, was not rejected Duncan’s arguments. Justice

legally valid, and thus, is not binding on the Kegqedy explained in his majority o
state of Arizona. 5 opinion why the Court chose to forbid life

sentences for all juvenile offenders:

Duncan also participated as counsel for
amicus curiae in Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S.CL :
1473 (2010) while at the Louisiana Attorney day of the past 46 years knowing
General's Office. The Supreme Court examined ne'was cgndemned 0 d}re I PRSOR.
whether Padilla’s counsel misadvised him of Perhaps it can be established that,
the consequences of a plea deal that resulted due-to exceplional circumstances,

in his deportation. The Court, in a 7 2 decision, this fate was a just a”fj proportionate
held that counsel must inform her client about pumshment for the crime he

the direct consequences of a plea. Duncan’s Commited as @ 17 year old bay. In
amicus brief argued that Padilla’s counsel was light of what this Court has said in

not constitutionally deficient, claiming that Roper, Graham, and Miller about how

deportation should not be a consequence children are constitutionally different
about which counsel must inform a client.>’ from adults in their level of culpability,
Justice Stevens, writing for the majority, however, pnsoners like Mon'tgomery
disagreed, observing that deportation in the must be given the opportunity to
event of the plea at issue was “practically show their crime did not reflect

Henry Montgomery has spent each

54 Brief of Amici Curiae National Sherriffs’ Assoc , the Rememberance Projed, and American [rreparable corr U ption | a nd; ]f It d}d

Unity Legal Defense Fund Supporting Respondents in United States v Texas, No 15674 (Apr 4, =

oo R nes s not, their hope for some years of

55 id at*9 -t = 5

56 Brief of Govemor Jeb Bush as Amicus Curige Supporting Petitioners in Brewer v Anz Ilfe OUtSIde pnson wa ”S m USt be

DREAM Act Coal, No 161180, at *11 {May 1, 2017) 58 See Brief of Respondent State of Louisiana, Montgomeyy v Louwisiana, Mo 14-2 80
57 See Brief for the State of Louisiana, et al in Podifa v Kentucky, No 08-651(Aug 17, 2009} {Aug 24, 2015)
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan
Sent: Thursday, November 30, 2017 8:00 PM
To: OIGEEEEREENERIETRECEEES Talley, Brett (OLP);

(b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Address Dickey, lennifer (OLF‘): Berw' lonathan [OLF‘}

Subject: it's ...

... official. We are now BFFs.

http://www.theadvocate.com/baton rouge/news/politics/article 9ch5f682-d629-11e7-afaf-
1bfae34e3f8d.himl

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

Sent: Friday, December 08, 2017 9:02 PM

To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: King, Kara (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP); Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: QFRs

Attachments: Blumenthal QFRs for Duncan.docx; Coons QFRs for Duncan.docx; Durbin QFRs for

Duncan.docy; Feinstein QFRs for Duncan - DRAFT 1.docx; Hirono QFRs for
Duncan.docx; Leahy QFRs for Duncan.docx; Whitehouse QFRs for Duncan.docx

Here's the whole set. My apologies for being late. Happy to revise and wordsmith over the weekend if
necessary.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR |DUNCANLLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office DI mobile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Dhuncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Dec 8, 2017, at 6:21 PM, Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov> wrote:

You can send the whole set--that's fine.

On Dec 8, 2017, at 6:05 PM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:

All;

I'm just about done with 5 of the 7 QRFs and will be done with the other 2 in
about an hour. Let me know if you want me to send what I've completed now
or just wait until around 7 to send the whole set. Sorry for the delay.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington, DC 20006
202-757-1060 {office) {mobile)
EDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan com  www. Schasm-Duncan com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and
confidential use of the recipient(s) named above. If you have received this communication

e e s d e e e Duncan1;[)331


https://err-Dunc.an
https://KDunc.an;'@:Schaerr-Duncan.com
mailto:kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com
mailto:Jennifer.B.Oickey@usdoj.gov
https://v.v-w.Schaerr-Duncan.com
mailto:KDunc-.an'.@Schaerr-Duncan,com

In error, please notliry us immediately by e-mail, and delete the onginal message.

On Dec 6, 2017, at 6:16 PM, King, Kara (OLP)
<Kara.King2 @usdoj.gov> wrote:

Dear Kyle,

Attached are your QFRs from Ranking Member Feinstein and Senators
Leahy, Durbin, Whitehouse, Coons, Blumenthal and Hirono, Please
provide your answers in the attached documents, retaining the
formatting, and return them to us for review by the close of business
on Friday.

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
cell:

<Feinstein QFRs for Duncan.docx><Leahy QFRs for
Duncan.docx><Durbin QFRs for Duncan.docx><Whitehouse QFRs
for Duncan.docx><Coons QFRs for Duncan.docx><Blumenthal
QFRs for Duncan.docx><Hirono QFRs for Duncan.docx>
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Sunday, December 10, 2017 1:03 PM
To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: Re: Suggested QFR edits

Thanks, Jenn. I'll get back to you later today.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR |DUNCANLLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 300 Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office (b) (6) [T

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Dhuncan . com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Dec 10, 2017, at 12:55 PM, Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov>
wrote:

Kyle,

You did a nice job on these, Attached are some suggestions. Happy to discuss if you have any
guestions.

Jennifer B. Dickey

Office of Legal Policy

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Rm 4244
Washington, D.C. 20530

Direct: 202.514.2456

Cell: {EG)]

<Blumenthal QFRs for Duncan.v1 (jbd).docx><Coons QFRs for Duncan.vl
(jbd).docx><Durbin QFRs for Duncan.vl (jbd).docx><Feinstein QFRs for Duncan.vl
(jbd).docx><Hirono QFRs for Duncan.vl (jbd).docx><Leahy QFRs for Duncan.vl
(jbd).docx=<Whitehouse QFRs for Duncan.vl (jbd).docx>
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Kyle Duncan
e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Sunday, December 10, 2017 10:22 PM

To: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: Re: Suggested QFR edits

Attachments:; Blumenthal OFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx; Coons QFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx;

Durbin QFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx; Feinstein QFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx;
Hirono QFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx; Leahy QFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx;
Whitehouse QFRs for Duncan FINAL.docx

Jenn,

(b) (5)

(b) (5) . Thanks again.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERE.  DUNCANLLE
1717 K Street NW._ Suite 00 | Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office) [E{)XC) MM (mobile)

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
wrote;

Duplicative Material
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Kyle Duncan
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From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, December 15, 2017 8:07 AM

To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Dickey, lennifer (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: Re: Confirmation hearing / Louisiana Solicitor General

Sorry, one other thing. (b) (5)
|

KD

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite %00 | Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office)  INEXC NN (mobile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www. Schaen-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the
recipient(s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail,

and delete the original message.

On Dec 15, 2017, at 7:57 AM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:

Brett, lon, and Jenn:

See the email inquiry below from a Louisiana-based journalist / blogger.

(b) (5)

H
0000000000000 ]
T

. 2 222@@ @ @w&e® 00O
0000000000000}
S —————— e ————————
I
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Thanks and happy Advent.

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR I DUNCAN LLP
1717 K Street NW. Suite 900 | Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office ((YXCI (mobile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaen-Duncan.com

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

From: Lamar White <lamar@bayoubrief com=

Subject: Confirmation hearing / Louisiana Solicitor General
Date: December 15, 2017 at 7:17:34 AM EST

To: kduncan@duncanplic.com

Dear Mr. Duncan-

I interviewed you a few years ago for an article in The
Independent of Lafayette. You included the story in your
response to the Senate Judiciary Committee's
questionnaire.

First, I'm writing to express my admiration for the answers
you provided during your confirmation hearing in front of
the committee a few weeks ago. I was particularly
impressed by your response to Sen. Kennedy's
hypothetical about Brown v. Board of Education. That
really stood out to me. It was impressive.

I have a few questions for you. I'm just seeking some
clarity. I've noticed there's a lot of recent coverage about
your pending confirmation that refers to you as Louisiana's
first Solicitor General; in fact, during your hearing, the C-
SPAN chyron stated that as your former title.

When you worked for Buddy Caldwell, was your actual job
title Solicitor General?

Because I can't seem to locate any contemporaneous
reference in the news media that the position had ever
actually been created, and you state in your written
response to the Senate that you "fulfilled the functions of
a state solicitor general” but that you were actually
appointed "Appellate Chief of the Louisiana Department of
Justice." I've scoured the internet, and there are plenty of
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articles listing you as Louisiana's "former Solicitor General"
but none, at the time of your tenure, that referred to you
as such.

I'm curious if there was an actual job title- Solicitor
General of Louisiana- that was created for you and in
which you served or if the title was informal. Or was your
title Appellate Chief? The media at the time typically
referred to you as an assistant attorney general and then
afterwards as special counsel.

For the sake of Louisiana's history and the public interest,
I just want to make sure we get the facts right, and I am
sure you will understand and appreciate that.

Again, I just seek some clarification.

Good luck on your confirmation.

All the best,

Lamar

Lamar White, Ir.
Publisher

The Bayou Brief
www.bavoubrief.com

"TAction speaks looder than words bot not nearly as often.” -
Mark Twain
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Saturday, December 16, 2017 11:38 AM

To: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP); Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: Bayou Brief article

(b) (5)

https://www.bayoubrief.com/2017/12/16/kyle-duncan-nominee-for-the-u-s-5th-circuit-says-he-held-a-
prominent-historic-job-in-louisiana-theres-just-one-small-problem/

Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900 | Washington DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office DTG obile)

KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com www.Schaerr-Thincan.com

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
r———————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, December 20, 2017 2:43 PM

To: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP); Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP)
Subject: Fwd: Media request from NBC News

as 20 0 5 |

Sent from my iPhone

Kyle Duncan

Schaerr | Duncan LLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)
(cell)

Kduncan@5Schaerr-Duncan.com

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Brammer, John Paul (Contractor-NBCUniversal)"
<JohnPaul.Brammer@nbcuni.com>

Date: December 20, 2017 at 2:30:10 PM EST

To: "kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com" <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com>
Subject: Media request from NBC News

Hello, | hope this email finds you well.

My name is John Paul Brammer and | am a reporter at NBC Qut, NBC News' LGBTQ
vertical. | am reaching out in regards to a story I'm pursuing on how President Trump is
shaping the federal courts, specifically in regards to LGBTQ civil rights. | understand
you represented the Gloucester County, Va. school board in a case involving a
transgender teen wanting access to his school’s bathroom. This, among other things,
has led to concerns from some of the advocates |'ve spoken to, and | wanted to request
a comment.

Do you believe there is any basis for LGBTQ advocates to be concerned about your
previous work and the work you might do within the 6th Circuit Court of Appeals, and
do you have a response to those who have voiced anxiety as to whether or not you
would, in their description, roll back LGBTQ civil rights?

Thank youl

John Paul
John Paul Brammer

Associate Producer, NBC OUT
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NBC NEWS

(b) (6) @jpbrammer
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Kyle Duncan
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From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Thursday, December 28, 2017 10:28 AM

To: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); King, Kara (OLP)

Subject: Re: Upcoming Judicial Renomination

Attachments: Duncan Renomination Letter DRAFT.doc; LSU Honors College Duncan Interview

Jan 2018.pdf

lenn,

Attached is a draft renomination letter. Also attached is a draft of the LSU Honors College interview.
They tell me the interview will run in either the first or second week of January. I've already sent you
the Evolutionary Intelligence cert petition.

Let me know if you need anything else.

Thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCANLLD

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

On Dec 28, 2017, at 7:34 AM, Dickey, Jlennifer (OLP) <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Hi Kyle,

1 hope you had a Merry Christmas. I'm back up and running now from the holidays.

I've spoken to Brett,

Lola and/or Kara will reach out to you directly to assist you with your FDR update.

Jenn
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

<2018 Renominations.docx><Parrish Renomination Letter.pdf><Hanks Renomination
Letter.pdf><Bennett Renomination Letter.pdf>
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Learning How to Think
Honors Program Alumnus and Appellate Court Nominee Kyle Duncan Reflects on His Years at LSU

For LSU Honors program alumnus Kyle Duncan, his intellectual journey began with learning how to write
and think critically  skills that he confides have been invaluable for him, both in the study and practice
of law.

Duncan, who was recently nominated to the U.S. Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, boasts a distinguished
law career as both an educator and litigator. At various points he has worked as an appellate lawyer for
both Texas and Louisiana, taught at Columbia University and the University of Mississippi School of Law,
and argued cases before the U.S. Supreme Court. Now a partner at his own firm, Schaerr Duncan LLP in
Washington D.C., Duncan devotes his time and energy to constitutional law cases, which is where his
passion truly lies.

His extensive experience has earned him praise as a confident litigator able to handle high-pressure
cases. For instance, in a recent article in The National Review highlighting Duncan’s nomination, Carrie
Severino of the Judicial Crisis Network called Duncan “the complete package.”

“l have watched Kyle successfully handle high stakes litigation in courts across the country, including the
Supreme Court, and he is a superstar who can translate sophisticated arguments for the general public,”
Severino said.

Before he launched his career, however, Duncan attended LSU for both his bachelor’s degree in English
Literature and his law degree. In light of his recent nomination and the prospect of returning home to
Louisiana, Duncan took some time to reflect on his years at LSU.

Q: What brought you to LSU and the Honors College?

A: | was fortunate enough to get a scholarship to LSU, and this was a great opportunity for me to get
some help going to college but also to work on campus. | was immediately recruited to the Honors
Program. A couple of my professors encouraged me to take Honors classes at LSU. | found them
extremely valuable because of  and really, two things stand out in my mind  they were very small
classes and that they were seminar-style classes. | got to know my fellow students and my professors
very well. They were also extremely rigorous academically. | remember having to work very, very hard at
writing, in particular. | got a lot of critical feedback from professors in the Honors courses, and to this
day | remember that feedback being very rigorous and really helping me learn to be a better writer and
a critical thinker.

Q: Did you have the opportunity to study abroad while at LSU?

A: Ironically, the course | think | enjoyed the most was a course on Dante, which is obviously not English
literature, but Professor Bob McMahon taught me a course on The Divine Comedy, and that encouraged
me to study Italian. | actually ended up spending a year abroad in Siena as a result. LSU made it very
easy for me to study abroad, in two ways. | did a summer program in Siena, Italy. That was taught by
faculty from the Italian and French Departments. It was a wonderful experience, and | ended up wanting
to do a year abroad. Now, LSU at the time did not have a formal year abroad program in Italy but,
thanks to the scholarship | was on and the number of college credits | had from high school, | was
allowed to design my own year abroad program in Siena. So | took classes on both Italian and English

Duncan 2; 0011



literature, film history, and art history, all in Italian, and it was a wonderful experience. While | was in
Italy | also took the opportunity to get a certificate in Italian Language. It was very important to me to
get proficient in a foreign language because it wasn't something | had done in high school and LSU really
made that possible and | was very grateful for it.

Q: What ultimately led you to apply to law school?

A: | was a little uncertain about what | wanted to do with my life as someone with a degree in English
and Italian. | took an aptitude test that said | might make a good lawyer, so | thought I'd give law school
a try. | was pleasantly surprised by how much | enjoyed law school. It seemed very much like a
continuation of my studies in literature that | had done as an undergraduate. | found it intellectually
stimulating and a lot of fun.

Q: What are some of your fondest memories of your time at LSU?

A: When | went to Italy for the summer was a really formative experience. | had never been to Europe
before | had never been anywhere where English was not the dominant language. | found that to
have to try to interact with people in a foreign language was a formative experience. I'll never forget
that.

I'll also never forget my first day of law school at LSU because | didn't know what to expect. No one
really prepared me for the Socratic approach to teaching in which the professor ends up asking the
students questions, and not simply lecturing and imparting information. It was such an eye-opening
experience to see what was to be expected from the students. Real critical thinking, not just taking the
information and regurgitating it on the test. That sort of experience inspired me to try to be a law
professor.

Q: What do you feel was your greatest accomplishment in your undergraduate years?

The accomplishment | was proudest of was learning Italian. It was very difficult for me; it's very difficult
for someone to learn a spoken foreign language who hasn't done it from a young age. | had to work very
hard at it. It required a lot of discipline and a lot of putting yourself in difficult situations where you don't
really understand what people are saying. | was very happy and grateful to be able to do that.

Q: What are your hopes for current and future Honors students based on your experience there?

A: The first thing | would say is that | had a wonderful experience in the Honors College, and | hope
current and future students have a similar experience. The thing that | remember most vividly about my
professors in the Honors College is that they pushed me to think critically about anything we were
dealing with  whether it was a book, or a poem, or whatever else, they pushed me to think critically
and to try to express myself as clearly as | could. That was extremely valuable. Entering college, |
thought | was a good writer but | felt like | made huge strides early on in my career at LSU because of the
Honors College, and it has helped me be a much better lawyer than | would have been otherwise. That
ability to clearly express yourself it's something that people get to law school and they think that they
know how to write and express themselves, but they don't really, and it’s because they haven't been
pushed to do it. The Honors College at LSU gave me a head start on that for which | am very, very
grateful.
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Tuesday, January 2, 2018 8:16 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); King, Kara (OLP); [ RICRESESSENEIEEE
Ce: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)

Subject: Re: Upcoming Judicial Renomination (Financial Disclosure Report)

Attachments: FDR_NOM_Duncan-S-K_Amended.PDF; DUNCAN Updated Net Worth
Statement.doc

Dear Lola, Kara, and Kristina:

Attached is a PDF of my draft amended FDR, as well as an updated net worth statement (in Word).
Please let me know if | need to change or correct anything.

Thanks as always for your assistance.

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

On Dec 28, 2017, at 1:20 PM, Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo @usdoj.gov> wrote:

Dear Kyle,

As Jenn mentioned, once you are renominated, you will be required to file a Financial
Disclosure Report (FDR) within five calendar days of your renomination. You can access the
software needed to generate the FDR, as well as related documents, at https://fd-
docs.uscourts.gov. Please use the following credentials to log-in to the website where you
may download the software: User 1D; [JJQEGHE; password: JEQEGH (the credentials are
both are case sensitive).

I have attached Filing Instructions for completing the FDR.
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(b) (5)

If you have any questions about completing the Financial Disclosure Report, please contact
kristina Usry (copied) at|JJQECH and me. Otherwise, once you have completed a draft
of your renomination FDR, please email it to Kara (copied), Kristina, and me so we may review
the paperwork before it is required to be filed. Once we complete our review and the FDR is
finalized, we will be in touch with you again when it is time to file your nomination report.

If we don’t chat before the New Year, wishing you a terrific start to 2018!

Lola A. Kingo

Senior Nominations Counsel
Office of Legal Palicy (QLP)
U.5. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Room 4239

Washington, D.C. 20530

(202) 514-1818 {0)

OICON (™)

Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov

From: Kyle Duncan [mailto:kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com]

Sent: Thursday, December 28, 2017 10:28 AM

To: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <jdickey@imd.usdoj.gov>

Cc: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@imd.usdoj.gov=; King, Kara (OLP) <kking@imd.usdoj.gov>

Subject: Re: Upcoming Judicial Renomination
Duplicative Material
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Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, January 05, 2018 2:55 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: King, Kara (OLP); IO RESCISSIR=Snc FCEICES: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP)
Subject: Re: Upcoming Judicial Renomination (Financial Disclosure Report)
Attachments: FDR_NOM_Duncan-5-K 01-05-2018.pdf; DUNCAN Updated Net Worth

Statement.doc

Lola,

| was renominated today, and so I've attached my new FDR with the corrections you suggested, along
with an updated net worth statement.

Let me know what the next steps are.

Many thanks,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP
1717 K Street NW, Suite 200 | Washington, DC 20006

202-787-1060 {office) (b) (6) [entst=ity)
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

On Jan 3, 2018, at 9:50 AM, Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov> wrote:

Thank you, Kyle!

I have a few edits to the FDR: (b) (5)
I " FDR otherwise looks fine

subject to Kristina's approval.

Once you are renominated, we will circle back with filing instructions. 1f you have any
guestions before then, please don't hesitate to reach out.

Best,
Lola

From: Kyle Duncan [mailto:kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com]
Sent: Tuesday, January 02, 2018 8:16 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@jmd.usdoj.gov=; King, Kara (OLP) <kking@ijmd.usdoj.gov>;
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(b)(6) - AOUSC Email Address
Cc: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <jdickey@ijmd.usdoj.
Subject: Re: Upcoming Judicial Renomination (Financial Disclosure Report)
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Kyle Duncan
[=ea e ]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2018 9:57 AM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: Dickey, Jennifer (OLP); King, Kara (OLP); IRl RSN SR SUc Fat el
Subject: Re: Renomination—Next Steps

Attachments: FDR_NOM_Duncan-5-K 1-9-2018 FILED.pdf; DUNCAN Updated Net Worth

Statement FINAL 1-9-18.doc; DUNCAN Updated Net Worth Statement FINAL 1-9-
18.pdf; Duncan Renomination Letter 1-9-2018 FINAL.pdf

Dear Lola,

I made the corrections you suggested below to my FDR and filed it this morning (1/9) through FiDQ.
Attached are:

1. My filed FDR;

2. My updated net worth statement (in Word and PDF);

3. My update letter (in which Ranking Member Feinstein is cc'd).

Please let me know if these look acceptable and if you need me to do anything further.
Thanks for your assistance with this process.

Best regards,

Kyle

On Jan 8, 2018, at 7:43 PM, Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <Lola.A.Kingo@usdo].gov> wrote:

Dear Kyle,
Your renomination was transmitted to the Senate today. Congratulations.

There are a few things we'll need from you to finalize your letter to the Senate and transmit it
to the Senate Judiciary Committee (SJC) on your behalf:

1. Asareminder, your Financial Disclosure Report (FDR) is due within five calendar days of
today. Before you file your FDR, please input your date of nomination (Box 5a)—January 8,
2018—and update the date of the report (Box 3) to reflect the date that you file your FDR. If
you have any additional information to update since your draft FDR was last reviewed by
Kristina and/or our office, please let us know. QOtherwise, you may use the filing
credentials you used to file your FDR last year and file your current FDR once you update
Boxes 3 and 5a. To find your filing credentials, look for any email sent by the Committee on
Financial Disclosure; your User ID is made up of the Circuit (05} (-} and the 5 digits after the -
Report- for example if your report number was 05-12345, your user ID is 05-Report-12345,
Unless you changed your password, the default password ism Should you run

into any problems when filing your report, please contact Kristina Usry (copied) atJ{QICIE
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on weekdays after 8AM or the AO at 202-502-1850. Once your FDR is filed, please send
us a PDF of the report as we need it to transmit your update letter to the SJC on your behalf.

2. When finalizing your update letter, please confirm you have addressed both Chairman
Grassley and Ranking Member Feinstein. Alternatively, you may address Chairman Grassley
and indicate somewhere in the letter that Ranking Member Feinstein is receiving a copy of
the letter as well. Please send us a PDF of your signed letter (if we haven’t already
received it) and we will transmit it along with your Net Worth Statement, FDR, and any
attachments, to the SIC on your behalf,

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to reach out. Thank you.

Lola A. Kingo

Chief Nominations Counsel
Office of Legal Policy (OLP)
U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Room 4239

Washington, D.C. 20530

(202) 514-1818 (o)

(m)

Lola.A.Kingo@usdoj.gov
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SCHAERR
DUNCAN

January 9, 2018

The Honorable Charles Grassley
Chairman

Committee on the Judiciary
United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

I have reviewed the questionnaire submitted to the Senate Judiciary Committee on
October 2, 2017, in connection with my nomination to be a circuit judge on the United
States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. Incorporating the additional information histed
below, I certify that the information contained in those documents is, to the best of my
knowledge, true and accurate.

Question 12(e):

Jacqueline DeRobertis, Learning How to Think: Honors Program Alumnus and Appellate
Court Nominee Kyle Duncan Reflects on His Years at LSU, LOUISIANA STATE UNIVERSITY
OGDEN HONORS COLLEGE, Jan. 2018. Copy supplied.

Question 16(e):

I appeared as supporting counsel on the following petition for writ of certiorari:

Evolutionary Intelligence LLC v. Sprint Nextel Corp., et al., No. 17-609 (Dec. 4, 2017). Copy
supplied.

Question 26(a):

On November 29, 2017, I testified before the Senate Judiciary Committee concerning my
nomination. The recording and copy of my Questions for the Record are available at
https://www .judiciary.senate.gov/meetings/11/29/2017/nominations.

I am also forwarding an updated net worth statement and financial disclosure report.
I thank the Committee for its consideration of my nomination.

KYLE DUNCAN SCHAERR | DUNCAN Lir
1717 K Street NW, Suite 900
KDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan.com Washington, DC 20006
(202) 787-1060 (office)
(b) (6) (mobile) www.Schaﬁﬁpth,Lg}gml‘rjcmn
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SCHAERR
DUNCAN

LLP

Sincerely,

A

o 5 P
X.{ q" L A e ——

S. Kyle Duncan

cc:  The Honorable Dianne Feinstein
Ranking Member
Committee on the Judiciary
United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT
NET WORTH

Provide a complete, current financial net worth statement which itemizes in detail all assets (including bank
accounts, real estate, securities, trusts, investments, and other financial holdings) all liabilities (including debts,
mortgages, loans, and other financial obligations) of yourself, your spouse, and other immediate members of your

household.
ASSETS LIABILITIES
Cash on hand and in banks 450 [ 000 | Notes payable to banks secured (auto)
U.S. Government securities Notes payable to banks unsecured
Listed securities see schedule 635 [ 170 | Notes payable to relatives
Unlisted securities Notes payable to others
Accounts and notes receivable: Accounts and bills due
Due from relatives and friends Unpaid income tax
Due from others Other unpaid income and interest
Doubtful iiaeldelflt:te mortgages payable see 250 | 000
Real estate owned see schedule 900 | 000 | chattel mortgages and other liens payable
Real estate mortgages receivable Other debts itemize:
Autos and other personal property 751 000
Cash value life insurance
Other assets itemize:
Total liabilities 850 | 000
Net Worth 1| 210 170
Total Assets 2| 060 [ 170 | Total liabilities and net worth 2 060 170
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES GENERAL INFORMATION
As endorser, comaker or guarantor Are any assets pledged? (Add schedule)
On leases or contracts Are? you defendant in any suits or legal
actions?
Legal Claims Have you ever taken bankruptcy?
Provision for Federal Income Tax 100 | 000
Other special debt
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT
NET WORTH SCHEDULES

Listed Securities

Stock
ASPZX 41,721.27
BLRYX 8,215.33
FMPOX 5,342.72
IPOIX 17,096.12
KLCIX 41,286.19
MCVIX 5,193.23
MDIJX 9,689.53
MEIIX 41,365.88
MINIX 7,702.39
NSCRX 5,246.71
PAVLX 41,685.34
PCBIX 10,280.50
POSIX 8,257.62
PRDSX 5,209.57
QLEIX 32,029.45
QUAYX 5,350.14
SGOIX 16,961.44
UBVSX 3,333.29
Morgan Stanley Money Market 7,367.02
VY Invesco Eqty & Inc Port | 39,570.47
Voya Growth and Income Port I 39,030.84
FidelityVIP Eqty-IncomePort I 37,679.34
Fidelity VIP Contrafund Port I 44,926.80
Invesco V.I. American Franchise Fd I 18,304.93
VY Oppenhmr Global Port I 21,534.60
AAFXX 4,000.00
CAFAX 19,961.92
CWIAX 8,361.80
CEUAX 7,396.98
CGFAX 20,115.89
CICAX 29,526.24
CNPAX 14,499.17
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607.58

CNPCX

QSPIX 16,320.50
Total Listed Securities $635,170.80
Real Estate Owned

Personal Residence $900,000
Total Real Estate Owned 3900,000
Real Estate Mortgages Payable

Personal Residence Mortgage $850,000
Total Real Estate Mortgages Payable $850,000
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Kyle Duncan
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From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, January 10, 2018 10:38 AM

To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Subject: Re: Senate Questionnaire Update for Elizabeth L. Branch (to be USCJ - 11th Cir.)
and Stuart Kyle Duncan (to be USC!J - 5th Cir.)

Attachments: Duncan Renomination Letter 1-9-2018 FINAL.pdf

Dear Kara,

My renomination letter is being overnighted to you today and should arrive tomorrow. | have attached
a PDF of the letter, which | have reformatted slightly.

Let me know if you need anything else from me on this.

Kyle

On Jan 9, 2018, at 3:35 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2 @usdoj.sov> wrote;

Congratulations, Kyle. Your paperwork has officially been filed. Please send us a hard copy of
your letter via FedEx Overnight Delivery as soon as possible to my address (in my signature
below) so we can submit it to the SIC. If you have any questions, please let us know.

Best,

Kara

Kara King

Nominations Researcher
Office of Legal Policy (OLP)
U.S. Depariment of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Room 4234

Office: (202} 514-1607

ce!: IEOICEN

From: King, Kara (OLP)
Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2018 3:33 PM
To: (b)(6) - Kasey O'Connor Email Address

B < cr, Lauren (Judiciary-Rep)' 4 (b) (6)
_ (b)(6) - Jason Covey Email Address .
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- oy cret =P (b)(8) - J Duck Email Address

] (b)(6) - Paige Herwig Email Address

(b)(6) - Nazneed Mehta Email Address

(b)(6) - Oliver Mittelstaedt Email

: (b)(6) - Madeline Alagia Email Address

; 'Nominations (Judiciary-Rep)' <Nor - judi I-re ov>

Cc: Talley, Brett (OLP) <btalley@jmd.usdoj.gov>; Kingo, Lola A. (OLP) <lakingo@imd.usdoj.gov>
Subject: Senate Questionnaire Update for Elizabeth L. Branch (to be USCJ - 11th Cir.) and Stuart
Kyle Duncan (to be USCI - 5th Cir.)

T ([ Alexandria DeilzEmail Adess

Attached are letters updating the Senate Questionnaire for the following nominees;

Elizabeth L. Branch, of Georgia, to be United States Circuit Judge for the Eleventh Circuit, vice
Frank M., Hull, retired.

Stuart Kyle Duncan, of Louisiana, to be United States Circuit Judge for the Fifth Circuit, vice W.
Eugene Davis, retired.

Hard copies with attachments will follow.

Kara King

Mominations Researcher
Office of Legal Policy (OLP)
U.S. Department of Justice
5950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Room 4234

Office: (202) 514-1607

cell: GG

<Duncan Letter.pdf>
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Kyle Duncan
e =]

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Wednesday, January 10, 2018 3:31 PM

To: Kingo, Lola A. (OLP)

Ce: King, Kara (OLP)

Subject: Re: Senate Questionnaire Update for Elizabeth L. Branch (to be USCJ - 11th Cir.)
and Stuart Kyle Duncan (to be USCJ - 5th Cir.)

Attachments: Duncan Renomination Letter 1-9-2018 FINAL.pdf

Lola,

Per our conversation, | changed back to the original margins on the renomination letter. That version is
attached and is the one being overnighted to Kara.

Thanks again!

Kyle

On Jan 10, 2018, at 10:37 AM, Kyle Duncan <kduncan@schaerr-duncan.com> wrote:
Duplicative Material




Kyle Duncan
|

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, January 12, 2018 8:19 PM

To: King, Kara (OLP)

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP); Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); Dickey, Jennifer (OLP); Berry, Jonathan
(OLP)

Subject: Re: QFRs

Attachments: Booker QFR for Duncan DRAFT.docx

Dear Kara,

Here are my responses to Senator Booker,
Have a nice holiday weekend.

Kyle

>0OnJan 12, 2018, at 6:19 PM, King, Kara (OLP) <Kara.King2@usdoj.gov> wrote:
>
><1.12.18 Kyle Duncan QFRs dps.docx>
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Saturday, January 13, 2018 4:47 PM

To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: King, Kara (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP); Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); Berry, Jonathan (OLP)
Subject: Re: QFRs

Attachments: Booker QFR for Duncan DRAFT (jbd) + KD.docx

lenn,

—

Thanks again,
Kyle

Kyle Duncan

SCHAERR | DUNCANLLP

1717 K Street NW, Suite Washington, DC 20006
202-787-1060 (office) [EQIGIR mobite)
EDuncan@Schaen-Duncan.com www.Schaen-Duncan.com

The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the recipient
{s) named above. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by e-mail, and delete
the original message.

On Jan 13, 2018, at 4:05 PM, Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <Jennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov> wrote:

<Booker QFR for Duncan DRAFT (jbd).docx>
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Saturday, January 13, 2018 5:46 PM

To: Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Ce: King, Kara (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP); Kingo, Lola A. (OLP); Berry, Jonathan (OLP)
Subject: Re: QFRs

OO hanks.

> On Jan 13, 2018, at 5:27 PM, Dickey, Jennifer (OLP) <lennifer.B.Dickey@usdoj.gov> wrote;
-

> <Booker QFR for Duncan DRAFT (jbd) + KD + jbd.docx>
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Michael Francisco
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From: Michael Francisco

Sent: Thursday, February 08, 2018 2:24 PM

To: (b)(6) - Michael McGinley Email Address](b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Address [P N e
(Judiciary-Rep)

Cie! Berry, Jonathan (OLP)

Subject: Letter of Support for Kyle Duncan - representation of lesbian client

Attachments: Duncan.Kyle.Recommendation - Nichols.pdf

Kyle Duncan has a good letter of support sent to the Senate Judiciary Committee by co-counsel in a Supreme
Court case, V.L v. E.L, 136 5.Ct. 1017 (2016).

As the letter notes on the second page,

“I note that some may criticize Mr. Duncan for representing clients in the same-sex marriage
litigation. It must not go without notice that our mutual client, E.L., was a same-sex woman asserting
a strong, albeit unsuccessful, legal argument. Mr. Duncan represented our mutual client without once
making an issue of her sexual orientation, without once displaying any personal bias, and without
once indicating o desire to advance any agendo other than winning the case for E.L.” (emphasis
added).

A copy of the letter is attached for convenience.,

Michael

Michael Francisco
Partner MRD Law

michagl francisco@mrd.law

620 N. Tejon St, suite 101,
Colorado Springs CO, 80903
719-399-0830 (direct)
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MASSLEY, STOTSER & NICHOLS, PC
ATTORNEYS

www.msnattorneys.com

RANDALL W. NICHOLS

GARRICK L. STOTSER? Direct Dial: (205) 838-9002
RANDALL W, NICHOLS Dircet Fax: (205) 838-9022
ANNE LAMKIN DURWARD rnichols@msnattorneys.com

RICHARD A. BEARDEN+
STEPHANIE LANIER WEEMS November 27, 2017
CHESLEY P. PAYNE

ﬁ:;t;t'?f:?;:;; The Honorable Chuck Grassley
SPENSER TEMPLETON Chairman Committee on the Judiciary
MICHAEL D. BRYMER United States Senate

135 Hart Senate Office Building
TIMOTHY A. MASSEY WﬂShiﬂgtUﬂ, DC 20510

(1952-2004)

" Aus) ADNITEED e TeRessie The Honorable Dianne Feinstein
+ Ao AosnTien In GRORGIA Ranking Mﬁmbﬂr
Committee on the Judiciary
United States Senate
331 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, DC 20510

The Honorable Bill Cassidy

United States Senator, Louisiana
Committee on the Judiciary, Member
520 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, DC 20510

The Honorable John Kennedy
United States Senator, Louisiana
Committee on the Judiciary

SR 383 Russell Senate Building
Washington, DC 20510

Re: Support for Nomination of Kyle S. Duncan
Dear Senators Grassley, Feinstein, and Judiciary Committee Members:

I write in support of the nomination of Stuart Kyle Duncan to serve as a judge on the
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.

My experience with Mr. Duncan surrounds his role as Counsel of Record in United
State Supreme Court Case of V.L. v. E.L., 136 5.Ct 1017 (2016). 1 served as lead
counsel in the case for the appellate proceedings in the Court of Civil Appeals
(intermediate) and Supreme Court (highest court of record) of Alabama. I represented
E.L., who is the biological mother of three children who were born during the course

1780 GADSDEN HIGHWAY m BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA 35235 m (205) 838-9000
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MASSEY, STOTSER & NICHOLS, PC

ATTORMNEYS

WARLITENAL O s COm

of her same-sex relationship with V.L. The case challenged the jurisdiction of Georgia courts to
enter certain adoption orders being litigated in Alabama courts. Mr. Duncan joined me in
representing E.L. at the petition for certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court stage.

I note that some may criticize Mr. Duncan for representing clients in the same-sex marriage
litigation. It must not go without notice that our mutual client, E.L., was a same-sex woman
asserting a strong, albeit ultimately unsuccessful, legal argument. Mr. Duncan represented our
mutual client without once making an issue of her sexual orientation, without once displaying
any personal bias, and without once indicating a desire to advance any agenda other than
winning the case for E.L.

Mr. Duncan very quickly and ably became well-versed in the intricacies of a very fact-intensive
and legally challenging case. His response to the petition for writ of certiorari was masterful.
Although the United States Supreme Court ultimately reversed the Alabama Supreme Court, our
mutual client was represented in exemplary fashion. Anyone who has experience in appellate
litigation understands that success cannot be measured solely by purported “wins™ and “losses.”
It is an attorney’s challenge to present a passionate, well-reasoned and thorough argument on
behalf of each and every client, regardless of the popularity of the client’s cause or the likelihood
of her success. Mr. Duncan did that in this case and, I am sure, has done so in each of his cases.

I recommend Mr. Duncan for the position to which he has been nominated without hesitation. I
want the Committee to know that my experience with Mr. Duncan as co-counsel revealed a
lawyer who is devoted foremost to defending his client’s interest. He demonstrated a keen
intellect and an enthusiastic interest in and affinity for our legal system. If I can provide any
further assistance to the Committee or any of its members, I stand ready to do so.

andall W. Nichols
Sent via Electronic Mail Only:
Nominations(@judiciar

(b)(6) - Michael McGinley Email Address
(b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Address

(b)(6) - Mike Davis Email Address

(b)(6) - Beth Williams Email Address
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Kyle Duncan

From: Kyle Duncan

Sent: Friday, February 09, 2018 4:35 PM

To: McGinley, Mike H. EOP/WHO; Talley, Brett (OLP); Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Luther,
Robert EQP/WHO; Dickey, lennifer (OLP)

Subject: Whelan response to NYT op-ed

http://www.nationalreview.com/bench-memos/456279/laverne-thompson-smears-kyle-duncan

Kyle Duncan
SCHAERR | DUNCAN LLP
1717 K Street NW. Suite 200 | Washington. DC 20006

202-787-1060 (office (XE I (mobile)
EDuncan@Schaerr-Duncan com www.Schaerr-Duncan com

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

Sent: Wednesday, February 21, 2018 8:16 AM

To: Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP); Luther, Robert EOP/WHO
Subject: "The siren of Baton Rouge”

Believe it or not, | am trying to give up worrying about the nomination for Lent. (b) (3)

http://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/judicial /374671-the-siren-of-baton-rouge

KD
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Michael Francisco
- — =]

From: Michael Francisco

Sent: Wednesday, February 28, 2018 10:56 AM

To: Davis, Mike (Judiciary—Rep}: (b)(6) - Robert Luther Email Address§ Kenny, Steve [Judiciary-
Rep)

Cie! Berry, Jonathan (OLP); Talley, Brett (OLP)

Subject: Helpful letter of support for Kyle Duncan,

Attachments: Duncan-Support-11.6.17-1L5U Prof Baier.pdf

Mike,

In addition to the helpful letter of support from Randall Nichols regarding the same-sex adoption case where
Kyle Duncan represented a lesbian client, there is a very strong letter from Paul Baier, law professor at LSU
(http://faculty.law.lsu.edu/paulrbaier/ ) and opposing counsel to Duncan in a same-sex marriage case, post-
Obergefell. In addition to strong overall support, Mr. Baier notes,

“Kyle knows the difference between the advocate’s role for his client, the State of Louisiana, and
what he would be called upon to decide as a judge on the Fifth Circuit in adjudging the same case.”

He provides an unqualified endorsement of Duncan from someone who served as an advocate for the same-
sex couple in post-Obergefell litigation.

“let me render my humble opinion as an observer of the Supreme Court and the Fifth Circuit for over
forty years: Kyle Duncan is a magnificent nominee. He will make a surpassing Fifth Circuit judge and
jurist. Please support his confirmation with all your might.”

1 hope this helps alleviate any last minute question about Kyle Duncan’s exemplary qualifications.

Michael

Michael Francisco

Partner MRD Law

michael francisco@mrd.law
620 N. Tejon St. suite 101,

Colorado Springs CO. 80903
719-399-0890 (direct)
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Paul B, Waier
aw FJudge Benry . Polits
- Professor of Law

6 November 2017

Senators Bill Cassidy, John Kennedy
United States Senate

Senators, | know Kyle Duncan well, as a colleague at LSU Law School, as a scholar of
constitutional law, as an advocate at the Bar of the Fifth Circuit, the Louisiana Supreme Court, and the U S.
Supreme Court. I know him as a family man, four boys, one girl. Kyle bragged on his son Thomas a moment
ago when I called him to remind me of his early scholarship while at University of Mississippi. He joined
the Ole Miss Law faculty after his LL.M. degree at Columbia Law School. My earliest contact with Kyle
was reading his early law review articles. He asked me to read them and comment on them. Here was a
young man of professorial talent. His rise thereafter is public record. The joy in Kyle’s voice when he told
me that his eleven-year-old son Thomas placed second in his school’s declamation competition—reciting
Lincoln’s Second Inaugural Address no less—indicates a sensitive appreciation of vital moments in life.
Kyle is a great father, husband, and friend.

I will mention two' to other personal contact points: Ideach a class: at-LSU Law Center entitled
Appellate Practice and Procedure. We go oirline to thé Oyez Project, bring up Connick v. Thompson, and
watch Kyle argue successfully for District Attorney Harry Connick’s office, reversing the Fifth Circuit and
a jury verdict of some 20 milljons of dollars in damages, interest, and fees. His success in that case launched
a spectacular career. In his argument in Connick v. Thompson, Kyle pounded his theory of the case home
to the Court; his oral arghment is brilliant. It won the case. He is as sharp a lawyer as any of the leading
Supreme Court advocates with whom I am familiar! At )

And then there is our clash as adversaries'in’the Eouisiana Supreime Court in Costanza v. Caldwell,
167 S0.3d 619 (July 7, 2015), the same-gender marriage case that followed Obergefell v. Hodges, declaring
Louisiana’s prohibition of same-sex marriages unconstitutional. Kyle represented the State; I represented
the two women involved who petitioned for an intra-family adoption of a son they had jointly raised for ten
years. Ultimately, we were successful against Kyle Duncan, But I can tell you that Kyle’s commitment to
limited judicial review as I observed his advocacy in our joint appearance is lineal to Antonin Scalia’s. I
suggest that you urge the Judiciary Committee to have a look at Kyle’s brilliant oral argument on the
internet. Google “Costanza/Caldwell oral argument” and you will see for yourself. Both of us strove
mightily as adversaries. But we continue to eat and drink as friends. .

One last reflection before I render judgment on Kyle’s nomination to the Flfth Circuit: Kyle knows
the difference between the advocate’s role for his client, the State of Louisiana, and what he would be called
upon to decide as a judge on the Fifth Circuit in adjudging the same case. This was Kyle’s post-argument
insight to me. Now, let me render my humble opinion as an observer of the Supreme Court and of the Fifth
Circuit for over forty years: Kyle Duncanis a magmficent nominee. He will make a surpassing Fifth Circuit
Judge and jllt'lSl Please support his confirmation w:th all your might.

LR Yours,
¥ ,_5" o 5 i* "
e Rt Y - s ; ;
W Ty B & A 's' ‘Paul'R. Baier bt
. T ' i BE }udge Heénry A, Politz
| . T ({17 et | il e IF'.!I‘fEJ'. !l I(lll‘Pi_oflessprlerI‘aw P TI
Coz SenalorChuck‘Grassl Gl A N VA e
Senator Dtanne'quqtem b i e O A ,
[ S L R e il it s LI {5 s N B
€. VOLSE L T sU Poul M. Heberﬂalwtenkr RN Rt S
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(b)(6) - Susan Adams Email Address

From: (b)(6) - Susan Adams Email Address

Sent: Monday, August 21, 2017 5:14 PM

To: Lola.A King @usdoj.gov; sean.day.@usdoj.gov

Ce: Talley, Brett (OLP); IO RGN

Subject: Senate Judiciary Questionnaire (5JQ); OLP Data Form

Attachments: Senate Questionnaire 8-21-17.doc; Senate Questionnaire Affidavit Signed and

Notarized.pdf; OLP Data Form.8-21-17.pdf; Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The
Advocate - Summer 2003 - Oral Argument Column.pdf; Item 12 - Senate
Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The President - Fall Edition
2011.pdf; ltem 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The
President - Winter Edition 2012.pdf; Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The
Advocate - Message From The President - Spring Edition 2012.pdf; ltem 12 -
Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The President - Summer
Edition - 2012.pdf; Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - 5-20-05 LSU A&S
Commencement Speech.pdf: [ GGG
_; ltem 12 - Senate Questionnaire - 3-2-
10 Speech to Loyola Chapter of The Federalist Society.pdf; Item 12 - Senate
Questionnaire - Kaleidoscope Interview 2007.pdf; item 12 - Senate
Questionnaire - The Federal Lawyer Interview 2010 - Torres.pdf; Item 12 - Senate
Questionnaire - Court Reporter Speech.pdf; 9-17-13 Order & Reasons - USDC-
EDLA No. 10-204.pdf; Item 19 - Senate Questionnaire - Bulgarian Lecture
QOutline - 2012.pdf

Dear Ms. King and Mr. Day:

Attached please find Judge Kurt D. Engelhardt's 51Q, along with attachments referenced therein, the
Questionnaire Affidavit which has been signed and notarized, and the OLP Data Form.

Should you have any gquestions or need anything further at this time, please advise.

Thank you.

Susan Adams

Judicial Assistant to Chief Judge Kurt D. Engelhardt United States District Court Eastern District of

Louisiana 500 Poydras Street, Room C-367 New Orleans, LA 70130 (504) 589-7645

(See attached file: Senate Questionnaire 8-21-17.doc) (See attached file: Senate Questionnaire
Affidavit Signed and Notarized.pdf)

(See attached file: OLP Data Form.8-21-17.pdf)

(See attached file: ltem 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Summer 2003 - Oral Argument
Column.pdf)
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(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The President - Fall
Edition 2011.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The President -
Winter Edition 2012.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The President -
Spring Edition 2012.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Advocate - Message From The President -
Summer Edition - 2012.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - 5-20-05 LSU A&S Commencement Speech.pdf)

(See attached file:

]

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - 3-2-10 Speech to Loyola Chapter of The Federalist
Society.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - Kaleidoscope Interview 2007.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - The Federal Lawyer Interview 2010 - Torres.pdf)
(See attached file: Item 12 - Senate Questionnaire - Court Reporter Speech.pdf)

(See attached file: 9-17-13 Order & Reasons - USDC-EDLA No. 10-204.pdf)

(See attached file: Item 19 - Senate Questionnaire - Bulgarian Lecture Outline - 2012.pdf)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA CRIMINAL ACTION
VERSUS
KENNETH BOWEN NO. 10-204
ROBERT GISEVIUS
ROBERT FAULCON
ANTHONY VILLAVASO

ARTHUR KAUFMAN
GERARD DUGUE SECTION "N" (1)

ORDER AND REASONS

Before the Court is the Motion for New Trial (Rec. Doc. 963) originally urged by defendant
Arthur Kaufman, and joined in by the other defendants in this matter who were tried and convicted
in 2011 (hereinafter referred to as "Defendants" or "the defendants).! The government opposes this
motion. (Rec. Doc. 1007.) The Court heard oral argument on the defendants' motion on June 13,
2012 (Rec. Doc. 1020). A detailed recounting of subsequent events is set forth in this Court's Order

and Reasons dated November 26, 2012 (Rec. Doc. 1070). As an expected result of that Order, the

' Kenneth Bowen, Robert Gisevius, Robert Faulcon and Anthony Villavaso, all former officers

with the New Orleans Police Department ("NOPD"), along with Kaufman. (Defendant Gerard Dugue filed
a similarly-based Motion to Dismiss (Rec. Doc. 1079), arguing many of the same grounds for the dismissal
of the pending charges against him, The Court does not rule on Dugue's motion herein.)

1
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Case 2:10-cr-00204-KDE-JVM Document 1137 Filed 09/17/13 Page 2 of 129

Court is in receipt of additional information® to which it was not privy at the time of its last Order.
With such information and for the reasons stated herein, I'T IS ORDERED that Defendants' motion
is GRANTED.

For ease of reference, the following sets forth a "Table of Contents" for review of this Order:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

L INTRODUCTION . . ..ot 3

II. BACKGROUND: PART ONE - MAY 18,2012 To NOVEMBER 26,2012... 7

IlI. ~ BACKGROUND: PART TWO - NOVEMBER 26, 2012 TO PRESENT ..... 12
A, Special Attorney to the Attorney General - John Horn's Assignment . ... 12
B. Departures fromthe USAO .. .......ciiiiiiie i 13
C. The Horr Report of JanGary 25, 2013 .. i o0 g o0 v o5 30 v o v 50 o s 13
D. The March 29, 2013 Supplement to the HornReport .. .............. 17
E. Further Inquiry of the Court, and the May 15, 2013 Meeting .. ........ 22
F, Second Supplemental Report of May 20,2013 ..................... 27
G. Third Supplemental Report Dated June 17,2013 ................... 30
H. Fourth Supplemental Report Dated June 25,2013 .................. 30
I¥. STATEMENTQOFISSUES . o wn o s ov s o o v o on 6 o9 w6 We 66 o6 0% @9 & 31
A. The Government's Opposition to Defendants' Motion . . ............. 31
B. Questions Raised ... ...ttt i e 32
V. LIS BERNING TR 1. 1o sanesmacsmsncns s 0 w0 w0 59 63 05 65 03 55 3 GHeews 33
A. Fundamental Guiding Principles «...vmwwnmmmmmoris sosswommmnsmsn 33
B; Laws Governing Conduct of Prosecutors . . .............. Y 34
C. Law Governing Motions ForNew Trial . . .........ooovviuninnn.n. 42

g Also before the Court is a "Motion to Intervene to Address Access Issues" (Rec. Doc. 1126)

and a "Motion for Access to Future Proceedings and to Sealed and Un-Docketed Information" (Rec. Doc.
1126-2) both filed by The Times-Picayune, L.L.C. ("Times-Picayune") on August 6, 2013. On August 19,
2013, the Associated Press ("AP") joined in the Times-Picayune's motions (Rec. Doc. 1129 and Rec. Doc.
1129-2). These motions are opposed by the government and the defendants, and will be disposed of
separately.

Engelhardt; 0004



Case 2:10-cr-00204-KDE-JVM Document 1137 Filed 09/17/13 Page 3 of 129

VI

VIL

VIIIL

THE MISCONDUCT ..ottt it te i e n e, 49
A, Former USAOQ Senior Litigation Counsel Sal Perricone ............. 50
B. i e T T P NI I I T TTTYT 56
a. The "Taint Team" Leader . ... .......c.viriiiiiirneinernns 56
b. The-Kastligar RUANES ......... v mme i i e visosia s 61
. Dipsos™ oil-NOTAEOI: o ox oo v o 03 o5 o3 5w on 0% @ o @ os 0 o 62
C. An On-Line 21* Century "Carnival Atmosphere" . .................. 65
D. Sworn Testimony of Former First AUSAJanMann ................. 87
E. Pre-Trial and Trial CoNncCerns . . .. ... ..vvvviiiie e eeneeeaenns 95
8 The Government's Pre-Trial Timeline . .. ............ ..o 95
2, FBI Agent Bezak's Explanation of the Credibility
Of NOPD WItHESEEE v v svsv s e e e e 98
3. Perricone's View of the FBI and the Potential Source
of Bule 6(e) Leaks . ... ... ro 0o soe mo v 60 66 505 05 50 05 0050 800 55 55 99
4, Testimony of Cooperating Government Witnesses,
and the Refusal of Defense Witnesses to Testify . ............. 101
(a) VI s i 8 A R O RS 102
() Hils.............. e e, 103
(c) Bartios ou o ox e o 55 95 08 05 65 55 56 T 55 56 39 0% 08 Qi 104
(d) Lehrmann............ciiiiiiiininirennnneninnns 105
(e) Haynes, Tollefson,andGore .. .............covunne. 106
AN ALY SIS o e 107
A TIMEINESS . ..ottt i i i e e e 107
B. S PIOBEES 1. v 55 55 5 v 05 8 55 05 03 605 €5 75 ©5 9% 99 1§ % o % e 08 DS 111
C. Prejudice . . ... e 113
a. Government PTESSUTe .. .. ou v s va o 3 65 6 o5 o o9 6% o% % 8 5 115
b. InfluenceonJurors .........oc0vriiiiieiii it 117
C. Potential Influence on Witnesses . ............cocvvinvnenenn 119
D. Eridentiary HEating o . vs e s s v s o o s e w0 350 0 0w s 60 wse s 7 120
E. DISPOSIION + v v vt e et et et et e e e 122
CON CLUSION . . Lttt e e e e et et ettt ans 127

I. INTRODUCTION

With a history of unprecedented events and acts, consideration of the defendants' motion has

taken the Court on a legal odyssey unlike any other. With the relatively recent advent of the age of

cyberspace and social media/networking, courts have anticipated a myriad of issues and potential
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controversies. This Court is unaware of any case, however, wherein prosecutors acting with
anonymity used social media to circumvent ethical obligations, professional responsibilities, and
even to commit violations of the Code of Federal Regulations. Hence, to the Court's knowledge,
there is no case similar, in nature or scope, to this bizarre and appalling turn of events.

From the landfall of Hurricane Katrina on August 29, 2005, the subsequent failure of the
levees surrounding the City of New Orleans resulting in massive and severe flooding of the
metropolitan area, the exodus/evacuation of hundreds of thousands of people from southeast
Louisiana both before and after August 29, 2005; the outbreak of intense and wide-spread civil
unrest and the response of the New Orleans Police Department ("NOPD"), including the tragic
events on the morning of September 4, 2005, in which two civilians were killed and others injured,

some severely, by NOPD gunfire; the aborted prosecution in state court,” the United States

? Four of the defendants in this case (Bowen, Gisevius, Faulcon and Villavaso), were charged

in Criminal District Court for the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana, with first degree murder, in Case No.
468-037. Along with these four defendants, NOPD officers Ignatius Hills and Michael Hunter (both of
whom pled guilty to reduced charges in federal court and testified for the government in defendants' trial)
were charged in Criminal District Court for the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana, with either attempted
first degree murder or attempted second degree murder, in Case No. 468-038. Officer Robert Barrios was
also charged in the latter state court indictment, and also later entered a plea of guilty to reduced federal
charges; he testified at trial after being called as a witness not by the government, but by the defense. Barrios
is the only cooperating defendant that the government chose not to present to the jury at trial, despite his plea
deal.

These state court indictments were dismissed, on August 13,2008, under Kastigar v. United
States, 406 U.S. 441, 92 S.Ct. 1653 (1972), State v. Edmundson, 97-2456 (La. 7/8/98) 714 So.2d 1233; and
State v. Lehrmann, 532 So0.2d 802 (La. App. 4™ Cir.), writ denied, 533 S0.2d 364 (La. 1988). The primary
basis for the dismissal of the indictment was the order of defendant Kenneth Bowen to give testimony, over
his assertion of his Constitutional rights, before the state grand jury on October 30, 2006, in exchange for
immunity under La. C.Cr.P. Art. 439.1( C ). Defendant Bowen timely raised this issue before this Court
under Kastigar by way of pretrial motion and hearing, which will be discussed later in this Order; and by
post-trial motion.
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Department of Justice's ("DOJ") active take-over* of this case in 2008, followed by this federal
indictment on July 12, 2010; the multi-week trial during the summer of 2011, followed by the
separate mistrial of severed defendant Dugue in January 2012; the noteworthy sentencing of the
defendants to mandatory consecutive minimums;’ and the later discovery of disturbing online
misconduct of the government throughout, the Court has dutifully attempted to negotiate all the
twists and turns in order to apply fundamental bedrock principles in achieving the result here. In
particular, the Court notes that the issue of prosecutorial misconduct involving at least two high-
ranking members of the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Louisiana (USAQO)
has not been dispositively addressed by this Court, or any other, in a case where the defendants went
to trial. Although other sections of this Court have encountered the misconduct of improper online
posting by these two federal prosecutors in other cases,® such issues have heretofore been raised only
by defendants who had already entered guilty pleas, admittedly establishing all of the essential
elements of the crimes for which they pled guilty and were sentenced. This case, however, involves
at least one more posting prosecutor, and postings both significantly higher in quantity, and more
egregious and inflammatory in quality, given the tone, timing, and identities of persons posting, than

has been seen in prior cases.

4

The DOJ began monitoring the state proceedings no later than November 2006. See
Declaration of Karla Dobinski, Rec. Doc. 277-1, § 21.

5 See Rec. Doc. 792. Based largely on the statutory consecutive mandatory minimums set
forth in 18 U.S.C. § 924(c), these defendants were sentenced to the following cumulative prison terms:
Bowen - 40 years; Gisevius - 40 years; Faulcon - 65 years; and Villavaso - 38 years. /d. Defendants Bowen,
Gisevius and Villavaso have been incarcerated without bond since their initial appearances on July 14,2010;
Defendant Faulcon has been incarcerated since July 27,2010. Defendant Kaufman was sentenced to 6 years,

reported to the designated Bureau of Prisons institution on June 21, 2012, and has been incarcerated since
then.

See, e.g., United States v. Broussard, No. 11-299; United States v. Mouton, No. 11-48.
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In considering the present motion, which was filed on May 18,2012, the Court has continued
to receive more and more information albeit in the fashion of slowly peeling layers of an onion.
During this time, the Court has remained ever cognizant of multiple factors, including: the sanctity
of this jury's verdict and the undesirability of upsetting it; the consumption of resources by the
government and the defendants in preparing to try this matter in 2011; the cost in financial and other
resources in staging this trial; the efficient use of judicial resources; the substantial interest in
achieving finality; and last, but certainly not least, the heavy emotional toll that the trial, and
subsequent proceedings, have taken on the victims and their families, as well as the defendants and
their families, Further, the undersigned has spent countless hours considering these factors against
the backdrop of the longstanding integrity and respect afforded the United States criminal justice
system and courts, and the special role of prosecutors, especially federal prosecutors from the
Department of Justice acting in the name of the people of the United States of America. Try as it
might to reconcile all of these interests, in light of the facts set forth, the Court is unable to achieve
a disposition contrary to the one reached here, and most assuredly does not take such action lightly.
Quite simply, in the most general sense, traditional notions and concepts of criminal justice cannot
be served by minimizing such misconduct and preserving a verdict under these peculiar
circumstances.

The Court is, of course, also very cognizant that, on September 4, 2005, two men died, while
three others were seriously injured, under tragic circumstances at the hands of some of the
defendants herein, and that the state court criminal justice system was corrupted to the prejudice of
at least one victim, Lance Madison. Mr. Madison's riveting testimony — both at trial and at

sentencing — is surely not soon forgotten. Indeed, it echoes in this case, making the abuses set forth
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herein all the more astonishing. This case started as one featuring allegations of brazen abuse of
authority, violation of the law, and corruption of the criminal justice system; unfortunately, though
the focus has switched from the accused to the accusors, it has continued to be about those very
issues. After much reflection, the Court cannot journey as far as it has in this case only to ironically
accept grotesque prosecutorial misconduct in the end.

For the most part, the Court will attempt herein to simply continue the chronology set forth
in its Order and Reasons dated November 26, 2012 (which the Court considers and refers to as
"PART ONE" of this saga), although some of the events described herein must necessarily be
placed on the existing overall timeline in order to reflect the important context as it relates to this
case. Additionally, as an exordium, the Court believes it prudent, for the sake of clarity, to first
provide a brief summary of Part One.

At this juncture, the most precious commodities are candor and credibility, both of which
seem to be in short supply, despite the best efforts of this Court and a couple of federal prosecutors
from Georgia. But for the Court's disposition today, a detailed evidentiary hearing would be certain,
and would be the only way to ascertain the entirety of facts surrounding these exploits and uncover
the further extent of misdeeds herein. As will be explained, however, the Court does not find taking
that likely arduous route to be necessary. Inshort, despite the many remaining questions that would
have great bearing on the subject motion, the Court believes more than sufficient grounds exist
warranting the disposition set forth herein.

II. BACKGROUND: PART ONE — MAY 18,2012 TO NOVEMBER 26, 2012

Following their convictions and sentencings on multiple counts, Defendants, on May 18,

2012, filed the instant motion under Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, arguing
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essentially two grounds. The first ground is that the government allegedly "engaged in a secret
public relations campaign” designed to make the NOPD "the household name for corruption,”
inflame public opinion against the defendants and others involved with NOPD, establish community
acceptance of the government's version of the facts "before anyone set foot in a courtroom," urge
defendants and others to plead "guilty" as a result, and prejudice the defendants during trial through
online activities designed to secure their convictions. The second ground for new trial is that the
government, or someone associated with the government, allegedly improperly disclosed, to The
Times-Picayune, L.L.C. ("Times-Picayune") and the Associated Press ("AP"), the government's
theories regarding the defendants' alleged guilt, the status of plea negotiations, and the upcoming
guilty plea of cooperating defendant and former NOPD lieutenant Michael Lohman, all in violation
of Rule 6(e) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.” At the time the instant motion was filed,
the defendants based the first argument in large part on persistent online posting of "comments" by

former USAO Senior Litigation Counsel Sal Perricone, who was exposed, on March 12, 2012, as

Rule 6(e) provides, in pertinent part:
(2) Secrecy.
(B) Unless these rules provide otherwise, the following persons must not disclose
a matter occurring before the grand jury:
(i) a grand juror;
(vi) an attorney for the government; or
(vii) a person to whom disclosure is made under Rule 6(e)(3)(A)(ii) or (iii).
(3) Exceptions.
(A) Disclosure of a grand-jury matter—other than the grand jury's deliberations or
any grand juror's vote—may be made to:
(ii) any government personnel—including those of a state, state subdivision,
Indian tribe, or foreign government—that an attorney for the government considers necessary
to assist in performing that attorney's duty to enforce federal criminal law; or
(iii) a person authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 3322,

8

Engelhardt; 0010




Case 2:10-cr-00204-KDE-JVM Document 1137 Filed 09/17/13 Page 9 of 129

the Nola.com® poster "Henry L. Mencken1951." Defendants suspected, but had no proof, that
Perricone had posted under other pseudonyms in the past, and had been doing so for a long time.
Defendants further alleged that others in the USAO became aware of and accepted Perricone's
activities.

Oral argument on Defendants' motion was held on June 13, 2012. At that time, based upon
the government's representations, including that of Jim Letten, then United States Attorney ("USA")
for the Eastern District of Louisiana, the Court expressed considerable doubt about the merits of the
motion. Nonetheless, in the interest of completeness, full disclosure, and seeking satisfaction that
what obviously might be a very grave transgression by the government did not occur, the Court
ordered the government to pursue an investigation of the leak of the Lohman plea. (Minute Entry,
Rec. Doc. 1020; and June 13, 2012 Transcript, p. 44, 1. 2 - p. 45, 1. 24.) The Court further ordered
Defendants to set forth what they intended to cover at the evidentiary hearing requested of the Court.
(Minute Entry, Rec. Doc. 1020; June 13, 2012 Transcript, pp. 46-47.)

Based upon Defendants' submission, the Court, on July 9, 2012, ordered the government to
produce documents relating to any posting activity on the website Nola.com between the dates of
February 17, 2010 (one week before the Lohman plea) and March 24, 2012 (approximately ten days
after Perricone's activities were admitted). (Rec. Doc. 1034.) Both the investigation into the
Lohman plea leak, and the gathering and production of documents in response to the July 9, 2012

Order, were handled by former First Assistant United States Attorney ("AUSA") Jan Mann, who also

¥ "Nola.com" is the online version of the Times-Picayune newspaper, featuring news stories

and other information traditionally found in the print edition. After certain articles, there exists a
"Comments" section, where readers may register under a self-created "user ID" or "alias" to publicly post
an opinion or comment which would then accompany the article.

9
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responded to the Court's inquiries regarding the investigation of Perricone that had been undertaken
by the DOJ's Office of Professional Responsibility ("OPR").

Later, on October 10, 2012, because Perricone had not yet been questioned under oath about
his online activities, but during an interview with a local magazine had asserted that in posting he
had acted alone with no one else's knowledge, the Court undertook further questioning of Perricone
under oath at a status conference. At the October 10th interview, Perricone admitted that he had
used several other online user IDs, including "dramatis personae," "legacyusa,” and "campstblue,"
but denied using or knowing the real life personas of several other commenters, including "eweman."
He also reiterated that he had acted solo (referring to his postings as "my little secret"), and without
the knowledge of anyone else at the USAO or DOJ. Perricone was also asked about various posts
he made, including some relative to potential non-public grand jury information. Then First AUSA
Jan Mann attended the conference on behalf of the government, and occasionally lodged objections
on the record to questions posed of Perricone by defense counsel. Additionally, at the conclusion
of the meeting, Mann, to the Court's surprise, professed suspicions that other court personnel might
also be posting.

Thereafter, in a follow-up letter exchange with the undersigned, Mann stated that, in speaking
at the October 10™ conference, she "did not intend to suggest that anyone else in particular was
posting," and that "[p]rior to the Perricone incident, [she] was not a follower of Nola.com postings
and had no real sense of what was happening there." (Letter dated October 19, 2012 from former
First AUSA Jan Mann to U.S. District Judge Kurt D. Engelhardt.) On Friday, November 2, 2012,
however, a lawsuit was filed in Louisiana state court, alleging that Mann, as "eweman," had in fact
posted inappropriate comments on Nola.com from November 2011 to March 2012. Days later, the

Court was advised that the allegations were true.
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At a status conference held on November 7, 2012, attended by all counsel and USA Letten,
DOJ lead prosecutor Barbara "Bobbi" Bernstein advised the Court that neither she nor her "trial
team" co-counsel’ were aware of the Perricone or Mann postings until they became public.
Nevertheless, considering the gravity of the Perricone postings, and the unfortunate assignment by
the government of then First AUSA Jan Mann to submit responsive investigatory information and
other materials to the Court, in connection with both the alleged Rule 6(e) violation and the
Perricone issue,'® the Court, expressing its dismay over the already-known troubling government
hijinks, ordered the government, on November 26, 2012, to recommence compliance with its prior
Orders, including an investigation of the leak of the Lohman plea pursuant to Rule 6(¢), and a full
and complete report regarding government internet posting activity relative to this case. (Rec. Doc.
1070.)

At that time, the Court indicated that defendants were surely correct in their suspicions of
prosecutorial misconduct, but concluded that the facts, as of November 2012, still did not yet warrant
an evidentiary hearing or the reliefrequested by the defendants. On the other hand, the Court clearly

had sufficient grounds to continue seeking full and candid disclosure by the government of all

? The "trial team" or "prosecution team" consisted of Barbara Bernstein, Deputy Chief of the

Criminal Section of the Civil Rights Division of DOJ; Trial Attorney Cindy Chung, also of the Civil Rights
Division of DOJ; and AUSA Ted Carter of the USAQ. This team initially also included EDLA AUSA Julia
Evans, who was a signatory on the original Indictment filed on July 12, 2010, but who withdrew as counsel
of record on May 5, 2011. (Rec. Doc. 337.)

i In addition to handling the government's investigation into the Lohman plea leak and the
government'sresponse to this Court's Order for production of documents related to online posting, Jan Mann
was connected to this prosecution throughout as First AUSA for the USAO. She was frequently included
on email exchanges during the investigation and prosecution of this matter (See Part One, Rec. Doc. 1070,
p. 7. fn. 9), and as First AUSA, supervised the work of EDLA AUSA's Ted Carter and Julia Evans, members
of the prosecution team.
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relevant facts bearing on the defendants' motion. That being said, recognizing that the drastic action
of overturning a jury verdict is not favored, and fully considering such action a last resort, the
undersigned sincerely hoped that, with a clear, unequivocal and all-inclusive reliable report, the
government could represent with confidence the breadth and ends of any unethical and
unprofessional conduct directed towards the prosecution and trial of these defendants.

III. BACKGROUND: PART TWO - NOVEMBER 26, 2012 TO PRESENT

A. Special Attorney to the Attorney General - John Horn's Assignment

On December 3, 2012, following the Court's issuance of the November 26, 2012 Order and
Reasons (Rec. Doc. 1070), John Horn,!' the DOJ's First Assistant United States Attorney for the
Northern District of Georgia, was assigned as "Special Attorney to the Attorney General," pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1515," to accomplish the tasks set forth in this Court's previous Orders of June 13,
2012 (Rec. Doc. 1020), July 9, 2012 (Rec. Doc. 1034) and November 26, 2012 (Rec. Doc. 1070, p.
49). Although the Court previously had afforded the government thirty days to properly compile
those reports, an extension of an additional thirty days was requested and granted on December 21,
2012 (Rec. Doc. 1076). Mr. Horn's request for additional time also contained a "Status Report in
Partial Compliance,” dated December 19, 2012, which described the commencement of his

investigatory efforts.

" Throughout his endeavors in this case, Mr. Horn has been ably assisted by Special Attorney

Charysse L. Alexander, also of the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Georgia.

k On page 33 of the November 26, 2012 Order and Reasons (Rec. Doc. 1070), the Court
suggested that DOJ "seriously consider appointment of an independent counsel to review the activities of
Perricone and AUSA Mann, both with regard to the online postings, as well as subsequent matters before
this Court as described herein." DOJ apparently chose to disregard this suggestion.
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B. Departures from the USAO

Shortly after Mr. Horn's appointment, Jim Letten, United States Attorney for this district,
resigned his office on December 11,2012." Then, on or about December 14,2012, First AUSA Jan
Mann retired from the United States Attorney's Office; her husband, AUSA Jim Mann,' retired the
same day.
C. The Horn Report of January 25, 2013

On January 25, 2013, Mr. Horn submitted ex parte'” a "Report in Compliance with Order and
Reasons Dated November 26, 2012" (hereinafter referred to as "the Horn Report” or "First Horn
Report"). The Horn Report summarizes the government's compliance with the guidance set forth

in In Re: Grand Jury Investigation (Lance), 620 F.2d 202 (5" Cir. 1980), including the completion

. First Assistant United States Attorney Dana J. Boente of the Eastern District of Virginia was
appointed to serve as Interim United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Louisiana on December 6,
2012.

i At the time of his retirement, AUSA Jim Mann held the position of Supervisor of the
Financial Crimes and Computer Crimes Unit. See Transcript of Jim Mann, August 8, 2012, p. 5.

15 All of the reports and related materials provided by Mr. Horn were submitted ex parte and
under seal, and have remained so, except where provided herein. Additionally, the Horn Report and those
that followed contain a "Reservation of Applicable Privileges":

This Report and its attachments contain information protected by the attorney-client
privilege, work-product privilege, and deliberative process privilege. At this time, the
government waives these privileges only for the limited purpose of complying with the
instructions in the Court's Order and enabling the Court to conduct an ex parte, in camera
review of the government's submissions in response to the Order. The government does not
waive, and expressly asserts, these privileges with respect to any further disclosure of this
Report or the materials submitted in connection with the Report.

On Friday, August 2, 2013, the Court requested that the DOJ provide the basis and authoritative support for
each privilege asserted, which was received on August 21, 2013. The Court has been and is sensitive to the
narrow assertion of applicable privileges, and has given due consideration to each in releasing this Order.
Indeed, the Court has purposefully included only those aspects of Mr. Horn's reports it thought essential at
this time, and omitted various aspects of the Horn Reports and documents produced that have additional
bearing on the disposition of the defendants' Motion for New Trial, but might be subject to such privileges.
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of nearly 200 interviews of various DOJ, FBI, and USAO personnel, as well as the submission of
sworn affidavits of certain federal law enforcement personnel, '° regarding the grand jury proceedings
and subsequent guilty plea of cooperating defendant/witness Michael Lohman. The Horn Report
also further examines the conduct of Perricone and Jan Mann.

Regarding the premature media reports of Lohman's guilty plea agreement, the First Horn
Report indicates that the media sources ("two people familiar with the investigation" and "a source
close to the probe™) responsible for the Lohman plea leak have never been identified, and that the
publishers (the Times-Picayune and AP) of the information "formally rejected" DOJ's request for
their identities (even in a general exclusionary sense, i.e., by group or category of potential persons).
See First Horn Report, Attachment 10 (Letter from AP's counsel dated December 17,2012; and letter
dated December 17,2012 from counsel for the Times-Picayune). Nonetheless, the body of evidence
set forth in the Horn Report purports to rebut any assumptions under Lance that federal law
enforcement personnel were the sources of the information reported. The Horn Report also indicates
that, although attempts to negotiate with the Times-Picayune and AP for the disclosure of the identity
of the sources (or even the general group from which they might come) failed, the DOJ believes it
has sufficiently pursued the information through other sources (the aforementioned DOJ affidavits),

and "has concluded that the factors required for the issuance of a subpoena to the reporters have not

e In addition to submitting to questioning by an Inspector General Assistant Special Agent in

Charge, the involved law enforcement personnel were asked to sign a pre-printed standard form affidavit.
The form affidavit used for employees of the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Louisiana
records the sworn answers to ten questions. The form affidavit used for employees of DOJ's Civil Rights
Division asks nine questions. The one used for employees of other agencies propounds eight questions. See
Attachment 1 to Horn Report, Exhibit 1, pp. 08-21. None of the executed affidavits has been provided to
the Court, nor have they been requested at this time.
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beenmet.""” Perhaps significantly, however, though it had been reported in the Times-Picayune that
a subpoena had issued to discover the identities of at least eleven Nola.com user IDs of interest to
Mr. Horn, the First Horn Report does not reference the other user IDs of persons obviously posting
curiously similar information and/or opinions about DOJ/USAOQ business.

With regard to the internet postings of comments by Perricone and Jan Mann, the First Horn
Report not unexpectedly concludes "that Mr. Perricone's and Ms. Mann's conduct reflects no broader
effort/campaign within the USAO to provide non-public information about this or other cases
through Nola.com or other websites." (Horn Report, p. 16.) However, Horn did learn that Perricone
used (but could not recall) yet another user ID on the Nola.com website, but could not confirm the
specific name. Likewise, Mann admitted that she too may have posted a few comments under a
different user ID than "eweman" approximately one year before her first post as "eweman" (which
would also be about six months before the start of this trial in June 2011). Nevertheless, although
she reportedly could not recall that particular user ID, she assured the government investigators that
those comments did not relate to DOJ matters. Both Jan Mann and Jim Mann declined to provide

affidavits, although both agreed to be and were interviewed in December 2012.

0 The Court disagrees with this conclusion; but, in light of the disposition of the pending

motion, it is moot. It is not without irony, however, that the Court notes the Times-Picayune's and AP's
recent noble assertion of the "right of access to information regarding the alleged misconduct of federal
prosecutors”, "the right of access [to] ensure[s] that the public has the information it needs to intelligently
assess the activities of its government”, and a "right of access to information regarding not only the events
that led to the convictions . . . but also the facts surrounding Defendants' allegations of prosecutorial
misconduct in connection with that case.” (See Rec. Doc. 1126-1, pp. 2,4 and 5.) Specifically, as to alleged
prosecutorial misconduct regarding Rule 6(e), the critical piece of information — the gravamen of defendants'
motion—is the identity of the source of the AP's and Times-Picayune's premature publication of information
regarding the unannounced Michael Lohman plea deal — a fact known, even today, only by the movants
Times-Picayune and the AP. By formally rejecting the DOJ's request for this information, and choosing to
keep it "confidential” and thus hidden from the public, these two media outlets perpetuate the viability of
defendants' Rule 6(e) motion, and support its merit by implication, while relying on an inapplicable claim
of journalistic "privilege." See United States v. Sterling, 2013 WL 3770692 (4® Cir. July 19, 2013) (citing
Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665 (1972)); and United States v. Smith, 135 F.3d 963 (5® Cir, 1998).
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Aside from those who used the internet to post comments concerning only non-DOJ matters,
Horn also uncovered two other law enforcement personnel who posted about this case: (1) "the first
employee, from the Civil Rights Division and who had first-hand knowledge of the Danziger Bridge
case but was not a member of the prosecution team, . . ." posted six comments under the pseudonym
"Dipsos" over the course of four days of the Danziger Bridge trial in 2011; and (2) [DOJ agency
employee "A"]" in New Orleans who was not involved in the Danziger Bridge or Glover
investigations . . ."" Neither law enforcement employee was named or further identified in the First
Horn Report. Though the first was described as only an "employee" in the Civil Rights Division of
the DOJ in Washington, D.C., the First Horn Report excused the posted comments by characterizing
them as not "inflammatory, critical or prejudicial," and not containing grand jury or non-public
information. As to the unnamed DOJ agency employee "A," the First Horn Report identifies only
two (out of over 100) comments relating to this matter, both of which were made in connection with
the mistrial declared in the separate Dugue trial in January 2012. Again, the First Horn Report
concludes that these comments were not "inflammatory, critical, or prejudicial, or otherwise
contained grand jury non-public information."

Finally, the First Horn Report also identified and produced several other previously
undisclosed email communications that the Court ordered produced back on July 9,2012 (Rec. Doc.

1034).

- The Court has deleted the actual descriptive reference and replaced it with more general

terminology.

19

On August 21, 2013, Mr. Horn advised the Court of a significant correction: DOJ agency
employee "A" had, in fact, served in a supervisory capacity over the Danziger Bridge investigation, at times
directly supervising the matter, This activity included reviewing and approving related documents,
sometimes attending interviews of relevant persons, and assisting in the conduct of searches.
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D. The March 29, 2013 Supplement to the Horn Report

After carefully reviewing the January 25, 2013 Horn Report and determining additional
information was needed, the Court, on February 22, 2013, propounded thirteen questions/requests
in response. These include the following:

(1) The absence of sworn affidavits from Jan Mann (hereinafter “Mann™) and
Jim Mann is problematic. Both need to submit sworn affidavits regarding all
pertinent matters (including those several in your report, as well as those outlined
here), or be questioned under oath in the presence of a court reporter, in the same
manner as Sal Perricone (hereinafter “Perricone”).

(2) How did the employee from the Civil Rights Division who posted under
the pseudonym "Dipsos" during the Danziger Bridge trial obtain "first-hand
knowledge of the case" without being a member of the prosecution team? What
position within the division did this person hold at the pertinent time? What duties
and job responsibilities did he/she have? Who are his/her superiors and underlings?
Has he or she been asked why information was sought from “bloggers” rather than
a member of the trial team or their support staff? (See January 15, 2013 Report by
John Horn (“Report™), p. 20.)

(3) When interviewed, why were FBI personnel not questioned about posting
comments on websites, [omitted by the Court]. (See Report, pp. 7-8 and 20-21.)
Were any FBI personnel asked whether he or she had knowledge of other federal
employees (Assistant U.S. Attorneys, other FBI personnel, etc.) posting on public
websites?

(4) The Report indicates that Perricone used another user-id on_nola.com
similar to “fed up” and that a DOJ review of those comments for non-public
information was ongoing at the time of the Report’s submission. (See Report, p.17,
n. 3.) What information has been obtained since then? Ifany DOJ/USAO matters are
referenced in any of the posts, please provide the Court with a complete copy of
them.

(5) The Report indicates that Mann may have posted under another user-id
prior to posting as “eweman” but, at the time of her intereview, she could not recall
the user-id in question. Has an additional inquiry regarding that user-id been made
since the submission of your report? If the user-id and the content of the posts has
been determined, what was the nature of the posts, if they did not concern
DOJ/USAO matters? If any DOJ/USAO matters are referenced in any additional
posts by Mann, please provide the Court with a complete copy of them. (See Report,
p.17,n. 4.)
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(7) A February 1, 2013 article by Gordon Russell, a reporter for
Nola.com/The Times-Picayune, states that "authorities sent the NOLA Media Group
a subpoena asking for information about commenters on NOLA.com.” (The article
presently can be found at http://www.nola.com/crime/index.ssf/
2013/02/deadline_passes_quietly _for_in.html) Is Mr. Russell correct? Is this
subpoena (or its results) referenced in the Report? The article additionally indicates
that "a catalog of comments and the associated IP addresses" of about 11 other
commenters® was sought by "the feds" from (but not provided by) the NOLA Media
Group. Is this correct? Are those efforts reflected in the report? What was the
intended purpose of the request(s)? Why these 11 commenters?

(8) Footnote 30 of the Court’s November 26, 2012 Order and Reasons states:

It would seem obvious that, upon news of Perricone’s activities,
among the first questions to be answered were: (1) Is anyone else in
the U.S. Attorney’s Office posting inappropriate and/or
compromising online comments? and (2) Did anyone in the U.S.
Attorney’s Office know or suspect that Perricone was posting prior
to his admission in March 20127 (Even if OPR asked the first
question in March, one shudders to imagine what answer was given
by First AUSA Mann. Either she confessed to such activity, or falsely
denied it.) Regardless, had the DOJ proactively and independently
investigated and carefully analyzed the online comments in March
2012 as did the expert who uncovered Perricone and Mann, the
answer to the first question would have been known months ago.

Regarding this, why were Mann’s postings as “eweman’ not discovered prior to late
October/early November 2012? And what have you been able to ascertain regarding
previous efforts, if any, by OPR (or the EDLA US Attorney’s office (hereinafter
referred to as “USAQ”)) to determine whether anyone in the USAO in addition to
Perricone was improperly posting online?

(9) What efforts, if any, have been made as to whether Mann, Perricone, or
anyone else in the USAQO, has made improper public comments regarding
DOJ/USAO matters via any website, blogs, newspapers, etc., other than nola.com,?
If such an inquiry has made, what information has been gathered?

o The eleven user IDs/aliases sought are: "FormerNOPDman," "mardigraswizard,"

"lawdawgl1963," '"nolacat60,” "FSU1982," '"alafbi," 'thewizard," "copperhead504,"
"isthisthingon?," " Andjusticeforall," and "uckzerto." As of this date, the Court knows the identity of
only one with certainty, though the Court suspects the likely general identity of some of the others.
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(10) The Report addresses the question of whether anyone else within the
U.S. Attorney’s office was posting online, but does not address the question of who
within the office knew about Perricone’s and/or Mann’s postings, as indicated in
Footnote 30 of the Court’s November 26, 2012 Order and Reasons. What inquiry,
if any, has been made relative to this question? For instance, on November 7, 2012,
Michael Magner (“Magner”) testified that he previously had told at least three
supervisory personnel, and others, within the USAO that he suspected Perricone was
posting online about DOJ/USAO matters. Have the referenced persons, including
Greg Kennedy, Maurice Landrieu, and Matt Coman, as well as Carter Guice and the
others identified, been interviewed under oath, or otherwise, regarding Magner’s
assertions? If so, what information was obtained? Please provide a complete copy
of any pertinent findings resulting from any such inquiries.

£ % x

On March 29, 2013, Mr. Horn and Ms. Alexander responded to these questions. The
Supplemental March 29, 2013 Report (herein after, the "First Supplemental Report") disclosed that
both former First AUSA Jan Mann and former AUSA Jim Mann had been interviewed under oath
in the presence of a court reporter on November 15, 2012, by OPR attorneys.”’ Thereafter, in
December 2012, both were interviewed by Mr. Horn and Ms. Alexander, who were accompanied
by a special agent with the DOJ Office of Inspector General (OIG). On that occasion, neither were
placed under oath, and both, according to the First Supplemental Report, declined to signan affidavit
containing the answers given.”? Both reiterated their denial of being the source of any unauthorized

release of information in connection with the Rule 6(e) issue.

2 OPR counsel had also previously conducted unsworn interviews of Jan and Jim Mann on

August 8, 2012 (prior to the discovery that she had posted comments online as "eweman").

% The First Supplemental Horn Report indicates that, in December 2012, both Jan Mann and

Jim Mann were questioned "in the presence of two federal prosecutors and a federal agent, placing
themselves atthe same risk of consequence for a false statement under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 as if they had signed
affidavits with those responses." (March 29, 2013 Supplement, p. 2.) While the Court appreciates this
representation, if one or both witnesses were required to testify under oath and be cross-examined at an
evidentiary hearing, the assessment and enforcement of penalties for false testimony, if found by the Court,
would be the independent responsibility of the Court, not simply the discretionary decision of DOJ, their
former employer and a party to this prosecution with an obviously strong interest in its dispositive result.
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The March 29, 2013 First Supplemental Report still conspicuously did not name the Civil
Rights Division employee who posted as "Dipsos," an omission the Court found truly odd, and
which further peaked its curiosity, especially given that the First Supplemental Report did further
disclose that this "employee" actually is an attorney, who had gained first-hand knowledge of this
case "pursuant only to her review of investigative materials and not by participating in the
investigation or on the prosecution team." (First Supplemental Report, p. 3.) The First
Supplemental Report then explained that:

the attorney was walled off from the prosecution team and was prohibited from

having any substantive discussion about the investigation with any member of the

prosecution team or any supervisor over the prosecution team. The attorney thus

discussed the Garrity review with the team and passed along evidence that had been

reviewed and cleared for use by the prosecution team. The attorney is not a

supervisor, and the attorney's direct supervisor had no involvement in the case except

to oversee the Garrity work. The attorney does not supervise others. The attorney

said under oath that the attorney was in Washington [D.C.] during the trial and

followed the progress of the trial in the Times-Picayune because the prosecution team

was busy and there was not a good flow of information back about the trial events.
Id

In further response to the Court's February 22, 2013 queries, Mr. Horn reported that, in
December 2012, counsel for the New Orleans FBI office "asked all employees in that office if they
had engaged in any online posting activity relating to any federal or state criminal investigations."
(First Supplemental Report, p. 4.) In addition, the First Supplement Report reiterated that Perricone
did not recall the specific user ID he used that was similar to "fed up,” though a search indicated six
comments posted under this particular user ID ("fed up") occurring from October 12, 2009 to

October 20, 2009, did bear some semblance to Petricone's writing style and content. But according

to the First Supplemental Report, none of the comments relate to legal matters or cases. The First
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Supplemental Report also states that, although former First AUSA Jan Mann could not recall her
prior user ID, she thought it possible that, approximately one year prior to registering as "eweman,"
she posted one or two comments in a single day about Louisiana Attorney General Buddy Caldwell
inresponse to an article. Again, however, she had assured investigators that she did not post about
DOJ matters using her unknown prior user ID.

Inresponse to the Court's Question No. 7, the First Supplemental Report further explains that
the government deferred its request [to media outlets] for information associated with the other
eleven referenced user IDs "until such time that more specific evidence of misconduct was
developed.” The First Supplemental Report additionally states that, given other investigatory work,
including obtaining affidavits from all USAO personnel, "we believe that the results [of the
subpoena] yield little probative evidence when compared with the other evidence summarized in the
Report." (First Supplemental Report, p. 8.)

Of significance, with regard to the Court's Question No. 8, the First Supplemental Horn
Report admits that OPR did not initially inquire as to whether any other USAO employees had
posted online comments,* but asserts OPR did ask EDLA attorneys "to provide all information they
possessed relevant to its inquiry regarding Perricone's postings." According to the First
Supplemental Report, at that time "no USAO employee, including Jan Mann, volunteered that he
or she had posted online comments in response to that question." (First Supplemental Report, p. 9.)
The First Supplemental Report indicates that only later in November 2012, when it initiated its
investigation into former First AUSA Mann's postings, did OPR specifically inquire as to whether
any other employee had posted comments about DOJ matters on Nola.com or any other internet

website.

This omission did not escape the notice of First AUSA Jan Mann, as discussed infra.
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In responding to the Court's Question No. 10, the First Supplemental Report deferred to the
OPR's continuing investigation, relative to whether anyone in the USAO knew about Perricone's
and/or Jan Mann's postings. Nonetheless, it reiterated the government's belief that neither Perricone
nor Mann posted confidential information about this case; that no USAO personnel other than
Perricone and Mann posted comments online about DOJ matters; and yet again denied that the
comments posted by Perricone and Mann were part of a broader or collusive effort within the USAO,
or federal law enforcement, to provide non-public information about this case, or any other cases,
through Nola.com or any other websites.

On April 16, 2013, the Court held a status conference at the request of defense counsel,
wherein an oral update of a general nature was provided.” Defense counsel were not provided any
of the Horn Reports or documents, or any substantive information based on such material **

E. Further Inquiry of the Court, and the May 15, 2013 Meeting

On Monday, April 22, 2013, the undersigned contacted Mr. Horn via telephone® to thank
him for his prior efforts, but to also advise that a further request for specific documentation and
materials would be forthcoming from the Court. During that conversation, the Court expressed a
concern that the two previous Horn Reports seemed to not only contain appropriate factual

information, but also further verbiage that either was anodyne in nature, or expressed advocation in

2“ The government's prosecution team (lead counsel Bernstein by phone, AUSA Carter in

person) also attended and participated in this status conference. They, however, were aware of and had
previously reviewed the then-existing Horn Reports and submitted materials, and thus were already fully
informed.

% To this day, defense counsel have not been provided any of the Horn Reports or other
documentary materials submitted by Mr. Horn.

% This was the first direct person-to-person contact, verbal or otherwise, between the

undersigned and Mr. Horn.
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the form of arguably debatable mitigating commentary.”” The undersigned further noted that some

provisions of the Horn Reports seemed to incite obvious further inquiry or investigation, and thus

follow up by the Court with Mr. Horn.

That same day, the Court requested, via email, eight additional items for in-camera review,

including:

1. Full and complete transcripts, including any exhibits, of the interviews of
former AUSA's Jan Mann and Jim Mann taken before a court reporter on November
15, 2012.

2. All notes (handwritten or otherwise) no matter how recorded, electronic
recordings, transcripts, or other materials memorializing (a) the "unswom interview"
of former AUSA Jan Mann on August 8, 2012; and (b) the "supplemental
interview(s)" of former AUSA's Jim Mann and Jan Mann that occurred in December
2012,

3. The full name and title of (a) the Civil Rights Division employee
referenced on Page 3 of the March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report; and (b) the direct
supervisor referenced in the first full paragraph of Page 3 of the March 29, 2013
Supplemental Report.

4. The full name and title of [DOJ agency employee "A"] who is under
administrative investigation and referenced on Pages 20-21 of the January 25, 2013
Report and Page 4 of the March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report.

* ok ok

6. The full name and title of the ..... FBI agent referenced on Page 4 of the
March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report regarding former AUSA Mike Magner's
statement to him.

7. The full name and title of the .... FBI agent referenced on Page 6 of the
March 29 Supplemental Report (regarding Question No. 6).

27

On April 22, 2013, the Court specifically inquired: "My concern, when 1 ask you about who

all might have reviewed the report before you submit it to me, is whether anyone is adding to the report after
you do your fact-finding; is anyone adding to the report, before it comes to me, in the nature of advocacy?"
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At that same time, the undersigned propounded ten more questions, including these:

1. Before the Court rules on the pending motion for new trial and motion to
dismiss filed by Defendant Dugue (Rec. Docs. 963 and 1079 (sealed)), the Court
might require former AUSA Jan Mann to answer questions under oath, or sign a
swormn statement or affidavit that provides clear, comprehensive and unequivocal
information regarding the entirety of the Court's inquiry in this matter, as well as her
own conduct relative to it. This will, to some extent, depend on what was covered
on November 15, 2012, as set forth in that transcript. Please state the legal basis
given for her decision to decline to sign an affidavit, as described on Page 2 of the
March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report.

2. With regard to Question No. 4, and the response thereto on Page 5 of the
March 29,2013 Supplemental Report, has former AUSA Perricone been asked about
the user name "martyfed" and/or "camp?" Has the DOJ reviewed any comments
from either of these user ids?

3. Has former AUSA Jan Mann been questioned about the user id
"bowatch?" Has the DOJ attempted to review and analyze comments posted by the
user id "bowatch?"

4. Tsthe Court to understand, with certainty, that the DOJ does not intend
to further pursue the subpoena referenced in Question No. 7 (Page 7 of the March 29,
2013 Supplemental Report)?

5. Page 8 of the March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report states that "DOJ's
own forensic evidence identified any USAQO personnel who posted comments on
Nola.com using the USAOQ's internet portals during 2012." The last paragraph of
Page 21 of the January 25, 2013 Report appears to indicate that such evidence was
not obtained for 2010 and 2011 (prior to December 19, 2011) because it was
impossible to do so. Is that correct? If not, please explain why the same evidence
was not obtained for pertinent time periods prior to December 19, 2011.%

6. Page 9 of the March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report, in response to
Question No. 8, provides information regarding OPR's previous efforts, following
former AUSA Perricone's March 2012 admission, to determine whether anyone else
in the USAO was posting anonymous comments about DOJ matters, but not any

28

The trial in this mattercommencedon June 22, 2011, and the verdict \#as returned on August

5,2011. At no time was the jury sequestered. This period, and the time before it, are obviously highly
relevant to the issues facing the Court in the motion sub judice.
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independent efforts by the USAO. What have you been able to ascertain regarding
the USAOQ's own past efforts, if any, to determine whether anyone in the USAO was
posting anonymous comments about DOJ matters?

* kK

8. On Pages 11-12 of the March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report, you state
that you did not understand the Court's Order and Reasons to encompass Question
No. 10 of the Court's February 22, 2013 email inquiry. The Court believes the
question to be well within the scope of issues raised in both the motion for new trial
(and the subsequent Dugue motion to dismiss).s. Inany event, the Court understands
that this question will be answered fully, completely, and comprehensively in the
OPR report. Please advise if this is inaccurate.

[to. Of course, the Court's Order of June 13, 2012, rendered at the

conclusion of the hearing conducted on that date, was based on what was

then known. Since that time, many intervening events have warranted a

logical extension of the inquiry.]

9. Although Page 16 of the March 29, 2013 Supplemental Report indicates
that the process of investigating and generating the OPR report "may be lengthy", is
there any estimate as to when that report will be completed, including the time delays
for any challenges to OPR's findings? Additionally, please identify and provide

contact information for the persons, including any supervisory personnel, who are
conducting the OPR investigation and/or are responsible for the report.

10. Please provide the names and title of all persons, as well a short
description of their respective roles, participating in the preparation, including
drafting, editing, approving, and/or supervising, of your reports and submissions to
the Court.

On Wednesday, May 1, 2013, Mr. Horn and Ms. Alexander contacted the Court to request
an in-chambers meeting, attended by a court reporter, to discuss their response to the April 22,2013
queries, At the meeting on May 15, 2013, Mr. Horn and Ms. Alexander delivered some of the
requested materials to the Court, with an explanation/clarification of the content and their attempts
to gather information in response to the Court's request.

During the meeting, Mr. Horn also again raised the issue of the review of his reports by

others in the DOJ. Mr. Horn assured the Court that, although drafts of each report were shown to
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various other DOJ/government personnel (including the prosecution trial team) to confirm accuracy,
"Charysse and I hold the drafting authority for the documents that we submitted to the Court. We
are the drafters of the language in it, of the factual findings, and the information that is summarized
is what we have concluded and what our observations are." (May 15, 2013 Transcript, p. 20.) Mr.
Horn additionally confirmed that "drafts were shared with our supervisors in the D[eputy] A[ttorney]
Gleneral]'s office," but that, "[A]s far as any suggestions that were given by anyone other than
anyone in the DAG's office, Charysse and I had the final authority over what content and what
suggestions were made." Id.

While accepting Mr. Horn's assertion, the Court nonetheless again expressed its concern and
objection to anyone editing his reports to either change or delete facts that have been found, or
changing accurate information that was originally included, or adding verbiage in the nature of
advocacy to mitigate what findings had been made. Id. at 26-27. In response, Mr. Horn stated
forthrightly: "There's not been anything that anybody within the department [DOJ] has asked us to
change in terms of correcting a fact or a representation that we've made in our report that has not
been based on the intent to make it more accurate, . . ." Id. at 28. Mr. Horn continued:

I think I can address what your concern is by saying that what Charysse and I have

put into our submissions is our work product, it's our assessments. There may have

been — there may have been suggestions, and there may have been clarifications

offered; but in terms of the trial team, in terms of the U.S. Attorney's Office here,

suggestions that they made were subject to our final approval and authority and
drafting.

So all of that contribution would be filtered through Charysse and me and our
assessment of the record, the evidence, the materials that we reviewed, the interviews
that we've conducted, and subject to the oversight and the final authority of the
DAG's office, and that would be people who had no, [ think, involvement in the
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Danziger Bridge matter. We're talking about, we were reporting to, at one point, the
chief of staff to the Deputy Attorney General, and then now to, who I mentioned on
the phone, Stuart Goldberg, who is the Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General.

L # *

So there were certainly suggestions and comments made along the lines that I think

a supervisor has an appropriate role to make in saying, "Are you looking at this? Are

you looking at that?" But there has never been anything that was changed factually,

or an assessment that we've made that did not reflect Charysse and my judgment and

assessment and determination about what happened or whether that representation

is appropriate and accurate to be in the report.

Id. at 34-35,

During the May 15, 2013 meeting, the undersigned was told orally the identity of "Dipsos”
by name for the first time. As will be discussed, it was a rather familiar one.
F. Second Supplemental Report of May 20, 2013

In further response to the Court's April 22, 2013 written inquiry, and as discussed at the May
15, 2013 conference, Mr. Horn and Ms. Alexander provided to the undersigned much of the
materials requested, including transcripts of the interviews conducted by OPR, and related
documents. Then, on May 20, 2013, Mr. Horn delivered his Second Supplemental Report
responding to the questions posed, and the rest of the materials sought.

In that report, Mr. Horn indicated that Jan Mann was advised, in December 2012, that "she
could answer all the [10] questions in the affidavit [previously utilizied by OPR] or complete another
form of the affidavit [containing only 8 questions] that omitted [the 2] questions about the OPR
survey." After consulting with counsel, she agreed to answer the questions in the ten-question

affidavit relating to the alleged disclosures. In so doing, however, Jan Mann again declined to

submit an affidavit, but agreed to an interview "in the telephonic presence of an OIG Special Agent."
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Mr. Horn reported that Jan Mann's attorney "provided no legal basis for her decision not to sign the
affidavit." (Second Supplemental Report, p. 2.) Mr. Horn also indicated his belief that the questions
in the affidavit had been orally covered during the sworn November 15,2012 interview of Jan Mann
by OPR attorneys. To the contrary, however, in the DOJ's "Memorandum Of Investigation,"
reflecting the results of the Horn and Alexander interview of Jan Mann on December 21, 2012, Jan
Mann was again asked only questions one through eight from the original ten-question affidavit
presented by OPR during the summer of 2012. According to the Memorandum Of Investigation:
"Mann was not asked questions nine or ten,” because her attorney had previously advised Horn that
Mann would not answer those questions. Mann declined to swear to the statement."

The Second Supplemental Report also revealed that, through his counsel, Perricone denied
ever posting comments under the user IDs "martyfed" or "camp;" whereas through her counsel, Jan
Mann similarly denied posting comments under the user ID "bowatch."

The Second Supplemental Report additionally confirmed that DOJ does not intend to pursue
the subpoena it issued in January 2013 (relating to the eleven user IDs) to the NOLA Media Group,
in light of its collection of affidavits. The DOJ concluded that pursuing the subpoena "would yield

little additional probative evidence." (Second Supplemental Report, p. 5.)

Questions nine and ten were:

9. For AUSAs only: do you affirm that your answers to OPR's July 2012 survey
remain the same, or do you have changes, clarifications, or additional information
to provide?

10. If you completed OPR's November 2012 survey asking whether you had
posted any comments online and about your knowledge of others posting
comments online, do you affirm that your answers to this survey remain the same,
or do you have changes, clarifications, or additional information to provide?

In fact, as Mr. Horn stated, Jan Mann gave sworn testimony on November 15, 2012, that related to the
answers to these two questions.

2 The Court disagrees with this conclusion too, but again finds the issue moot in light of its
disposition of the subject motion.
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Ina truly disappointing and unsettling crucial development, the Second Supplemental Report
also indicates that DOJ could not forensically recover computer data evidence from the USAO's
internet portals for years 2010 and 2011 (prior to December 19, 2011) because it "did not retain data
for the period before that." Jd. Thus, critical information regarding further prosecutorial misconduct
in the months before and during this trial seems forever unavailable.”

The Second Supplemental Report then indicates that, with one important exception
(discussed infra at pp. 88-95), no evidence was found that USAO management had information
about any other posters (besides Perricone) before November 2012, when the state court civil lawsuit
against First AUSA Jan Mann was filed. Furthermore, the USAO reportedly held two staff meetings,
led by former USA Jim Letten, in March 2012, shortly after the Perricone activity became known,
wherein he urged all in attendance to advise him promptly if they had any information of like nature
that should be disclosed before he addressed Perricone's conduct with the media. No one
volunteered during either meeting that they had posted online comments.

The Second Supplemental Report further states that OPR will make its final report available
for the Court's review when it is completed, but adds: ".... it is difficult to predict with certainty the
time at which OPR's final report will be available for disclosure to the court." (Second Supplemental
Report, p. 7.) An expected time line of legal delays was provided, but suffice it to say, the Court
does not anticipate the OPR final report to be forthcoming for many months after the date of this

Order.

o The inability of DOJ to forensically recover computer data evidence at material times to this

inquiry, particularly when coupled with both Perricone's and Jan Mann's reported inability to recall prior user
IDs, indeed troubles the Court, and supports the Court's ruling.
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Finally, in further response to the Court's inquiry regarding DOJ persons participating in the
preparation, including drafting, editing, approving, and/or supervising the Horn Reports to the Court,
the Second Supplemental Report states:

". .. we have acted under the supervision of Deputy Attorney General James Cole,

initially through former Associate Deputy Attorney General Scott Schools™ and

presently through Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General Stuart M. Goldberg,

As described more fully below, at all times the undersigned have held the

responsibility for conducting our investigation and preparing all submissions to the

Court in response to the November Order, subject to the editing and final approval

of the above supervisors. We have been given the authority to independently conduct

this investigation and have not been restricted in pursuing leads or information.

Similarly, we have not been restricted in reporting information in our submissions

that we concluded to be appropriate.”

(Second Supplemental Report, pp. 8-9.)
G. Third Supplemental Report Dated June 17, 2013

The Court reviewed the material delivered by Mr. Horn and Ms. Alexander on May 15 and
20,2013, and thereafter asked seven more questions in the nature of clarification, none of which was
of a substantive nature. A Third Supplemental Report was filed by Mr. Horn, on June 17, 2013, in
response to the Court's inquiries.

H. Fourth Supplemental Report Dated June 25, 2013

As a matter of even further follow-up, the Court made two additional requests of Mr. Horn

on June 18, 2013, to which Mr. Horn responded via a Fourth Supplemental Report dated June 25,

2013. The first of those questions related to the interview of Jan Mann; the second related to the

DOJ agency employee "A." Then, on Friday, July 26, 2013, the Court requested the transcript or

e See p. 89, fn. 100.
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"33 which recording was received on

recording of the December 20, 2012, OIG interview of "Dipsos,
July 31, 2013.

As of that date, July 31, 2013, with the body of information gathered by Mr. Horn and Ms,
Alexander, along with other information received and confirmed during this time period, the Court
was strongly inclined to hold an in-depth evidentiary hearing, as originally requested by defendants,
given that their allegations, based then on very few known facts, deductive reasoning, and
supposition, had clearly blossomed into a series of newly-discovered facts and admissions,
unanswered questions, additional apostasies, and a fetor extending far beyond the simple
disconcerting notion of a single rogue prosecutor known to counsel and the Court at the hearing on
June 13,2012, But, with these admissions, and confirmed facts reported and verified sufficient to
tip this matter toward disposition, the Court is able and instead finds it more appropriate to simply
rule on defendants' motion now, for the reasons stated.

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES
A, The Government's Opposition to Defendants' Motion

In its original opposition memorandum (Rec. Doc. 1007), filed on June 5, 2012, the
government staked out two general arguments: (1) the defendants' motion is untimely and must be
dismissed without consideration of its merits; and (2) the defendants' motion should be denied
because the defendants have failed to demonstrate a violation of their rights to due process. (Rec.

Doc. 1007, p. 3.)

= Though not otherwise referenced by quote in this Order, the Court finds certain other

particular information on this recording tends to support its decision.
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B. Questions Raised

Generally speaking, as reflected in the government's opposition memorandum, the Court is
faced with a motion for new trial under Rule 33. This particular new trial request, however, unlike
most, poses many interesting questions, some groundbreaking: (1) Initially, as raised by DOJ, was
the defendants' motion timely filed when some of the government's conduct was not discovered until
months later, and much of it is being disclosed to defense counsel for the first time in this Order?
(2) Did the government violate the Code of Federal Regulations? (3) Did the government attorneys
violate the other Rules of Professional Responsibility and Local Court Rules set forth herein? (4)
Can the government do indirectly that which it is strictly prohibited from doing directly? (5) Can
the government do in cyberspace, with anonymity, that which it is strictly prohibited from doing
otherwise? (6) Because these posts by government attorneys were made anonymously (or under a
fake name), should the Court overlook and excuse the fact that they were made by government
prosecutors and employees of DOJ? (7) Was Rule 6(¢) violated? (8) If Rule 6(¢) was violated, by
whom? (9) Are the defendants entitled to an evidentiary hearing on any or all of these issues? (10)
Under these extraordinary circumstances, are the defendants required to show prejudice? (11) Ifso,
have the defendants shown sufficient prejudice?

The Court again points out that a search of existing case law does not reveal that factually
similar circumstances have occurred elsewhere in this nation (which is a relief, in a way) for prior
court treatment. This is not entirely surprising, given that social media and internet posting are
relatively new phenomena, and the minatory nature of the conduct occurring both before and during
this high stakes trial. Any precedential discussion of them in the jurisprudence, however, would

have been helpful. Nonetheless, with certain irrefragable facts before it juxtaposed against a number
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of unanswered material questions, the Court believes this matter can be disposed of at this time
based upon longstanding fundamental principles of due process.
V. GOVERNING LAW

A. Fundamental Guiding Principles

“[Flair play . . . is the essence of due process.” Galvan v. Press, 347 U.S. 522, 530 (1954).
Such fair play includes “the deep-rooted feeling that the police must obey the law while enforcing
the law; that in the end life and liberty can be as much endangered from illegal methods used to
convict those thought to be criminals as from the actual criminals themselves.” Spano v. New York,
360 U.S. 315, 320-21 (1959). This deep-rooted feeling extends even deeper where prosecutors are
concerned, given their status as officers of the court bound to special rules of professional conduct.
See, e.g., La. Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 3.8 (Special Responsibilities of a Prosecutor).

Addressing the special obligations owed by federal prosecutors, in United States v. Lopez-
Avila, 678 F.3d 955 (9™ Cir, 2012), the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals recently explained:

The Department of Justice has an obligation to its lawyers and to the public to

prevent prosecutorial misconduct. Prosecutors, as servants of the law, are subject to

constraints and responsibilities that do not apply to other lawyers; they must serve

truth and justice first. United States v. Kojayan, 8 F.3d 1315, 1323 (9" Cir. 1993).

Their job is not just to win, but to win fairly, staying within the rules. Berger, 295
U.S. at 88, 55 S.Ct. 629.

When a prosecutor steps over the boundaries of proper conduct and into unethical
territory, the government has a duty to own up to it and to give assurances that it will
not happen again.

Id. at 964-65. Having found prosecutorial misconduct committed by one AUSA, the Court of

Appeals remanded the case to the district court to consider "two different courses of action that
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would deter future misconduct like this since 'quite as important as assuring a fair trial . . . is assuring
that the circumstances that gave rise to the misconduct won't be repeated in other cases." Kojayan,
8 F.3d at 1324." Lopez-Avila, 678 F.3d at 965-66. The two remedial options set forth by the Ninth
Circuit are (1) retrial, or dismissal with prejudice, pursuant to the district court's supervisory powers
over the attorneys who practice before it, and (2) discipline of the prosecutor(s) directly pursuant to
a show cause order. Lopez-Avila, 678 F.3d at 966. The Ninth Circuit finally noted, as is the case
herein, that the DOJ Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR) is required to review the conduct
of the DOJ attorney involved.*
B. Laws Governing Conduct of Prosecutors

The conduct of prosecutors and other personnel of the DOJ is governed in several respects,
the most significant here being 28 C.F.R. § 50.2. That provision of the Code of Federal Regulations
states, in pertinent part:

§ 50.2 Release of information by personnel of the Department of Justice
relating to criminal and civil proceedings.

(a) General.

(2) While the release of information for the purpose of influencing a trial is,
of course, always improper, there are valid reasons for making available to the public
information about the administration of the law. The task of striking a fair balance
between the protection of individuals accused of crime or involved in civil

M In Lopez-Avila, upon the initial release of the original opinion, the governmentfiled a motion

requesting that the Circuit remove the prosecutor's name (AUSA Jerry Albert) from the opinion and replace
it with references to simply "the prosecutor", arguing that naming Albert publicly was inappropriate. The
Circuit rejected the government'srequest, stating: "If federal prosecutors receive public credit for their good
works - as they should - they should not be able to hide behind the shield of anonymity when they make
serious mistakes." 678 F.3d at 965. To the extent DOJ and AUSA attorneys have objected to being publicly
named herein, this maxim applies here as well.
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proceedings with the Government and public understandings of the problems of
controlling crime and administering government depends largely on the exercise of
sound judgment by those responsible for administering the law and by representatives
of the press and other media.

(b)  Guidelines to criminal actions.

(1) These guidelines shall apply to the release of information to news media
from the time a person is the subject of a criminal investigation until any proceeding
resulting from such an investigation has been terminated by trial or otherwise.

(2) At no time shall personnel of the Department of Justice furnish any
statement or information for the purpose of influencing the outcome of a
defendant's trial, nor shall personnel of the Department furnish any statement
or information, which could reasonably be expected to be disseminated by
means of public communication, if such a statement or information may
reasonably be expected to influence the outcome of a pending or future trial.”

(3) Personnel of the Department of Justice, subject to specific limitations
imposed by law or court rule or order, may make public the following information:

(i) The defendant's name, age, residence, employment, marital
status, and similar background information.

(ii) The substance or text of the charge, such as a complaint,
indictment, or information.

(iii) The identity of the investigating and/or arresting agency and the
length or scope of an investigation.

(iv) The circumstances immediately surrounding an arrest,
including the time and place of arrest, resistance, pursuit, possession and
use of weapons, and a description of physical items seized at the time of

arrest.
3 Significantly, this regulation sets forth an objective standard: ". . . could reasonably be
expected . .." and ". . . may reasonably be expected to influence the outcome of a pending or future trial."

Thus, a violation is not measured subjectively, i.e., whether it actually influenced a pending or future trial.
In other words, actual "influence" is not required for a violation of this regulation.
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Disclosures should include only incontrovertible, factual matters, and should not
include subjective observations. In addition, where background information or
information relating to the circumstances of an arrest or investigation would be
highly prejudicial or where the release thereof would serve no law enforcement
function, such information should not be made public.

(4) Personnel of the Department shall not disseminate any information
concerning a defendant's prior criminal record.

(5) Because of the particular danger of prejudice resulting from statements
in the period approaching and during trial, they ought strenuously to be avoided
during that period. Any such statement or release shall be made only on the
infrequent occasion when circumstances absolutely demand a disclosure of
information and shall include only information which is clearly not prejudicial.

(6) The release of certain types of information generally tends to create
dangers of prejudice without serving a significant law enforcement function.
Therefore, personnel of the Department should refrain from making available the
following:

(i) Observations about a defendant’s character.

(ii) Statements, admissions, confessions, or alibis attributable to
a defendant, or the refusal or failure of the accused to make a statement,

(iii) Reference to investigative procedures such as fingerprints,
polygraph examinations, ballistic tests, or laboratory tests, or to the refusal
by the defendant to submit to such tests or examinations.

(iv) Statements concerning the identity, testimony, or credibility
of prospective witnesses.

(v) Statements concerning evidence or argument in the case,
whether or not it is anticipated that such evidence or argument will be
used at trial.

(vi) Any opinion as to the accused's guilt, or the possibility of a
plea of guilty to the offense charged, or the possibility of a plea to a lesser
offense.
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(9) Since the purpose of this statement is to set forth generally applicable
guidelines, there will, of course, be situations in which it will limit the release of
information which would not be prejudicial under the particular circumstances. If
a representative of the Department believes that in the interest of the fair
administration of justice and the law enforcement process information beyond
these guidelines should be released, in a particular case, he shall request the
permission of the Attorney General or the Deputy Attorney General to do so.

* k%

[italic and bold face emphasis added.]’®* Moreover, as if this provision in the Code of Federal

Regulations is not sufficient and clear, much the same legal directive is contained in the DOJ's

United States Attorneys Manual, Chapter 1-7.000, entitled "Media Relations." Those provisions

state, in pertinent part [italics and bold face emphasis added]:

36

to a demand:

See also 28 C.F.R. § 16.26, which governs production or disclosure of information pursuant

(a) Indeciding whether to make disclosures pursuant to a demand, Department officials and
attorneys should consider:

(1

)

Whether such disclosure is appropriate under the rules of
procedure governing the case or matter in which the demand
arose, and

Whether disclosure is appropriate under the relevant substantive
law concerning privilege.

(b) Among the demands in response to which disclosure will not be made by any
Department official are those demands with respect to which any of the following factors

exist;

(1

2

Disclosure would violate a statute, . . . or a rule of procedure,
such as the grand jury secrecy rule, F.R.Cr.P., Rule 6(¢),

Disclosure would violate a specific regulation;

* * *
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1-7.110 Interests Must Be Balanced

These guidelines recognize three principal interests that must be balanced: the
right of the public to know; an individual's right to a fair trial; and, the government's
ability to effectively enforce the administration of justice.

x k%
1-7.112 Need for Free Press and Public Trial

Likewise, careful weight must be given in each case to the constitutional
requirements of a free press and public trials as well as the right of the people in a
constitutional democracy to have access to information about the conduct of law
enforcement officers, prosecutors and courts, consistent with the individual rights of
the accused.

* * *

1-7.401 Guidance for Press Conferences and Other Media Contacts

The following guidance should be followed when Department of Justice
components or investigative agencies consider conducting a press conference or other
media contact;

D. There are also circumstances involving substantial public interest
when it may be appropriate to have media contact about matters after
indictment or other formal charge but before conviction. In such
cases, any communications with press or media representatives
should be limited to the information contained in an indictment or
other charging instrument, other public pleadings or proceedings, and
any other related non-criminal information, within the limits of
USAM [United States Attorneys Manual] 1-7.520, .540, .550, .500
and 28 C.F.R. 50.2,

E. Any public communication by any Department component or
investigative agency or their employees about pending matters or
investigations that may result in a case, or about pending cases or
final dispositions, must be approved by the appropriate Assistant
Attorney General, the United States Attorney, or other designate
responsible for the case.

* * *

All Department personnel must avoid any public oral or written
statements or presentations that may violate any Department

guideline or regulation, or any legal requirement or prohibitions,
including case law and local court rules.
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H. Particular care must be taken to avoid any statement or
presentation that would prejudice the fairness of any subsequent
legal proceeding. See also 28 C.F.R. 16.26(b).

¥ ok %

1-7.500 Release of Information in Criminal and Civil Matters—Non-Disclosure

At no time shall any component or personnel of the Department of Justice
Surnish any statement or information that he or she knows or reasonably should
know will have a substantial likelihood of materially prejudicing an adjudicative
proceeding.”

1-7.550 Concerns of Prejudice

Because the release of certain types of information could tend to
prejudice an adjudicative proceeding, Department personnel should refrain
from making available the following:

A, Observations about a defendant's character;

B. Statements, admissions, confessions, or alibis attributable to a
defendant, or the refusal or failure of the accused to make a
statement;

C. Reference to investigative procedures, such as fingerprints, polygraph

examinations, ballistic tests, or forensic services, including DNA
testing, or to the refusal by the defendant to submit to such tests or
examinations;

D. Statements concerning the identity, testimony, or credibility of
prospective witnesses;

E. Statements concerning evidence or argumentin the case, whether
or not it is anticipated that such evidence or argument will be
used at trial;

F. Any opinion as to the defendant's guilt, or the pessibility of a plea
of guilty to the offense charged, or the possibility of a plea of a
lesser offense.

[italics and bold face emphasis added.]

% Importantly, this express prohibition also carries an objective standard ("knows or reasonably

should know" and "substantial likelihood"), rather than requiring actual "material prejudice" for a violation
to occur.
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In addition, and just in case the aforementioned federal regulation and the DOJ's U.S.
Attorneys Manual were not quite enough, the United States District Court for the Eastern District
of Louisiana has also enacted Local Criminal Rules, which state the following [italics and bold face
emphasis added]:

LCrR53.1 Dissemination of Information Concerning Pending or Imminent
Criminal Litigation by Lawyer Prohibited

Itis the duty of the lawyer not to release or authorize the release of information
or opinion for dissemination by any means of public communication, in
connection with pending or imminent criminal litigation with which he or she
is associated, if there is a reasonable likelihood that such dissemination will
interfere with a fair trial or otherwise prejudice the due administration of justice.

% * *

LCrRS53.3 Extrajudicial Statements Concerning Specific Matters

From the time of arrest, issuance of an arrest warrant or the filing of a complaint,
information, or indictment in any criminal matter until the commencement of trial or
disposition without trial, a lawyer associated with the prosecution or defense shall
not release or authorize the release of any extrajudicial statement for
dissemination by means of public communication relating to that matter and
concerning:

(B)  The existence or contents of any confession, admission, or statement given
by the accused, or the refusal or failure of the accused to make any statement;

E I T

(D)  The identity, testimony, or credibility of prospective witnesses, except
that the lawyer may announce the identity of the victim if the
announcement is not otherwise prohibited by law;

(E)  The possibility of a plea of guilty to the offense charged or a lesser
offense;
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(F)  Any opinion as to the accused's guilt or innocence or as to the merits of the
case or the evidence in the case.

* * *
LCrRS33.5 Extrajudicial Statements During Trial
During the trial of any criminal matter, including the period of selection of the jury,
no lawyer associated with the prosecution or defense shall give or authorize any
extrajudicial statement or interview, relating to the trial or the parties or issues in the
trial, for dissemination by any means of public communication, except that the

lawyer may quote from or refer without comment to public records of the court in the
case.

LCrR53.6 Extrajudicial Statements After Trial and Prior to Sentence

After the completion of a trial or disposition without trial of any criminal matter, and
prior to the imposition of sentence, a lawyer associated with the prosecution or
defense shall refrain from making or authorizing any extrajudicial statement for

dissemination by any means of public communication if there is a reasonable
likelihood that such dissemination will affect the imposition of sentence.

* * %
[italics and bold face emphasis added.]

Finally, at all times, of course, the conduct of attorneys licensed to practice in the State of
Louisiana also were and are governed by the Louisiana Rules of Professional Conduct. Rule 3.8
singles out those serving as prosecutors in the State of Louisiana with a clear and direct special
obligation [italics and bold face emphasis added]:

RULE 3.8 SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF A PROSECUTOR

The prosecutor in a criminal case shall:

* * *

(f) except for statements that are necessary to inform the public of the nature
and extent of the prosecutor's action and that serve a legitimate law enforcement
purpose, refrain from making extrajudicial comments that have a substantial
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likelihood of heightening public condemnation of the accused and exercise
reasonable care to prevent investigators, law enforcement personnel, employees
or other persons assisting or associated with the prosecutor in a criminal case
from making an extrajudicial statement that the prosecutor would be prohibited
from making under Rule 3.6 or this Rule.

[bold face emphasis added.] As for "Dipsos," the DOJ attorney identified in the Horn Reports, the
Rules of Professional Conduct for lawyers practicing in Washington, D.C., are governed by the

District of Columbia Rules of Professional Conduct. In particular, Rule 8.4 provides, in pertinent

part:
Rule 8.4 — Misconduct
It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:
(a) Violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct,
knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another;
* * *
[bold face emphasis added.]

The government might argue that violations of these regulations and directives are simply
malum prohibitum and not malum in se. As discussed below, case law indicates otherwise.
C. Law Governing Motions For New Trial

Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure states:

(a) Defendant's Motion. Upon the defendant's motion, the court may vacate any
judgment and grant a new trial if the interest of justice so requires.

* * ¥*

(b)  Time to File.

(I)  Newly Discovered Evidence. Any motion for a new trial grounded
on newly discovered evidence must be filed within 3 years after the
verdict or finding of guilty. Ifan appeal is pending, the court may not
grant3 ;1 motion for a new trial until the appellate court remands the
case.

# The Court treats this motion for new trial under both subsections (b)(1) and (b)(2). To the
extent the motion is based on "newly discovered evidence," the Court proceeds under the Fifth Circuit case
of United States v. Redd, 355 F.3d 866, 880-81 (5" Cir. 2003), in which the Court is, for jurisdictional
purposes, indicating its intent to rule as set forth herein.
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(2)  Other Grounds. Any motion for a new trial grounded on any reason
other than newly discovered evidence must be filed within 14 days
after the verdict or finding of guilty.

Ordinarily, Rule 33 recognizes that if a trial court concludes for any reason that the trial has
resulted in a miscarriage of justice, the court has broad powers to grant a new trial. United States
v. Scroggins, 379 F.3d 233 (5™ Cir. 2004), vacated on other grounds, 543 U.S. 1112 (2005).
Nevertheless, motions for a new trial are to be granted with caution, United States v. Wall, 389 F .3d
457, 467 (5* Cir. 2004), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 978 (2005), and are generally subject to the harmless
and plain error provisions of Rule 52 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. United States v.
Valencia, 600 F.3d 389 (5" Cir.), cert. denied, 131 S.Ct. 285 (2010). In determining whether the
substantial rights of the defendant were affected, courts may aggregate all alleged errors, under the
cumulative effect doctrine, to determine if together any harmless errors are no longer harmless,
making it necessary for a new trial to be granted. United States v. Barrett, 496 F.3d 1079, 1121 (10"
Cir. 2007).

In this instance, the Court again states the obvious: this motion for new trial has evolved and
is not analogous to other motions for new trial featured in the jurisprudence. In fact, it is sui generis,
difficult to categorize as ecither one based on newly discovered evidence;” one based upon
prosecutorial misconduct so significant and repugnant as to undermine these proceedings; or, most

likely, a combination of both. Generally, however, a district court may grant a new trial, "if the

» To obtain a new trial based solely on newly-discovered evidence, a defendant must show:

(1) that the evidence is newly discovered and was unknown to him at the time of trial; (2) that the failure
to discover the evidence was not due to his lack of diligence; (3) that the evidence is not merely cumulative,
but is material; and (4) that the evidence would probably produce an acquittal. United States v. Blackthorne,
378 F.3d 449, 452 (5" Cir. 2004) (quoting United States v. Gresham, 118 F.3d 258, 267 (5* Cir. 1997));
United States v. McRae, 702 F.3d 806, 841 (5" Cir. 2012).
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interest of justice so requires," including, in some circumstances, because of newly-discovered
evidence. Fed. R. Crim. P. 33.

Of course, in this motion, other grounds for a new trial resting on fundamental due process
are urged. Thus, the matter is not as simple as a motion for new trial based on "newly-discovered
evidence" in the traditional sense. Significantly,in Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 638,n. 9,
(1993), the Supreme Court, albeit on application for habeas relief, recognized and identified
additional grounds for relief based upon prosecutorial misconduct:

Our holding does not foreclose the possibility that in an unusual case, a deliberate

and especially egregious error of the trial type, or one that is combined with a pattern

of prosecutorial misconduct, might so infect the integrity of the proceeding as to

warrant the grant of habeas relief, even if it did not substantially influence the jury's

verdict,
One need only review the facts set forth herein, and in the Court's November 26, 2012 Order and
Reasons (Rec. Doc. 1070), to discern that this is a most unusual case, involving "error" (or, more
alarmingly, intentional conduct) that surely consists of a "deliberate and especially egregious” pattern
of prosecutorial misconduct.

Further, the Court has found only three pertinent cases involving actual violations of 28

CF.R. § 50.2.%° In two of them, convictions were vacated — one on motion for new trial and the

40 In a fourth case, United States v. Stanford, 589 F.2d 285 (7" Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440
U.S. 983 (1979), the Court found a violation of 28 C.F.R. § 50.2; however, because the defendants elected
a bench trial with no jury, failed to seek a change of venue or continuance of the trial (unlike the defendants
here, who moved for both and were denied) despite knowledge of the purported adverse publicity, and thus
failed to show prejudice dismissal of the indictments was denied. A few other cases relating to 28 C.F.R.
§ 50.2 involve defendants seeking prospective relief (In re Grand Jury Investigation, No. 87-163, 1987 WL
8073, *1 (E.D.N.Y. February 23, 1987), or involve an allegation but no finding that § 50.2 was violated. See
United States v. Civella, 648 F.2d 1167, 1174 (8* Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 867 (1981); United States v.
Rosado, 728 F.2d 89 (2™ Cir. 1984)(wherein defendants were fully aware of pre-trial publicity and
participated in voir dire); and United States v. Flemmi, 233 F.Supp.2d 75 (D. Mass. 2000)(wherein the court
ordered the governmentto show cause why certain sanctions should not be imposed based upon a prima facie
showing of misconduct).
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other on habeas application. And, even in the third, although relief to the defendants was denied,
the Court strongly condemned the government's actions.

The first of these cases is Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333 (1966), in which the Supreme
Court reversed the denial of the defendant's habeas petition, and remanded the case to the district
court with instructions to issue the writ and order that Sheppard be released from custody, subject
to further charges. Of particular importance, the Supreme Court found "the totality of the
circumstances" approach should be taken when a defendant may have been deprived of due process
because of ongoing prejudicial publicity saturating the community. Sheppard, 384 U.S. at 352-53.
Citing 28 C.F.R. § 50.2, the Court further stated:

Collaboration between counsel and the press as to information affecting the fairness

of a criminal trial is not only subject to regulation, but is highly censurable and

worthy of disciplinary measures.
Sheppard, 384 U.S. at 363.

The second case, United States v. Capra, 372 F.Supp. 609 (S.D.N.Y. 1974), decided long
before the creation of "blogs," "chat rooms," "tweets," and various other internet posting/social
media, was based upon publicity afforded by the government before and during trial. In Capra, the

court denied the requested relief,"’ but stated: "At the same time, it seems fitting to underscore that

the mere gnashing of judicial teeth should not remain the sole response to such law enforcement

‘“ In Capra, defendants' complaintrelated to "massive and lurid publicity” by law enforcement

officers, describing their activities in conducting a "round-up" resulting in numerous arrests, including that
of the defendants. The sensational detailed "publicity extravaganza" (Capra, 372 F.Supp. at 615) occurred
months earlier, and obviously was known to defendants and the court prior to trial; thus it was, most
crucially, subject to voir dire. Though the court set forth a scathing criticism of the government, and
particularly the response of the U.S. Attorney to questions propounded by the court, the district judge found
the relief (outright dismissal of the charges) sought by the defendants to be "excessive and unjustifiable",
in light of the clear guilt of the defendants.
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behavior." 372 F. Supp. at 615. In the next paragraph, the court continued: "The United States
Attorney scarcely embraces the whole of the matter when he concludes in this case that this
particular trial has not been demonstrated to have been vitiated by sordid publicity." Id, at 616.
Most importantly, the Capra court addressed 28 C.F.R. § 50.2:

The question of the integrity of the Department's [DOJ's] own functioning might have
been supposed to cause concern in that quarter, quite apart from the now familiar
principle that an agency may deny due process if it fails to obey its own
regulations. E.g., United States ex rel. Accardiv. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 266-
268,74 S.Ct.499, 98 L.Ed. 681 (1954); Service v. Dulles, 354 U.S. 363, 388-389, 77
S.Ct. 1152, 1 L.Ed.2d 1403 (1957); Yellin v. United States, 374 U.S. 109, 120-121,
83 S.Ct. 1828, 10 L.Ed.2d 778 (1963). As for the court itself, our 'supervisory
power,' if it means something, must entail an alert sensitivity to indications that the
federal prosecutor and/or federal law enforcement officers have participated in, or
quietly condoned, transgressions against court rules, executive rules, and commands
of the Constitution.

Capra, at 611-612. [emphasis added].”

2 This Court's review of the cited cases, Accardi, Service, and Yellin, reveals that each

involved a governmental agency's violation of regulations set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations,
United States Code, or House Committee Rule, the violation of which yielded deprivations of due process
resulting in grants of relief to the aggrieved persons.

In Accardi, the Supreme Court (Justice Clark) stated: "We think the petition for habeas
corpus charges the Attorney General with precisely what the regulations forbid him to do: dictating the
Board's decision." 347 U.S. at 267,

In Service, the Supreme Court (Justice Harlan) stated: "It being clear that § 393.1 was not
complied with by the Secretary in this instance, it follows that under the Accardi doctrine petitioner's
dismissal [from his position] cannot stand, regardless of whether the 1951, rather than the 1949, Regulations
are deemed applicable in his case," 354 U.S, at 388.

In granting relief in Yellin, the Supreme Court (Chief Justice Warren) stated: ". . . the

witness' reasonable expectation is that the Committee actually does what it purports to do, adhere to its own
rules,
* * *

The Committee prepared the groundwork for prosecution in Yellin's case meticulously. It

is not too exacting to require that the Committee be equally meticulous in obeying its own rules." 374 U S.
at 123-24,
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In the third case relating to 28 C.F.R. § 50.2, United States v. Narciso, 446 F.Supp. 252 (E.D.
Mich. 1977), the court also exercised its inherent supervisory authority to consider the "cumulative
impact" of governmental misconduct in granting a new trial. Narciso, 446 F.Supp. at 301. The court
explained:

The standard to turn to in determining whether the court should exercise its
supervisory powers is not so clear. Numerous rationales have been advanced to
explain the nature and scope of the somewhat sparingly used supervisory authority,
but it is generally conceded (as defendants' brief argues) that the courts are primarily
concerned with protecting "the judicial process from the stigma of illegal or unfair"
government conduct. Note, The Supervisory Power of the Federal Courts, 76 Harv.
L.Rev. 1656, 1663 (1963). See McNabb v. U.S., 318 U.S. 332, 63 S.Ct. 608, 87
L.Ed. 819 (1943).rn8 The Supreme Court has not announced a general rule requiring
the application of the Court's supervisory authority to a wide vatiety of cases,
preferring instead to treat each case on its particular facts. Marshallv. U.S.,360 U.S.
310,79 S.Ct. 1171, 3 L.Ed.2d 1250 (1959); Grunewald v. U.S., 353 U.S. 391, 424,
77 S.Ct. 963, 1 L.Ed.2d 931 (1957).

FN8. The Court said: "We are not concerned with law enforcement
practices except in so far as courts themselves become instruments of law
enforcement." 318 U.S. at 347, 63 S.Ct. at 616. It is significant that
McNabb's narrow holding was that an improperly obtained confession
cannot be used at trial. The Supreme Court did not dismiss the indictment.

While it is true that an indictment may be dismissed without regard to
considerations of prejudice, prejudice to the defendants is one factor which the Court
should take into account in its determination. U.S. v. McCord, 166 U.S.App.D.C. 1,
509 F.2d 334, 350 (1974) (en banc), cert. denied, 421 U.S. 930, 95 St.Ct. 1656, 44
L.Ed.2d 87 (1975). U.S. v. Crow Dog, 399 F. Supp. 228, 238 (N.D. lowa 1975),
affd, 532 F.2d 1182 (8™ Cir. 1976). The Court has an obligation to tailor any remedy
to the nature of the misconduct in the particular case. The more serious the violation,
the more severe the remedy must be.

Narciso, 446 F.Supp. at 302. The court continued:
Federal trial judges are not, however, limited in deciding motions under Rule
33, to weighing the evidence. On the contrary, the very words of the rule "interest

of justice" mandate the broadest inquiry into the nature of the challenged proceeding.

As the Supreme Court said in U.S. v. Gainey, 380 U.S. 63, 68, 85 S.Ct. 754,
758, 13 L.Ed.2d 658 (1965), "Our Constitution places in the hands of the trial judge
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the responsibility for safeguarding the integrity of the jury trial .. ." In the context
of motions for new trial the courts have discharged this obligation by determining
whether there has been a "miscarriage of justice.”

% ¥ *

The fact that in ruling upon a motion for new trial the Court has broad powers
as to the type of errors it may consider as well as the manner in which it may weigh
the evidence testifies to the great significance the law attaches to fairness in our
criminal justice system.

Narciso, 446 F.Supp. at 304. Before reviewing the cumulative effect of a plethora of government
misdeeds, including improper remarks by the prosecution and purported misconduct by the FBI, the
court added:

Faith in the courts and in the jury system must be maintained and it is proper that on
questions such as we have here the rule should be such as to support the faith of all
litigants in our judicial system and, as part thereof, trial by jury. That faith can be
sustained only by keeping our judicial proceedings free from the suspicion of wrong.
The question is, not whether any actual wrong resulted . . . but whether (there was)
created a condition from which prejudice might arise or from which the general
public would suspect that the jury might be influenced to reach a verdict on the
ground of bias or prejudice.” Stone v. U.S., 113 F.2d 70, 77 (6" Cir. 1940).

Narciso, 446 F.Supp. at 306. The Narciso court concluded:

In assessing whether the conduct of the prosecution requires the Court to set
aside the convictions here and grant a new trial, it must be kept in mind that the
government is held to a high standard in the conduct of its criminal cases.

* % %

"The United States Attorney is the representative not of an ordinary party to
a controversy, but of a sovereignty whose obligation to govern impartially is as
compelling as its obligation to govern at all; and whose interest, therefore, in a
criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done. As
such, he is in a peculiar and very definite sense the servant of the law, the twofold
aim of which is that guilt shall not escape or innocence suffer. He may prosecute
with earnestness and vigor indeed, he should do so. But, while he may strike hard
blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from
improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every
legitimate means to bring about a just one."
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Narciso, 446 F. Supp. at 325 (citing and quoting Berger v. United States,295U.S. 78, (1935)). The
court found that the prosecution's comments violated 28 C.F.R. § 50.2 and the Rules of the
Department of Justice, as well as the Code of Professional Responsibility. Narciso, 446 F.Supp. at
319. The motion for a new trial was granted.
V1. THE MISCONDUCT

With these standards firmly in hand, the Court must, regretfully, recount and then analyze
identified instances of government misconduct that are brought to bear in considering the defendants'
motion. Thisevidence consists of: (a)the long-time online postings of then USAO Senior Litigation
Counsel Sal Perricone; (b) the actions of "Dipsos;" (c) the online carnival type atmosphere fostered
by at least two government attorneys; (d) the assertions of then First AUSA Jan Mann and the
possible knowledge/complicity of others in the USAQ and/or DOJ; and (e) other trial and pretrial
concerns that emerged earlier in the case, but which must be considered anew, as part of the totality
of the circumstances, and to evaluate the cumulative effect on the proceedings. As will be further
discussed in the upcoming "Analysis" portion of this Order and Reasons, although any of these
pieces of evidence, considered alone, might be of arguable legal import, the contrary is true when
all of it, along with what remains unknown, is considered together. It is axiomatic that candor,
credibility and transparency are the "coin of the realm"” in circumstances such as these, and are

foremost in the Court's consideration of the government's submissions.

49

Engelhardt; 0051



Case 2:10-cr-00204-KDE-JVM Document 1137 Filed 09/17/13 Page 50 of 129

A. Former USAO Senior Litigation Counsel Sal Perricone

Asa familiar refrain starting in 2008 (and perhaps even earlier),” Perricone, under his several
monikers, habitually posted comments* portraying the NOPD, its superintendent Warren Riley, and
its officers and personnel in the most negative and vitriolic way. Specifically, during the long period
of time in which this matter was being investigated by federal law enforcement, Perricone

anonymously asserted online that the NOPD is "corrupt” and "ineffectual,"* "totally disfunctional,"*

nd7 n n4g

and suffers from "cultural” problems.* Indeed,

"an indolent agency,"’ "a joke for a long time,

s The earliest known and confirmed public posting on Nola.com by Perricone is on November

22, 2007, under the user ID "campstblue." As "campstblue," Perricone's earliest attacks on the NOPD, in
particular, appear to be in June 2008. During that time (and since at least November 2006), the DOJ, through
federal prosecutors Mark Blumberg and Bobbi Bernstein, and with the frequent consultation of DOJ attorney
Karla Dobinski, monitored the state investigation of the events of September 4, 2005, that are the subject of
this proceeding. "Active federal involvement" in the investigation of the September 4, 2005 shootings began
in September 2008. (See Dobinski Declaration, Rec. Doc, 277-1,9921-31.) Following the commencement
of DOJ's active investigation, Perricone's anonymous posting of public comments and criticisms increased
in frequency and malice, as described herein. Perricone has stated that he does not recall at least one other
of his user IDs, when it may have been used, and what he may have posted using it.

4 All Nola.com comments in this Order and Reasons are set forth precisely as they were
posted, without corrections of typographical errors, spelling, grammar, punctuation, etc. Bold face and
italicized additions are by the Court for emphasis, and omitted portions are so indicated.

# campstblue, March 4, 2009, 8:57 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
20), Exh. 19, p. 64.

4 campstblue, July 17,2008, 12:23 p.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
20), Exh. 19, p. 31.

s campstblue, November 28, 2008, 9:12 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc.
963-20), Exh. 19, p. 44: "The NOPD is an indolent agency -- plain and simple. It's entire command structure
in only concerned with their own aggrandizement and enrichment." [sic]

8 legacyusa, February 27,2011, 9:20 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
21), Exh. 20, p. 129. Perricone assumed this other persona, "legacyusa,” in or around April 2009.

L campstblue, July 18, 2008, 8:34 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-20),
Exh. 19, p. 32; campstblue, January 18,2009, 10:21 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
20), Exh. 19, p. 50.
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not many NOPD news stories on Nola.com went unscathed by Perricone's anonymously-
administered invectives. For example, on June 7, 2008, Perricone/campstblue posted:

At no time did anyone EVER take an inventory of the NOPD's assests??? Riley has

to GO and GO now!! Is it any wonder why they are having recruiting problems?

Who in their right mind wants to work for [then-mayor] Nagin and Riley? WHO??

And look at the rest of the Command (hahah) structure. All the deputies are idiots

or have their own "issues". THis department is dead. Put the sheet over it....*
The very next day, under an article about the suspension of an NOPD officer who engaged in an
altercation with a Mississippi River bridge officer, he commented: "The sad thing is that the NOPD
is full of officers like this."*' And under the same article, Perricone published a very memorable
phrase: "There is an old Italian proverb: the fish rots from the head down."”

Perricone also labeled (future defense witness) NOPD Superintendent Warren Riley a
"racist,"” "inept,"** and "delusional"” and proclaimed generally that NOPD officers are "crap."

Perricone/campstblue continued to rail: "[Riley] and his ENTIRE commad staff needs to GO and

NOW. Our lives and safety hang in the balance and he and his 'men' are just out for their own

50 campstblue, June 7, 2008, 8:05 a.m,; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-20),
Exh. 19, pp. 18-19.

51

Exh. 19, p. 27.

campstblue, July 8, 2008, 7:42 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-20),

32 campstblue, July 8, 2008, 8:26 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-20),
Exh. 19, p. 27.

L campstblue, July 11, 2008, 10:01 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
20), Exh. 19, p. 28; legacyusa, June 11, 2009, 8:47 p.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
21), Exh. 20, p. 9.

54

campstblue, November 28, 2008, 9:12 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc.
963-20), Exh. 19, p. 44.

55

legacyusa, January 10,2010, 10:50 a.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
21), Exh. 20, p. 31.
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enrichment."® In July 2009, Perricone again called for Riley's resignation: "If this newspaper
[Times-Picayune] genuinely had the city's interest at heart, they would immediately call for Riley's
resignation, as well as the top brass of the police department. None of them have the people's
interest at heart. NONE."”” In that regard, Perricone posted that "the Feds [DOJ] have zero

confidence in Riley or the NOPD,"** and further that "The Government [DOJ] needs to take over the

cops and excite the honest ones."®! Similarly, on July 10, 2009, 9:27 a.m., as legacyusa:

56 campstblue, May 16, 2009, 12:45 p.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-
20), Exh. 19, p. 117.

L0 campstblue, July 15,2009, 8:29 a.m., Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-20),
Exh. 19, p. 142.

58 legacyusa, February 25, 2010 (day after the Lohman plea), 5:53 p.m.; Kaufman
Memorandum In Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 43.

B legacyusa, February 25, 2010 (day after the Lohman plea), 5:47 p.m.; Kaufman
Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 43 and Kaufman Memorandum in Support, Rec.
Doc. 963-1, p. 15.

e Notwithstanding his (then) unknown public criticisms of the NOPD, Perricone played a
significant role on behalf of the DOJ in negotiating a Consent Decree between DOJ and the City of New
Orleans, which was eventually filed on July 24, 2012, in proceedings entitled United States of America v.
City of New Orleans, No. 12-1924, to govern/reform the NOPD. Additionally, in May 2013, the City of New
Orleans disclosed, in pleadings filed in the Consent Decree litigation, that in 2010, Perricone himself had
applied unsuccessfully for the NOPD Superintendent position that went to Ronal Serpas. See 12-1924,Rec.
Doc. 175-1, pp. 2, 17; United States of America v. City of New Orleans, 13-30161 (5" Cir.), Docket No.
512288882, filed June 26, 2013, pp. 14-15. For Perricone's online discussion of other candidates for the
NOPD superintendent's job, see Part One, Rec. Doc. 1070, pp. 28-29.

“ legacyusa, March9,2010,4:13 p.m.and 4:17 p.m.; Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec.
Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, pp. 48-49.
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Hey, can we get Letten or one of his people to take over the NOPD??? Darn, this is
our safety, afterall and the current management of the NOPD doesn't care...”

As "legacyusa," former AUSA Perricone continued his campaign against the NOPD into
2010 and up into July 2011, as this case was being tried. On January 10, 2010 (six weeks before
former NOPD lieutenant and cooperating defendant Lohman entered his guilty plea), at 10:50 a.m.,
he posted:

Riley is delusional.

Riley, you are the racist and the sooner you and the other idiots ont he 5th floor [of
NOPD headquarters] go, the better the Police Department will be. I can only hope,
as others here, that the new mayor [Landrieu] will clean house and fumigate 715
South Broad [NOPD headquarters] the day he is elected. Perhaps we can get Letten
to take a hard look at the position or one of his assistants. We need change there and
the quicker the better.®

Then, on December 3, 2010 (six months before this trial), at 6:53 a.m., Perricone offered a comment
about the ongoing trial in United States v. Warren,* No. 10-154, also concerning post-Katrina police
activity:

This case, no matter how it turns out, has revealed the NOPD to be a collection of
self-centered, self-interested, self-promoting, insular, arrogant, overweening,
prevaricating, libidinous fools and that the entire agency should be re-engineered
from the bottom up. This case has ripped the veil of respectibilty away from the
police department. The facts, as reported here--and if they are correct--shows a group
of people who, when not having sex with each other, or beating, burning and abusing
the citizens. Thank God for the Feds [DOJ]---can you imagine New Orleans without
a Federal presence?®

o Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 10.
6 Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, pp. 31-32.

o In Warren (also commonly referred to sometimes as "the Glover case"), No. 10-154, five
NOPD officers and personnel were charged with various civil rights violations and obstruction of justice
counts. Two officers were acquitted by the jury; U.S. District Judge Lance Africk granted a third (defendant
McCabe) a new trial; the U.S. Fifth Circuit vacated defendant Warren's conviction and remanded for a new
trial; and the conviction of the fifth was maintained. See United States v. McRae, et al., 702 F.3d 806 (5"
Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 133 S.Ct. 2037 (2013).

@ Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 113.
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He added on February 27, 2011 (four months before this trial, and only three days after the Lohman
plea), at 9:20 a.m.:

The NOPD has been a joke for a long time.®
And on May 15, 2011 (only five weeks before the start of this trial), at 10:22 a.m.:

Both [former mayors Ernest and Marc] Morials, Barthelemy and Nagin are to blame

for allowing criminals on the police force today. Now, it seems, we are weeding

them out one by one, but until they wrought ineffiable damage on our citizenry.
[bold face added.]”

Nor are the Court's concerns regarding Perricone's conduct limited to his posts about the
NOPD. Inits November 26, 2012 Order, the Court discussed in detail the testimony Perricone gave
on October 10, 2012, following his 2012 resignation precipitated by his online postings, and the
USAOQ's awareness, if any, of that activity prior to March 2012. At that time, the Court expressed
its considerable doubt as to the truth of certain material assertions made by Perricone on October 10,
2012. (See Part One, Rec. Doc. 1070, pp. 27-32.) That sentiment has not changed. For example,
because a critical feature of that inquiry related to the treatment of confidential and protected grand
jury information, in accordance with Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure Rule 6(¢), the Court
allowed questions to be propounded to Perricone about his posting activity concerning former New
Orleans District C City Councilman James Carter. (See Part One, Rec. Doc. 1070, pp. 29-31.) In
particular, Perricone's explanation of his posts regarding aDQJ grand jury investigation of "the failed
Algiers Landing project" garnered the Court's interest, as his explanation did not appear to make

sense at the time.

66 Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 129.
g Kaufman Memorandum in Support (Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, pp. 157-158.
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Further demonstrating the infirmity of Perricone's proffered explanation of the posts is its
factual falsity. That is, Perricone testified that, "before Katrina," he spoke to two NOPD officers in
a coffee shop about the "downgrading" of criminal activity at the Algiers Point ferry landing.
According to him, he recommended the officers "talk to the city councilman, [James] Carter," to
which one NOPD officer purportedly responded, "are you kidding me? He's involved init." Thus,
with that explanation, Perricone purported to put to rest the Court's concern about a leak of the grand
jury investigation into "the failed Algiers Landing project.” Unfortunately, however, Perricone's
explanation cannot possibly be true, as James Carter was not elected to the New Orleans City
Council until the spring of 2006 (obviously after Hurricane Katrina, which occurred on August 29,
2005), and did not take office until June 2006. Along with the other passages the Court previously
cited, in its November 2012 Order, this discrepancy cannot be considered minor, as it relates to a
grand jury proceeding that was subsequently confirmed to be under way at the time of Perricone's
posts.

Furthermore, even today the Court is left to wonder what other user IDs Perricone might have
employed to post additional critical information, personal criticisms, and vituperative comments,
about the NOPD and possibly other DOJ-related matters. Although Perricone denies use of specific
user IDs® about which he was asked, he admits, as previously stated, that he does not remember at

least one other name he used to post online in the past.®® Thus, were the Court to hold an evidentiary

68

Perhaps foreshadowing the future, "campstblue” asked on March 20, 2008, 8:21 a.m.: "ps:
Where is H.L. Mencken when we sorely need him?" (Kaufman Memorandum in Support, Rec. Doc. 963-20),
Exh. 19, p. 14.

& Sometimes utilizing his user IDs simultaneously, Perricone occasionally responded to his
own posts. See campstblue, May 16, 2009, 12:45 p.m. and legacyusa, May 16, 2009, 12:48 p.m,
commenting negatively on NOPD Superintendent Riley (Kaufiman Memorandum in Support, Rec. Doc. 963-
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hearing, Perricone undoubtedly would be summoned to provide supplemental testimony regarding
various areas/matters not previously even considered on October 10, 2012, as they were not then
known.

B. "Dipsos"

As previously explained, the Horn Reports revealed, for the first time, that a DOJ attorney,
working in Washington D.C., had posted on Nola.com during the trial using the name "Dipsos." See,
supra, pp. 16-17, 20, 23, and 27. To the Court's shock and dismay, "Dipsos" eventually was
identified, on May 15, 2013, as Karla Dobinski, a trial attorney in the Criminal Section of DOJ's
Civil Rights Division.” To fully underst;md the significance of this revelation, additional
information regarding certain pre-trial proceedings in this matter is necessary.

a. The "Taint Team' Leader

On occasion, during the course of certain investigations, particularly in police misconduct

cases, officers are compelled to testify over the assertion of their Constitutional right not to do so.

See Garrityv. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493 (1967), and Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441 (1972).

21), Exh. 20, p. 5; see legacyusa, May 17, 2009, 9:15 p.m. agreeing with campstblue, May 17, 2009, 8:43
p.m. ("Campst is correct.")(Kaufman Memorandum in Support, Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 5; see
legacyusa, May 22, 2009, 9:16 p.m. and campstblue, May 22, 2009, 9:40 p.m. (Kaufman Memorandum in
Support, Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, pp. 5-6; see legacyusa, May 23, 2009, 12:07 p.m. agreeing with
campstblue, May 23, 2009, 11:13 a.m. ("Harvey, I agree with Campst, you are an idiot!!!!")(Kaufman
Memorandum in Support, Rec. Doc. 963-21), Exh. 20, p. 6; see campstblue, May 28, 2009, 8:29 a.m.
agreeing with legacyusa, May 28, 2009, 9:28 a.m. (Kaufman Memorandum in Support, Rec. Doc. 963-21),
Exh. 20, p. 7; see campstblue, May 31, 2009, 2:18 p.m. agreeing with legacyusa, multiple posts under the
same article ("Well, I must admit I am with Legacy and if that makes me a wingnut, sobe it. * * * Keep
the fight alive, Legacy. I'm your wingman. Semper fi.")(Kaufman Memorandum in Support, Rec. Doc. 963-
20), Exh. 19, p. 123.

" In response to the Court's direct inquiry, the Second Supplemental Horn Report states: "The
full name and title of the Civil Rights Division emplo